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Revenue 

£995m
2019: £979m

Profit before tax 

£107m
2019: £53m

Net debt

£2.6bn
2019: £2.7bn

Trading EBITDA1

£350m
2019: £341m

Profit after tax 

£87m
2019: £42m

Free cash flow1

£83m
2019: £12m

Operating profit

£257m
2019: £219m

Basic EPS 

14.1p
2019: 6.9p

Interest cover2

2.6x
2019: 2.6x

Adjusted basic EPS1

14.1p
2019: 14.9p

Total announced dividend per share

0.6p
2019: 2p

Net increase/(decrease) in cash 
and cash equivalents

£43m
2019: (£34m)
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Cautionary statement
This Annual Report contains forward-looking statements. 
These forward-looking statements are not guarantees  
of future performance, rather they are based on current 
views and assumptions as at the date of this Annual 
Report. These assumptions are made in good faith  
based on the information available at the time of the 
approval of this report. These statements should  
be treated with caution due to the inherent risks and 
uncertainties underlying any such forward-looking 
statements, and the Board has no obligation to 
update these statements.

1 Non-GAAP measures explained on page 29.
2 See page 130.

Trusted brand
The AA is one of the most widely recognised 
and trusted brands in the UK, building on  
more than 115 years of service and innovation.

Market leader
The AA is the largest roadside assistance 
provider with c.40% share of the UK consumer 
market and c.50% share of the business-to- 
business (B2B) market. We have a growing 
Insurance business and are well placed to 
capture market share through our proprietary 
data, strength of brand and scale.

Read more in  
at-a-glance P4

Sustainable and cash-generative
Our purpose is to make Britain’s driving life 
simpler and smarter. We generate value 
through our high recurring revenue and  
strong cash generative business model.

Read more in our  
business model P5

32m UK drivers 
Our addressable market.

Read more in  
market context P8

B2B partner of choice
Our operational scale, world class customer 
service delivery and breadth of innovative 
customer solutions position us firmly as the 
partner of choice for B2B. 

Read more in the Chief Executive  
Officer’s review P18

Best-in-class service
We are recognised as the UK’s premium 
roadside assistance service, delivering 
best-in-class customer services 24 hours a 
day, 365 days a year. We have more patrols 
than our competitors, with excellent training, 
equipment and technology providing an 
unparalleled level of service.

Read more in our  
performance P30

Significant barriers to entry
Our scale, proprietary deployment system, 
approach to innovation and high levels of 
customer service pose significant barriers  
to entry for our competitors.

Our investment case
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That’s what we think driving should be. 
A broad range of services, delivered 

direct to members and non-members 
alike via intuitive digital experiences

That means we’ll be able to sell services  
to more customers, and set up our 
business to prosper over the next  

decade and beyond

Read more on P12 to P17

Visit theaaplc.com

Simpler  
and smarter
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We made good progress in the execution of our 
strategic priorities in FY20. A key highlight for 
our Roadside business this year was returning 
the paid membership base to growth during  
the second half of the year. This enabled us to 
achieve our target of a broadly flat membership 
by year end. In respect of our B2B business, we 
were pleased to have retained or extended all 
our key B2B contracts due for renewal in FY20, 
including TSB, Toyota, Lex Autolease and 
Northgate. We also won several new 
contracts including Admiral and Uber.

Within our Insurance business, our proprietary 
data is our competitive advantage and is helping 
to deliver strong policy growth for our insurance 
broking and in-house underwriter business.  
We were pleased to have announced the 
addition of Aviva, the UK’s largest insurer, 
onto our broker panel for motor insurance this 
year. The addition of Aviva helps to expand the 
potential market for the AA broker as well as 
provide competitive premiums for AA members 
and customers. This, combined with the 
investments we are making in enhancing the 
broker’s pricing agility as well as the launch  
of our recent in-house claims management 
proposition, means that we are well positioned  
to continue to grow market share and deliver 
profitable long-term trading EBITDA growth. 

Dividend policy 
The Group remains committed to the proactive 
management of its capital structure and 
reduction of debt and will continue to assess  
all options. Consistent with this approach,  
and also in light of the COVID-19 outbreak,  
the Board has decided to suspend the final 
dividend in respect of FY20. Total dividend 
payments in respect of FY20 will therefore 
remain 0.6p per share, representing the 
amount paid in respect of the interim dividend.

UK Corporate Governance  
Code 2018 (the Code)
We have a continuous programme to improve 
our governance and ensure that it remains in line  
with best practice, while also rebalancing the 
skills and expertise on the Board. Following 
preparatory work last year, the Board together 
with the Company Secretary were ready at  
the beginning of this financial year to usher in  
the changes under the Code, which became 
applicable to accounting periods beginning on 
or after 1 January 2019. This has led to a review 
of various areas of governance and a considered 
approach on how the AA was going to apply the 
Code Principles in the context of the Company’s 
purpose and strategy. 

Read more about our corporate governance  
on P55 to P87

STRATEGIC REPORT

Chair’s statement

2019 was a pivotal year for delivery across 
our Roadside and Insurance businesses and 
our strong performance was the result of 
the successful execution of the strategy we 
launched in 2018, which puts service, data 
 and innovation at the heart of the AA. 

As a Board, one of our primary priorities remains 
debt reduction and this time last year I discussed 
the importance of building trust through 
consistency in the delivery of our performance. 
Consistency in performance is the key to 
deleveraging and I am pleased to report that 
under Simon’s stewardship we have delivered 
what we set out to do during FY20, having met 
market expectations for profitability and free 
cash flow growth for the second year running. 
We have an important road ahead of us in order 
to rebalance our capital structure; however,  
I firmly believe that we have set a good course  
for future years and have the right Executive 
Committee to deliver this. As part of our 
commitment to proactively managing our  
debt, we successfully completed the buyback  
of £32m of A and B notes during the year and  
in February 2020, we exchanged £325m of 
Senior Secured A5 notes into new longer dated 
Senior Secured A8 notes, which has enabled  
us to increase our average debt maturity  
from 3.3 to 3.9 years.

Overall revenues were up 2% to £995m with 
Trading EBITDA up 3% to £350m. Profit after  
tax was up significantly at £87m compared  
with £42m in the prior year with the basic EPS  
up 104% to 14.1p. We generated strong free  
cash flow of £83m and delivered our FY20 
investment programme in line with guidance, 
maintaining a strict discipline to our capital 
allocation processes. This enabled us to  
pay dividends of £12m and complete the 
opportunistic buyback of £32m of our bonds. 

We are beginning to see the 
benefits of our strategy come 
together: in our performance, 
our culture, and our desire to 
deliver excellence in everything 
we do through a sustainable 
business model. 

 John Leach 
 Chair

The road ahead
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Board changes
Chief Financial Officer appointment 
We have made a key change to our Board with 
the departure of Martin Clarke as Chief Financial 
Officer (CFO) on 29 April 2019 and we have 
spent a significant part of this financial year 
overseeing the search and appointment of  
a new permanent CFO, Kevin Dangerfield,  
on 6 January 2020. The Board carried out a 
comprehensive search process, taking into 
account the immediate strategic priorities 
of the Company to deliver financial stability  
and growth, through Redgrave, a specialist 
external search consultancy. 

Read more about the CFO search process in  
the Nomination Committee Report on P63

On behalf of the Board, I would like to thank 
Martin Clarke for his valued contributions  
over many years of service and welcome  
Kevin Dangerfield. 

Succession planning 
As I stated last year, a key item for our agenda  
is deepening our succession plans at Board 
level, so that we are resilient to future change. 
Therefore, as part of responsible long-term 
succession planning in line with the Code,  
the Board has engaged Korn Ferry to assist  
in that planning.

Read more about our succession planning in  
the Nomination Committee report on P63

Committee changes
During this financial year, we also appointed 
Mark Brooker as Remuneration Chair, following 
Suzi Williams stepping down on 15 November 
2019. Mark has extensive experience in PLC 
remuneration including non-executive 
appointments at Equiniti Group plc and William 
Hill plc. Suzi continues to be a member of the 
Board and a Non-Executive Director for our 
joint venture, AA Media.

Investor engagement 
In order for the Company to meet its 
responsibilities to shareholders, bondholders 
and other stakeholders, the Board has 
well-embedded, effective engagement 
procedures and encourages participation 
from all parties. We continue to be committed 
to active engagement on a range of matters. 
During the year, the Investor Relations team  
and senior management conducted over  
200 meetings across our investor base enabling 
the Board to understand a variety of views on 
strategic performance, governance and the 
competitive and regulatory landscape.

We also continue to consult the Company’s 
major shareholders in respect of the 
remuneration policy approved by our 
shareholders at the 2018 Annual General 
Meeting. We recognise the important progress 
in the turnaround that the Executive Directors 
and management team have been making to 
the AA. We are satisfied that remuneration is 
set at an appropriate level and aligned with 
the delivery of the Company’s strategy. We 
have made adjustments to remuneration 
for executives, Board members and the 
wider workforce in light of the current 
COVID-19 outbreak.

AA values & employee engagement
Our Company values of Courtesy, Collaboration, 
Care, Dynamism and Expertise continue to 
underpin all that we are and that we do at the  
AA. We have integrated all aspects of our values 
into our business model and this year we have 
worked to develop our new environmental, 
social and governance (ESG) strategy which 
puts people, safety and environment at its core. 

Read more about our ESG  
on P44 to P52

This year, in line with the changes in the Code, 
the Board has focused on considering the  
best way to bring the employee’s voice into  
the Boardroom. We are fortunate that the AA 
engages with its employees through numerous 
channels throughout the year, as well as 
undertaking an employee engagement survey 
once a year. All members of the Board have 
attended a number of different events, including 
the AA Awards, the Innovation Day, Business 
Bites and feedback sessions following the 
Employee Engagement Surveys and have had 
several teams throughout the AA present 
deep-dive sessions on topics concerning the 
Board, which has given us an insight into the 
teams’ skills and capabilities below the 
Executive Committee. This has enabled the 
Board to monitor culture and we will continue 
to review and refine different ways and 
methods to engage with our employees.  

Under the Code, one option put forward to 
ensure the voice of the employee is heard is to 
designate a Non-Executive Director with that 
responsibility. However, the Board has gone 
over and above this minimum requirement and 
felt that effective workforce engagement should 
be something that all members of the Board are 
continuously engaged in and we have found this 
has worked well at the AA, given the number  
of channels that exist. This means all Board 
members have attended events and fed back 
into Board meetings. 

Read more about our workforce 
engagement on P60

Simpler and smarter
It’s no longer enough to look at just what our 
business does; we need to consider how we  
do it as well. Our operations and how we work 
have a fundamental impact far beyond our  
own business – our stakeholders, including 
shareholders, our people and wider society,  
hold us in high regard and we must continue to 
deliver the high standards they have come to 
expect from us. Throughout this report you will 
see examples of how our simpler and smarter 
approach guides us on how we conduct our 
business. I believe that it is vital to our success 
and the future of the AA. Please see pages 18 
to 24 of the Chief Executive Officer’s review 
for further details.

Looking forward
FY20 was an important year in the turnaround 
of the AA. On behalf of the Board, I would like to 
thank all the AA teams for their incredible work 
and passion which has enabled the Company 
to deliver a strong set of results. 

The recent outbreak of COVID-19 has been 
unprecedented in its impact and presents 
numerous challenges for businesses and 
governments as well as society as a whole. 
We recognise the significant uncertainty that 
this brings and are working hard to minimise 
the impact on our business and financial 
performance. Given our cash generative 
and resilient business model, we expect 
our performance this year to be robust in 
the circumstances and only slightly below 
that of FY20.

The AA has proved resilient through previous 
economic downturns and the steps we have 
taken and are now taking will help us maintain 
that resilience. We remain focused on navigating 
the challenges ahead and to reducing our 
current level of indebtedness. The Board looks 
forward to supporting the successful execution 
of our strategy and listening to our stakeholders,  
from employees, to suppliers, to customers  
and investors, as together we build an 
ever-stronger AA.

 
 John Leach 
 Chair

6 May 2020

We are privileged to play such 
an important role in the lives of 
a wide range of stakeholders 
and recognise that our 
long-term success depends  
on our ability to create  
shared prosperity for all our 
stakeholders and enduring 
relationships based on 
trust and mutual benefit.
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What we do

At-a-glance

In line with our strategy, we report our segmental performance across two core 
segments, Roadside and Insurance. Roadside consists of our Roadside Assistance 
and Driving Services businesses. Insurance consists of our Insurance Services 
(including Financial Services) and Insurance Underwriting businesses. 

We are the UK’s leading provider of roadside assistance, with 
approximately 2,700 patrols attending an average of around 9,400 
breakdowns daily. Driving Services comprises our market-leading 
driving schools, AA Driving School and BSM, and DriveTech,  
the market leader in driver education including driver awareness 
courses which are offered by police forces.

Our Insurance Services segment includes our insurance broker 
business that operates a panel of motor and home policy distribution.
Our successful in-house underwriter which started trading in 
January 2016 is a member of this panel. The Insurance Services 
segment also includes our Financial Services partnership with 
the Bank of Ireland. 

Roadside Insurance

Business customers

9.0m
2019: 9.8m

Driving instructors

2,235
2019: 2,412

DriveTech police contracts

13
2019: 12

Insurance policies

1.7m
2019: 1.6m

Underwritten policies

780,000
2019: 598,000

Financial Services 
products

90,000
2019: 112,000

Revenue

£841m
2019: £841m

Trading EBITDA margin

34%
2019: 34%

Trading EBITDA

£290m
2019: £283m

Revenue

£154m
2019: £138m

Trading EBITDA margin

39%
2019: 42%

Trading EBITDA

£60m
2019: £58m

Read more about our performance 
on P30
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Our business model

Creating value for all our stakeholders
Our business relies on critical inputs which we manage based on the strategic 
priorities of the Group. These are underpinned by our core values of Courtesy, 
Collaboration, Care, Dynamism and Expertise.

Our strategy

Read more about our strategy 
on P21 to P24

We aim to differentiate ourselves from our 
competitors by our leading brand and market 
position, excellent standards of service, digital 
capability, approach to innovation as well as 
training and developing the best people.

We generate value through our high recurring 
revenue and cash generative businesses.  
Our purpose is to make Britain’s driving life 
simpler and smarter.

1.  Growth through 
innovation in Roadside

2.  Accelerated growth  
in Insurance

3.  Operational and  
service excellence

4.  A high performing 
culture

Financial Statem
ents

O
ur Perform

ance
G

overnance

Investors 
Free cash flow  

£83m

Government 
Taxes borne  

£20m

Local communities 
Number of 
apprentices

246

Employees 
Total wages and 

benefits paid £316m

 Courtesy

 Collaboration

 Care

 Dynamism

 Expertise

 People

 Brand

 Intellectual property and data

 Technology

 Financial resources

Critical inputs

Values

Business areas

Outputs

Roadside Insurance
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Our business model continued

Roadside

Personal membership
We provide breakdown cover for our 
consumer members. Vehicle-based 
policies cover only a specific vehicle  
and personal memberships cover one  
or more individuals, including families, 
regardless of the vehicle. 

Competitive landscape
The roadside recovery market has seen 
steady expansion in recent years fuelled 
by a growing car parc and a relatively 
buoyant economy. According to Mintel, 
the roadside recovery market has grown 
in value to £1.79bn in 2018, representing 
an increase of 19.5% since 2014.  
The market, however, remains mature and 
is increasingly competitive. The consumer 
market is dominated by three major 
players, of which the AA is the largest.  
Our competitive advantage is based on 
our award-winning customer service, 
trusted brand and large distribution 
platform as well as our digital capability. 
New trends are emerging which the AA is 
well placed to take advantage of, given our 
leading market position, our technology  
and developing connected car propositions. 

The AA is the market leader with c.40%  
of the consumer market.

Business to business
For our c.9m B2B customers, breakdown 
cover is available through the following 
channels: Original Equipment Manufacturers 
(OEMs) as part of the warranty for new 
cars; banks for premium added value 
account holders (AVAs); fleets including 
lease companies, car hire and commercial 
fleets; and insurance companies who 
offer breakdown cover as an add-on for 
motor insurance customers. In all cases, 
the service is provided by the AA and the 
majority of contracts are pay-for-use. 

Competitive landscape
The B2B roadside assistance market is 
significantly larger than the consumer 
market; however, it earns a lower  
average margin. As these contracts  
are sophisticated in their specification, 
barriers to entry are high and our leading 
position is based on our high service 
levels, strong partnerships, digital 
capability and ability to deliver innovative, 
value-adding solutions to our partners. 

The AA has c.50% of the manufacturer 
segment, over 60% of the UK’s largest 
fleet and leasing companies, and around 
50% of the banking AVA segment.

Driving services
Our Driving Services division consists  
of our Driving Schools and DriveTech 
businesses. The Driving Schools business 
offers franchises to qualified driving 
instructors under the AA Driving School 
and BSM brands. The DriveTech business 
is a leading provider of fleet risk and safety 
management and driver training. 

Competitive landscape
The UK driving schools market is highly 
competitive and fragmented. We have  
a leading market position with our 
combined AA and BSM brands. 

In relation to the DriveTech business,  
the AA has strong positions in both fleet 
and police markets. In the fleet market, 
the AA is the market leader and has a 
range of smaller competitors who 
compete primarily on price.
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Consumer Roadside Assistance fees are 
principally paid through annual or monthly 
subscriptions. Subject to identifying 
customer needs, additional revenue is 
available from cross-selling (selling other 
services) or up-selling (selling higher 
value products and services) following  
a breakdown. 

Performance indicators

Paid personal members 
3.215m (FY19: 3.207m) 

Average income per member 
£165 (FY19: £162)

B2B fees are either set per breakdown  
or per vehicle. The average tenure of the 
contracts varies, ranging from three to  
five years. 

We are working on a broad range of 
innovative solutions with our B2B partners, 
including, Service, Maintenance and Repair 
(SMR), onward mobility solutions and 
rollout of our award-winning app, which 
combined with our technical know-how 
will enable our partners to improve  
their offering to end customers while 
generating additional revenue for the AA. 

Performance indicators

Business customers 
9.0m (FY19: 9.8m) 

Number of breakdowns attended  
3.42m (FY19: 3.73m)

The AA and BSM driving schools’  
revenue derives from franchise fees from 
instructors for use of branded cars and 
the AA’s digital booking system. The cars 
are funded by the AA under a finance 
lease arrangement. We also provide 
training for driving instructors. 

In relation to the DriveTech business,  
our driver training services are delivered 
under long-term service contracts. 

Performance indicators

Franchised driving instructors 
2,235 (FY19: 2,412)

Roadside Assistance is a discretionary 
product for consumers; however,  
our sales process is regulated as it is 
bought by consumers as insurance.  
We actively manage risk through our  
Risk Management Framework, which 
covers the following areas: 

  Member satisfaction levels and good 
member outcomes

  Changes to the regulatory and fiscal 
environment

  Competition from lower priced competitors

  Information security, cyber crime  
and data management

Roadside Assistance is provided with 
warranties for new vehicles, leased 
vehicles and fleets. It is provided as part  
of benefits packages for banks’ AVA 
holders. We actively manage risk through 
our Risk Management Framework which 
covers the following areas: 

  Partner satisfaction levels

  Competition 

  Information security, cyber crime  
and data management

We actively manage our risks through  
our Risk Management Framework.  
Within Driving Schools, this covers 
the following areas: 

 Customer satisfaction levels

  Competition from lower priced 
competitors

  Information security, cyber crime  
and data management
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Insurance

Broking
The AA’s insurance broking business 
serves both personal members and 
non-members selling motor and  
home insurance. These policies are 
underwritten by a panel of underwriters, 
including the AA’s in-house underwriter. 

Competitive landscape
The market competes largely on the price 
of premiums. This is particularly true of 
the 83% of motor insurance sales which 
are through price comparison websites 
(PCWs). While our brand consideration  
is ranked high in motor insurance, price 
dominates, and we have turned around 
our motor policy book as a result of our 
improved price competitiveness. 

In home insurance, PCWs are less 
dominant, in part because home 
specifications vary more, and home 
insurance is less expensive than motor 
which reduces the rate of attrition. 

We currently have a growing share in the 
motor and home insurance markets with 
plans to accelerate growth through the 
successful execution of our strategy. 

Underwriting
The AA’s in-house underwriter launched 
motor policies in January 2016 followed 
by home policies in August 2016. As part 
of the AA Group, we utilise our extensive 
proprietary data as appropriate to hone 
our pricing. This enables us to price  
more competitively which supports the 
broker’s ability to win more business.  
We are now underwriting 52% of our 
motor broker policies and 39% of our 
home broker policies. 

Our underwriter has grown rapidly and  
is profitable with a combined operating 
ratio (COR) below (and therefore ahead of) 
our target of 95%. 

Competitive landscape
Underwriters compete primarily on price. 
The CORs in this underwriting market  
are just under 100% (thus earning single 
digit margins) and the integrated model 
means that our underwriter drives our 
higher broker volumes which generate 
better margins.

Financial services
In 2015, we signed a 10 year exclusive 
partnership with the Bank of Ireland  
to provide savings and loans on a 
matched-book basis. On 31 March 2020, 
we extended our partnership by a further 
three years to at least 2028. As part of the 
agreement, our partnership now includes 
AA branded car finance products to sit 
alongside the successful savings and  
loan products.

Competitive landscape
The combination of the AA’s brand and 
distribution platform and the Bank of 
Ireland’s expertise in service delivery 
gives our partnership a competitive 
advantage. We expect to grow our book 
over the life of our agreement with the 
Bank of Ireland. 

Our main competitors are Virgin Money, 
Tesco and the high street banks.W
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As an insurance broker, the AA acts as 
an intermediary between those seeking 
insurance cover and the insurance 
underwriters. The AA has the ability to 
earn commission on new business sales 
and renewing policies as well as income 
from add-ons and premium finance. 

Performance indicators

Total motor and home policies 
1.7m (FY19: 1.6m) 

Average income per motor and  
home policy (excluding Underwriter) 
£68 (FY19: £69)

Average income per policy  
(including Underwriter) 
£83 (FY19: £80)

The underwriter retains 20% of gross 
written premiums after coinsurance and 
reinsurance. The in-house underwriter 
is required to maintain certain levels of 
solvency capital and as at 31 January 
2020, our solvency capital was £6.2m. 

Performance indicators

Motor policies underwritten  
448,000 (FY19: 339,000)

Home policies underwritten  
332,000 (FY19: 259,000)

The AA and Bank of Ireland remain 
committed to process improvements and 
these together with enhancements to 
analytics and marketing are expected to 
deliver improved profitability in the future. 

Performance indicators

Financial Services products 
90,000 (FY19: 112,000)

Broking is regulated by the FCA.  
We manage our risk through our Risk 
Management Framework which covers: 

  Customer satisfaction levels and good 
customer outcomes

  Changes to the regulatory and  
tax environment

  Information security, cyber crime  
and data management

Underwriting is carried out by a Gibraltar 
company within the Group and is 
regulated by the Gibraltar Financial 
Services Commission (GFSC). We manage 
our risk through our Risk Management 
Framework which covers: 

  Changes to the regulatory and  
tax environment

  Information security, cyber crime  
and data management 

  Solvency capital

The Financial Services business is subject 
to regulation by the FCA. The Bank of 
Ireland undertakes the principal  
regulated activities.

Read more about how we manage our 
risks and our risk management framework 
on P38 to P42
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Emerging trends

Market context

Embracing 
change in the 
automotive 
sector 
Since its inception in 1905, the 
AA has innovated and been at 
the forefront of providing UK 
drivers with a reliable, trusted, 
premium roadside assistance 
service. From its beginnings  
as a membership services 
organisation for motoring 
enthusiasts, the AA today  
is the market leader in both  
the consumer and business 
roadside assistance markets. 
We have embraced many technological 
innovations in the automotive sector over  
the years and have successfully continued  
to evolve and lead the market without 
compromising on our commitment to service 
excellence and core values of Courtesy, 
Collaboration, Care, Dynamism and Expertise. 

In addition to technological change over the 
past quarter of a century, we have seen the 
growth of lower-margin roadside assistance 
operators who rely on third-party service 
providers. While a lower-cost alternative 
compared with the AA, third-party service 
providers are less capable of delivering the high 
roadside repair rates and levels of customer 
satisfaction that our strong network of patrols, 
who are fully trained by the AA, can offer. 

We believe that, by remaining true to our  
core values and embracing innovation and 
technological change, we can continue to 
operate at the premium end of the market  
and reshape the AA as a digitally led business 
capable of delivering a broad range of exciting 
products and services that makes Britain’s 
driving life simpler and smarter. 

We monitor a range of emerging trends in the 
automotive sector as detailed in this section  
of the report. Although these are considered 
individually, we adopt a holistic approach in 
optimising our capabilities and investment needs 
to position ourselves at the forefront of change.

Staying ahead of the curve
While we do not know the precise shape of the 
automotive sector, we are confident that our 
digitally led strategy, focusing on innovation 
and delivering excellent customer service will 
ensure that the AA continues to adapt and  
stay ahead of the curve.

Improving reliability
As cars become more reliable and 
break down less frequently, will 
customers be less likely to buy roadside 
assistance cover, thereby gradually 
rendering the AA Roadside Assistance 
business obsolete?

 WHERE WE SEE THE OPPORTUNITY

  The UK roadside assistance market 
remains buoyant with revenues up at 
£1.8bn in 2018, benefiting from an 
expanding car parc and the relatively 
good performance delivered by the UK 
economy. By 2024, further growth of 
12.8% is expected to raise the value 
of the sector to £2.07bn.

  We welcome the increasing reliability 
of cars. However, our breakdown data 
suggests that, although these vehicles 
are less likely to break down due to 
mechanical-related issues, the 
propensity for these vehicles to 
break down due to poor maintenance 
and the impact of road conditions more 
than offsets the benefits of improved 
reliability. For example, we have seen 
an increase in tyre-related faults in 
recent years, as newer cars are 
seldom equipped with a spare tyre 
meaning that if a tyre-related fault does 
occur it usually requires a breakdown 
assistance provider to attend.

  We have been innovative in continuing  
to deal with the shift in breakdowns, 
ensuring that we have the capability to 
provide excellent service, whatever the 
problem. Our battery-testing kit and 
universal spare wheel have increased  
our repair rates while reducing repair 
times. We focus on our members’ and 
customers’ needs at a breakdown and 
tailor our services to ensure a more 
personal response. In addition, the 
investment that we have made in our 
connected car proposition, Smart 
Breakdown, is potentially transformational 
for all UK drivers by helping drivers 
manage their cars’ condition and costs 
better, thereby significantly enhancing 
their experience and helping us to realise 
operational and cost efficiencies.

  During the year, we delivered outstanding 
customer service with overall call-to-arrive 
times at 46.5 minutes, in line with  
our long-term target of 45 minutes.  
We responded to a majority of calls to  
our call centre within 20 seconds, in line 
with our targets, and our repair rates and 
average repair times were ahead of last 
year. Our ongoing investment in improving 
our digital platform, including the app, will 
continue to improve our members’ and 
customers’ experience and help nurture 
further loyalty to the brand.

Demand forecast
Best and worst case forecasts of vehicle recovery market, by value, 2014–2024
Source: Mintel Vehicle Recovery UK, September 2019
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Autonomous vehicles
The development of autonomous 
vehicles (AVs) is fuelled by expectations 
of safer travel. Are there concerns that 
this will lead to fewer breakdowns and 
lower levels of individual ownership, 
generating an eventual shift to the 
lower-margin B2B model?

 WHERE WE SEE THE OPPORTUNITY

  We are encouraged by the growth  
of the AV market, which represents 
another opportunity for innovation in  
our business, albeit far-off and subject  
to the removal of significant barriers.  
In the interim, we will continue to engage 
positively with the industry, our business 
partners and Government to ensure we 
stay ahead of the technology. We expect 
this ultimately to lead to offering additional 
services, including SMR, which will 
realise additional revenue streams and 
expand our addressable market to 
cover a broader base of UK drivers.

Car sharing
Car sharing via online platforms, either 
from professional operators or on a 
private, peer-to-peer basis, is becoming 
more popular. Could this lead to margin 
dilution as fewer personal members  
take breakdown cover?

 WHERE WE SEE THE OPPORTUNITY

  We have considerable experience 
working with 60% of fleet and leasing 
companies in the UK. We have 
established relationships with several  
car sharing platforms including hiyacar 
and Turo, and we will continue to work 
closely with these organisations to  
cater for these emerging driver needs. 

  At the same time, we are clarifying and 
enriching the benefits of using the AA 
through the additional products and 
services we are launching that cater to 
the needs of drivers under alternative 
ownership models.

Electric vehicles
Electric vehicles (EVs) are more reliable 
and as their numbers increase, will  
the AA lose relevance as it will no  
longer be able to keep up with the 
evolving technology?

 WHERE WE SEE THE OPPORTUNITY

  While EVs have so far proven to be more 
reliable than petrol and diesel cars with 
regards to emission systems and internal 
combustion engine faults, they still  
suffer from faults which are repairable  
at the roadside such as faults with low 
voltage systems, steering, suspension, 
brakes and ancillary equipment.  
The increased complexity, additional 
electrical systems and ancillary 
equipment such as charging equipment 
have seen new trends in component 
failures occurring. 

  We will continue to invest in providing 
our patrols with the latest technology  
to enable them to diagnose and repair 
EVs. As the proportion of EVs continues  
to grow so will our training and repair 
capability. We have a three-year plan 
to scale our EV competence in line with  
the proliferation of EVs. Our exclusive 
partnership with Chargemaster, the 
biggest supplier of charging points in  
the UK, who are also the owners of the 
Polar card which is used for accessing 
these, gives us a significant competitive 
advantage in this market. 

  In addition, our technical team are fully 
EV trained and continue to innovate 
in the field of EVs. More recently, we 
developed an association with Block 
Automotive (AG Block Ltd), the first 
electric vehicle training rig and refuel/
recharge at the roadside for both EVs 
and hydrogen fuel cell vehicles. 

Connected car
OEMs are increasingly including the 
capability of fault reporting in vehicles.  
Is there a risk therefore that the AA 
becomes disintermediated, lowering the 
demand for breakdown assistance service 
if OEMs’ customers go direct to them?

 WHERE WE SEE THE OPPORTUNITY

  The AA will continue to proactively build 
relationships with OEMs, improving  
our range of offerings in addition to 
roadside assistance, which the OEMs  
are unable to provide, to help deliver 
better outcomes overall for their 
customers – we are one of the most 
trusted commercial brands in the UK.

  We have adopted a multi-faceted 
approach to our connected car strategy 
which involves direct outreach to  
B2C customers through our Smart 
Breakdown proposition which is now 
available for all our customers, as well  
as through strategic partnerships  
with OEMs which either leverage our 
technology or utilise OEMs’ existing 
capabilities. We will use the data 
from our connected car technology 
to continue to build our telematic 
insurance capabilities which we 
soft launched in December 2019.

  Innovations such as Smart Breakdown 
will, in combination with our app, create  
a powerful digital consumer platform. 
Our digital capability and ongoing 
investment in technology including 
SMR has attracted interest from our B2B 
partners and has been a unique selling 
point in our recent contract negotiations. 

9
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Market context continued

Building  
scale in a 
competitive 
insurance 
landscape
Insurance has been part of 
the AA since 1967 and is core 
to the delivery of our strategy. 
Our focus is on the £16bn 
market for motor and home 
insurance. By capitalising on 
our leading brand, distribution 
platform and proprietary data, 
we are well positioned to grow 
and significantly increase our 
market share.

 
Emerging trends

Claims and premium inflation
Motor premiums increased in 2019 
principally because cars are becoming 
increasingly expensive to repair, inflating 
the size of the average claim and squeezing 
insurers’ margins. Premiums also rose at 
the end of the year in preparation for 
increases in insurers’ reinsurance costs. 
Most of the motor insurance market 
renew their excess of loss reinsurance 
programmes from 1st January on which 
there were anticipated large (c.10% to 
30%) premium increases. We do expect 
premium increases due to reinsurance 
price changes to continue to feed through 
into the new year. The level of increase 
in 2019 was mitigated, however, by the 
change in the calculation for personal 
injury compensation payments announced 
by the Government in July 2019 and ahead 
of the expected changes to the small injury 
claims market in 2020. 

In respect of home insurance, 2019 saw a 
rise in claims and premium inflation driven 
by a range of factors, including an increase 
in subsidence claims as well as claims for 
flood and storm damage. 

How do the changing trends in claims and 
premium inflation impact the AA’s plans  
for growth?

 WHERE WE SEE THE OPPORTUNITY

  We are trading profitably and growing 
ahead of many of our competitors.  
While margins have been squeezed  
in the most recent months, the market is 
responding with rate rises, which presents 
us with a distinct opportunity. Price inflation 
increases the rate of attrition, which affects 
the whole market; however, as we are 
improving our price competitiveness and 
have plans to grow, this provides us with  
a growth opportunity. 

  While our cost base is highly efficient,  
our plans factor in continuing to manage  
it efficiently as we grow. The in-house 
underwriter remains focused on achieving 
a combined operating ratio below our 
long-term target of 95%.

  The AA currently provides motor and  
home insurance for approximately 15%  
of our roadside members. Our ongoing 
investment in pricing sophistication 
including IHP for the broker’s panel 
members and the ability of our in-house 
underwriter to leverage our proprietary 
data on roadside members has turned 
around our motor and home book and is 
expected to drive further growth, both 
within the existing member base and  
with non-members. 

Investment for scale
To develop scale and accelerate growth, 
additional investment will be required in 
technology and solvency capital. 

How can the AA grow its share of the 
motor and home insurance markets?

 WHERE WE SEE THE OPPORTUNITY

  Our plans build on our leading brand 
consideration, proprietary data and unique 
distribution platform. With our strong cash 
generation, we can continue to fund the 
additional levels of investment and policy 
acquisition costs required to grow the 
broker and the underwriter. Our solvency 
capital for our in-house insurer will be 
funded utilising internally generated cash, 
and from the profits of the underwriter.

  By improving our pricing agility through 
the rollout of IHP across our motor panel 
and introducing this to our home panel 
next year, as well as greater efficiency  
in our internal systems, and continued 
growth in our underwriter, we are well 
positioned to accelerate growth in the 
motor and home book.

We have invested to increase our 
competitiveness, both in the creation of  
our capital-light underwriter and in pricing 
sophistication including insurer hosted pricing 
(IHP) technology, which gives our panel the 
ability to drive more competitive premiums in 
real time. Our investments have returned the 
broker’s motor and home policy book to growth 
and, following the launch of our in-house claims 
management proposition, Accident Assist,  
in October 2019, we now operate across the 
value chain providing end-to-end services 
for our customers. 
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Technology-led disruption
One of the biggest emerging areas of 
technology in the insurance sector is  
the use of web-connected devices to 
measure and manage risk. In consumer 
insurance, the most obvious application 
is telematics in vehicles. These let 
insurers know if a driver is driving safely 
and, if necessary, enables them to change 
the premium in real time. The device also 
helps prevent fraud by helping companies 
assess if the damage in an accident is 
consistent with how the vehicle is driven. 
In the home insurance market, the uptake 
of smart home devices will give insurers 
new opportunities to develop their 
relationships with their customers,  
by helping people to avoid situations in 
the home from which a claim may arise. 

Given the pace of change in the sector,  
is the AA sufficiently nimble to navigate 
these challenges?

 WHERE WE SEE THE OPPORTUNITY

  The AA is embracing this technological 
change and capitalising on its leading 
brand position. Our proprietary data  
on roadside members gives us a  
distinct advantage compared with 
other underwriters in respect of current 
members and ex-members. We share 
some of this data with our other panel 
members which supports the growth  
of our broker. 

  Additional investments in IHP, as well  
as in Smart Breakdown, will give us 
real-time pricing capabilities and 
additional data on the car and the driver,  
to enable us to apply technology and  
price more competitively across both 
motor and home insurance. Our younger 
driver proposition, which uses data from 
Smart Breakdown, soft launched in 
December 2019.

  Looking ahead we are building on our 
claims and accident management 
processes and expect this to be a key 
differentiator for our Roadside and 
Insurance businesses. 

The AA’s regulatory environment
The AA is subject to a high degree of 
regulatory oversight. Specifically, the AA’s 
breakdown, motor and home insurance 
products are all FCA regulated products. 

The AA’s principal regulators are the FCA, 
for its approved insurance broker (AAISL), 
and the Gibraltar Financial Services 
Commission, in respect of the AA’s 
insurance underwriter (AAUICL). Through 
established and open communication  
the AA seeks to maintain a productive 
relationship with its regulators. 

In addition to the direct regulatory oversight 
set out above, the AA leverages its brand 
through certain strategic relationships it has 
entered into in relation to other regulated 

product sets. For example, the AA continues 
to grow its relationship with the Bank of 
Ireland in relation to certain consumer 
finance products, as well as offering vehicle 
finance and warranties under the AA brand, 
via our partners.

In such strategic relationships, it is the 
AA’s partners who have primary regulatory 
responsibility with the relevant regulator. 
The AA is acutely aware, however, of the 
trust that is placed in its brand by consumers  
and the potential for detrimental regulatory 
impact should those relationships not be 
operated in a compliant manner.

Further details with regard to the AA’s key 
regulated financial services activities are  
set out in the table below:

Regulated entity Activity Regulator
Automobile 
Association Insurance 
Services Limited

UK insurance broking FCA

AA Underwriting 
Insurance Company 
Limited

Motor and household underwriting  
in the UK, registered in Gibraltar

Gibraltar 
Financial 
Services 
Commission

AA Financial  
Services Limited

Introducing a range of AA branded 
personal finance products. Consumer 
credit products such as savings and 
deposits are provided in partnership  
with the Bank of Ireland

FCA

Used Car Sites 
Limited, trading  
as AA Cars

The Company’s predominant income 
is generated through its core business: 
dealer subscriptions to a car listing web 
platform. However, a nominal income 
is generated from regulated consumer 
credit introductions to a credit broker 
that operates a panel of lenders

FCA

FCA General Insurance Market 
Study – Update on Interim Report
The impact of the FCA General Insurance 
Market Study, launched by the FCA in 
October 2018 and highlighted in last year’s 
annual report, is yet to be finalised. In its 
Interim Report on the matter, published in 
October 2019, the FCA proposed a number 
of possible remedies to seek to: 

  Tackle high prices for consumers who do 
not switch or negotiate

  Address practices that could discourage 
switching

  Make firms be clearer and more transparent 
in their dealings with consumers 

  Ensure that firms harness innovation  
so as to provide a positive benefit to 
insurance markets

As anticipated, the FCA’s Interim Report 
makes clear that any conclusions that it 
reaches will take into account the Super 
Complaint made by the Citizens’ Advice 
Bureau to the Competition and Markets 
Authority (CMA) in December 2018.  
In particular, the FCA has confirmed that it  
will be mindful of the CMA’s principles for 
healthy competition, as were reiterated in 
the CMA’s response to the Super Complaint. 

The regulatory uncertainty with regard to  
the interventions, if any, that the FCA will 
deem appropriate is unhelpful in an already 
uncertain economic environment during the 
Brexit transition. However, having considered 
the Interim Report, the AA considers that it  
is well placed to implement any necessary 
changes to its business model and we have 
carried out scenario planning in respect of 
the spectrum of proposals put forward. In the  
meantime, we are continuing to seek to work 
constructively with the FCA as we await the 
final report.

Senior Managers and  
Certification Regime
The Senior Managers and Certification 
Regime (SMCR) came into effect for AAISL 
from December 2019 and is made up of the 
Senior Managers’ Regime, the Certification 
Regime and the Conduct Rules, replacing 
the Approved Persons Regime and the 
Senior Insurance Managers Regime. Under 
SMCR the FCA will not grant approval status 
to an individual unless it is satisfied that the 
individual is ‘fit and proper’ to perform those 
functions. The AA prepared extensively for 
the new regime with all relevant persons in 
the AA who are required to be approved 
under SMCR appropriately registered 
with the FCA. 
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I love it when 
technology makes 
the complicated 
things simple.  
It means I can get 
on and do what  
I really love…to 
have the freedom 
to drive!

The clear 
opportunity...
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and the freedom that comes with it. However, 
the experience of owning and managing a 
vehicle has become increasingly complex  
as modern customers demand greater 
convenience and better access to technology. 
Recognising these and the emerging trends  
in the automotive sector, we are reshaping the 
AA to deliver a range of products and services 
to support driver needs, and to make these 
available to customers through simple, intuitive 
digital channels. 
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...make Britain’s  
driving life simpler  
and smarter...

What we offer

Breakdown
Whether you are looking for personal cover, 
vehicle cover or even European cover we have 
a range of annual and monthly breakdown 
cover options to ensure you get the cover  
you need. In addition, through our Smart 
Breakdown platform, we will be able to  
prevent most breakdowns before they happen 
and can either schedule our patrol to come  
to you with the right parts to repair your vehicle 
at your convenience or redirect your repair  
to our accredited garage network using our 
SMR platform.

Insurance
Our insurance broking business sells both 
motor and home insurance. These policies  
are underwritten by a panel of underwriters 
including the AA’s in-house underwriter. 
Utilising our proprietary data, we are 
currently underwriting 52% of the motor 
broker policies and 39% of our home broker 
policies. Through our Smart Breakdown 
technology, we have recently soft launched 
our younger driver proposition.

Claims and accident 
management
If you’ve been involved in an accident, our 
in-house claims and accident management 
systems will aim to deliver a smooth 
end-to-end experience by ensuring you  
are taken care of by the AA throughout  
the process.

Service, maintenance  
and repair 
Smart Care, our SMR proposition, puts 
everything in one simple, smart place. 
Wherever you are, whatever you’re up to, it 
just takes a few taps to sort your MOT, service 
or repair online. We’ll make sure it’s a garage 
you can feel confident in and booked for a 
time that actually suits you. 

Driving school
From learning to drive to passing your test,  
our leading driving schools business offers  
a trusted and reliable platform for pupils and 
instructors alike. We are enhancing our digital 
capabilities to deliver a seamless offering  
that nurtures long-term brand affinity and 
promotes greater cross-sell opportunities.

AA Cars
Our trusted online AA Cars platform enables 
you to sell your current car or buy your next. 
We can even help with funding your purchase 
with our large panel of lenders giving you 
greater choice and flexibility.

Financial services
Our partnership with the Bank of Ireland  
now includes AA branded car finance products 
to sit alongside our successful savings and 
loan products.
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A vision of the future

Our strategy will deliver significant benefits for 
our members and customers, while creating 
sustainable long-term value for our investors.

1

Increase our 
addressable market
As we expand our product and 
service offering, we see our 
addressable market grow to cover 
all of the UK’s 31 million drivers.

2

Expand awareness  
of our products
Our marketing strategy will be 
centred on making Britain’s driving 
life better and will increasingly span 
the breadth of our product and 
service offering.

3 

Keep customers for longer
Through our user-friendly digital 
interface, we will be able to engage 
more regularly and effectively with 
customers, while offering a better 
overall experience.

4

Reduce acquisition costs
As customers buy more products 
from us, our acquisition costs  
will go down thereby helping us  
to deliver significant operational  
and cost efficiencies.

5

Minimise service costs
End-to-end digital journeys and 
self-service options will help reduce 
costs for us, and deliver better 
experiences for our customers.

...delivering the 
future Britain’s 
drivers deserve.

16 AA plc Annual Report and Accounts 2020
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Chief Executive Officer’s review

Making Britain’s driving 
life simpler and smarter

FY20 was a year of strong operational and financial  
performance for the AA, with significant progress made  
on our strategic plan. We delivered growth in Trading  
EBITDA and strong free cash flow generation. Alongside this,  
we have stabilised the membership base, which returned to 
growth during the second half of the year, and our Insurance 
business continues to grow strongly with a double-digit  
increase in total motor and home policies. 

 Simon Breakwell
 Chief Executive Officer 

I am pleased to report a strong set of results  
with growth in profit and free cash flow in line 
with market expectations. We made significant 
operational progress across our Roadside  
and Insurance businesses including returning  
our paid membership base to growth while 
continuing to demonstrate the strong growth 
potential of our Insurance business. We are 
advancing with the development and rollout 
of several new products and services including 
Smart Breakdown, Service, Maintenance and 
Repair (SMR), and claims management, which 
will differentiate the AA and enable us to target  
a broader base of UK drivers. Supported by an 
improved workforce and culture, I am confident 
that we can carry our positive operational 
momentum forward and continue to deliver 
exciting new products, fantastic service for  
our customers and sustainable growth for our 
investors. We are on the way to realising our 
vision of making Britain’s driving life simpler  
and smarter.

A year of delivery
Profitable growth delivered in line  
with expectations
My focus since becoming CEO has been to lay 
the foundations upon which to build a better  
AA by continuing to enhance our reputation for 
customer service and the highest standards  
of conduct and to deliver consistency in our 
financial performance ensuring that we meet 
expectations. Specifically, Trading EBITDA  
and free cash flow growth – the two key proof 
points that are synonymous with a business  
that is delivering sustainable long-term 
growth. Our results over the last two years have 
demonstrated just that and will over the longer 
term enable us to reduce our overall leverage 
and create sustainable returns for our investors.

Overall revenue grew 2% to £995m compared 
with £979m in the prior year, reflecting the  
solid performance of the Roadside and 
Insurance businesses.

In line with market expectations, we delivered  
a 3% growth in Trading EBITDA to £350m  
(2019: £341m), of which £290m related to the 
Roadside business and £60m related to the 
Insurance business. Group Trading EBITDA 
margins remained steady at 35% (2019: 35%). 

Operating profit before adjusting operating 
items increased by £2m to £261m, a year-on-year 
improvement of 1%, reflecting the increase in 
Trading EBITDA, an increase in the contingent 
consideration remeasurement gain of £8m  
(see note 19), and a £1m reduction in the pension 
service charge adjustment, which were offset 
partially by the anticipated increase of £16m in 
amortisation and depreciation. 

Profit after tax was up significantly to £87m 
(2019: £42m) and basic earnings per share 
increased by 7.2p, from 6.9p to 14.1p. 
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In our B2B business, as previously announced 
and in line with expectations, average income 
across our c.9m business customers was up  
5% to £22. 

In April 2019, we announced a three-year 
contract with Admiral to offer AA roadside 
assistance to Admiral’s 4.3m UK motor 
insurance customers, our first significant 
contract in the insurance market. Since our 
launch in September, we have already added 
over 207,000 new customers to our B2B base. 
In addition to Admiral, we were successful  
in winning several new contracts this year 
including Uber. Looking ahead, our focus is on 
forming partnerships which are aligned from 
both a strategic and commercial perspective. 
There are several significant B2B opportunities 
and we are confident in our ability to grow this 
part of our business, backed by our best-in-class 
customer service delivery, roadside technology, 
market-leading digital innovation and our broad 
range of driving services including SMR and 
accident and claims management. 

Positive operational momentum
Roadside
We continue to deliver best-in-class customer 
service in our Roadside Assistance business and 
in November 2019 were pleased to have been 
awarded the UK’s most reliable breakdown 
cover provider in 2019 by What Car? for the 
second year running. These awards build on 
our success in June 2019, when we were 
awarded the top Which? Recommended 
Provider status for breakdown cover.

A key highlight for our B2C business last year 
was the growth in our paid membership base, 
which grew by 0.2% to 3.215m members.  
We achieved this while holding steady our 
customer retention rate at 80% and increasing 
the average income per paid member in line  
with inflation to £165. 

Looking ahead, as a result of COVID-19 and 
the lockdown measures implemented by the 
Government, we expect membership to be 
down during the first half of this year followed 
by some recovery as restrictions ease.

The event showcased the exciting new products and services that the 
AA is delivering to make Britain’s driving life simpler and smarter.

Innovation Day

Insurance
Our Insurance business continues to deliver 
strong rates of profitable policy growth driven by 
our in-house underwriter as well as the benefit 
of ongoing investment in systems including IHP 
for the broker panel. 

Our broking business was the proud recipient  
of various awards during the year including  
the Gold Trusted Service Award by Feefo for 
delivering exceptional experience and the 5 
star rating by Defaqto for our comprehensive 
car insurance policy. 

The motor book grew by 19% to 869,000 
policies and the home book grew by 2% to 
844,000 policies, with the retention rates 
across both books in line with expectations. 
Currently, 85% of new motor business volumes  
are being written on IHP which is available 
across seven of our panel members. Over the 
next 12 months, we will continue the rollout of 
IHP across the motor panel base and will also 
commence the rollout of IHP to our home panel 
base starting with our in-house underwriter. In 
October, we were pleased to have announced 
the addition of Aviva, the UK’s largest insurer, 
onto our broker panel for motor insurance. 

We took important steps in enhancing our 
claims and accident management capabilities 
during the year by bringing our motor claims first 
notification of loss processes fully in-house to 
our new offices in Royal Tunbridge Wells for  
our in-house underwriter. This, together with  
the implementation of a new claims handling 
platform from ICE InsureTech, will help to 
facilitate a smoother end-to-end experience 
for our customers, deliver operational 
efficiencies and provide firm foundations 
for our future growth. 

Our in-house underwriter continues to deliver 
profitable growth utilising our proprietary 
member data. Our underwritten motor book 
increased by 32% to 448,000 policies, driven 
principally by our non-member channel which is 
currently at 174,000 policies. The underwritten 
home book also grew strongly and increased 
by 28% to 332,000 policies. 

In late FY20, in line with our strategic priority of 
broadening our underwriting footprint, we were 
pleased to have soft launched our young driver 
insurance proposition, utilising our Smart 
Breakdown technology. 

Post period-end in March, we were pleased 
to have extended our Financial Services 
Distribution Agreement with Bank of Ireland 
UK by three years to at least 2028. As part of 
the agreement, our partnership now includes 
AA branded car finance products to sit alongside 
the successful savings and loans products.
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Chief Executive Officer’s review continued

Putting service, innovation  
and data at the heart of the AA
We continue to make good progress with the 
delivery of our strategy, which puts service, 
innovation and data at the heart of the AA.  
The key focus of our strategy is to develop a 
range of products and services to support 
driver needs and to make these available to 
customers through simple, intuitive digital 
channels. We aim to make these services 
available to all UK drivers as we move 
towards our vision – making Britain’s 
driving life simpler and smarter.

We are making significant progress with 
the development and rollout of several new 
products and services and in May 2019 were 
pleased to have launched our first Product 
Innovation Day showcasing the range of  
ground-breaking tech-led innovations that  
we are currently developing. These include 
Smart Breakdown, SMR, young driver 
telematic-enabled insurance, as well as 
improvements in our digital reporting and 
diagnostic capabilities that will differentiate  
the AA, help our customers in their daily  
driving lives, improve our operational 
efficiency and generate additional revenue 
streams from both within and outside our 
current core membership base. 

We will measure our success through our 
previously outlined strategic priorities:  
(i) innovate and grow Roadside; (ii) accelerate 
growth in Insurance; (iii) deliver operational  
and service excellence; and (iv) nurture a 
high performance culture.

Read more on  
P21 to P24

Proactive pension liability and debt 
management
We have taken a range of proactive actions in 
recent years to reduce the risks associated  
with our pension scheme. In February 2020  
we concluded the triennial review of our AA UK 
pension scheme which resulted in a significant 
improvement of our actuarial pension deficit 
from £366m (as at 31 March 2016) to £131m (as 
at 31 March 2019), a material reduction of 64%. 

A new recovery plan has now been put in place 
and agreed with the trustees which assumes 
that the scheme deficit will be fully repaid in 
July 2025. As a result of our actions, we expect 
to make around £6m in annual cash savings. 

On 18 March 2020, we concluded our 60-day 
pension consultation with around 2,800 
members through their union/management 
representatives in respect of our proposal to 
close the CARE section of the AA’s UK defined 
benefit pension scheme. Following this 
consultation, closure will take effect from  
31 March 2020, which protects against the 
ongoing build-up of defined benefit risk for the 
Group and reduces the pension cash costs by 
c.£4m per annum. The consultation has resulted 
in an enhancement to the defined contribution 
scheme being agreed for affected employees 
which will cost c.£11m over three years starting 
from 1 April 2020.

We recognise the challenges posed by our level 
of indebtedness and the need to reduce this 
significantly. As part of our ongoing commitment 
to proactive debt management, we successfully 
completed the buyback of £32m of A and B notes 
for £28m cash during the year and in February 
2020 we exchanged £325m A5 notes into new 
longer dated A8 notes, which has enabled us to 
increase our average debt maturity from 3.3 to 
3.9 years. On 23 April 2020, we announced the 
early drawdown of our £200m Senior Term 
Facility to de-risk the planned refinancing of the 
remaining £200m A3 Notes due in 31 July 2020. 
As part of this process, S&P Global Ratings 
confirmed the credit rating of the Class A Notes 
at BBB-. In light of the Group’s continued 
positive performance, the Group intends to 
continue to proactively manage its capital 
structure subject to market conditions.

Strong cash generation with a clear focus  
on maintaining cost discipline

Our business is delivering strong, predictable 
free cash flow and, in line with our guidance,  
we generated £83m of free cash flow 
(pre-dividends and bond buyback) compared 
with £12m in the prior year. We also delivered 
capital expenditure in line with guidance,  
which fell to £69m, a reduction of 16% or £13m. 

Looking ahead
The ongoing situation with COVID-19 represents 
a significant level of uncertainty and our number 
one priority is to protect the health and wellbeing 
of our staff, members, customers and suppliers.

To minimise the impact on trading in FY21, we 
are acting decisively and executing a number 
of short term measures that will result in the 
deferral and reduction of a range of operating 
costs across the Group. These measures include: 
no pay rises and a suspension of our normal 
bonus scheme, a general hiring freeze, a 15% 
reduction in pay for all Board members for 
three months, and tight cost control across 
the business. The Group has also applied for the 
Government furlough scheme for those parts of 
our business where it has been necessary for us 
to adjust to reduced levels of workload, although 
the majority of our workforce continue to provide 
services to our customers. These measures do 
not impact our long term strategic priorities or 
our vision for The AA. Our progress against these 
are detailed on the accompanying pages. Given 
the recurring nature of many of our income 
streams, the benefit of the actions already taken 
and our flexibility to adjust to further changes in 
trading, we currently expect our performance 
this year to be robust in the circumstances and 
only slightly below that of FY20. This is assuming 
a partial lifting of the lockdown restrictions in 
early/midsummer and a gradual return to a more 
normalised trading environment during the rest 
of the year. This confidence in our performance 
reflects our resilient business model both in 
Trading EBITDA performance and in positive 
predictable cash generation.

I would like to thank all my colleagues for their 
passion, dedication and hard work over the 
past year and more recently in supporting 
those fighting the virus.

It is the highlight of my working life to be leading 
such a fine and important organisation as the AA. 
I am more confident than ever that together we 
are on the right-track to returning this wonderful 
business to sustainable long-term growth.

 
 Simon Breakwell

 Chief Executive Officer 

6 May 2020
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ROADSIDE
Innovate  
and grow

SERVICE,  
INNOVATION

AND DATA  
AT THE HEART  

OF THE AA

INSURANCE
Invest to  

accelerate  
growth

HIGH  
PERFORMANCE  

CULTURE

OPERATIONAL  
& SERVICE  

EXCELLENCE

Strategy update

Innovate and grow Roadside

 1   Transform our breakdown  
service to be fully connected

What we have achieved
In October 2019, we launched Smart 
Breakdown, a new premium offering that 
will transform our breakdown service by 
using connected technology to enable 
early identification of faults, prevent 
breakdowns and get our members back  
on the road faster. Over 4,500 new and 
existing members currently have Smart 
Breakdown and feedback to date has been 
very positive. The data from our connected 
technology is also being used to broaden 
our insurance footprint through our young 
driver insurance proposition which we 
launched late in FY20.

What to look forward to

Our forward connected car strategy will  
be multi-faceted and will involve direct 
outreach to B2C customers through our 
Smart Breakdown proposition, as well as 
through strategic partnerships with OEMs 
which either leverage our technology  
or utilise OEMs’ existing capabilities. 
Where our customers give us their 
permission we will be able to use the  
data from our connected car technology  
to continue to build our telematic  
insurance capabilities.

Service, innovation and data are at the heart 
of our strategy to unlock the potential for the 
AA. Underpinned by operational and service 
excellence as well a high performance 
culture, our strategy will deliver benefits for 
our members and customers, while creating 
sustainable long-term value for our investors.

Smart Breakdown
Smart Breakdown works by using a small 
plug-in device fitted in the member’s  
car which transmits fault information to  
the AA and then notifies the member.  
This means the AA can alert the member  
when they need to take remedial action  
(for example turning their lights off), 
therefore preventing a breakdown. 

When it is not possible to prevent or 
predict a breakdown, Smart Breakdown 
will automatically send information about  
a fault directly to the AA, explaining what is 
wrong and where the driver is, helping the 
AA to address the problem by sending out 
a patrol with the right parts to get the driver 
back on the road faster than ever before.

Issue with  
vehicle 

Telematics device 
sends alert

Driver receives app 
alert to mobile phone

Driver is prompted to 
report a breakdown in the 

app. It automatically 
populates the vehicle fault

AA employees and 
systems can see 

vehicle location and 
fault data

AA attends with right 
parts, knowing what 

the fault is
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Smart Care – Our SMR proposition
Through our Smart Care proposition you can book MOTs, services and repairs online  
at garages that we’ve inspected ourselves – all at a fair price and a time that suits you.

Chief Executive Officer’s review continued

Strategy update continued

2
  Ongoing innovation to differentiate  

our products and service

What we have achieved
In February 2019, we announced the 
acquisition of Prestige Motor Care Holdings 
Limited (AA Prestige), a profitable and 
growing technology-led supplier of SMR 
services to fleet and leasing companies. 
The SMR market plays a key role in 
addressing a driver’s planned and 
unplanned needs and represents a 
significant opportunity for the AA to grow 
new revenue streams without incurring 
significant capital expenditure. As part  
of our rollout plan, we announced a new 
partnership with Uber in September 2019, 
through which we have successfully 
integrated our SMR platform, as well as  

Tailored prices
We’ll give you competitive prices 
based on your vehicle make and 

model. What you see is what you’ll 
pay – a fair, pre-agreed price with 

no hidden extras

Approved garages
All our garages are AA certified 
and we are always monitoring 

their quality and delivery, so you 
can trust them to get you back 

on the road

1 year guarantee
All parts and labour come with  

a 12 month guarantee –  
so if anything goes wrong,  

we’ll sort it

Expert support
AA technical experts are  

on hand if you have  
any questions

the ability to request AA roadside assistance,  
into Uber’s Driver app. We have also recently 
commenced the rollout of SMR to all UK drivers 
through the soft launch of our Smart Care 
offering which is available on web-based 
channels. Looking ahead, we will continue with 
our rollout plan targeting both our B2B as well as 
B2C channels. We will also look to further 
improve our customer proposition and expand 
our network of garages to which we are affiliated 
so as to offer a truly unique and differentiated 
service in the market. 

Earlier in the year, we launched our award 
winning new online breakdown reporting 
channel on our website (theaa.com) to 
supplement our existing phone and AA app 
channels. The channel has already proven 
successful and has contributed to over 1m 

Innovate and grow Roadside continued
personal breakdowns being fully reported  
via digital channels by the end of the FY20 
financial year. The ability to report a breakdown 
digitally, via either our website or app, helps  
to improve the experience for our members  
by giving them greater choice of how they 
communicate with us, saving them time, making 
our service even more accessible and helping  
us to improve our operational efficiency.

What to look forward to
We will continue to invest in innovating and 
developing our pipeline of differentiated 
products and services to meet customer  
needs while maintaining a firm focus on 
cost management and meeting our internal 
rates of return.

3   Growing our base with new segments

What we have achieved
We launched our new Drive Smart marketing 
campaign in July 2019 targeting Freedom 
Seekers, a younger cohort of UK motorists 
(typically in their mid-40s) with our new positioning 
– making Britain’s driving life simpler and smarter 
for UK motorists. The Stellar Rescue campaign 
depicts the iconic British ‘Red Dwarf’ crew 
stranded in space before being rescued by  
an AA patrol following a breakdown reported 
through the AA app. In early FY21, to support our 
Smart Breakdown launch, we aired the second 
part of the Stellar Rescue campaign in which the 
crew use our Smart Breakdown technology  
in space. The campaigns which have been 
broadcast on TV, cinema, out-of-home and 
radio, as well as through digital channels, 
have been well received.

What to look forward to
Our future marketing strategy will be centred  
on making Britain’s driving life better and will 
increasingly span the breadth of our offering.

4   Digital adoption and innovation to  
drive broader member engagement

What we have achieved
During the year, our digital channels were  
used in 48% of the personal breakdowns that  
we serviced, up from 45% last year. We are 
currently in the process of expanding our digital 
offerings to our B2B base, with Lloyds banking 
group customers now able to report their 
breakdown online. 

In relation to our award-winning app, 
approximately 700,000 unique users accessed 

Please visit: theaa.com/car-care/book/start  
for further details
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the app on a monthly basis, of which around 
50% were returning users and 50% were 
new. Approximately 60% of members have 
registered for the app to date, up from 48% 
last year. The key enhancement this year  
was the successful integration of Smart 
Breakdown functionality which is currently 
available to all Smart Breakdown users.

What to look forward to
Looking ahead, we will be adding in several 
new features into the app to drive further 
engagement, improve cross-sell rates,  
and increase retention.

5
   Membership systems investment  

to drive retention

What we have achieved
We made good progress building our fit 
for the future tech estate in FY20, including 
continuing to build out CATHIE, our 
membership system. We have made 
significant improvements to our capability 
with over 70% of new policies sold through 
CATHIE. We plan to continue with the 
migration of existing policies, with an 
implementation programme that minimises 
the risk of this transition to our members  
and business.

What to look forward to
The investments we have made and will 
continue to make in marketing and pricing 
capabilities, as well as our online offerings 
including our app will give us important 
capabilities to improve retention performance, 
grow our membership base as well as drive 
cost reduction and enable new and bundled 
propositions, such as Smart Breakdown.

Accelerate growth in Insurance

1   Driving more competitive premiums

What we have achieved
Our proprietary data is our competitive 
advantage and is helping to deliver 
profitable policy growth for our insurance 
broking and in-house underwriter business.  
This, combined with the investments we 
have made in enhancing the brokers pricing 
agility, have successfully returned the motor 
and home policy books to growth delivering 
a 8% combined CAGR policy growth rate 
over the last two years.

What to look forward to
By continuing to develop our pricing agility 
through the rollout of IHP, realisation of 
greater efficiency through better internal 
systems, and supporting the growth of our 
in-house underwriter, we are confident  
that our Insurance business can continue  
to deliver strong profitable growth.

2
  Broaden footprint to include  

non-members and younger 
customers

What we have achieved
Following the launch of our non-members 
insurance scheme in May last year through 
our in-house underwriter and reinsurance 
relationship with Munich Re, we are  
pleased to report that we have successfully 
onboarded 174,000 non-members.  
The non-member claim rate is tracking 
favourably to our member and ex-member 
base and gives us the confidence that the 
non-member base will continue to drive 
profitable policy growth. The strong growth 
of the non-member motor book and 
improvements in our customer journeys  
are also helping to deliver consistent and 
healthy conversions into our Roadside 
business with 36% of new insurance 
customers taking roadside membership  
at the point of sale.

In addition to the non-member growth 
channel, we were pleased to have soft 
launched our young driver proposition  
at the end of the year which, combined with 
the addition of Aviva to our motor panel  
base, will help to significantly broaden 
our demographic footprint and support 
volume growth of the motor book.

What to look forward to
Looking ahead, we will continue to 
broaden our insurance footprint through our 
non-member and young driver insurance 
schemes. We will also look to complement 
this growth through strategies to increase 
our online competitiveness and cross-sell 
capabilities to increase the penetration 
levels within our existing member base.

3    Insurance innovation

What we have achieved
We soft launched our young driver 
insurance scheme this year utilising our 
connected Smart Breakdown technology. 
The integration of our digital and connected 
car strategy across our Roadside and 
Insurance businesses will enable a leading 
member offering through its simplicity  
and as a straightforward solution for 
motoring needs.

What to look forward to
We will continue to develop our young 
driver proposition, which we believe 
can be a significant value driver for 
our Insurance business and help to 
promote cross-sell opportunities. 

In addition, we will look to add digital 
capability across our motor and home 
products through self-service capability  
and shortened purchasing journeys across 
our web and app-based channels that  
will significantly improve the customer 
experience, promote cross-sell rates and 
improve overall retention rates. We expect  
to start to launch these soon.
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Strategy update continued

Nurture a high performance culture

Our people are key to delivering for our 
customers and to achieving business 
success. Our aim is to ensure that all our 
employees are motivated and engaged,  
with clear focus and purpose, and have  
the support they need to do their jobs. 

What we have achieved
We ran our second annual employee 
engagement survey in February 2019 and 
are pleased to report a significant increase 
of nearly seven points across the entire 
business. This is an amazing achievement 
and shows the passion and commitment  
of our teams to work together and deliver 
change that supports them and our 
customers. All responses showed a positive 
improvement and we will continue to work 
collaboratively across the AA to build on  
this further.

We are committed to supporting 
diversity and ensuring that we promote 
the development of our people across our 
operations. This year, we refreshed our 
Diversity and Inclusion Policy to create six 
communities within the AA (gender balance, 
carers, ability, pride, origins and generations). 
All of our Executive Committee members 
sponsor a specific community ensuring that 
diversity and inclusion is at the forefront.  
We support the recommendations of the 
Hampton-Alexander and Parker Reviews  
on gender and ethnic diversity, and we 
continue to monitor our progress against 
these. During the year under review, the 
Company had 30% of women in Senior 
Management, 38% on its Executive 
Committee and 25% on its Board. The 
Company recognises that there is a higher 
proportion of men in technical roles in the 
automotive sector, which is reflected in the 
AA’s gender pay gap report. To address  
this, we have been actively promoting and 

hiring women to our patrol apprentice 
programme. We are pleased to report that 
our new patrol apprentice cohort comprises 
40% women.

Read more about diversity and inclusion 
on P27 and P52

What to look forward to
We are now focussing on cross-team 
working, involving all our employees and 
sharing their ideas to help improve our 
business. We are working hard to increase 
opportunities for development and career 
progression across the AA, and ensuring 
that we promote a culture of recognition and 
support, especially for our customer-facing 
teams. We will be conducting our next 
engagement survey in early summer 2020. 

Read more about our 
people on P46

The people – it’s always  
the people that make the  
AA a great place to work.  
I’ve worked here for 12 years 
and met so many people. 
Some have become my best 
friends. It’s one big happy 
yellow family.

 Customer Advisor
 Social Media Team, Cheadle

Chief Executive Officer’s review continued

Deliver operational and  
service excellence

What we have achieved
We delivered outstanding customer 
service during the year and were proud 
recipients of numerous awards for our 
Roadside Assistance and Insurance 
businesses in FY20. 

In our Roadside business, overall 
call-to-arrive times averaged 46.5 
minutes in line with our long-term target 
of 45 minutes. We responded to a 
majority of calls to our call centre 
in 20 seconds and our repair rates  
and average repair times were also 
exceptional and ahead of last year. 

What to look forward to
To ensure that we have in place the 
optimal balance between the right level 
of front-line resourcing and flexibility in 
our cost base to redeploy resources 
during quieter periods, we are introducing 
more flexible working arrangements  
for our patrols. New initiatives include 
looking to utilise our Patrols’ experience 
to broaden our technical services 
business by working on new revenue 
channels, such as vehicle recalls for 
OEMs and trials with a partner in the 
SMR market. Longer term, we also 
expect the growth of our digital reporting 
channels and Smart Breakdown to be a 
significant driver of operational cost 
efficiencies across our business.

Our long-term targets for our Roadside 
operations:

  Call-to-arrive times of 45 minutes

  Answer 80% of breakdown calls  
in 20 seconds
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s172(1) statement

Our Directors make decisions with our 
stakeholders, and the long term, in mind
Section 172 of the Companies Act 2006 
(Section 172) requires a director of a 
company to act in the way he or she 
considers, in good faith, would be 
most likely to promote the success of the 
company for the benefit of its members  
as a whole.

The Board’s aim is to make sure that its 
decisions follow a consistent process,  
by considering the Company’s strategic 
priorities while working within a governance 
framework for key decision-making that 
takes into account all relevant stakeholders 
and balances their various interests.  
The Board has considered the need to act 
fairly between stakeholders and continue 
to maintain high standards of business 
conduct. Nevertheless, the Board 
acknowledges that stakeholder interests 
may conflict with each other and that not 
every decision can result in a positive 
outcome for all stakeholders.

Read more about how our Board operates 
and reaches decisions, including the key 
matters discussed during the year and  
the stakeholder considerations that  
were central to those discussions, in the 
Governance Report on pages 55 to 87.

Set out on the next few pages are some 
examples of how the Directors have had 
regard to the matters set out in Section 172 
when discharging their duties, and  
how this has informed the Board’s 
decision-making.

Key Stakeholders
The Board continuously monitors  
the AA’s key stakeholders to ensure due 
consideration is given to all relevant 
stakeholders in the context of principal 
decisions. During the year, the following 
key stakeholders were identified:

  Employees 

  Investors: bondholders and shareholders

  Customers

  Suppliers

  Regulators: FCA, GFSC and the 
Information Commissioner’s Office

Board considerations
The Board has considered how the AA currently 
engages with each of the key stakeholders set out 
below, as well as its future engagement strategy. 

This will ensure that due consideration is given 
to stakeholder views and interests, to the extent 
that they are relevant to any particular decision.

Investors
Board engagement with investors primarily 
takes place through the Chair, CEO, CFO and  
the Investor Relations team. There is regular 
scheduled engagement through investor 
roadshows and meetings with the Board are 
frequently organised at the request of investors.

Each of the Committee Chairs has additionally 
attended specific sessions with investors 
during the financial year. Notably, the 
Remuneration Chair, Nomination Chair and 
Audit Chair have all attended meetings or  
held conference calls with investors.

It should also be noted that several 
shareholders attend the AA’s Annual General 
Meeting (AGM). The Board is encouraged to 
meet directly with shareholders both before 
and after the main business of the meeting. 
This informal engagement is in addition to the 
opportunity for shareholders to put questions 
to the whole Board during the AGM itself.

Read more about our investor 
engagement on P61

Customers
The Board recognises the importance of 
considering the impact on customers in all 
Board decisions, and customers are a key part  
of Board discussions. The Board engages  
with customers’ interests and views through  
the CEO’s regular reports to the Board.  
The regulated parts of the business receive 
regular management information to ensure 

that customer conduct is reviewed and 
escalated as appropriate. The business 
also seeks feedback through surveys 
and complaint channels.

Read more about our commitment to our 
customers on P43 and P48

Suppliers
The Board monitors our supplier relationships 
through a framework of internal controls 
which consist of supplier management  
tools and our supplier code of conduct.  
Our relationship with our suppliers is an 

important part of delivering the Company’s 
strategy. The Board considers and approves 
the annual operating expenditure, as well as 
approving any strategically important or 
high-value contracts.

Regulators
We have an open and transparent relationship 
with the regulators that monitor our business. 
The AA plc Board and its regulated subsidiaries 
all maintain an active dialogue with the relevant 
regulators. We consider the various regulatory 
requirements in the context of Board decision- 

making and have a Regulatory and Legal 
Change Committee to ensure that we are up  
to date with upcoming regulatory changes.

Read more about our  
regulated entities on P11

Employees
The Board has engaged with employees 
through Board presentations, attendance at 
both formal and informal employee events,  
and conducting their own site visits.

This year, in addition to regular Board 
meetings, the AA has also organised several 
deep-dive sessions to facilitate the Board in 
meeting various teams around the business 
and gaining in-depth insights into certain key 
areas, such as complaints and our people 

strategy. The Board is encouraged to suggest 
topics for deep-dive sessions that may be 
helpful to their overall understanding of  
the business.

The Board also engages directly with more 
senior colleagues through, for example, regular 
one-to-ones with the Executive Committee 
and the Senior Management Team.

Read more about our employees and our 
workforce engagement on P46 and P60



26 AA plc Annual Report and Accounts 2020

STRATEGIC REPORT

s172(1) statement continued

Examples of how the Board considered the interests of its key 
stakeholders when making decisions

Having monitored the development of digital 
innovation within the automotive industry, 
the Board considered and approved the 
acquisition of Prestige Motor Care Holdings 
Limited (Prestige). 

The Board considered an acquisition to 
support the Company’s strategy to scale its 
business in the SMR channels through digital 
innovation. The Board recognised the key  
role that the SMR market plays in addressing  
a driver’s planned and unplanned needs.

The AA’s offer in the area of SMR was 
fragmented, and the Prestige acquisition 
would provide an already successful digital 
platform to connect many cross-business 
opportunities. The Board considered the  
fact that Prestige also had a successful fleet 
customer base and network of garages,  
which would also support the AA’s desire 
to scale quickly. This would ultimately  
benefit the Company’s customers,  
employees and shareholders.

The Board took care to consider all the risks 
associated with an acquisition of a digital 
platform. Considerable due diligence 
was carried out, particularly in the area of 
information security. The Board discussed  
the inherent risks, which fell into five main 
categories: Technology/Security, Financial, 
Operational, Customer/Brand, and Legal.  
The Board asked the AA’s Chief Risk Officer  
to assess the transaction and provide an 
objective opinion to the Board. The Board 
carefully considered the risks, together with 
the mitigations that had been put in place by 
the Risk team, and decided that there were no 
substantive risks that could not be overcome.

When considering the integration plan for 
Prestige, the Board took into account the 
experience of previous acquisitions and the 
importance of ensuring that the business 
remained aligned with the Company’s overall 
strategy, particularly taking into account 
shareholder concerns around the need  

to invest in core areas of the business. The 
Board additionally discussed the potential 
opportunities to present a new product line to 
many of its existing and new customers and to 
move closer to its goal of providing a ‘one stop 
shop’ for all driver needs. This would respond 
to a need in the market and was likely to foster 
good relationships with suppliers, customers 
and others.

The Board considered the impact on employees, 
and felt it would be more meaningful to focus 
on integrating the acquisition and delivering 
the service, rather than building a platform  
in house.

The initial integration of Prestige went well and 
the Board continues to monitor its success.

Read more about Prestige 
on P22 and P30

Acquisition of Prestige Fleet Services

During this financial year, the Board explored 
business lines that may not be directly linked 
to the Company’s core strategy. AA Media 
Limited (AA Media) owns business lines  
in hotels and hospitality accreditation,  
as well as in publishing and merchandising.  
The Board ultimately approved a transaction 
to dispose of 51% of AA Media, in order to 
create a joint venture with Enthuse Group 
Limited (Enthuse).

When taking into account the likely 
consequences in the long term, the Board 
noted that, while the AA Media business  
lines were complementary, they were not 
considered core investable areas for the  
AA over the next three years. As a result,  
the Company was unable to successfully 
compete for new revenue streams or invest in 
streamlining processes to create efficiencies. 
The Board also considered the fact that 
Enthuse were experts in the area of digital 
publishing and merchandising businesses, 
with a proven track record of working with 
heritage brands. The Board considered the 
transaction to be consistent with the AA’s 
strategy of focusing on its core Roadside and 
Insurance businesses, which was supported 
by major shareholders.

The Board considered the consequences of  
its decision in the long term and agreed that 
Enthuse’s expertise would benefit employees, 
shareholders and the Company, resulting in:

  A likelihood of increased profits, because  
AA Media would be able to pursue 
accelerated opportunities for growth by 
utilising existing partnerships and digitising 
its range of products and services

  Operational efficiencies from Enthuse’s 
shared services platform

   A potential product range that would be  
far superior for customers than the current 
AA offering

  A more focused customer experience,  
which would allow the Company to remain 
competitive and pursue its digital strategy

A material point of discussion and consideration 
was the granting of an exclusive brand licence 
to the joint venture in connection with  
AA Media’s business lines in publishing, 
hospitality services and merchandising.  
Due consideration was given to the possible 
impact on the Company and its customers, 
should it wish to enter any of these specific 
markets through other business channels  
at a later date. As a result, specific carve-outs 
to the exclusivity licence were agreed in 
consultation with employees from certain 
areas of the Roadside and Insurance  
business functions.

The Board also considered the impact on the 
AA Media employees who would be required 
to transfer their employment to Enthuse and 
move offices in the longer term. In order to 
mitigate any adverse impact on employees, 
the Company agreed that it would allow  
AA Media to continue to be based at the AA’s 
main Basingstoke offices in the short term, 
prior to moving to another site nearby.

The Board approved the transaction and 
appointed Suzi Williams, a Non-Executive 
Director with over 25 years’ experience  
in marketing, to the AA Media Joint  
Venture Board.

Read more about AA  
Media on P33

Disposal of a majority share in AA Media Limited
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This year, the Board considered the  
AA’s refreshed strategy on diversity  
and inclusion following feedback from 
employee engagement exercises, as well  
as a noticeable increase in requests from 
customers and suppliers for the AA’s 
strategy in this subject area.

It was recognised that such a policy would 
help the AA achieve its aim of recruiting a  
more diverse workforce, which in turn would 
better reflect the diverse customer base of  
the Company. 

The Board also noted that certain studies  
had showed that companies in the top  
quartile for gender diversity on senior 
leadership teams were 21% more likely to 
outperform their national industry median  
on EBITDA margin. In contrast, companies  
in the bottom quartile for both gender and 
ethnic/cultural diversity were 29% less likely  
to achieve above-average profitability.

Diversity and inclusion

Diversity and inclusion were also recognised 
to be areas of interest in B2B contracts. Since 
key B2B customers such as Lloyds and Jaguar 
Land Rover all have an accessible strategy on 
diversity and inclusion, the Board and the 
Executive Committee considered it important 
for the AA to be similarly aligned with  
such values.

The Board looked at how best to encourage 
diversity and inclusion, and agreed that each 
member of the Executive Committee would 
sponsor a particular area of diversity to ensure 
that this was embedded in the culture of the 
AA and understood by the workforce.

The Board endorsed a new diversity and 
inclusion strategy, targeting six key 
communities to fully embrace the diversity 
of our employees and enable the AA to be 
an even more inclusive place to work. These 
communities include those with visible and 
invisible disabilities, gender balance, age, 
carers, those from our BAME communities  
and vocational backgrounds, and our LGBT 
employees. This policy was rolled out to 
all employees to raise awareness and to 
encourage participation, development 
and discussions with key stakeholders. 

Read more about our plans to promote 
diversity and inclusion on P52
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Key performance indicators

Robust strategic performance  
in changing markets

Innovate and grow Roadside
KPI Definition Relevance for the AA
Average 
income per 
member  
(£)

Average income per paid 
personal member excluding 
free memberships

2020

2019

2018

165

162

157

This measures the average income we generate from our personal 
member base. As we look to move beyond breakdown and capture  
an increasingly larger share of the car ownership value chain, we 
expect the average income to trend positively upwards.

Average 
income per 
business 
customer 
(£)

Average income per  
business customer

2020

2019

2018

22

21

20

This measures the average income we generate from our business 
customers. Alongside growing the business customer base we are 
targeting a growth in the average income per business customer through 
the launch of new services such as vehicle recalls and onward mobility 
solution through our Agile platform.

Paid personal 
members 
(thousands)

Number of personal members 
excluding free memberships 
at the period end

2020

2019

2018

3,215

3,207

3,289

This demonstrates our ability to build on our market leading position  
in the consumer market. Our strategy to innovate and differentiate  
our core Roadside proposition will enable us in the long-term to grow 
our paid personal membership base.

Business 
customers 
(thousands)

Number of business 
customers at the period end 2020

2019

2018

9,048

9,793

9,928

We are market leaders in the B2B market with c.9m business customers. 
A key tenet of our strategy in B2B is defending our core base as well as 
growing that base through new contract wins and generating new 
sources of income that improve the average income per business 
customer.

Operational and service excellence
KPI Definition Relevance for the AA
Breakdowns 
attended 
(thousands)

Number of breakdowns 
attended 2020

2019

2018

3,423

3,730

3,679

This is a key driver of our cost base and also demonstrates utilisation  
of our service by our members and customers.

Roadside

Accelerate growth in Insurance
KPI Definition Relevance for the AA
Average 
income  
per policy 

(£)

Average income per 
insurance policy for  
motor and home

Old basis New basis 

2020

2019

2018

68

69

74

2020

2019

2018

83

80

82

The first measure shows the average income generated by our insurance 
broking business. As we continue to grow and increase our investment  
in new business, we expect the second measure of average income per 
policy including revenue from our underwriter and Accident Assist 
business to increase overall.

Insurance 
policies 
(thousands)

Total motor and home 
policies sold in the 
last 12 months by 
our insurance broker

2020

2019

2018

1,713

1,561

1,447

Growing our Insurance business through the total number of policies  
we broker is a key component of our strategy. We will deliver this  
through new insurance innovation, driving more competitive  
premiums and broadening our footprint to include non-members  
and younger customers.

Underwritten 
insurance 
policies 
(thousands)

Total motor and home 
policies sold, including 
renewals, in the last  
12 months by our in-house 
insurance underwriter

2020

2019

2018

780

598

407

A key tenet of growing our Insurance business is growing our in-house 
underwriting business utilising our proprietary member data. We are 
looking at increasing our footprint to non-members as well as increasing 
penetration levels within our existing member base.

Insurance

Roadside operations

Our key performance indicators (KPIs) measure 
progress against our strategy. Further details 
can be found in the our performance and 
financial review sections.

Adjustments this year: We have updated 
our KPIs and introduced a new definition of 
average income per policy to include revenue 
from our in-house underwriter and Accident 
Assist business.
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Profitability and cash flow generation
KPI Definition Relevance for the AA
  Trading 
EBITDA  
(£ millions)

Trading EBITDA is the 
performance measure most 
closely aligned to that required 
by our debt documents  
(see note 3)

2020

2019

2018

350

341

391

This is a key measure of our underlying trading performance as defined 
in our debt covenants. Our medium-term target is to deliver a CAGR 
Trading EBITDA growth of 5-8% by FY23 from the FY19 base.

Operating 
profit 
(£ millions)

Statutory measure of profit 
before tax, finance income  
and finance costs including 
adjusting operating items

2020

2019

2018

257

219

307

Alongside Trading EBITDA, this is a key measure of our underlying 
trading performance and is a GAAP measure. As we execute on  
our plans for growth, we expect to drive a meaningful growth in 
operating profit.

EPS 
(earning per 
share, pence)

Statutory measure of profit 
after tax divided by the 
weighted average number  
of shares outstanding 
including adjusting 
operating items

2020

2019

2018

14.1

6.9

18.2

This measures the allocation of our profitability to our shareholders.  
As we execute on our plans for growth, we expect to drive a meaningful 
growth in EPS.

  Free cash flow 
(£ millions)

Net cash flow before 
payments of dividends, 
bond buy-backs and 
refinancing costs

2020

2019

2018

83

12

91

As we deliver EBITDA growth and return to a normalised level  
of capex spend, we expect to see a significant transfer of value  
from debt to equity through the growth in free cash flow.

Sustainability
KPI Definition Relevance for the AA
Total greenhouse 
gas emissions 
(tonnes carbon 
dioxide 
equivalent) 

Our total group emissions are 
reported under the Companies 
Act 2006 (Strategic Report 
and Directors’ Reports) 
Regulations 2013. 
Calculations follow the  
GHG Protocol Corporate 
Accounting and Reporting 
Standard (revised edition), 
using market-based  
and UK location-based 
emissions factors

Market- Location- 
based based

2020

2019

2018

40,762

44,604

44,845

2020

2019

2018

42,895

44,323

45,603

Our emissions are material to our environmental impact on issues  
such as climate change, with our operational fleet accounting for  
94% of our total emissions.

Reduce borrowings and associated interest costs
KPI Definition Relevance for the AA
Leverage 
(ratio)

Ratio of net debt to Trading 
EBITDA for continuing 
operations for the last  
12 months (see note 30)

2020

2019

2018

7.6

8.0

6.9

Over the medium to long term we aim to reduce leverage to between 
three to four times.

Interest cover 
(ratio)

Ratio of Trading EBITDA to 
total ongoing cash finance 
costs (see notes 6 and 30)

2020

2019

2018

2.6

2.6

2.8

This measures the extent to which our earnings cover interest payments 
on our debt.

Financial sustainability

*Please note that prior year estimates have been trued up. This has not resulted in any material changes.
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Our performance

Roadside and Insurance, 
our two core segments

Uber, Allianz, Alphabet, Lynk & Co and VWD ID 
(Volkswagen’s all electric car proposition). 

In February 2019, we announced the acquisition 
of AA Prestige, a profitable and growing 
technology-led supplier of SMR services to  
fleet and leasing companies. As part of our SMR 
rollout plan, we announced a new partnership 
with Uber in September 2019, through which we 
have successfully integrated our SMR platform, 
as well as the ability to request AA roadside 
assistance, into Uber’s Driver app. We have  
also recently commenced the roll-out of SMR  
to all UK drivers through the soft launch of  
our Smart Care offering which is available on  
web-based channels. Please see page 22 
for further details.

In April 2019, we announced a three-year 
contract with Admiral to offer AA roadside 
assistance to Admiral’s 4.3m UK motor 
insurance customers, our first significant 
contract in the insurance market. Since our 
launch in September, we have already added 
over 207,000 new Admiral customers to our 
B2B base.

Operational review
We continue to deliver best-in-class customer 
service delivery in our Roadside Assistance 
business and in November 2019 were pleased  
to have been awarded the UK’s most reliable 
breakdown cover provider in 2019 by What Car? 
our second successive award by What Car? 
These awards build on our success in June  
2019, when we were awarded top Which? 
Recommended Provider status for breakdown 
cover, achieving a top-scoring five stars within 
the ‘fix at a roadside’ category. Our service also 
won the top seven places in the Which? research 
for best manufacturer breakdown cover 
provider, a strong validation of our business 
model and the outstanding customer service 
delivery we provide to our OEM partners.

Revenue was flat in the year at £841m with 
the benefit of higher B2C income and the 
acquisition of AA Prestige offsetting the 
lower B2B revenue on pay-for-use contracts 
as well as the 51% disposal of AA Media 
during the year. 

Trading EBITDA was up 2.5% to £290m while 
the Trading EBITDA margin was maintained  
at 34%, reflecting the solid performance of 
the Roadside Assistance business. 

Business-to-consumer
In line with management expectations, the paid 
personal membership base returned to growth 
during the second half of the year resulting in a 
membership base that grew by 0.2% in FY20 to 
3.215m (2019: 3.207m). The customer retention 
rate was broadly flat at 80%.

Average income per paid member rose to £165, 
up 2% since last year. The increase, which was  
in line with inflation, includes the increase in  
the proportion of new personal members  
taking up monthly subscriptions and 
improved product mix. 

Business-to-business
As previously announced, average income 
per business customer was up 5% to £22 and 
business customers fell to 9.0m (2019: 9.8m), 
principally due to our decision not to renew  
our contract with Groupe PSA as well as the 
anticipated decline in the number of AVAs with 
our banking partners and the reduction in new 
car registrations across the automotive sector.  
Our focus within B2B is on forming partnerships 
which are aligned from both a strategic and 
commercial perspective.

We retained or extended all of our key contracts 
in FY20 in line with commercial expectations, 
including TSB, Toyota, Hyundai, Lex Autolease 
and Northgate. We also won a number of new 
contracts including Admiral, 

Breakdowns attended

3.42m
2019: 3.73m

Paid personal 
members

3.215m
2019: 3.207m

Average income per 
paid member

£165
2019: £162

Business customers

9.0m
2019: 9.8m

Average income per 
business customer

£22
2019: £21

Roadside

Revenue

£841m
2019: £841m

Trading EBITDA margin

34%
2019: 34%

Trading EBITDA

£290m
2019: £283m



AA plc Annual Report and Accounts 2020 31

G
overnance

Financial Statem
ents

O
ur B

usiness
O

ur Perform
ance

Within our Insurance business, we were pleased 
to have been awarded a second successive  
Gold Trusted Service Award by Feefo for 
delivering exceptional experience and being 
awarded a 5 star rating by Defaqto for our 
comprehensive car insurance policy.

Total breakdowns fell by 8% to 3.42m  
(2019: 3.73m), reflecting the more benign 
weather conditions during the year. This resulted 
in a reduction in third-party garaging costs 
which was partially offset by the lower revenue 
generated from our pay-for-use B2B contracts.

Overall call-to-arrive times averaged  
46.5 minutes in the year, against our target  
of 45 minutes. We responded to a majority  
of calls to our call centre in 20 seconds and  
our repair rates and average repair times  
were also strong and ahead of last year. 

Driving Services
Revenue in our Driving Services division,  
which consists of our Driving Schools and 
DriveTech businesses, declined by 1.6% to  
£62m (2019: £63m). This was due to our 
decision to reduce the number of unprofitable 
driving instructor franchises in our Driving 
Schools business, as well as the decline in 
the number of speed awareness courses for the 
police in our DriveTech business. A significant 
highlight for our DriveTech business in 
FY20 was the renewal of a new three-year  
award for Bedfordshire, Cambridgeshire and 
Hertfordshire framework contract (previously 
known as the Thames Valley Framework 
contract) as well as the Police Service  
Northern Ireland contract.

Looking ahead, under new leadership in both 
businesses, we are developing strategies to 
help return the Driving Services division back to 
sustainable growth. Within Driving Schools, we 
have invested significantly, improving our digital 
customer journeys for pupils, offering new more 
competitive franchise opportunities for instructors 
and layering in wider benefits such as Roadside 
membership through our Standby promotion. 
Within DriveTech, a key focus for the business 
will be to build new recurring revenue streams 
within our corporate driver training business. 

Meeting our people 
regularly and seeing their 
commitment gives me 
immense satisfaction –  
it reminds me of the hard 
work around the business 
– that above all else the 
AA is one team.

 Simon Breakwell
 Chief Executive Officer
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Our performance continued

Insurance revenue was up 12% to £154m 
driven by the growth of both the insurance 
broker and in-house underwriter. 

Trading EBITDA improved by 3% to £60m, 
however, in line with expectations, the Trading 
EBITDA margin declined from 42% to 39%, 
reflecting the ongoing investment in marketing 
needed to position the business for long-term 
growth, as well as the increase in the 
lower-margin underwriter revenue.

Insurance services (including broking 
and financial services) 
Revenue increased by 6% to £126m (2019: £119m) 
driven by the growth of the motor and home 
books. The motor policy book grew by 19% to 
869,000 policies (2019: 731,000) and the home 
book grew by 2% to 844,000 (2019: 830,000), 
reflecting the continued strong growth of our 
in-house underwriter as well as the benefit of 
ongoing investment in systems including IHP 
for the broker. IHP has enabled us to price more 
competitively and convert a greater proportion 
of quotes on price comparison websites (PCWs). 
IHP is currently installed with seven of our panel 
members including Aviva who joined the panel 
late FY20. Currently, 85% of new motor business 
volumes are being written on IHP and we will 
continue to rollout this technology across 
the motor base. We will also commence  
the rollout of IHP across our home panel base  
soon starting with our in-house underwriter.

The strong growth of the non-member motor 
book and improvements in our customer journey 
are helping to deliver consistent and healthy 
conversions into our Roadside business with 
36% of new insurance customers taking 
Roadside membership.

The ongoing investment in acquiring new 
business volumes, which have a lower average 
commission compared with the rest of the book, 
led to a reduction in the average income per 
motor and home policy to £68, compared  
with £69 last year. Including income from our 
in-house underwriter and Accident Assist 
business, average income per policy grew  
from £80 to £83.

In October 2019, we were pleased to 
announce the addition of Aviva, the UK’s 
largest insurer, onto our broker panel for 
motor insurance. The addition of Aviva  
helps to expand the potential market for the 
AA broker, as well as provide competitive 
premiums for AA members and customers.

We took important steps in enhancing our 
claims and accident management capabilities 
during the year by bringing our motor claims 
first notification of loss processes fully in house 
to our new offices in Royal Tunbridge Wells for  
our in-house underwriter. This, together with  
the implementation of a new claims handling 
platform from ICE InsureTech, will help to 
facilitate a smoother end-to-end experience for 
our customers, deliver operational efficiencies, 
and provide firm foundations for our future 
growth. We plan to roll out this new capability 
across all our motor panel members over the 
next six months. This will deliver an accident 
management solution (to be called Accident 
Assist) for all our insurance customers and 
generate additional revenue to our Insurance 
business. Beyond insurance claims management, 
we are also developing our accident management 
capabilities to serve our broader membership, 
as we believe this will be a key differentiator 
for our roadside business moving forward.

By the end of January, we had 90,000 Financial 
Services products across our personal loans 
and savings portfolio. This represents a  
balance sheet size of approximately £642m, 
broadly matched by deposits and both of which 
are held on the balance sheet of Bank of Ireland. 
The loan book has continued to grow well in a 
competitive market with the combination of the 
AA’s brand and distribution platform and the 
Bank of Ireland’s expertise in service delivery 
offering a distinct competitive advantage.  
The AA membership base and brand are 
benefiting the business with 25% of the  
non-ISA savings books held by members and 
35% of our personal loans being written for 
vehicles. On 31 March 2020, we extended our 
Financial Services Distribution Agreement with 
Bank of Ireland UK by three years to at least 
2028. As part of the Agreement, our partnership 
now includes AA branded car finance products 
to sit alongside the successful savings and 
loans products.

Insurance underwriting
Revenue for our Insurance underwriting 
business grew strongly in the year to £28m 
compared with £19m in the prior year. Gross 
earned premiums were £70m (2019: £33m), 
while respective figures for gross written 
premiums (gross of co-insurance arrangements) 
were £130m and £99m. Deferral of broker 
commissions amounted to a reduction in 
revenue of £3m (2019: £1m). Trading Revenue is 
reported after accounting for the broker deferral 
adjustment, where the broker commission is 
recognised over the life of the policy along with 
the underwriter premium for policies 
underwritten by our in-house underwriter. 

In line with our strategy to drive profitable 
growth of the insurer using our proprietary  
data to deliver more competitive premiums,  
we grew the motor book by 32% from 339,000 
to 448,000, driven largely by our non-member 
channel which is currently at 174,000 policies 
and the underwritten home book also grew 
strongly by 28% from 259,000 to 332,000. 

Alongside the non-member policy growth,  
we are actively developing strategies to increase 
our online competitiveness and cross-sell 
capabilities to increase the penetration levels 
within our existing member base. Consistent 
with our strategic priority of broadening our 
competitive footprint, we recently soft launched 
our young driver insurance proposition through 
new reinsurance relationships, utilising our 
Smart Breakdown technology. 

Our combined operating ratio was in line 
with our long-term target of 95%. We have also 
achieved strong rates of retention across our 
motor and home policies book. Net claims paid 
during the year were £23m (2019: £15m). 

In line with expectations, Trading EBITDA was 
up £3m to £9m (2019: £6m), reflecting the 
solid growth this year.

The in-house underwriter business remains  
well capitalised under the Solvency II capital 
requirements. As at 31 January 2020, the 
solvency coverage headroom was 62% over 
requirement and can be funded from the profits 
of the underwriter and AA plc available cash.

Insurance

Revenue

£154m
2019: £138m

Trading EBITDA margin

39%
2019: 42%

Trading EBITDA

£60m
2019: £58m

Policy numbers
Brokers

1.7m
2019: 1.6m

Underwriter

780,000
2019: 598,000

Motor policies
Broker

869,000
2019: 731,000

Underwriter

448,000
2019: 339,000

Home policies
Broker

844,000
2019: 830,000

Underwriter

332,000
2019: 259,000

Average income  
per policy 
(Motor and home 
policies only)

Broker

£68
2019: £69

Including underwriter

£83
2019: £80

Financial Services 
products

90,000
2019: 112,000
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Financial review

This year, we have executed our 
strategic and operational plan 
well, and have delivered a 
strong set of results with 
growth in profit and free cash 
flow, reduction in debt and an 
improving pensions position.
 Kevin Dangerfield 
 Chief Financial Officer

Group Revenue
2020

£m
2019

£m

Roadside 841 841
Insurance 154 138
Revenue 995 979

Revenue grew by 2% to £995m, compared with £979m last year, reflecting 
the solid performance of both the Roadside and Insurance segments. 

Roadside Revenue was flat at £841m (2019: £841m). The benefit of higher 
revenue generated in our B2C business as well as the acquisition of  
AA Prestige offset the lower B2B revenues on our pay-for-use contracts  
as well as the impact of the part disposal of AA Media during the year.

Insurance Revenue was up 12% to £154m (2019: £138m) driven by the 
growth in revenue from both the insurance broker and in-house underwriter.

Group Trading EBITDA
2020

£m
2019

£m

Roadside 290 283
Insurance 60 58
Trading EBITDA 350 341
Trading EBITDA margin 35% 35%

In line with market expectations, Group Trading EBITDA increased by 3% 
to £350m, (2019: £341m), including £3m benefit related to the adoption of 
IFRS 16 as previously announced (please see note 1.3 w). Roadside Trading 
EBITDA increased by £7m to £290m reflecting the improved performance 
of our B2C business which delivered higher average income per paid 
member with a membership base that grew by 0.2% in FY 20, as well 
as the benefit of reduced third-party garaging costs. Insurance Trading 
EBITDA was up £2m to £60m, a solid performance reflecting the initial 
benefit of increased acquisition marketing spend by the broker over the 
last two years.

Trading EBITDA margin was stable at 35%, with sustained Roadside Trading 
EBITDA margins offsetting the anticipated reduction in Insurance Trading 
EBITDA margins due to accelerated investment in new business volumes.

Why we use Trading EBITDA
We use an adjusted performance measure in managing the business, 
which is Trading EBITDA.

Importantly, this is a key measure defined in our debt documents and used 
in the calculation of our debt covenants so it is of great significance to our 
debtholders. Given the significance of the Group’s borrowings, this is then 
also very relevant information to shareholders. See page 115 where we 
explain the debt structure and covenant arrangements and headroom.

Trading EBITDA adjusts operating profit for the following items:

  Share-based payments

  Pension service charge adjustment

  Amortisation and depreciation

  Contingent consideration remeasurement movements

  Adjusting operating items 
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We are required to remove each of these in calculating Trading EBITDA  
for the debt covenants. The pension service charge adjustment is made 
because it does not reflect underlying trading or cash contributions paid. 
Amortisation and depreciation are removed to calculate any standard 
EBITDA measure. The contingent consideration remeasurement 
movement and share-based payments are adjusted as they are a 
secondary impact of trading rather than part of underlying trading itself. 
Finally, adjusting operating items (previously referenced as exceptional 
items) are identified by virtue of their size or incidence and we separately 
disclose these in order to improve a reader’s understanding of the financial 
statements. In the current year, adjusting operating items comprised £6m 
related to strategic review projects, £2m related to conduct and regulatory 
costs and £1m related to legal disputes, offset by a £2m gain on the 
disposal of 51% of AA Media Limited and £3m gain on the disposal of 
non-current assets.

The reconciliation from Trading EBITDA to operating profit before  
adjusting operating items includes a divisional apportionment to Roadside 
and Insurance for share-based payments, pension service charge 
adjustments, contingent consideration remeasurement gain  
and amortisation and depreciation. 

While Trading EBITDA will remain a requirement of the debt documents, 
management’s focus is progressively moving towards operating profit  
and earnings per share. 

Operating profit
2020 2019

Roadside
£m

Insurance
£m

Group
£m

Roadside
£m

Insurance
£m

Group
£m

Trading EBITDA 290 60 350 283 58 341
Share-based 
payments (2) (3) (5) (4) (1) (5)
Pension service 
charge 
adjustment (4) – (4) (5) – (5)
Contingent 
consideration 
remeasurement 
gain 9 – 9 1 – 1
Amortisation and 
depreciation (79) (10) (89) (66) (7) (73)
Operating 
profit before 
adjusting items 214 47 261 209 50 259
Adjusting 
operating items (4) (40)
Operating profit 257 219

Operating profit before adjusting operating items increased by £2m 
to £261m, a year-on-year increase of 1%. This was attributable to the 
increase in Trading EBITDA, the £8m increase in the contingent 
consideration remeasurement gain (see note 19), and the £1m reduction 
in the pension service charge adjustment. These were offset somewhat 
by the anticipated increase of £16m in amortisation and depreciation 
reflecting the historic and ongoing investments in IT.

The share-based payments charge was flat at £5m (2019: £5m) as a 
reduction in the employee share incentive plan charge was offset by  
the higher charge for the Insurance Long Term Bonus Plan (see note 36). 
As the vesting performance conditions for all classes of the MVP shares 
were not met following the final testing date of 27 June 2019, the MVP 
shares have fully lapsed. The vesting performance conditions for the 
Long-Term Bonus Plan were also not satisfied on the testing date of  
27 June 2019 and this plan also lapsed.

 

Net finance costs
2020

£m
2019

£m

Interest on external borrowings 129 127
Finance charges payable on lease liabilities 5 4
Interest receivable from financial assets held for 
cash management purposes (1) (1)
Total ongoing cash net finance costs 133 130
Ongoing amortisation of debt issue fees 14 15
Fair value movement on interest rate swaps 1 –
Net finance expense on defined benefit  
pension schemes 5 6

Contingent consideration movements 1 2
Total ongoing non-cash finance costs 21 23
Adjusting finance costs – 13
Adjusting finance income (4) –
Total net finance costs 150 166

Total net finance costs were £16m lower at £150m, largely due to the 
adjusting finance costs of £13m in the prior year related to the prior year 
refinancing and adjusting finance income of £4m relating to the net gain on 
settlement of debt in the current year. 

Profit before tax
Profit before tax rose significantly to £107m (2019: £53m), an increase  
of 102%, reflecting the benefit of improved operational and financial 
performance during the year and the lower costs of adjusting operating 
items, mainly due to the one-off £22m pension past service cost in the 
prior year.

Taxation
The tax charge for the year increased to £20m (2019: £11m) reflecting  
the higher profitability. The tax charge consisted of a current tax charge  
of £16m (2019: £8m) and a deferred tax charge of £4m (2019: £3m).  
The effective tax rate was lower at 18.7% (2019: 20.8%), more in line  
with the UK statutory tax rate.

Profit after tax and earnings per share
Profit after tax was up significantly to £87m (2019: £42m) and basic 
earnings per share increased by 7.2p, from 6.9p to 14.1p.

Adjusted profit after tax and adjusted basic and diluted earnings per 
share fell to £87m (2019: £91m), 14.1p (2019: 14.9p) and 13.7p (2019: 14.9p) 
respectively reflecting the lower adjusting items as noted above (see note 3). 

Net liabilities reduced
Net liabilities decreased in the year by £109m. The largest movement  
was due to the defined benefit pension deficit which decreased by £56m.  
This was primarily due to the performance of plan assets being above 
expectations, experience arising from the 2019 valuation for the AAUK 
pension scheme, changes in the demographic assumptions (reflecting 
the latest outlook for mortality rates and inclusion of the latest experience 
around retirement behaviour), and Group contributions paid into the 
schemes. This was partially offset by the changes in financial assumptions 
over the period (in particular a decrease in the discount rates). 

In February 2020, the triennial actuarial review for the AAUK pension 
scheme was completed as at 31 March 2019. This resulted in a significant 
reduction to the technical provisions deficit of 64% from £366m as at  
31 March 2016 to £131m and the agreed recovery plan aims to eliminate  
the technical provisions deficit in July 2025.The Group has committed to 
paying an additional (above the asset-backed funding scheme payments) 
£10m per annum from April 2020 to March 2021, £11m per annum from 
April 2021 to March 2022 and £12m per annum from April 2022 to July 
2025. As a result of our actions, we expect to make around £6m in annual 
cash savings relative to the previous agreement.

As part of the AA’s approach to proactively managing its pension liability, 
the AAUK scheme purchased a bulk annuity policy during the year  
which insures all the benefits payable under the scheme in respect of 
1,790 pensioner and dependant members (please see note 27 for further 
details). The bulk annuity purchase is in addition to the policy purchased 
from Canada Life in the prior year, which insures the benefits payable 
under the scheme in respect of 2,510 pensioner and dependent members.

Financial review continued
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A range of proactive actions have been taken in recent years to reduce  
the risks associated with the pension scheme. The scheme’s investment 
strategy has been developed such that its financial exposures to changes 
in long-term interest rates and inflation are now broadly 85-90% hedged. 
In addition, the two recent bulk annuity purchases have also hedged the 
associated longevity risks on c.20% of the scheme’s IAS 19 liabilities. 
While risks remain, this represents significant progress in controlling  
our exposure to future increases in the deficit. 

Consultation on the closure of the CARE section of the AAUK pension 
scheme commenced on 17 January 2020 through union and employee 
representatives and concluded on 18 March 2020. The Group had 
proposed that, from 1 April 2020, all future pension accrual would be on 
a defined contribution basis. Following a review of the feedback received 
during consultation, the Group has confirmed that the proposals will be 
implemented on a modified basis and future pension accrual will be  
on a defined contribution basis for all UK employees with transitional 
arrangements which will cost c.£11m over three years starting from  
1 April 2020.

On an ongoing basis, the regular (non-transitional) pension accrual costs 
for the affected members are expected to be c.£4m per year lower than 
the current costs in the scheme as a result of the closure.

Importantly, closure also curtails the ongoing build-up of defined benefit 
risk for the Group. 

Cash flow and liquidity
Free cash flow

2020
£m

2019
£m

Trading EBITDA 350 341
Working capital and provisions excluding 
adjusting operating items 17 (17)
Pension deficit reduction contributions (26) (24)
Other items (4) (4)
Cash flow from continuing operating activities 
before taxation, adjusting operating items and 
capital expenditure 337 296
Tax paid (11) (15)
Capital expenditure including capital and  
interest payments on leases less proceeds 
from sale of fixed assets (98) (108)
Operating free cash flow after capital expenditure 228 173
Interest on borrowings less interest receivable (128) (128)
Operating free cash flow before adjusting 
operating items 100 45
Acquisitions and disposals (8) (10)

Adjusting operating Items (9) (23)
Free cash flow 83 12
Purchase of Bonds/Debt refinancing activities (28) (34)
Free cash flow to equity 55 (22)
Dividends paid (12) (12)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents 43 (34)

Our business is delivering strong, predictable free cash flow and in  
line with our guidance, we generated £83m of free cash flow in FY20  
(2019: £12m) before the costs of purchasing bonds, refinancing and 
dividends. Operating free cash flow after capital expenditure was also 
healthy at £228m (2019: £173m). This increased year on year partly due 
to the increase in Trading EBITDA along with significant movements in 
working capital and non-adjusting provisions (see below). Capital 
expenditure including capital and interest payments on leases less 
proceeds from sale of fixed assets reduced by £10m to £98m. This 
included lower capital expenditure, which was in line with our 
guidance at £69m (2019: £82m). 

Pension deficit reduction payments of £26m (2019: £24m) were in line with 
the agreement made with the Pension Trustees in June 2017. 

Our cash conversion measure of cash flow from continuing operating 
activities before taxation, adjusting operating items and capital 
expenditure as a percentage of Trading EBITDA also remains strong at 
96% (2019: 87%) and was higher than the prior year principally due to 
significant movements in working capital and non adjusting provisions. 
The three main movements were: a cash receipt from HMRC in settlement 
of historic partial exemption claims, an increase in the claims provisions 
in our underwriter and timing differences in payments and receipts. 

We are required to hold segregated funds as ‘restricted cash’ to satisfy 
requirements governing our regulated businesses, including the 
Insurance Underwriting business. These restricted cash balances have 
increased to £70m (2019: £36m) due to the growth in the Underwriting 
business and a restricted cash balance of £32m held due to a requirement 
in the Group’s debt documents to deposit a calculated amount of ‘excess 
cash’ at the year end when within an ‘accumulation period’ (the 12 months 
before which any borrowings become due). The Class A3 notes are due 
on 31 July 2020 (see note 20) and are covered by the Senior Term Facility 
which has been drawn (see below). If not required, the excess cash will 
be returned to available cash on 31 July 2020. 

Interest cover is calculated as the ratio of Trading EBITDA to total ongoing 
cash finance costs (see note 6) and was 2.6x (2019: 2.6x). 

Capital management 
The Group capital is a combination of net debt and equity. As at 31 January 
2020, net debt was £2.6bn while the equity market capitalisation  
was £0.3bn. 

The Directors seek to achieve an appropriate balance between the higher 
return that is possible with borrowings and the advantages and security of 
equity funding. We aim to reduce both the amount of net debt and the cost 
of servicing it over time through the successful delivery of our strategy  
as well as a proactive approach to managing our debt. Our leverage ratio 
reduced in the year to 7.6x due to the benefit of increasing profitability, 
higher cash balances and the bond buy-backs completed in the year.

We continue to have significant headroom in respect of our covenants  
and in addition also have significant additional liquidity available from 
£225m banking facilities, of which £221m remains undrawn. 

As part of our commitment to proactively manage our debt this year,  
we successfully completed the buyback of £32m of A and B notes for 
£28m of cash and in February 2020 we exchanged £325m of Senior 
Secured A5 notes into new longer dated Senior Secured A8 notes  
which has enabled us to increase our average debt maturity from  
3.3 to 3.9 years. The exchange offering was over 55% oversubscribed. 

On 5 February 2020, S&P Global Ratings reaffirmed the credit rating of 
our Class A notes at BBB- and the Class B2 notes at B+.

Capital structure as at 31 January 2020
Expected  
maturity date

Interest rate
%

Principal
£m

Class A2 notes 31 July 2025 6.27 500
Class A3 notes (forward 
starting new STF available) 31 July 2020 4.25 200
Class A5 notes 31 January 2022 2.88 697
Class A6 notes 31 July 2023 2.75 250
Class A7 notes 31 July 2024 4.88 550
Class B2 notes 31 July 2022 5.50 570

4.52 2,767
Class B2 notes Repurchased (5.50) (29)
Total loan notes 4.51 2,738
Lease liabilities 66
Cash and cash equivalents (159)
Total net debt 2,645
Equity (valued at close  
on 31 January 2020) 295
Total capital as at  
31 January 2020 2,940

The weighted average interest rate for all borrowings of 4.51% has been 
calculated using the effective interest rate and carrying values as at  
31 January 2020. See note 39 for post year end borrowings table. 
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On 23 April 2020, we announced the early drawdown of our £200m 
Senior Term Facility to de-risk the planned refinancing of the remaining 
£200m A3 Notes due on 31 July 2020. As part of this process, S&P Global 
Ratings confirmed the credit rating of the Class A Notes at BBB-. 

The Company continues to evaluate the optimal refinancing strategy of  
its debt maturities and coupon payments, including the A notes, B notes 
and Senior Term Facility. Early redemption of the A notes will result in 
make-whole interest penalties up to the date of maturity. The B2 notes 
currently have a reducing sliding scale premium on redemption of 
the principal which needs to be paid up to 31 July 2020. The viability 
statement shown on page 37, highlights our cash generative nature, 
our ability to service the interest obligations on our debt and the risks 
associated with refinancing.

The Group remains committed to the proactive management of its capital 
structure and will continue to assess all options as we go through FY21. 

Net debt

Year ended 31 January
2020

£m
2019

£m

Class A notes 2,197 2,200
Less: AA Intermediate Co Limited group  
cash and cash equivalents (102) (20)
Net Senior Secured Debt1 2,095 2,180
Class B2 notes 570 570
Lease obligations for covenant reporting2 39 61
Net WBS debt3 2,704 2,811
IFRS 16 lease adjustment for WBS  
lease obligations4 24 –
AA plc group lease obligations5 3 –
Class B2 notes repurchased by AA plc (29) –
Less: AA plc cash and cash equivalents6 (57) (96)
Total net debt 2,645 2,715

AA plc Trading EBITDA 350 341
AA Intermediate Trading EBITDA7 340 337

Net debt ratio8 7.6x 8.0x
Class B2 leverage ratio9 8.0x 8.3x
Senior leverage ratio10 6.2x 6.5x

Class A free cash flow: debt service11 3.4x 2.6x
Class B free cash flow: debt service12 2.5x 1.9x

1 Principal amounts of the Senior Term Facility and Class A notes less AA Intermediate Co 
Limited group cash and cash equivalents.

2 The lease obligations for covenant reporting value is presented based on frozen GAAP 
pre-IFRS 16, as required by the debt documents. The figure above is therefore different  
to the lease liabilities value shown in the statement of financial position.

3 WBS debt represents the borrowings and cash balances within the WBS structure headed  
by AA Intermediate Co Limited. This includes the principal amounts of the Senior Term  
Facility, Class A notes, Class B notes and lease obligations for covenant reporting less AA 
Intermediate Co Limited group cash and cash equivalents.

4 Difference between lease obligations for covenant reporting based on frozen GAAP  
and the lease liabilities value shown in the statement of financial position having adopted  
IFRS 16 from 1 February 2019.

5 Total lease obligations for the Group excluding the value reported as the AA Intermediate  
Co Limited group lease obligations.

6 Total cash and cash equivalents for the Group excluding the value reported as the  
AA Intermediate Co Limited group cash and cash equivalents.

7 AA Intermediate Co Limited group Trading EBITDA including discontinued operations 
as required by the debt documents based on frozen GAAP.

8 Ratio of Total Net Debt to AA plc Trading EBITDA for the last 12 months.

9 Ratio of Net WBS Debt³ to AA Intermediate Trading EBITDA for the last 12 months.

10 Ratio of Net Senior Secured Debt¹ to AA Intermediate Trading EBITDA for the last 12 months.

11 Ratio of last 12 months free cash flow to proforma debt service relating to the Senior Term 
Facility and Class A notes as calculated by the debt documents. 

12 Ratio of last 12 months free cash flow to proforma debt service. 

Financial review continued

The Class A notes only permit the release of cash providing the senior 
leverage ratio after payment is less than 5.5x and providing there is 
sufficient excess cash flow to cover the payment.

The Class B2 note restrictions generally only permit the release of cash 
providing the fixed charge cover ratio after payment is more than 2:1  
and providing that the aggregate payments do not exceed 50% of the 
accumulated consolidated net income.

The Class A and Class B2 notes therefore place restrictions on the  
Group’s ability to upstream cash from the key trading companies to pay 
external dividends and undertake those other finance activities which  
are not restricted.

The Group tests investment balances for impairment annually, which 
in the current year has resulted in an impairment to the carrying value of 
the Company’s investment in subsidiaries (see note 2 to the Company 
financial statements). 

Key cash release metrics
2020 2019

Senior Leverage ratio1 6.2x 6.5x
Excess cash flow2 £195m £91m
Fixed charge cover ratio3 2.6x 2.6x
Consolidated net income4 £321m £267m

Note that the above table relates to the financial activities of the AA Intermediate Co Limited  
group and therefore the metrics therein will differ from those of the AA plc Group. Each of these 
metrics are required by the financing documents. 

1  Ratio of Net Senior Secured Debt to Trading EBITDA of AA Intermediate Co Limited group  
for the last 12 months. This excludes AA plc cash and cash equivalents.

2 Cumulative free cash flow, since 1 February 2013, reduced by dividends paid by the AA 
Intermediate Co Limited group and adjusted for items required by the financing documents.

3 Ratio of fixed finance charges to Trading EBITDA.

4 Cumulative profit after tax, since 1 May 2013, adjusted for items required by the financing 
documents and reduced by dividends paid by the AA Intermediate Co Limited group.

At 31 January 2020 the Senior Leverage ratio was 6.2x. In order  
for this to reduce to 5.5x thus enabling dividends to be paid up to AA plc, 
either the AA Intermediate Co Limited group Trading EBITDA would need 
to increase by £41m or the AA Intermediate Co Limited group cash and 
cash equivalents would need to increase by £225m.

Dividends
The Group remains committed to the proactive management of its capital 
structure and reduction of debt and will continue to assess all options. 
Consistent with this approach, and also in light of the COVID-19 outbreak, 
the Board has decided to suspend the final dividend in respect of FY20. 
Total dividend payments in respect of FY20 will therefore remain 0.6p per 
share, representing the amount paid in respect of the interim dividend.

 
 Kevin Dangerfield 
 Chief Financial Officer

6 May 2020
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Viability statement

The Board has assessed the prospects of the 
Group in the context of the current financial 
position of the Group and the Principal Risks 
described on pages 39 to 42.

This assessment was considered in the 
context of the Group’s strategic planning over 
a period of three years from February 2020 
with consideration then given to an additional 
two years beyond this on a basis of nil growth. 
These assessments have been updated to 
include an estimated impact of COVID-19. At 
the time of the publication of these financial 
statements, the effect of COVID-19 had not 
impacted the overall Group’s performance 
during February and March while the 
lockdown period into April has seen more 
variable activity levels offset by cost reduction 
initiatives. However, the future impact of 
COVID-19, both in the short and longer term, 
is still very uncertain and therefore additional 
downside scenarios were prepared as part 
of the stress tests conducted for the Board.

Refinancing of debt
The key assumption within this viability 
assessment is the ability of the Group to 
refinance its debt on the various expected 
maturity dates (as disclosed in note 21) at an 
affordable interest rate with the associated 
one-off costs. The next tranche of debt due 
to mature is the £200m of remaining Class A3 
notes which mature on 31 July 2020. As part 
of the Group’s approach to proactive debt 
management, the Group drew its Senior Term 
Facility in April 2020 and is currently holding 
the proceeds from that drawdown in escrow 
to redeem the Class A3 Notes on their 
maturity. Following this, the next repayment of 
borrowings is in January 2022 at which point 
the outstanding £372m of Class A5 Notes 
become due and subsequently the £570m 
of Class B2 Notes on 31 July 2022 (of which 
£29m is held directly by AA plc as at 31 
January 2020). 

The Directors continue to believe that, given 
the usual liquidity of the sterling bond markets, 
the investment grade rating of the Class A 
notes, the recent oversubscription of the new 
Class A8 note issue in February 2020 and the 
recurring cash flows of the business, there is 
a reasonable prospect that we will be able to 
refinance. In addition, the Directors would 
expect to refinance these borrowings in 
advance of their respective due dates as the 
Group has access to a number of refinancing 
opportunities including bond issues, bank 
borrowings and repayments from existing 
cash resources. However, the Directors do 
believe that these refinancings will be at a 
higher interest rate than the current profile 
and will, as with previous refinancings, 
require cash resources to be allocated to the 
associated one-off costs of enabling these 
transactions. The Directors have included 
stress tests on these costs as part of the 
downside scenarios that have been prepared. 
The Group remains committed to the proactive 
management of its capital structure and 
reduction of debt and will continue to 
assess all options.

AA plc funding and B note requirements
There are certain ratios and requirements that 
the WBS group must meet in order to be able 
to pay dividends to AA plc or to use WBS cash 
to repay Class B notes (see note 21). At 31 
January 2020, certain of these ratios and/or 
requirements were not met and therefore the 
WBS group cannot use cash generated within 
the WBS to make any repayments of Class B 
principal or pay any dividends to AA plc, 
resulting in cash constraints in the short to 
medium term at the AA plc level. However AA 
plc has sufficient funds to meet its anticipated 
operating requirements, noting that we have 
suspended dividend payments from AA plc. 

Pension Schemes
As explained in note 27, the Group has a deficit 
on its pension schemes. Based on the recent 
triennial valuation for the AA UK pension 
scheme, the Group has in place a three year 
funding plan that has been agreed with the 
pension trustees for the period until the next 
triennial valuation. The deficit in the pension 
scheme could fluctuate significantly from 
currently estimated levels. The immediate 
impact of COVID-19 on the global financial 
markets means higher fluctuations of the 
funding level in the AA UK scheme, albeit 
partially mitigated by the de-risked investment 
strategy and high levels of hedging. Should 
these conditions persist at the time of the 
2022 triennial valuation then there is a risk 
that the contributions required from the 
Group could increase. 

Stress tests
The potential impact of COVID-19, which 
remains uncertain at the time of this report, has 
also been included in the Group’s revised base 
case plan and the Directors considered a 
number of potential downside scenarios to this 
plan. These related to the Principal Risks on a 
scale of the potential impact based on the 
probability of occurrence and included an 
estimate of further downside due to the impact 
of COVID-19 as well as the FCA’s review of the 
selling and pricing of Motor and Home 
insurance. These stress tests showed that the 
business maintained its positive operating 
cashflow generation, is able to pay liabilities 
when they fall due (assuming refinancing of the 
Class A and B notes) and comply with loan 
covenants over the forecast period and hence 
demonstrate a level of financial resilience. 
Given the current status of the bond markets, 
the Board does not expect any refinancing 
activity to be until later in FY21. At that time the 
impact on the Group, as well as the mitigating 
actions that the Board has been able to take to 
maintain its positive operating cashflow 
generation and EBITDA in FY21 and over the 
planning horizon, will be better understood. 

With respect to our ongoing credit rating 
requirements, the revised base case plan 
incorporating the impact of COVID-19 does 
potentially reduce our EBITDA in the short 
term. However, this is anticipated to be 
temporary and does not affect the longer-term 
EBITDA growth assumptions, positive 
operating cashflow generation and ultimately 
the general resilience of the business. 

The Class A notes are currently rated as 
BBB- and this rating was reconfirmed as part 
of the Senior Term Facility drawdown in April 
2020. The credit rating agency considers a 
number of factors in determining the credit 
rating including the Group’s business plan and 
the structure, terms and conditions of the 
Group’s borrowings. While there is currently 
no expectation of a downgrade in credit ratings 
in the near term, the Directors have evaluated a 
downside scenario comprising a downgrade 
in Class A ratings below BBB-. There is no 
immediate operational or financial impact on 
the business in the event of such a downgrade. 
There would be no restriction on the Group’s 
ability to refinance any maturing Class A notes 
through the issue of new Class A debt although 
this is likely to be at a higher interest rate 
depending on prevailing market conditions. 
The Group, in such a ratings downgrade 
scenario, will be restricted in its ability to issue 
new Class B notes within the WBS structure 
and accordingly will be required to raise capital 
outside the WBS to refinance the Class B2 
notes that mature in July 2022. In the event 
that such capital is not capable of being raised 
by the maturity date, the Group would enter 
into negotiations with its Class B2 noteholders. 
In the event that the WBS group was unable to 
refinance or repay any of its borrowings falling 
due in 2022, then the relevant bondholders 
could enforce their security in accordance with 
the security trust and intercreditor deed, which 
in the case of the Class B bondholders includes 
a share pledge over the holding company of 
the WBS group. This security does not cover 
the Group’s insurance underwriting activities.

The Board also considered what level of stress 
would cause the business viability to be put 
into question by means of a reverse stress test.
This indicated that the viability of the business 
would be threatened by an unexpected cash 
outflow of in excess of £50m in each year of 
the five year period considered for the 
purposes of our viability assessment 
compared to the revised base case plan. 

Conclusion
Having considered all these elements of the 
assessment carefully, the Board has a 
reasonable expectation that the business will 
be able to continue in operation and meet its 
liabilities as they fall due for the period 
considered by the viability assessment 
assuming the anticipated impact of COVID-19, 
the ability to refinance at an affordable interest 
rate and to incur the associated one-off costs 
of refinancing.
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Risk management

Effective risk management remains key to 
the delivery of the AA’s strategic objectives
AA Risk Management Framework
Risk registers
Our Risk Management Framework Policy 
requires all areas of the business to maintain  
a risk register which is reviewed on at least a 
quarterly basis. Risks from this ‘bottom up’  
risk identification exercise are linked to the main 
principal risks identified by the Board which are 
documented in this Report on pages 39 to 42. 
Each risk register ‘owner’ is required to formally 
self-certify the completeness and correctness 
of their risk register(s) on a quarterly basis and 
confirm the effectiveness of the corresponding 
controls. In addition, each senior member of the 
management team has his/her own set of top 
risks which are reviewed regularly. This year,  
we have undertaken a fundamental review of 
risk registers to remove complexity from the risk 
management process and have also reviewed 
our risk appetite statements.

Risk assessment
Risks are assessed and scored for probability 
and impact, both inherently (i.e. without 
controls) and residually (i.e. with controls).  
A target risk score is also set. If the residual  
risk score is higher than the target score, then 
either appropriate action is agreed to ensure  
that the risk exposure is returned to the desired 
target level or the increased risk exposure is 
formally accepted. 

Incidents and near misses
An important part of the Risk Management 
Framework is the identification and reporting  
of incidents and near misses including  
root cause analysis. This helps to inform 
the assessment of risk and highlights areas  
for control improvement actions. The AA 
encourages and fosters a culture of open  
and honest incident and near miss reporting.

Key risk indicators/tolerances
The Risk Management Framework is also 
supported by key risk indicator management 
information. This is used to monitor the current 
risk position against the desired risk exposure 
and to monitor trends and changing factors 
enabling early corrective action. Management 
information provides regular updates to ensure 
that the risk exposure remains within the desired 
tolerance level or is brought to the attention of 
the relevant management for corrective actions 
to be taken. A formal risk acceptance process is 
in place to ensure that any request for material 
risk acceptance is documented, reviewed and 
agreed at an appropriate level of authority.

Control verification
The effectiveness of primary controls for key 
risks is verified through the operation and 
reporting of management ‘snap checks’  
(control effectiveness tests). 

Remedial actions
Management actions relate to a combination  
of risk, compliance and audit activity. These are 
documented and reported to the appropriate 
risk forum or executive risk owner and tracked  
to resolution.

Principal risks
The principal risks facing the Group are subject 
to regular review. In addition, the Board has 
performed a robust assessment of the principal 
risks facing the Group. A summary of these  
risks is detailed below, together with the key 
mitigating actions/controls, a summary of 
changes during the year and the primary KPIs.

Risk appetite
The risk appetite for the AA is documented and 
presented to the Risk Committee for review and 
debate and presented to the Board for approval. 
The AA’s Risk Appetite Framework defines the 
amount of risk the organisation is willing to take 
in achieving its strategic objectives.

Appropriate and effective business risk 
reporting has been put in place to track the 
position against risk appetite. These reporting 
arrangements are regularly reviewed for 
adequacy and effectiveness.

Three lines of defence
The Company operates a ‘three lines of defence’ 
model. The model distinguishes between 
functions that have prime responsibility for 
identifying, owning and managing risks (first 
line), oversight and control functions (second 
line) and functions providing independent 
assurance (third line). All three lines of defence 
have specific tasks in the internal control 
governance framework. 

Control assurance map
Our control assurance map takes information 
from the first line of defence to indicate any areas 
where controls are not operating effectively or 
where there have been risk incidents. Onto this 
we map the second line – compliance and risk 
monitoring – and third line – internal audit 
– assurance activity over a three year cycle  
to provide a view on the coverage of these 
monitoring assignments as well as the ratings 
of those assignments that have been completed. 
This is designed to ensure that the assurance 
plans cover the most appropriate areas.

Horizon Risk
At the end of FY20, COVID-19 emerged as a 
horizon risk for the AA. Since then, the business 
has continued to perform in line with our 
expectations through February and March but 
as we entered April we started to see greater 
variance as a result of COVID-19. We have 
responded quickly with changes to our 
operations, both in Roadside and Insurance, 
and material cost reduction programmes to 
mitigate the significant uncertainty ahead. We 
will continue to monitor the situation closely.

Risk model
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Monitor 
for Change/

Evolution

Mitigate/
Control

Identify/ 
Review Risk

The AA uses a bullseye risk 
model to guide the business in 
the identification of risks to the 
organisation. This considers 
core, transitional, strategic  
and horizon/emerging risks.

 Core business risks
The risks that are a daily part of 
our business activities (business 
as usual risks). They may be 
constant or may be evolving  
over time.

 Transitional risks
The risks that are present  
as a result of initiating and 
making changes.

 Strategic risks
Any risk that may adversely 
impact upon the delivery  
of a strategic objective.

 ‘Horizon’ (or emerging) risks
New/potential threats or 
opportunities that we need 
to prepare for. These are also 
considered as part of the 
strategy and three-year  
planning process.
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Key: Impact, likelihood and trend 

 Decrease in risk profile  Same as last year  Increase in risk profile

Principal risk:
Debt leverage

We are unable to manage our debt

Risk trend 

Link to strategy: 
Financial and other

Primary KPIs  
 Leverage 
 Interest cover 
 Trading EBITDA 
 Free cash flow 

Description 
The Company is unable to repay or refinance its debt at an 
acceptable price.

Mitigation 
We have strong recurring cash flows which support the 
current capital structure, and which will enable us to reduce 
leverage over the long term in line with our stated strategy. 

Change in the year 
During the year we completed the buy back of £32m 
of Class A and B notes for £28m of cash (see note 21). 

Impact, likelihood and trend
Following the refinancing on 5 February 2020 (see 
note 39), and the drawdown of the STF (to enable the 
repayment of the A3 notes), we have £0.9bn of debt 
to refinance by 2022.

The current bond market suggests that debt would need  
to be refinanced at a higher interest rate than the current 
debt and will, as with previous refinancings, require cash 
resources to be allocated to the associated one-off costs  
of enabling these transactions.

Consistent with our approach to proactive debt 
management, we continue to regularly take independent 
advice assessing a range of strategic options and are 
monitoring market conditions closely and we are ready to 
take advantage of market conditions if deemed necessary.

Modelling indicates that, even at higher interest rates,  
the business remains cash generative and able to meet  
its financing commitments.

Principal risk:
Regulatory and legal 
environment

A changing regulatory environment 
may adversely affect our activities

Material litigation against the AA

Risk trend 

Link to strategy:  
Financial and other

Primary KPIs  
  FCA consultations and policy 
statements
  Level of FCA, PRA, GFSC and ICO 
supervisory interaction 

Description 
The changing regulatory environment could cause 
currently compliant services to become non-compliant, 
with material implications to customer offerings, pricing 
and profitability. 

Failure to comply with regulatory obligations could result 
in claims, fines and reputational damage.

Changes in regulatory rules or guidance, legislation  
or taxation could impact the business model.

Mitigation 
The AA has no appetite for deliberately breaching any 
regulatory or licensing requirements.

Close engagement with regulatory objectives is coupled 
with good governance and strong monitoring processes  
to ensure that we continue to focus on delivering products 
and services that result in good customer outcomes.

Our regulated Boards continue to actively review pricing 
practices in line with guidance from the FCA and in light  
of current market practice.

Regular dialogue is maintained with the FCA, the Gibraltar 
Financial Services Commission and other regulatory bodies.

Our Regulatory and Legal Change Committee tracks 
forthcoming changes and advises the business on  
changes required.

Products are reviewed regularly to reaffirm they are fit  
for purpose.

The AA has in house Legal and Compliance teams and also 
takes external legal advice, where deemed necessary.

Change in the year 
The insurance industry has seen significant activity from the 
FCA in the areas of pricing practices, vulnerable customers 
and affordability in consumer credit. The AA has worked 
collaboratively with the FCA in responding to the ‘Dear CEO’ 
letters and data requests sent out to intermediaries and 
insurers and has been proactive in advising the FCA of any 
issues identified in the course of the year, none of which  
has been material. It has also engaged proactively on  
the FCA’s interim report on pricing practices published  
in October 2019. Given recent political events, the AA 
continues to monitor the potential impact of Brexit on  
the AA’s business and operations, which has previously 
been assessed as being minimal. 

Impact, likelihood and trend
As in previous years, the regulatory environment continues 
to be dynamic with a continuing and demanding 
programme of regulatory initiatives. These additional 
requirements may drive further commoditisation into the 
market at the expense of superior service differentiation. 

Potential remedies on pricing practices being considered 
by the FCA and continued increases in IPT could make 
insurance products, including roadside assistance, less 
affordable for our customers. Pricing practices remedies 
could also have the potential to stifle innovation and 
competition and impact on profitability, although this  
would be market wide.

Regulatory and legal issues remain a key focus of the  
Board and of the management team.

Principal risk:
Outstanding service

We are unable to maintain an 
outstanding service

Risk trend 

Link to strategy:  
Innovate and grow Roadside

Primary KPIs  
  Breakdowns attended
 Response times 
  Percentage of completed repairs  
at the roadside
 Customer complaints

Description 
The AA’s brand and its continued success, and in particular 
the loyalty of its customers, relies on delivering outstanding 
service that is superior to the rest of the market. Inadequate 
investment in technology, systems, people and processes 
would place this objective at increasing risk.

Mitigation 
Over the course of the last year, the AA has continued to 
invest to ensure that we have the optimal patrol and call 
centre headcount to meet demand and training and 
support to make sure we are well placed to provide a 
premium service to our customers throughout the year.  
The AA has also continued its program of foundational 
improvements in underlying systems and technology in 
order to improve stability and resilience.

Ongoing monitoring of complaints, press reports and social 
media through structured processes, including first line 
business assurance. Compliance and Risk oversight and 
internal audit helps to inform our service performance  
and offerings.

Change in the year 
Our call to arrive time, repair rate, single-task-completion 
and under-bonnet times are improved since last year.  
Our continued investment has increased the flexibility  
of the patrol force and improved our forecasting in the  
areas of planning and delays, to ensure that we are better  
placed to respond to extreme weather events.

Impact, likelihood and trend
Delivering outstanding service remains fundamental to our 
future and our brand. The impact of failure to deliver the 
best service in the market would be very high. The actions 
we have taken to increase the flexibility of the patrol  
force, increase contact centre capability and improve our 
forecasting will reduce the probability of this risk crystallising.

Inclement weather will always have an impact on demand 
and we continue to learn lessons from these events in  
order to better respond to customer demand and to make 
sure we are in the best position to react to significant 
weather extremes.
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Risk management continued

Principal risk:
Roadside market 
share and margin

We are unable to maintain our 
market share and an ability to 
command a price premium 
on our roadside services

Risk trend 

Link to strategy: 
Innovate and grow Roadside

Primary KPIs  
 Paid personal members 
 Business customers 
 Average income per member 
  Average income per business 
customer

Description 
Competitors that provide roadside services at a lower price 
or have a different business model, together with changes 
in car technology, threaten our market share. If we charge a 
price premium that is above what our service can sustain, 
we will not grow our member or B2B customer base and,  
in the long term, sustainably grow profits. We need to 
improve, innovate, demonstrate and deliver a superior 
proposition and ensure our pricing is competitive  
relative to this position. We also need to ensure that 
our pricing practices are in line with the expectations 
of our customers and regulators.

Mitigation 
We are continuing to improve our roadside membership 
proposition by strengthening our roadside product offerings 
and engaging more members in additional benefits.

We have improved our communications with both new  
and existing members, engaging members in their existing 
services and benefits to drive loyalty. 

Our pricing team has significant expertise to monitor market 
pricing levels and ensure that we are treating both new and 
loyal customers fairly while remaining competitive.

Change in the year 
The personal paid membership base has remained stable  
in the last 12 months. We have retained key B2B contracts 
and initiated new partnerships with Uber and Admiral.

Our Smart Breakdown product continues to be deployed 
through a range of channels, and the membership benefits 
proposition continues to be enriched.

Also see Market context for further details on our position  
in the market including threats from improving car reliability, 
electric vehicles, car-pooling, Smart Breakdown and 
autonomous vehicles and how, if we react appropriately, 
these can be opportunities for the AA.

Also see Our business model for details on the competitive 
landscape.

Impact, likelihood and trend
Long term the AA will continue to find it challenging to  
grow profit sustainably if its membership is declining. 
Therefore, the impact of membership growth is critical in 
the long term, as is maintaining key business relationships 
such as the Lloyds Banking Group and TSB contracts which 
both renewed in 2019, and other B2B contracts, including 
major car manufacturers.

The business is focused on realising a sustainably  
growing membership and recognises the need for a  
more distinctive and differentiated offering to mitigate 
competitive pressures. 

Principal risk:
Insurance broking

We are unable to achieve desired 
margin, remain competitive  
and achieve our growth and 
profitability objectives

Risk trend 

Link to strategy:  
Insurance growth

Primary KPIs  
 Insurance policies 
  Average income per motor and 
home policy

Description 
Consumers’ ongoing use of price comparison sites may 
continue to transfer value away from our insurance broking 
business. Potential remedies on pricing practices being 
explored by the FCA could inhibit growth and the ability  
to remain competitive.

Mitigation 
We continue to use our strengths in the brand, channels 
and data to mitigate this risk, to extend our panel of insurers 
and to engage with regulators in a collaborative way. 

Change in the year 
The insurance business remains on track to deliver forecast 
growth in customer numbers. By maintaining a competitive 
panel of insurers and innovating through developments 
such as insurer hosted pricing, analytics support and  
fraud detection, we continue to increase our motor and 
home policy numbers. We have also expanded our panel 
members with the addition of Aviva and this should secure 
additional growth. Utilising our in-house capacity we have 
extended our footprint through new member propositions. 
The dominance of price comparison sites in this sector 
places pressure on margin but we work with them to 
maximise value for mutual benefit, for example through 
targeted growth and promotional offers. Engagement 
continues with the FCA on explaining the work undertaken 
by the AA in previous years on pricing practices and 
responding to information requests. 

Impact, likelihood and trend
The competitive threat from price comparison sites remains 
unchanged. However, the success of our panel model in  
the broker and the adoption of insurer hosted pricing 
enables us to better respond to this threat. Through our 
in-house underwriter that sits on the panel of insurers, we 
commenced broadening our target market footprint in FY19 
by targeting customers who are not members of the AA and 
we continue to see growth in this area. The impact of any 
remedies arising from the FCA’s pricing practices review 
and the continued regulatory focus on value for money  
has the potential to impact on the insurance industry as a 
whole but the AA has been proactive in responding to FCA 
concerns previously raised and believes it is well placed  
to respond to the remedies the FCA may require industry  
to implement.

Principal risk:
Insurance 
underwriting

Higher than anticipated  
claims costs

Risk trend 

Link to strategy:  
Insurance growth

Primary KPIs  
  Underwritten insurance policies
  Claims frequency, claims cost 
control and combined loss ratios 

Description 
There are risks of higher than expected claims frequency, 
higher average cost per claim or catastrophic claims.

Mitigation 
Strict underwriting guidelines are used to ensure that 
claims frequency and costs remain within expected levels.  
The reinsurance structure using coinsurance and quota 
share proportionately reduces the AA’s risk. Excess of  
loss and catastrophe reinsurance is also used to protect 
against costly individual claims and events. We continually 
monitor claims frequency and trends and adjust pricing in 
the event of higher than expected claims frequency or 
cost per claim. We also analyse root cause of these and 
take appropriate action.

Change in the year 
This remains on track to deliver growth with sustainable 
and profitable return on capital. The introduction of a new 
claims management system in 2019 is a future enabler  
to claims cost control and will enhance the customer  
claims journey.

Read more about our business model and the 
competitive landscape. See P5 to P7

 

Impact, likelihood and trend
The occurrence of very large one-off claims is expected to 
be low in volume, but we have reinsurance arrangements  
in place which caps our maximum exposure per claim.  
The occurrence of smaller claims is built into our pricing 
models and is carefully monitored.
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Principal risk:
Change 
management & IT 
transformation

We are unable to successfully 
complete essential business 
transformation

Risk trend 

Link to strategy: 
Operational and service excellence

Primary KPIs  
Trading EBITDA
Free cash flow

Description 
We must continue to transform the AA to achieve the 
required efficient customer-centric services and to  
develop the business. 
Although much has been achieved in the last year, there 
remains much to do and the required improvements to 
process, embedded ways of working and culture, inherently 
involve risks in a customer-facing service environment.

Mitigation 
There is an ongoing delivery capability and technology 
improvement programme in place with progress tracked  
at regular Management Business Reviews.
A rigorous approach is taken in implementing changes  
to achieve satisfactory control, with ongoing monitoring 
and reporting.
We have a talent management model in place, where skills 
gaps are identified and development and/or recruitment 
initiatives are actioned. 

Change in the year 
We have continued to improve our technology, data and 
digital capabilities to drive sustained benefits in customer 
and employee experience. We are executing against a 
disciplined programme of capex investment and will 
continue to review timelines and priorities as part of 
the execution of our declared strategy.

Read more about our strategy and  
transformation on P21 to P24

Impact, likelihood and trend
Strong management capability and oversight have been 
put in place to continue to better manage this risk.

Principal risk: 
Information security/
Cyber crime/Data 
breach

We are unable to protect ourselves 
from a significant data breach or 
cyber security incident

Risk trend 

Link to strategy:  
Financial and other

Primary KPIs  
 Data breach incidents 

Description 
The integrity of critical information is corrupted, resulting  
in it not being available where and when it is needed,  
or the confidentiality of commercially sensitive, private or 
customer information is compromised by inappropriate 
disclosure or a serious data breach occurs.

Mitigation 
The AA has an ongoing programme of security 
improvements to maintain an appropriate level of  
security against the increasingly sophisticated global  
cyber threats. Controls include information security 
awareness training, preventative and detective security 
and a specialist information security team with a much 
improved 24/7 security operations capability, with a  
focus on incident response and data breach readiness. 
Information security requirements are included in  
third-party arrangements, including B2B and  
supplier contracts. 
The AA benchmarks its security controls against the 
Standard for Information Security (ISO27001) and an 
annual review of the effectiveness of these controls is 
performed by an independent third party. Our strategy  
is adjusted (where necessary) within the context of the 
annual review and within the constraints of our business.
 

Change in the year 
A comprehensive information security programme has 
delivered significant improvements on technology, data, 
colleague and third-party supplier risks; a high level of focus 
will continue to reduce the risk, but the risk remains high. 
Visibility of system and user behaviour remains key to 
improving our ability to orient our security posture to the 
real-world risks and improving our visibility has been a 
key focus for this year. 

Improving awareness and enforcement of security policy  
is driving cultural change, and this must be maintained.

Impact, likelihood and trend
As for any company, the impact of this risk crystallising 
could be substantial. Focus has shifted from defence to 
proactive detection and investigation of security events, 
minimising the time between discovery and reporting to 
the regulator(s) or B2B partners and minimising the risk 
and the opportunities for any security event to be exploited 
by cyber criminals. 

While our ability to detect and respond to security 
events and data breaches continues to improve, there is 
a commensurate increase in cyber crime-related security 
events and data breaches globally, affecting multiple 
organisations, in multiple industry verticals. The likelihood 
of the AA succumbing to a significant security event or data 
breach must be considered to be possible, but less likely,  
as we continue to layer in additional security controls and 
supporting technology.

The AA continues to use external parties to independently 
verify its ability to manage and reduce this risk, adjusting 
our strategy to meet any change to the threat landscape.
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Risk management continued

 Principal risk:
Health and safety

We are unable to maintain  
the safety of our workforce  
and customers

Risk trend 

Link to strategy:  
Operational and service excellence

Primary KPIs  
 Lost time injury rate 
 Reportable incidents (RIDDOR)

Description 
We must continue to effectively manage the risks to our 
workforce’s and customers’ safety and ensure that effective 
controls are deployed to achieve this. Accountability to  
take action is essential in this as is oversight, review and 
embracing continual improvement.

Mitigation 
Close engagement with employees and their 
representatives is coupled with good governance 
and management accountability. 

We have a robust and externally audited integrated health, 
safety and environmental (HS&E) management system  
as well as local arrangements where appropriate. 

We regularly review all our HS&E risks and controls to 
ensure that they remain fit for purpose. 

We have in place safety improvement programmes which are 
SMART and drive the continual improvements we aspire to.

We have a robust monitoring and assurance process  
which includes safety performance being reviewed at 
Board meetings as well as at every Executive Risk and 
Compliance Committee meeting.

We have a dedicated team of health and safety advisers 
who are all members of the Institution of Occupational 
Safety and Health.

We deploy best practice, both that seen internally as  
well as externally.

We are an active member of SURVIVE, the industry group 
working towards improving safety for those working at the 
roadside and we have an external expert chair of our core 
Health and Safety Committee, to ensure good governance 
and independent scrutiny. 

Change in the year 
The AA continues to strive to maintain a safe environment 
for employees and members.

Please also refer to the ESG section of this report for 
detailed performance this year.

We have enhanced our safety advice to members at the 
point of breakdown, both in our AA app and when they  
call us at the first point of contact.

Impact, likelihood and trend
Protecting our employees’ safety while they are at work is 
fundamental to our brand. The impact of failure to look after 
our employees would be very high and could result in not 
only an increase in civil claims, but also in enforcement 
action against the company and/or its Directors.

Protecting our customers is also of paramount importance. 
As the market leader for roadside repair and recovery our 
members safety is always considered when agreeing 
working practices. This will always be the case and 
members can rely on the AA brand to put safety first.

The consequences of poor safety at the roadside can be 
fatal. AA working practices are designed to reduce the 
probability of accidents to a minimum although given the 
environment in which we provide roadside service it is  
not possible to eliminate this risk.

 Principal risk:
Pensions

We are unable to meet our  
pension liabilities

Risk trend 

Link to strategy:  
Financial and other 

Description 
The Company has a large defined benefit (DB) pension 
scheme, currently in deficit, whose assets and obligations 
are subject to future variation from investment returns, 
longevity and other similar factors. 

Mitigation 
The UK pension scheme is supported by a company 
covenant and the assets and obligations of the scheme  
are kept under review. The DB scheme is now closed 
to new entrants and future accrual. 

Change in the year 
In February 2020, the triennial valuation of the UK 
pension scheme was completed as at 31 March 2019 and 
a funding deficit of £131m was agreed. This has significantly 
reduced from the £366m deficit agreed in June 2017 and 
consequently, payments required under the deficit recovery 
additional funding plan will reduce. The new recovery plan 
agreed with the trustees assumes that the deficit will be 
fully repaid in July 2025. 

In addition, in March 2020, a pension consultation 
process was successfully completed resulting in the 
closure of the CARE section of the UK pension scheme. 
From 1 April 2020, all future pension accrual will be on a 
defined contribution basis with transitional arrangements 
for affected employees over a 3 year period from 1 April 2020.

Impact, likelihood and trend
While potential continuing volatility in the markets and 
global economic uncertainty can still impact the deficit,  
the changes noted above mean that the ongoing build-up 
of defined benefit risk is curtailed. 
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Stakeholder engagement

Engaging with stakeholders makes  
our business better
Engagement is critical for any business, but particularly so for one in the process of  
transforming itself. The importance of aligning everyone around a common objective and  
working towards delivering it successfully cannot be overstated. That’s why we are proud 
of the work that we have been doing to ensure that our people at all levels understand the 
direction of our business and the role they play in ensuring our long-term success.

Our people 

We engage with our people in a variety of 
ways, ensuring that their voice is heard and 
that they can help to influence the future of  
our business. 

Examples in 2019

  Completed our second Our Voice survey, 
which measures employee engagement  
and culture.

  Elected new members to our Management 
Forum, which is designed to involve 
management-grade employees in  
shaping strategy and major decisions.

  Developed our internal communications  
to help drive two-way conversation; our 
intranet continues to develop, and we have 
introduced new methods of communication, 
including interactive livestreaming.

  Hosted our biggest ever AA colleague 
awards, where we recognised our people 
who have gone above and beyond during  
the year.

  Every member of the Executive Committee 
has spent at least one day out with a patrol 
this year.

Read more about our people  
on P46

Communities and societies 

Ensuring that we make a positive contribution  
to the places where we live and work helps 
build thriving communities and strengthens 
our business. 

  Switched to purchasing 100% renewable 
electricity in our offices and other buildings.

  Continued as a signatory of the Armed  
Forces Covenant, and holder of their 
Employer Recognition Scheme Gold Award.

  Encouraged our people to raise funds for their 
nominated local charity throughout the year.

  The AA Charitable Trust for Road Safety and 
the Environment continues to work towards 
the preservation and protection of human 
life and health on our roads; this year, the 
Charitable Trust supported a programme  
to help children in care learn to drive.

Government and regulators 

In our conversations with Government and 
regulators, we promote the interests of all  
UK motorists and advocate for more rigorous 
industry standards. 

  Our campaign on the safety of ‘smart’ 
motorways has included meetings with the 
Transport Secretary and giving evidence to  
a parliamentary select committee.

  We have been actively involved in the FCA’s 
general insurance pricing practices market 
study, responding to information requests 
and attending meetings with the FCA to help  
it understand the potential impact of its 
proposed remedies.

  We are active members of governmental  
and regulatory forums including a member  
of the Government’s Motorists’ Forum.

Industry 

We believe that effective, system-wide change 
is only possible if we work with our wider 
industry peers, partners and supply chain. 

Examples in 2019

  Participated in the SURVIVE Group for 
roadside safety, the Society of Motor 
Manufacturers and Traders (SMMT) 
connected and autonomous vehicle working 
group and the Motor Industry Public Affairs 
Association. This year we also supported a 
campaign with the British Vehicle Rental  
and Leasing Association for longer-term 
incentives for zero emission vehicles. 

  Worked with the RAC and Green Flag to  
call for enhanced motorway safety rules  
that protect road users and patrols, via the  
‘slow down and move over’ campaign.

Investors 

We are committed to ensuring there is 
continued effective communication and 
engagement with our investors throughout  
the year. 

  Put on our first product ‘innovation day’, 
showcasing our future-facing technology, 
products and services.

  Held meetings throughout the year with  
our shareholders and bondholders in the  
UK and Europe.

Read more about our investors  
on P61

Customers 

We aim to deliver industry-leading value, 
service and quality for our customers, and  
we are regularly judged as ‘best in class’. 
 

  Earned Which? Recommended Provider 
status and judged the UK’s best breakdown 
service, with the highest score of 80%;  
we have held this rank for 13 of the past  
14 years, thanks to our ability to fix the 
majority of vehicles at the roadside.

  Awarded a Feefo Gold Trusted Service  
award for 2019 for our high-quality online 
customer service; we received more  
than 6,000 reviews with an average  
score of 4.6 out of 5.0 on both car and  
home insurance.
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Environmental, social and governance

Changing the way we work,  
in a fast-moving world
As president, I head up the AA Charitable Trust for Road Safety 
and the Environment and lead our campaigns on safety, 
innovation, mobility and environmental issues. This is an 
important role that we have fulfilled throughout our history.

In 2020, it’s clear that the  
world is changing quickly.  
The pressure is on for 
businesses like the AA to 
measure and mitigate their 
impact on the world, and to 
explain how they will prosper 
over the long term as the  
global economy moves from 
fossil fuels to renewables. 

This year we have decided to use the more 
widely recognised categories of environmental, 
social and governance (ESG) in our reporting. 
This means that what we publish will be as 
understandable and comparable as possible, 
and help us better explain what we’re doing 
to ensure the AA is fit for the future.

Environment
As a market leader, our remit extends beyond the 
actions we take to reduce our carbon footprint. 
In 2019, these have included the purchasing of 
100% renewable electricity for our sites, and 
further development of our ‘remote fix’ strategy 
to reduce the fuel consumption of our fleet  
(see page 50). For the second year running, 
we’ve achieved a sector-leading rating in the 
Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP) environmental 
assessment. We seek to influence Government, 
decision-makers and the driving public on steps 
that can be taken to mitigate the climate crisis – 
for example, this year I was an adviser to Climate 
Assembly UK. In addition, we often poll our 
customers on issues such as accelerating the 
rollout of electric vehicles, and ensure that the 
results are communicated to Government  
and other relevant stakeholders. 

This year, we led calls for scrappage schemes  
to give added impetus to the transition from 
diesel to electric vehicles, and campaigned  
for tax policies that incentivise the switch to 
zero-emission vehicles. We have also worked 
with the Environment Agency to promote a joint 
campaign warning of the dangers of driving 
through flood water.

Read more about our commitment  
to the environment on P50

Social
With over 10 million customers in the UK,  
we take our wider social responsibilities very 
seriously. Ensuring that we operate safely and  
in a manner that protects our customers, 
colleagues and the public has always been our 
number one priority. This year, we have led a 
campaign for significant improvement in safety 
standards on smart motorways, where the  
hard shoulder is used as a running lane and  
there aren’t enough emergency refuge areas. 
We pushed for changes in the Highway Code, 
and gave evidence to the All-Party Roadside 
Rescue and Recovery Group to help protect 
roadside workers via the ‘slow down and move 
over’ campaign. We instigated a BBC Panorama 
programme on the subject and held numerous 
meetings with ministers and officials. In March, 
our intensive campaigning paid off, with the 
Transport Secretary agreeing to all our demands 
including doubling the number of emergency 
refuge areas.

Our broader social remit also means working 
with suppliers who share our values and 
supporting local charities around our UK offices. 
This year, working alongside the University  
of Bristol, we have developed, piloted and 
promoted a successful scheme that helps 
teenage care-leavers learn to drive, which 
improves both their job prospects and 
self-esteem. We have helped Barnardo’s and 
several local authority charities to take this 
scheme forward in communities where  
they work.

We recently refreshed our diversity and 
inclusion strategy, targeting six key communities 
to fully embrace the diversity of our employees 
and enable the AA to be an even more inclusive 
place to work. These communities include those 
with visible and invisible disabilities, gender 
balance, age, carers, those from our BAME 
communities and vocational backgrounds, and 
our LGBT employees. Each of this communities 
is led by a senior executive sponsor to raise 
awareness of the diverse nature of our 
workforce and the communities we serve. 

Read more about our commitment  
to safety and our commitment to society  
on P48 and P52

Governance
Good governance covers everything from  
how we listen to our customers and people,  
to the way we run our company. To ensure that 
best practice is in place across the AA, we 
recently launched a new code of conduct, titled 
What Drives Us. We also fully embraced SMCR. 
We offer training in areas such as anti-bribery 
and corruption, whistleblowing, information 
security, identifying and acting upon customer 
vulnerability and our GDPR responsibilities.

We listen to our customers. Our AA Populus  
Poll is the biggest dedicated motoring panel in 
Europe, and affords us a view on public policy 
from approximately 20,000 drivers each month 
which helps to mould our policy and government 
policy. On the commercial side, our ‘Passenger 
Seat’ panel of 17,000 customers, helps us to 
develop products and services which reflect  
the needs of drivers.
 Read more about our commitment to our  

people on P46 and our commitment to a  
high performance culture on P45 and  
our corporate governance on P55

Throughout this report, you will see examples 
of how our approach to ESG helps to shape our 
business and is vital to our success, now and 
in the future.

 
 Edmund King OBE
 AA President
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Our commitment to a high performance 
culture and the highest standards of conduct

In 2019, we launched our new Code of Conduct, 
– What Drives Us to make it clear how we should 
all behave, and to clarify our focus areas: 

  Our customers come first. Always.

  We stay safe and look out for each other and 
the environment.

  We keep information safe and use it 
responsibly.

  We value each other and celebrate success.

  We work as a team and play by the rules.

  We are ethical in all we do.

  We have honest conversations and we  
speak up. 

SMCR preparedness
SMCR involves improving role clarity, 
accountability and conduct, all of which we  
have embraced – new processes have been fully 
designed and tested. Our senior managers have 
received the training and support they need to 
fully understand their responsibilities and all of 
our employees have received updated conduct 
rules training, alongside the launch of the  
AA Code of Conduct – which will be further 
embedded into ways of working in 2020. 

Conduct and competence
We’ve created a new Performance and 
Capability team, bringing together training and 
competence (T&C) Performance Development, 
SMCR and conduct under one umbrella.  
This ensures that our processes for managing 
our people’s performance, capability and 
conduct are aligned and consistent across  
all business areas – making it easier for our 
managers to support and develop their people.

By focusing on a cycle of continuous development, 
we will develop a high performing culture where 
customer experience, regulatory compliance 
and personal development all support the 
delivery of good customer outcomes.

Anti-corruption and anti-bribery 
We take our responsibility to do business  
with integrity very seriously. Accordingly,  
we have an Anti-Bribery and Allowable Gifts, 
Hospitality and Donations Policy and mandatory 
e-learning for all employees. 

Anti-bribery risk is rated and held on every 
appropriate departmental risk register with the 
appropriate controls, and our Financial Crime 
Policy is regularly reviewed. This policy reflects 
the AA values, our reputation for financial 
probity, professionalism and integrity, and 
recognises that the Group has a duty to protect 
its customers. 

Our Whistleblowing Policy encourages 
employees to raise concerns confidentially,  
so that an investigation can take place in an 
independent, timely and effective manner. 
During the year, a number of cases were 
escalated for review by the Executive Risk  
and Compliance Committee in accordance  
with that policy. 

The Company Secretary holds registers of 
Directors’ interests and external appointments, 
which include situational and transactional 
conflicts of interest. We are pleased to report 
that we have received no enforcement action, 
fines, penalties or settlements in relation to 
corruption or bribery.

Keeping customers  
on the road

When our patrols are out and about, 
keeping the length of their journeys to  
a minimum is a smart way to reduce 
emissions. That’s why we’ve trained a  
team of patrols so they can make repairs  
at the roadside that would usually require  
a trip to a garage. Of course, this means  
that our customers are back on the road 
quicker too.

45,000
fewer recovery miles driven

34 tonnes
CO2e saved by helping 600 customers

Calls, not calls-out

If we can meet customers’ needs right away 
over the phone, they’ll be back on the road 
more quickly. And because a patrol doesn’t 
need to be sent out, our emissions are lower, 
too. Solving issues like faulty warning lights, 
steering lock and mirrors on a call also 
releases our patrols to be where they’re most 
urgently needed, improving service levels.

35,000
journeys avoided in the first six months

We have done a huge amount of work to help people 
understand what ‘living our values’ really means. 
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Focus Our view Key actions

Increased number of 
apprentices on our 
award-winning programme

New programme of learning 
activities for all levels

Launched the AA Code, 
What drives Us, as a guide 
for our people

Launched and embedded 
SMCR

Dedicated strategies have 
been established for six  
core areas of diversity  
and inclusion
Each area is championed 
by a member of the 
Executive Committee

Environmental, social and governance continued

Engaged and valued colleagues are much more likely to deliver 
the service our customers deserve, and so naturally we want 
the AA to be a fantastic place to work. That’s why we offer 
interesting and challenging opportunities, excellent career 
progression, development in every role and a collaborative, 
inclusive and values-based culture.

Our commitment 
to our people

We are always challenging 
ourselves to keep improving, 
and we use data to make 
change happen. 
 Linda Kennedy 
 Chief People Officer

We act with honesty and  
integrity at all times and 
work to the highest  
ethical standards

We have put inclusion at  
the core of our people plan, 
recognising the benefits  
that a diverse and inclusive  
culture brings

We are passionate about 
providing careers for people  
at all levels in our business

Attracting and  
retaining talent  
through development, 
engagement and  
wellbeing

Ensuring culture, 
conduct and our 
customers are  
front and centre

Encouraging a diverse 
and inclusive workplace 
where everyone can be 
their best

Read more  
on P45

Read more  
on P52

Our employee survey and 
listening programme 
provided us with clear areas 
of focus for this past year.
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awareness of career opportunities across  
the business. Lateral moves across a range  
of diverse roles enable our people to gain 
experience and broaden their knowledge.

Engagement
For two years, we have conducted our colleague 
cultural index survey, Our Voice. This year, 
 we were pleased to see an improvement in 
every area.

Highlights include: 

  I strive to improve the way I work (+4.6).

  My manager is a role model for team-work  
and mutual support (+5.0).

  I am proud to work in the AA (+6.1).

  People I depend upon understand how they 
must treat & deliver to our customers (+9.1).

Improving Group-wide communication is also a 
priority. We use online channels in combination 
with regular face-to-face sessions at every 
location, including interactive roadshows so  
that our people are able to hear about progress, 
better understand our strategy, ask questions 
and share ideas. Many valuable insights have 
been gained from such exercises.

We continue to work closely with our recognised 
union, the Independent Democratic Union (IDU), 
as well as our Management Forum (an elected 
group for management-level employees), to 
ensure that our peoples’ views are heard. This 
year, we expanded the Forum’s role in shaping 
some of our strategic plans and major decisions. 
Meetings are held with the IDU each quarter  
to discuss business strategy, financial 
performance and employee-related matters. 

Rewarding and recognising our people
We thank and recognise our people throughout 
the year via our Extra Mile programme, while we 
celebrate their dedication and hard work at the 
annual AA Awards. In 2019, we received over 
400 nominations and several thousand votes.

Promoting health and wellbeing
Of course, we support our people with 
occupational health issues, but we also offer 
help with other serious health matters that arise. 
Our occupational health provider offers support 
on medical matters as needed, and raises 
awareness around issues such as mental health. 

To address absence caused by musculoskeletal 
issues, we have introduced a self-referral 
programme, managed by our occupational 
health provider, which gives colleagues access 
to diagnosis and physiotherapy throughout the 
recovery period. 

Meanwhile, our employee assistance programme 
offers free, confidential, 24/7 support for  
our people, both online and over the phone. 
Face-to-face therapy sessions are provided as 
required. Qualified counsellors provide support 
on a range of topics including personal, work 
and family relationships. 

This year, all line managers took an emotional 
wellbeing awareness course. These interactive 
workshops enable attendees to identify signs 
and symptoms of poor mental health, and to 

deploy the most appropriate and practical 
support mechanisms available. We now have  
46 mental health first aiders across our 
business, and a mandatory stress awareness 
course is run annually. We also participate in 
Mental Health Awareness Week and World 
Mental Health Day. 

Attracting and retaining talent 
through development, engagement 
and wellbeing
Attracting talent to our business
This year we attracted over 34,568 job 
applications and welcomed 1,420 people  
on board.

As signatories of the Military Covenant, we have 
for many years supported both reservists and 
redeployment of armed services personnel  
into civilian roles. We continue to promote job 
opportunities through military events and the 
Career Transition Partnership (the MoD’s official 
provider of Armed Forces Resettlement) and 
Easy Re-Settlement Magazine. 

Attracting women from STEM backgrounds  
is particularly important to us, so we attend 
recruitment events aimed at this specific 
demographic. Meanwhile, our ‘early careers’ 
programme involves holding talks with 
schoolchildren about the AA that also address 
the ‘men only’ stereotype. Women now  
make up 40% of our new patrol apprentices. 

Developing our people
This year, we have invested in a learning 
management system which combines 
mandatory and optional lessons, and will  
help to instil a learning culture within the AA.  
This single platform offers all of our people easy 
access to a broad range of development options.

We now employ over 200 apprentices on 
courses that range from Customer Service  
level two to MBA level seven. This year, our 
apprenticeship programme was ranked in the 
top 20 on the RateMyApprenticeship.co.uk  
Top 100 Employers list, and won the West 
Midlands regional award.

During 2019, we continued training all of our 
first-line managers, with many of them working 
towards Institute of Leadership Management 
qualifications. In 2020, we will expand our 
leadership development across all levels. 

In September 2020, we will launch a 24-month 
rotational graduate leadership programme,  
with the aim of creating a sustainable pipeline  
of high-potential talent across our business.

We continue to develop essential online learning 
for all our employees in the following areas:

  Competition Law

  Conduct Rules

  Conflict of Interest

  Equality and Diversity

  Financial Crime & Anti-Bribery

  GDPR

  Health, Safety & Environment Awareness

  Information Security

  Treating Customers Fairly and Conduct Risk

  Vulnerable Customers

  Whistleblowing

This year, we have also developed a Career 
Pathways programme, designed to raise 

Building up the next 
generation

The quality of our customers’ future driving 
lives depends on us bringing fresh talent 
into the AA. That’s why it’s been so 
gratifying to witness the fantastic growth 
and development among the current intake 
of apprentices.

In September, HRH The Princess Royal 
visited Oldbury to see for herself the 
significant, positive life changes that 
apprentices often experience.

Overall employee workforce  
as at 31 January 2020

Gender Heads

 Female 2,249

 Male 4,872

Executive Board population  
as at 31 January 2020

Gender Heads

 Female 3

 Male 5

32

68

Manager grade employee population  
as at 31 January 2020

Gender Heads

 Female 156

 Male 351

31

69

38

62
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Our commitment 
to safe operations 

The health and wellbeing of our people is critical  
to enable us to deliver the service our customers 
expect and deserve.

The high levels of service our customers expect 
are only possible if we embed high standards  
of health and safety management across the 
business. We are always looking to improve our 
performance, and to reduce risk. Our work in  
this area helps contribute to the United Nations 
Sustainable Development Goal (UN SDG) 8, 
Decent Work and Economic Growth.

 This report will provide you with some of  
the highlights and achievements from the  
past 12 months. A more detailed review of our 
performance is available on theaaplc.com/ESG

We put the safety of our people, 
customers and the public first
2019 achievements
  Enhanced safety advice to customers at 
the point of breakdown, both in our app and  
when they call us at the first point of contact.

  Campaigned to improve the safety of  
‘smart’ motorways. 

  Dedicated over 4,100 employee days to  
safety training.

  Helped our patrols to improve their manual 
handling techniques and minimise injury risk.

  Maintained our record of zero fatalities and  
zero reportable diseases.

  Partnered with a large vehicle manufacturing 
group to deliver essential safety recall work 
to their customers.

Looking to the future, we will:
  Continue our trial of the intelligent camera 
system within our operational vehicles

  Review the way in which in-field training is 
delivered, as well the ongoing competency 
framework, to make use of technologies and 
deliver innovative self-development tools

The Royal Society for the  
Prevention of Accidents (RoSPA)  
gold award for demonstrating  
high health and safety standard

Accident performance
This year we experienced a one off increase  
in reportable incidents (those requiring to be 
notified to the Health and Safety Executive) in 
January, although normalised performance 
would see levels in 2019 similar to those in 2018, 
we took this rise seriously, implementing an 
action plan as soon as the increase occurred.  
As a result, within Road Operations a new 
strategy was launched which had Safety First 
as one of the fundamental drivers and objectives. 
We are pleased to report that a clearly identifiable 
improvement in accident performance was 
achieved from August onwards as a direct result 
of the implementation. We have continued to 
improve our accident and lost time performance, 
as demonstrated in the graph ‘frequency rates’, 
as well the number of days lost. 

The profile of employees experiencing  
accidents reflects both the gender profile of  
the Company as well as the exposure risk  
faced by that group.

Our customers
During 2019, we undertook a complete review  
of how we help our customers stay safe at the 
roadside when they have broken down. We took 
the opportunity to review our safety advice as 
we expanded our breakdown reporting journeys 
to include reporting through the website. As a 
result, all customers, regardless of where they 
have broken down, receive safety advice at  
the start of their breakdown journey; this is 
mandatory as we believe our customers need  
to hear the advice that has saved lives. We have 
also made the advice simpler and we reinforce it 
with an additional question asked during every 
breakdown call to our office.

Monitoring accidents that occur to our 
customers or to the delegates attending our 
DriveTech courses is very important to us.  
Any case that is reported to us is reviewed by  
the Senior Management Team to ensure that 
corrective action is taken, and lessons are  
learnt to prevent re-occurrence. This year we  
are very pleased to report we have not had any 
reportable incidents in relation to a customer  
or delegate.
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Environmental, social and governance continued
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Key safety risks

As detailed on our website (theaaplc.com/principal risks) safety is material to the successful operation of the AA.  
The most significant safety-related risks our people face when delivering service to our customers are:

Risk: Manual handling

CONTROL 

We control this risk through regular reviews 
of our systems of work and equipment design 
and by ensuring that employees carrying 
out this type of work are regularly trained in the 
techniques we use to minimise the 
risk of injury.

During 2019, we focused on providing support 
directly in the field to enable our patrols to 
improve their manual handling techniques  
and minimise the risk of injury. The key actions 
taken include:

  Trained a team of patrol leaders as manual 
handling assessors to provide in-field 
coaching and support.

  Implemented a self-referral process to  
enable patrols to get access to physiotherapy 
through our occupational health provision.

  Issued clear and frequent communications  
to remind our field-based teams of risks and 
how to mitigate them.

  Worked with the jack manufacturer Major Lift 
to develop a new lighter-weight jack, helping 
to reduce the risk of manual handling injuries 
associated with this type of equipment.

PERFORMANCE

We have continued to see a year-on-year 
reduction in accidents involving this activity; 
we have reduced the proportion of lost time 
injuries in this accident type, from 42% in  
2018 to 36% in 2019.

We have seen similar proportions of near 
misses reported as last year, with just over  
1% of the total being related to this activity.

Risk: Roadside collision

CONTROL

We minimise the risk through our vehicle 
design, our uniform and training our patrols 
and signs officers who work at the roadside. 
We are also an active member of the industry 
body SURVIVE Group, which set the best 
practice for roadside working as well as 
PAS43, the publicly available standard 
for breakdown repair companies.

During 2019, significant work has been 
undertaken to drive improvements in this  
area and mitigate the risk, including:

  Invested in over 9,500 hours face-to-face 
coaching for our roadside teams.

  Reviewed and improved our vehicle livery 
and lighting; all new build vans have fully 
chevroned tailgates as well as directional  
LED beacons which help other drivers to 
recognise the hazard of a breakdown.

  Trialling cameras mounted on our patrol 
vehicles to provide data to enable us to 
review the effect and impact of our 
controls to control this risk.

PERFORMANCE

The proportion of accidents reported of this 
type remains under 10% of our total levels.  
We had 10 more reported than last year. 

The proportion of near misses reported has 
increased from 20% last year to 30% this  
year. We believe this is due to an improved 
awareness of this risk following the training 
and communications undertaken this year.

Risk: Driving for work

CONTROL 

We minimise this risk through driver 
assessment and training, maintenance  
and servicing regimes for our vehicles, 
deployment, telematics and navigation 
systems for our patrols and by minimising 
in-vehicle distractions in our fleet.

PERFORMANCE

We have maintained last year’s performance, 
making a slight improvement of 1% reduction  
in reported road traffic collisions.

The proportion of near misses reported in this 
category has reduced compared with last year, 
from 21% to 18%.

Risk: Lone working

CONTROL 

To minimise the risks associated with lone 
working, we have in place ‘person down’ 
procedures and vehicle tracking systems.  
We also have support and guidance available 
relating to violence and abuse and how to 
minimise and manage this risk should it occur.

PERFORMANCE

We have continued to see a year-on-year 
reduction in accidents involving this activity. 
This year, within the lone working cohort,  
just two accidents were reported involving 
violence/abuse. The proportion of near misses 
reported of this category has reduced from 
13% in 2018 to 9% this year.

Risk: Slip/trip/fall

CONTROL

We control this risk in the offices through 
maintenance and inspection regimes, and 
through training and personal protective 
equipment (PPE) for our workforce who  
are delivering our service off site.

PERFORMANCE

We have achieved a reduction in the 
proportion of accidents of this type, 
from 22% last year, to 18% this year.

We have also achieved a reduction in 
the proportion of near misses of this type, 
moving from 25% last year to 20% in 2019.
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Our commitment to 
the environment

Our customers and colleagues expect the highest standards from 
us, and so we take our safety and environmental responsibilities 
extremely seriously. It’s been 115 years since the AA was founded, 
and our commitment to operating responsibly has never wavered.

By working together with our customers, 
colleagues, supply chain and the wider 
community, we can have a positive impact well 
beyond our own business. We are committed  
to doing our part to help deliver UN SDG 11, 
‘Sustainable Cities and Communities’ and  
strive to manage our operations and delivery  
of products and services in a sustainable way. 

This report will provide you with some of the 
highlights and achievements from the past  
12 months. 

A more detailed review of our performance  
is available on theaaplc.com/ESG

Whether it’s helping grow the number of electric 
charging points across the UK, continuing to 
review opportunities to use low emission 
commercial vehicles and alternative fuels as 
they come onto the market or reducing our 
emissions, we are consistently becoming  
more sustainable. 

2019 achievements
Our fleet
  Reduced operational vehicle emissions per job 
by 15% against a 2015 baseline and a target of 
20%, in part due to a reduction in workload 
following the ‘Beast from the East’ in 2018, and 
a further reduction of our workload in 2019.

  All of our roadside and recovery fleet vehicles 
now meet the Euro 6 standard.

  Developed our ‘remote fix’ capability; with 
smarter thinking at a distance, we were able  
to improve service while avoiding 35,000 
patrol journeys in the first six months.

  63% of our company car fleet is now either 
electric or hybrid; average CO2 emissions of  
our fleet were 74g/km in 2019, compared  
with 81g/km in 2018.

Our buildings
  Reduced Market Based emissions per ft2 *  
by 82% against a 2015 baseline and a target  
of 60%.

  Purchased 100% renewable electricity for  
our offices and other buildings for the first time.

  Continued to roll out energy monitoring and 
savings initiatives throughout our estate.

  Installed a new building management system 
at our Oldbury office, and LED lighting in 
Cheadle and Melton Mowbray.

  Reduced waste generated by our offices by 
16% per capita, and maintained our ‘zero to 
landfill’ policy.

* Net lettable.

Supporting wider communities
When our customers use their vehicles,  
that contributes to climate change. To help  
our customers reduce the impact of their  
driving, we:

  Offer information on theaa.com covering  
issues like vehicle maintenance, eco-driving 
techniques, car and fuel choice, the Low 
Emission and Ultra Low Emission Zones in 
London, biofuels and vehicle maintenance

  Provide traffic news and route planning to 
optimise journey times and lengths

  Support the emerging market for electric 
vehicles, publishing ‘how to accelerate the 
take up of electric vehicles’ and ‘living with 
an electric car’ features during the year,  
while inviting questions on our ‘Ask Edmund’ 
advice portal

  Promote environmentally responsible driving 
to pupils and corporate customers in our 
driving training business

  Work with our DriveTech business’ corporate 
clients to support them in improving fuel 
efficiency within their fleets and/or vehicles

  Support eco-driving via our Smart Breakdown 
product, which monitors customers’ driving 
style, awarding them bronze, silver and gold 
‘eco badges’ as performance improves

Looking to the future, we will:
  Align our assessment and management  
of climate risks to the Task Force on 
Climate-related Financial Disclosures reporting 
framework, an increasingly popular way of 
explaining how businesses will succeed in a  
lower-carbon world

  Increase the number of remote fixes we 
undertake, reducing unnecessary fuel 
consumption and improving service

  Expand our use of lightweight recovery 
vehicles in urban locations

  Review opportunities to use low emission 
commercial vehicles and alternative fuels as 
they come onto the market; a steering group 
has been set up to ensure this happens

  Regularly review our company car choices,  
and make low carbon and full electric vehicles 
available to employees

  Encourage video-conferencing to minimise 
travel between offices for meetings 

Standards
It’s important for us to meet popular,  
credible standards for environmental and 
sustainability performance.

  Continued successful certification of our 
integrated HS&E management system to  
the ISO 14001 standard.

  Undertook the CDP assessment for the second 
year running, achieving a climate change score 
of B-, above industry and global averages.

  Supplied greenhouse gas emissions data  
that has been independently verified to the 
international standards ISO14064-1 and 
ISO14064-3.

We’ve switched our electricity supplier  
to one that’s signed up to the Renewable 
Energy Guarantees of Origin scheme.  
That means the electricity we purchase for 
our offices and other buildings now comes 
from 100% renewable sources.

8,565 MWh
 of electricity now renewable

8.7%
reduction in our greenhouse gas footprint*

*  Market-based emissions.

Moving to renewables

Environmental, social and governance continued
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London to Edinburgh, zero emissions

The hydrogen-powered Hyundai NEXO 
made a landmark ‘zero emissions’ journey 
from London to Edinburgh this year, and a 
special AA Fuel Assist van – fitted with a mini 
hydrogen dispenser developed by Fuel Cell 
Systems – was there for every mile.

And the van, operated by our Patrol of the  
Year, is still on the road. It’s conducting a  
trial of mobile emergency refuelling for both 
hydrogen and electric cars, something  
which will be increasingly important in 
the years ahead.

Risk: Climate change

We continue to control, review and  
reduce our greenhouse gas emissions  
by implementing strategies and 
programmes designed to ensure  
that the AA runs sustainably.

As can be seen from our 2019 highlights  
on the previous page this has included 
reductions achieved in fleet and buildings 
emission targets, purchasing renewable 
electricity, managing our building energy 
use and implementing energy saving 
initiatives, implementing a fleet replacement 
programme to the Euro 6 standard and 
developing remote fix capability.

We have undertaken the CDP’s climate 
change assessment for the second year 
running. The CDP is a global disclosure 
system for investors, companies, cities, 
states and regions which aims to make 
environmental reporting and risk 
management a business norm.

This exercise has helped identify areas 
where we can develop further, including:

  The independent verification of our GHG 
emissions for the first time which will 
provide us with additional assurance  
and certainty.

  Following CDP’s increased alignment  
with the Task Force on Climate-related 
Financial Disclosures requirements  
we have commenced the process to 
undertake a gap analysis and produce  
a road map on how to achieve  
these requirements.

Other risks include

Risk: Waste

RISKS

 Non-renewable natural resource use

 Pollution

 Land use

OPPORTUNITIES

 Waste reduction 

 Waste recycling

 Changing employee behaviour

OUR CONTROLS

  Measuring our waste recycling facilities 
in all offices

  Removal of single use disposable cutlery  
at all our catered offices.

  Utilising the waste-to-energy disposal route 
where recycling cannot be undertaken

OUR PERFORMANCE

  Zero office waste to landfill

  Our office waste generation per capita 
(tonnes/person) has decreased by 16%

  Our overall office waste tonnage has 
decreased by 21%

Risk: Water use

RISKS

 Natural resource use

OPPORTUNITIES

 Water use reduction

 Changing employee behaviour

OUR CONTROLS

  Measuring water use 

  Monthly reporting

  Water management plans for each site

  Implementing water reduction initiatives 

OUR PERFORMANCE

  We have had a slight increase of 4% in overall 
usage due to reoccupation of closed areas at 
our sites, our year to date water consumption 
per capita (m³/person) has also shown an 
increase of almost 11% due to continued 
installation of kitchen areas in our offices.
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Diversity and inclusion
We have a diverse workforce, so an inclusive 
workplace is critical. In 2019 we refreshed  
our diversity and inclusion (D&I) strategy to  
pull together the great work that is already 
happening across the business, and to do  
more of it. The main aim of the new strategy  
is to celebrate who we are while enabling 
everyone to be their best. The strategy  
consists of three objectives:

  A diverse workforce that is representative of 
our current and future customers. One where 
we truly value and embrace differences of all 
kinds and realise how these contribute to a 
stronger business. 

  An inclusive workforce where people can  
bring their whole self to work and therefore  
can unlock their true potential and perform  
at their best. 

  Strong relationships with the diverse 
communities in which we operate, allowing  
us to understand local needs and promote  
us as an employer of choice.

We’ve established six clear areas of focus – 
gender balance, ability, carers, pride, origins  
and generations – to bring together people  
with shared characteristics and backgrounds to 
push forward positive change in our business. 
Each community is being championed by a 
member of our Executive team, demonstrating 
clear commitment and ownership. Alongside 
these communities we have also nominated  
D&I allies, who are passionate about making  
a difference. 

Creating value beyond our business
Our teams make a meaningful impact in the 
hundreds of communities they work in every 
day, from supporting community events and 
local fundraising to national charity days 
including Children in Need and Macmillan coffee 
mornings. We are also proud to use our technical 
knowledge and skills to support charitable 
events such as the Magical Taxi Tour and 
Bangers for Ben. In 2019, our patrols even 
helped Father Christmas on his way on three 
separate occasions!

Summary GHG footprint 
The Group’s total greenhouse gas emissions  
for 2019/20 are listed in tonnes of carbon 
dioxide equivalent (tCO2e). The majority of  
our emissions stem from our operational fleet 
(94%). Scope 2 emissions are reported for 
location (country-specific emission factors)  
and market (energy supplier-specific emission 
factors). Our footprint encompasses all  
activities that are material to our environmental 
impact and include both our fleet and property  
operations. This year we are pleased to report 
that we have seen reductions in both our scope 1 
and scope 2 emissions. The significant reduction 
in scope 2 emissions is impacted by our move  
to purchasing renewable energy in our  
buildings along with ongoing energy  
reduction measures taken.

For more detailed information on our GHG 
emissions and independent verification 
undertaken this year theaaplc.com/ESG 

Methodology
Emissions reported as required under 
Companies Act 2006 (Strategic Report 
and Directors’ Reports) Regulations 2013. 
Calculations follow the GHG Protocol Corporate 
Accounting and Reporting Standard (revised 
edition), using emissions factors from UK 
Government’s GHG Conversion Factors for 
Company Reporting 2019. Overseas factors 
have been obtained from national agencies.  
The GHG reporting period aligns with financial 
statements 2019/20. <1% of consumption data  
is estimated using GHG Protocol guidelines. 
Boundaries are defined using the operational 
control approach. Emissions from A A The Driving 
School Agency Limited are considered out of 
scope, it operates as a franchise and AA plc has 
neither equity rights nor control over franchisees. 
Home-based teleworkers are excluded from 
GHG reporting. Square footage of buildings  
has been aligned to our net lettable area in 
line with our company targets.

Total GHG emissions

Emissions source
tCO2e 

(AR 2020)
tCO2e 

(AR 2019)
tCO2e 

(AR 2018)
% change to 

ARA 2019

Scope 1 emissions
(direct combustion of fuels in stationary 
and mobile sources, and fugitive 
emissions) 40,500 41,379 41,895

2.1%
Decrease

Scope 2 emissions, market-based
(emissions from generation of purchased 
energy in owned or controlled 
equipment and operations, using a 
supplier-specific emission factor) 262 3,225 2,950

91.9% 
Decrease

Scope 2 emissions, location-based
(emissions from generation of purchased 
energy in owned or controlled 
equipment and operations, using a 
regional emission factor) 2,395 2,944 3,708

18.6%
Decrease

Total emissions (market-based) 40,762 44,604 44,845
8.6%

Decrease

Out of scope emissions
(emissions from the biofuel content  
in forecourt diesel and petrol) 1,296 861 1,045

50.5%  
Increase

Fleet intensity measurements 1
(tCO2e/job) 
(emissions from operational fleet  
divided by the number of operational  
job tasks completed) 0.011206 0.010889 0.010873

2.9%
Increase

Property intensity measurements 2
(tCO2e/ft2) 
(market-based emissions from  
energy use in UK Corporate portfolio 
(electricity and natural gas consumption 
divided by net lettable floor area)) 0.003159 0.009448 0.008435

66.6%  
Decrease

Our commitment 
to society

Environmental, social and governance continued

Celebrating who 
we are, enabling 
everyone to be 

our best

Ability

Origins

BalancePr
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Non-financial information statement

Reporting requirement The AA’s key policies and standards which govern our approach and controls

Environmental matters
Further details in this Report:
  Our commitment to the environment P50

  Our commitment to safe operations P48

  Principal risk: health and safetyP42

Health, Safety and Environmental Policy (E)

Health, Safety and Environmental Management System (I)

Sustainability and Social Responsibility Policy (E)

Prevention and Control of Environmental Incidents Policy (I)

Waste Management and Minimisation Policy (I)

Company employees
Further details in this Report:
  Principal risk: outstanding service P39

  Diversity and inclusion P27, P44, P52 and P57

  Nomination Committee report P62

  Our commitment to our people P46

  Our commitment to safe operations P48

Business Standards Policy (I)

Terms of Employment and Policy Guide (I)

Working Time Policy (I)

Absence policies including Absence Management, Maternity, Adoption and 
Family Leave (I)

Learning, Development and Performance Policy, including Managing 
Performance, Performance and Development Behaviours (I)

Equality and Diversity Policy (E)

Health, Safety and Environmental Policy (E)

Health, Safety and Environmental Management System (I)

Sustainability and Social Responsibility Policy (E)

Social matters
Further details in this Report:
  Our commitment to society P52

  Our commitment to our people P46

  Stakeholder engagement P43

Sustainability and Social Responsibility Policy (E)

Treating Customers Fairly Policy (I)

Vulnerable Customers Policy (I)

The AA Charitable Trust (UK charity no.1125119)

Respect for human rights
Further details in this Report:
  Diversity and inclusion P27, P44, P52 and P57

  Our commitment to society P52

Equality and Diversity Policy (I)

Human Rights Policy (E)

Anti corruption and anti bribery
Further details in this Report:
  Our commitment to a high performance culture and the 
highest standards of conduct P45

Anti-Money Laundering Policy (I)

Anti-Bribery and Allowable Gifts, Hospitality and Donations Policy (I)

Conduct Risk Policy (I)

Conflicts of Interest Policy (I)

Financial Crime Policy (I)

Insider and share policies, including Insider and Market Abuse, Insider Information 
Disclosure and Share Dealing Code Policy (I)

Whistleblowers Policy (I)

Due diligence and outcome
Further details in this Report:
  Risk Committee report P66

  Audit Committee report P68

Risk Management Framework Policy (I)

Annual Internal Audit Plan (I)

Risk Register (I)

ISO 14001, ISO 9001 and OHSAS 18001 certification for specified business areas (E)

Business model
Further details in this Report:
  Our business model P5

Non-financial key performance indicators
Further details in this Report:
  Key performance indicators P28

  Our commitment to safe operations P48

  Our commitment to the environment P50

The Strategic Report, which has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006, has been approved by the Board  
on 6 May 2020 and signed on its behalf by: 

 Simon Breakwell 
 Chief Executive Officer

Key:

I – Group policies, standards and guidelines that are published internally only

E – Group policies, standards and guidelines that are published externally on theaaplc.com
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The 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code

In last year’s Annual Report, we mapped out our 
plans to comply with the then new UK Corporate 
Governance Code 2018 (the Code). During the 
year ended 31 January 2020, the AA applied all 
principles and complied with all provisions of the 
Code. The table below explains how we have 
built on last year’s plan to further develop our 
governance in line with the Code and highlights 
some key achievements during the year. 

The Board further confirms that, through the 
activities of the Audit and Risk Committees, 
described on pages 66 to 70, it has reviewed  
the effectiveness of the Company’s system of 
risk management and internal controls 

The Code and associated guidance are available 
on the Financial Reporting Council website at 
frc.org.uk. The index on page 85 sets out where 

to find each of the required disclosures  
in respect of Listing Rule 9.8.4 and Disclosure  
and Transparency Rules 4.1.5R and 7.2.1.

Governance highlights in the year

Code section Key FY20 achievements FY21 objectives Find out more

Board leadership  
and company 
purpose 

  Appointment of a new Chief Financial  
Officer (CFO) with refinancing experience 

  Greater focus on employee voice

  Extensive investor engagement  
throughout the year

  Increased employee engagement through  
our Non-Executive Directors (NEDs)

  Continued induction of the new CFO

  Implementation and ongoing monitoring  
of a people strategy to support culture  
and engagement

  Additional opportunities for employee 
engagement

Find out more  
on P63

Division of 
responsibilities 

  Refreshed NED letters of engagement and 
Committee Terms of Reference

Composition, 
succession and 
evaluation 

  Refined Board skills matrix 

  Appointment of a new CFO with refinancing 
experience

  Continued focus on succession planning  
and diversity of skills and experience

Find out more  
on P63

Audit, risk and 
internal controls 

  Worked with PwC for a second year and 
streamlined the audit process

  Continued enhancement of visibility  
and profile of risk in organisation

  Appointment of a new Chief Risk Officer 
(CRO)

  Further enhancements to risk and  
internal controls

Find out more  
on P68

Remuneration   Extensive investor engagement on 
remuneration matters throughout the year

  Appointment of a new Chair of the 
Remuneration Committee

   Review of Remuneration Policy ahead of 
shareholder vote at the AGM in 2021

  Continued shareholder engagement  
on remuneration

  Continued induction of the new Chair  
of the Remuneration Committee 

  Development of a post termination 
shareholding policy

Find out more  
on P71

General   Review of key Board processes and 
procedures to enhance efficiency and 
alignment with Company strategy

  Streamlining of governance processes  
and information flows to focus on matters  
of strategic importance and to enhance 
efficiency further

  Refreshed focus on Environmental,  
Social and Governance matters
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Board of Directors

The Board is collectively responsible for the long-term success of the AA and for building successful relationships with  
a range of stakeholders. 75% of the Board comprises independent NEDs.

Cathryn Riley  
Non-Executive Director
Appointment: Cathryn joined the Board in February 
2018 as an independent Non-Executive Director. 
Cathryn was appointed Non-Executive Director  
of the Group’s insurance holding company, AAIHL,  
in June 2018.
Career: Cathryn has had a wide-ranging career 
covering insurance, customer services, IT,  
operations and human resources. She currently  
holds Non-Executive Director roles at International 
Personal Finance plc and Liberty Managing Agency 
Limited. Cathryn was Group Chief Operations Officer 
at Aviva plc and a member of the Group Executive 
Committee. Other experience includes NED roles  
at Chubb European Group SE, Chubb Underwriting 
Agencies Ltd, Equitable Life and ReAssure Group plc.
Relevant skills and experience: Cathryn’s wide range 
of experience across operational, regulatory and 
insurance roles is an asset to the Board in navigating 
the successful delivery of the strategy. In addition, 
Cathryn has a deep understanding of the Group’s 
insurance broker following her tenure as Non-Executive 
Director and Chair of the AA Group’s insurance broker, 
Automobile Association Insurance Services Limited 
(AAISL) from January 2015 to June 2018.

Andrew Blowers OBE 
Senior Independent Director 
Appointment: Andrew joined the AA in September 
2014 as an independent Non-Executive Director and 
was appointed as Senior Independent Director (SID)  
on 1 August 2017. Andrew is also Chair of AA Insurance 
Holdings Limited (AAIHL), the Group’s insurance 
holding company.
Career: Andrew has significant experience in 
insurance and financial services. He established and 
sold several successful insurance operations during 
his 30-year career in the insurance industry, the last 
being the innovative online insurer Swiftcover, and  
he was previously an Executive Director of Churchill 
Insurance. He has also advised several private equity 
operations, the Consumers’ Association and the 
Financial Ombudsman Service in relation to various 
insurance matters. Andrew was awarded an OBE  
in 2009. He is also a Non-Executive Director of 
Telecom Plus plc.
Relevant skills and experience: Andrew provides 
objective insight and critical debate to Board 
discussions on strategic, financial and governance 
matters. In addition, Andrew has significant insurance 
and regulatory experience which makes him well 
suited to the role of Senior Independent Director and 
has a deep understanding of the business, having 
served on the Board since the IPO. 

Simon Breakwell  
Chief Executive Officer
Appointment: Simon joined the AA in September 2014 
as a NED. He was appointed Interim CEO on 1 August 
2017 and then CEO on 25 September 2017.
Career: Simon brings significant digital and travel 
experience to the role. He was a Founder of Expedia, a 
start-up within Microsoft, and ran the North American 
Operations. As President of Expedia International Inc., 
Simon started up and led the growth of the business in 
the Europe, Middle East and Africa regions, including 
both the Hotels.com and Expedia brands. He joined 
Expedia as a main Board Director in 1996 and served 
for ten years. More recently, Simon was responsible  
for establishing the European operations for Uber. He 
has been Chair or Non-Executive Director of various 
companies, among them, Expedia Inc., HomeAway 
Inc., OneFineStay, Believe Digital and Tiqets BV, and 
was a Venture Partner at TCV, one of the leading 
global mid cap funds.
Relevant skills and experience: Simon has 
responsibility for driving and implementing the 
strategy approved by the Board and has oversight  
of governance matters. Over the past three years, 
Simon’s experience of digital operations and 
technology has led the AA’s strategic change which 
puts service, data and innovation at the heart of  
the business. 

Kevin Dangerfield 
Chief Financial Officer 
Appointment: Kevin joined the AA on 6 January 2020. 
Career: Kevin is a qualified Chartered Accountant 
with over 25 years’ experience in a variety of industries 
including technology and manufacturing. Originally 
Coopers & Lybrand Deloitte trained, Kevin has worked 
across a number of different listed and private equity 
backed entities. Prior to joining the AA, Kevin was CFO 
of Wilmcote Holdings PLC during 2019. Previously, 
Kevin also served as CFO for Laird Limited (previously 
Laird plc) and is currently a Non-Executive Director  
of Laird Limited’s parent company, AI Ladder Limited. 
Kevin was also CFO of Morgan Advanced Materials  
plc from 2006 until 2016, serving as Interim Chief 
Executive in 2015.
Relevant skills and experience: Kevin’s strong 
commercial skills and expertise in refinancing and 
re-positioning businesses make him well placed  
to lead the AA through the ongoing refinancing.  
Kevin has ultimate responsibility for financial  
planning and overseeing risk management, treasury 
and internal controls. Additionally, he leads on 
corporate transactions and focuses on investor 
relations and improving the capital structure  
of AA plc.

John Leach  
Chair
Appointment: John joined the AA as an independent 
Non-Executive Director in June 2014 and became 
Senior Independent Director on 13 November 2014.  
He was independent when promoted to Chair  
on 1 August 2017.
Career: John has served on public company boards  
as either Chair, CEO or CFO for the past 37 years. He 
began his career as an Articled Clerk and subsequently 
as a Partner in a firm of chartered accountants. He has 
considerable experience in turnaround situations in the 
industrial and service sectors, serving on the Boards of 
Brent Walker (including William Hill and Pubmaster), 
Myson Group and Luminar. Most recently, John was 
CEO of Hermes UK Focus Funds and a member of 
Dometic AB. He is a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants and a Fellow of the Association of 
Corporate Treasurers.
Relevant skills and experience: John provides 
leadership of the Board and promotes a culture  
of openness and debate. He upholds the highest 
standards of corporate governance and meets 
regularly with the Non-Executive Directors and 
Company Secretary to discuss governance matters. 
John’s extensive financial experience both as an 
Executive and Non-Executive Director means that he 
has a deep understanding of the workings of investors.

Suzi Williams  
Non-Executive Director
Appointment: Suzi joined the AA in October 2015 as  
an independent Non-Executive Director. Suzi is also  
a Non-Executive Director for the AA’s joint venture 
company, AA Media Limited.
Career: A customer driven marketing and brand leader 
with over 25 years delivering growth and change in 
senior roles in global telecoms, media, FMCG and 
service businesses (Chief Brand and Marketing Officer 
at BT from 2005 to 2015). Suzi is a Non-Executive 
Director for Workspace Group plc and for Zegona 
Communications. She advises early stage technology 
start-ups and is a Fellow of the Marketing Society. 
Relevant skills and experience: Suzi brings a unique 
perspective to the Board from a variety of leadership 
roles across a broad range of industries. This makes  
her invaluable in driving value for the Group, and for  
the Board of AA Media.
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Mark Brooker  
Non-Executive Director
Appointment: Mark joined the AA in July 2018  
as an independent Non-Executive Director.
Career: Mark holds a Master’s degree in Engineering, 
Economics and Management from Oxford University. 
He spent 17 years in investment banking, advising UK 
companies on equity capital raising, and M&A at 
Morgan Stanley and Merrill Lynch. Mark was then Chief 
Operating Officer at Betfair, one of Europe’s leading 
online gaming businesses, with responsibilities for  
all operations outside the USA, including commercial 
management, product development and customer 
service across Sportsbook, Exchange and Gaming 
products. Mark then became Chief Operating Officer 
of Trainline, the European tech company and leading 
independent rail retailer, where he had responsibility 
for the UK and international consumer and B2B 
businesses including the Marketing and Product 
functions. Mark is also a Non-Executive Director at 
Equiniti Group plc, William Hill plc, Seedrs Limited  
and Findmypast Limited. 
Relevant skills and experience: Mark strengthens our 
digital expertise on the Board and brings a wealth of 
management and operational experience. Mark has 
served on the Remuneration Committee for Equiniti 
Group plc and William Hill plc, which made him the 
ideal candidate for Remuneration Committee Chair. 

Steve Barber  
Non-Executive Director
Appointment: Steve joined the AA in June 2018  
as an independent Non-Executive Director.
Career: Steve has over 30 years’ experience  
in accountancy. He was a Senior Partner with 
PricewaterhouseCoopers and he was also Finance 
Director of Mirror Group plc. Steve is currently Chair 
of Fenwick Limited, and Chair of the Audit Committee 
for Intu Properties plc and National World plc.
Relevant skills and experience: Steve has extensive 
financial experience gained in large complex 
organisations. His financial background and work  
on the steering group of the Audit Quality Forum  
make him well suited to serve as Chair on the  
Audit Committee. 

Nadia Hoosen  
Chief Legal Officer and Company Secretary 
Appointment: Nadia joined the AA in July 2018. 
Career and experience: Nadia is a dual qualified 
solicitor and chartered secretary and has over 17 
years of legal and listed/regulatory expertise. Nadia 
spent the majority of her legal career in house within 
regulated consumer facing, technology, media and 
telecommunications environments at FTSE 250 
companies. Nadia was previously Group Legal Director 
& Deputy Company Secretary at TalkTalk Telecom 
Group plc and The Carphone Warehouse Group plc.
Relevant skills and experience: Nadia is responsible 
for advising on corporate governance matters, working 
closely with the Board. Nadia attends all PLC Board  
and Committee meetings and leads all of the legal  
and regulatory aspects of the AA’s business and 
transactions. She also has oversight of the privacy  
and risk and compliance functions.

Board changes during the year
We welcomed Kevin Dangerfield to the Board 
on 6 January 2020 as CFO, following the 
resignation of Martin Clarke on 29 April 2019. 
Kevin’s appointment further strengthened  
the capability and expertise of the Board, 
particularly in the context of the Company’s 
upcoming refinancing plans.

Read more in the Nomination  
Committee Report P62

Board tenure (years)

Board attendance
Director Date appointed to Board Attended/Max possible

John Leach1 26 Jun 2014 10/11 

Simon Breakwell 17 Sep 2014 11/11 

Kevin Dangerfield2 6 Jan 2020 1/1

Martin Clarke3 26 Jun 2014 3/3 

Andrew Blowers 25 Sep 2014 11/11 

Cathryn Riley 28 Feb 2018 11/11 

Suzi Williams4 1 Oct 2015 10/11

Mark Brooker 10 Jul 2018 11/11 

Steve Barber 11 Jun 2018  11/11

Notes to the attendance table:
1 John Leach was unable to attend one Board meeting due to an earlier scheduled commitment. Andrew Blowers stood in as 

Chair of that meeting. 
2 Kevin Dangerfield attended all Board meetings following his appointment.
3 Martin Clarke attended all Board meetings until his resignation on 29 April 2019.
4 Suzi Williams was unable to attend one Board meeting due to an earlier scheduled commitment.

Board skills 
Strategy         
Transformation         
Insurance         
Brand and marketing         
Corporate transactions         
Technology         
Digital         
Finance         
HR         
Legal and regulatory         

Board gender diversity

 Male 6

 Female 2
 Under 3 5

 3 to 6 3

 6 to 9 0

 9+ 0

Key to Committees

  
 Committee  
Chair

  Audit  
Committee

  Remuneration  
Committee

  Risk  
Committee 

 
Nomination 
Committee
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Governance structure

The Board is collectively responsible for the long-term success of the 
Group. There is a clear division of responsibility between the Chair  
and the Chief Executive Officer (CEO). The Board exceeds the Code 
requirement for more than half of the members to be independent  
and has six independent Non-Executive Directors and two Executive 
Directors. This plays a vital role in ensuring effective challenge and 
independence of thought. 

Matters reserved for the Board 
There are certain matters that the Board does not delegate and  
which are reserved for its consideration. Some key features include 
development of strategy and major policies, approval of major 
acquisitions and disposals, significant capital expenditure and financing 
matters, approving the interim dividend payment and recommending 
the final dividend payment, and approving financial statements.

AA plc Board

Chair 
  Provide leadership of the Board and ensure 
agendas emphasise strategy, performance 
and core value creation

  Promote high standards of integrity and  
the effective contribution of Directors 

CEO
  Provide entrepreneurial leadership of the 
Company, within a framework of prudent  
and effective controls to ensure the delivery 
of the strategy agreed by the Board

Chief Financial Officer (CFO)
  Provide strategic financial leadership of the 
Company and day-to-day management of  
the finance function 

Senior Independent Director (SID)
  Act as a sounding board for the Chair and  
a trusted intermediary for the other Directors

  Be available to shareholders if they request 
contact both generally and when the  
normal channels of Chair, CEO or CFO  
are inappropriate

Non-Executive Director (NED)
  Bring independence, impartiality,  
experience, special expertise and a variety  
of perspectives to the Board to ensure the 
successful delivery of the strategy agreed  
by the Board

Chief Legal Officer and Company Secretary
  Advise the Board on legislation, regulation 
and corporate governance developments

The roles of the Chair and Chief Executive Officer are clearly defined  
and set out in a formal document which is reviewed as appropriate  
by the Board. 

Board roles and composition

Other Committees

Principal Committees

Audit  
Committee

Read more  
on P68

Nomination  
Committee

Read more  
on P62

Remuneration 
Committee

Read more  
on P71

Risk  
Committee

Read more  
on P66

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee is responsible for the day-to-day delivery and execution of the AA’s strategy as agreed by the Board. It is also responsible 
for execution of the operational and financial performance of the Group.

Biographies of our Executive Committee 
members are available on our website  
theaaplc.com/executive

Insurance Boards

The Company has three main insurance Boards, two of which  
are regulated: Automobile Association Insurance Services  
Limited (AAISL) and AA Underwriting Insurance Company  
Limited (AAUICL). AA Insurance Holdings Limited (AAIHL)  
provides strategic direction to AAISL and AAUICL, holding the 
respective Executives responsible for the delivery of that strategy.

The Insurance Boards regularly report to the AA plc Board  
and its respective Committees.

Read more about our regulated entities 
on P11

AA Underwriting Insurance Company Limited

Risk and Compliance Pricing and Claims Investment 

AA Insurance Holdings Limited

Automobile Association Insurance Services Limited

Audit, Risk and 
Compliance Nomination Remuneration

 Regulated companies

Allotment 
Committee

Disclosure 
Committee

For a more detailed description of the roles of the Chair,  
Chief Executive Officer and Senior Independent Officer,  
please visit our website theaaplc.com
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Our Board in 2020

The role of the Board
The Board is responsible for the long-term 
sustainable success of the Company, protecting 
the AA brand, creating value for investors and 
monitoring culture. It carries out this role through 
a range of activities. 

The Board sets the strategy of the Group  
and delegates execution of this strategy and 
day-to-day management to the Executive 
Committee. The Board continues to provide 
guidance and oversight to the business areas 
that assume responsibility for implementing 
strategic actions. The Board agrees the risk 
appetite and tolerances of the Group and 
ensures that the risk management structure is 
aligned and effective. The Board oversees the 
financial performance of the Group and ensures 
that a strong corporate governance framework 
is in place. The powers of the Directors are set 
out in the Company’s Articles of Association  
and the Companies Act 2006.

The AA’s values are Courtesy, Collaboration, 
Care, Dynamism and Expertise. These values 
underpin all that we do at the AA and the Board 
ensures that appropriate workforce policies  
and practices are in place and embedded in 
day-to-day working life. The Board recognises 
its role to contribute to wider society and these 
values are embedded into our business model 
and ESG framework which places people, 
safety and environment at its core. 

Read more on our strategy, our values and  
the Board considerations during the year  
on P21 and P25

Directors’ independence and 
conflicts
We firmly believe that each Board member’s 
experience, gained through previous roles, their 
time on the Board and its Committees, and any 
current external roles, strengthens the capability 
and composition of the Board and creates 
invaluable insight and diverse perspectives.  
The Board considers that each member brings 
strong independent oversight and that all of  
our six NEDs are independent in character  
and judgement.

Directors are required to report actual or 
potential conflicts of interest to the Board for 
consideration and, if appropriate, authorisation. 
If such conflicts exist, Directors excuse 
themselves from all discussions and decisions  
in connection with the relevant subject  
matter. The Company maintains a schedule  
of authorised conflicts of interest which is  
regularly reviewed by the Board.

Directors’ indemnities and insurances
The Company maintains appropriate Directors’ 
and officers’ liability insurance cover. The Company 
also grants indemnities to each of its Directors 
and the Company Secretary to the extent 
permitted by law. Qualifying third-party 
indemnity provisions (as defined by Section 234 
of the Act) were in force during the year ended  
31 January 2020 and remain in force, in relation 
to certain losses and liabilities which the 
Directors or Company Secretary may incur to 
third parties in the course of acting as Directors, 
Company Secretary or employees of the Group. 

Information to the Board 
The Board is kept up-to-date with developments 
in the business, including the work of the 
Executive Committee and Senior Management 
Team, through regular reports from the CEO and 
CFO, which are discussed at each scheduled 
Board meeting. Part of the role of the NEDs is to 
scrutinise and hold to account the performance 
of the Executive Committee and Executive 

Directors against agreed objectives. Sufficient 
time is allowed both before and at the end  
of each Board meeting for the Chair to meet 
privately with the SID and NEDs to discuss any 
matters arising. Separate meetings are also 
scheduled on a regular basis to allow the NEDs 
to meet without the Executives being present. 

Board activity

During the year, meetings were held at the 
AA’s major office locations, including London 
and Basingstoke. In addition to the key 
operational and financial reports presented at 
each meeting, the following were considered 
by the Board during the year:

Strategy 
  Monitoring and development of strategy 
implementation, as part of the three-year plan

  Approving the acquisition of Prestige

  Considering business plans for the  
Financial Services business and Service, 
Maintenance and Repair business

  Approving consultation on the closure  
of the Defined Benefit Pension Scheme

  Considering Connected Car and future 
innovation 

  Oversight of strategic commercial contracts

Governance and risk 
  Appointment of new Chief Risk Officer

  Continued oversight of cyber security 
strategy

  Complaints deep dive 

Health, safety and environment 
  Continuing review and benchmarking  
of health and safety and environmental 
objectives and targets

  Regular review of safety performance  
and oversight of risk controls 

Leadership and people 
  Appointment of NEDs to the AAISL and 
AAUICL Boards and oversight of key 
appointments to all Board Committees 

  Key appointments to the Executive 
Committee and Senior Management Team, 
including the appointment of the interim 
CFO and the appointment of Kevin 
Dangerfield as CFO

  Development of a People Strategy 

  Results and actions arising from Our Voice 
employee survey 

  Talent review

Financial performance 
  Financial strategy and three-year plan 

  Reviewing refinancing options to achieve 
financial stability

  Approval of FY20 results, dividend policy 
and payments 

Investor engagement with key shareholders 
and bondholders
  Regular dialogue with investors to seek 
feedback, not only on remuneration-related 
matters but also on the Company’s broader 
corporate governance arrangements,  
the AA’s strategy and financial health

  Engagement by Committee Chairs on the 
topics given additional weight in the Code, 
such as corporate culture, diversity and 
wider stakeholder engagement

  Extensive consultation by the Remuneration 
Committee Chair on incentivisation and 
performance criteria for executive awards 

  Half and full year results roadshows

  Innovation day

Read more about our investor  
engagement on P61

Looking ahead to the 2021 financial year, the 
Board will focus on the following matters:
  Continued critical oversight of Company 
strategy 

  Enhancement of short, medium and long 
term succession plans at all levels to ensure 
a high performance culture and appropriate 
expertise to execute the Company’s strategy

  Continued investment to build business 
resilience and enable the AA to be a 
digital-led organisation 

  Enhanced reporting of risk and controls 

Read more on our strategy on P21

Strategy session
Each year the Board meets for two days  
to review and monitor the progress of the 
strategy. At this year’s strategy session, deep 
dives were held to discuss areas including 
refinancing strategy and the business plan  
for the Financial Services business. External 
guests were invited to attend as appropriate  
to bring an independent perspective and deep 
technical expertise in certain areas. The NEDs 
were able to share their own expertise and 
experience and help to progress the Board’s 
discussion by providing independent 
oversight and challenge. 
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Board induction and development, and workforce engagement

Board effectiveness
In accordance with the Code, the Board carries 
out an annual evaluation of its effectiveness  
and that of the Chair. The Nomination 
Committee oversees the evaluation process  
and the results are reported to the Board in 
January. A summary of the results of this year’s 
evaluation is included within the Nomination 
Committee Report on page 63. 

Director induction 
Kevin Dangerfield joined the Company with  
25 years’ finance experience gained across  
a number of different listed and private equity 
backed entities. Kevin had previously worked  
in industries including technology and 
manufacturing, so his induction was tailored  
to develop his knowledge of the Company’s 
operations, including the regulated environment 
governing the Insurance and Financial Services 
functions. This was achieved through a 
comprehensive programme of targeted  
training, site visits, and one-to-one meetings 
with key senior managers. Kevin met with  
major shareholders, bondholders and other key 
stakeholders, including our external auditors. 
Kevin was also provided with a detailed 
corporate governance induction and has been 
scheduled to attend further regulatory training, 
taking into account his Senior Manager  
and Certification Regulation obligations. 

Directors’ information pack
On appointment, Board members receive an 
information pack which includes key contacts, 
Group structure, corporate calendar, Directors’ 
and officers’ insurance and key Group policies.  
A number of governance matters are also 
outlined, including Directors’ duties, conflicts  
of interest, the Market Abuse Regulation and 
financial crime. The Company Secretary takes 
each new Board member through the induction 
pack to ensure that duties and responsibilities 
are fully understood and thereafter is available  
to advise each Board member on any queries or 
concerns. In addition, the Company Secretary 
produces an annual governance pack for the 
Board which outlines all the latest AA policies 
and ensures that all information is up-to-date 
and current. 

Development 
The Board recognises the importance of the 
Directors regularly refreshing their skills and 
knowledge and receiving training where 
necessary. During the year, the Board attended 
three externally facilitated training sessions.  
In addition, Directors are encouraged to  
attend relevant seminars, conferences  
and training events to keep up to date 
with key developments.

Workforce engagement
The Board acknowledges that a strong, 
consistent Company culture is key to the 
successful delivery of strategy. During  
the year, enhancements to the current 
engagement programme were implemented 
to ensure that the Board has the opportunity 
to hear feedback from the wider workforce. 

As recommended by the Code, the Board 
started the year by appointing a designated 
NED to engage with the workforce through  
a range of formal and informal channels.  
As we continued to develop our approach,  
we quickly realised the numerous 
communication channels across the  
Group provided a greater opportunity  

for all our NEDs to engage with our workforce 
to ensure that the employee voice is heard  
in the Boardroom from a variety of different 
perspectives. 

Board members participated in a number of 
key engagement activities such as site visits, 
listening sessions and AA employee events. 
The Board also reviews the results of  
our employee survey, Our Voice, which  
help to show areas of focus for the Board. 
Several teams presented deep-dive topics  
to the Board covering various areas of the 
business. This enabled the Board to gain a 
better understanding of the various layers  
of the business.  

Examples of some of our workforce engagement NED attendance

AA Awards 
The AA Awards recognise the achievements of 
colleagues from across the business; more information 
can be found on page 47

     

Innovation Day 
Our Innovation Day brought together over 100 investors 
and analysts to hear about our business and the work 
undertaken in the last 12 to 18 months which significantly 
progresses our goal to become a digital-led business 

     

Business Bites 
We hold quarterly Business Bites events for employees. 
These business updates are livestreamed and recorded 
so every employee can hear about our progress and put 
questions to the leadership team

     

Listening sessions 
These are held across the Company following the  
release of the half-year and full year results. In addition, 
we conduct regular focus groups with employees to 
listen to and understand their views on our business

     

Feedback sessions 
Following the Our Voice survey, we undertook various 
feedback sessions to follow up on common themes and 
better understand the views of our workforce

     

Informal events 
These include our regular events across the Group, such 
as our regular social evenings for our patrol workforce      

Deep-dive sessions

Throughout the year employees presented on various 
topics during deep-dive sessions. These provided an 
insight into the talent and capabilities of the AA team
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Investor relations

Our approach
The AA has a comprehensive Investor Relations 
(IR) programme which aims to help existing and 
potential equity and debt investors understand 
what we do, our strategy and our achievements. 
The Board is committed to promoting effective 
channels of communication with all the 
Company’s stakeholders. 

The AA share register is not typical of a UK listed 
company. It is highly concentrated, with the top 
five shareholders owning 48% of the issued 
share capital, and the top ten shareholders 
owning 66% of the issued share capital, as  
at 31 January 2020. 

We engage with analysts, shareholders, 
bondholders and potential investors to ensure 
that we have strong relationships which allow  
us to understand their views on material issues 
relating to the AA. A critical part of this open 
dialogue is communication about our strategy 
and its delivery.

The Board receives regular independent 
feedback on our relationships with investors 
from our brokers. All analysts’ notes are 
circulated to the Board to help it maintain an 
understanding of market perceptions of the 
Company and their financial expectations.

Shareholder meetings 
During the year, the IR and Senior Management 
Teams conducted over 200 meetings and met 
or spoke to approximately 120 shareholders or 
potential investors.

Initial meetings are held with IR but when 
investors take significant holdings, we aim 
to ensure that investors meet at least one 
of the Chair, CEO and CFO.

The Chair attended shareholder meetings 
throughout the year with holders representing  
a total of more than 55% of issued capital and 
will continue to seek engagement on a regular 
basis. In addition, some of our NEDs have 
attended meetings with shareholders,  
ensuring that the Board as a whole has a 
clear understanding of shareholder feedback.

In addition to major annual events, we hold 
multiple one-on-one meetings with IR and 
members of the Executive Committee.  
We include group meetings soon after results  
to ensure that smaller holders and non-holders 

have the opportunity to meet management.  
We also attend conferences, as relevant, to 
provide further opportunities for new investors 
to establish contact.

Depending on Executive Committee availability, 
we look to host investor-led events, such as the 
Innovation Day in May 2019, to allow investors to 
meet with the Senior Management Team and get 
an update on the Company’s operations and 
innovation pipeline.

We also conduct presentations with sales  
teams from those banks which publish research 
on the AA. 

Bondholders 
Meetings with credit institutional investors  
and analysts were held with our Executive 
Committee and IR Team throughout the year. 
The CEO, CFO and IR team meet regularly with 
bondholders as part of the annual and interim 
roadshows. In addition, regular dialogue was 
maintained with our key relationship banks  
and bond trustee.

Credit ratings 
During the year, updates and meetings were 
held with credit rating agency Standard & Poor’s 
in respect of our bonds by relevant members of 
our Senior Management Team. The Company 
continues to maintain a BBB- rating in respect  
of its Class A notes and B+ rating on the Class  
B2 notes.

Governance 
As part of our annual governance programme, 
we offer significant shareholders the opportunity 
to meet with the Chair or the Senior Independent 
Director to discuss any issues and concerns in 
relation to the Group’s governance and strategy. 
We also have a programme of engagement on 
governance matters which is managed by the 
Company Secretary and includes discussions 
with institutional governance teams and proxy 
agents. The Remuneration Chair also separately 
consults with over half of our shareholder base 
on executive remuneration matters. 

Engagement themes with our investors 
The common themes raised by our equity and 
debt investors throughout the year included: 

  Optimal capital structure 

  Regulatory reviews on FCA pricing 
transparency 

  Dividend policy 

  Competitive market dynamics

  Progress made on product innovation pipeline 

  Cost reduction targets 

  Long-term EBITDA and free cash flow  
growth targets

  Alignment of executive remuneration to  
the long-term growth and strategy plan 

Annual General Meeting 
Our Annual General Meeting (AGM) is attended 
by our Board and certain Executive Committee 
members and is open to all our shareholders  
to attend.

At the 2019 AGM, despite Resolution 15, 
Authority to Allot Further Shares, passing  
as an ordinary resolution, we received a 
significant vote against it. In our AGM results 
announcement, we acknowledged the level of 
votes cast against the resolution and committed 
to working more closely with shareholders to 
understand the reasons behind the dissent, 
while acknowledging that the vote against  
may be largely due to only one or two large 
shareholders applying their standard  
voting policy.

In line with our obligation to follow up within  
six months, we wrote to the Investment 
Association (IA) to provide an update on views 
heard from shareholders and to set out  
our intended actions. This follow-up letter  
can be viewed on the IA’s website,  
theia.org/public-register.

Our 2020 AGM will be held at the AA’s  
head office at Fanum House, Basing View, 
Basingstoke RG21 4EA on Friday 19 June 2020 
at 10am. However, due to the current restrictions 
in place as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, 
shareholders will be unable to attend in person. 
Further details are provided in the 2020 Notice 
of Meeting.

Website 
Our website, theaaplc.com, contains up-to-date 
information for stakeholders including annual 
reports, shareholder circulars, share price 
information, press releases and information 
about our environmental, social and  
governance policies.

Investor events 
Key investor events during the year included: 

September
Half year results

August
Trading update

June
Annual General 
Meeting

March 
Full year results

February
Trading update

April
Post results 
roadshows for 
shareholders and 
bondholders

October
Post results 
roadshows for 
shareholders and 
bondholders
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Nomination Committee Report

The Committee recognises 
the importance of setting 
the tone and culture of the 
organisation from the top 
and continues to monitor 
the cultural factors that 
impact talent strategies.

 Andrew Blowers
 Chair of the Nomination Committee

 

Nomination Committee 
membership and attendance
Committee Meeting  
Attendance 

Attended   
Not attended  

Andrew Blowers (Chair)      
John Leach      
Suzi Williams      

Committee members  
during the year Date appointed 

Andrew Blowers (Chair) 13 November 
2014

John Leach 26 June 2014
Suzi Williams 1 October 2015

Other attendees
The CEO, Chief People Officer and Chair of 
the Risk Committee were invited to attend 
meetings during the year.

As with all Board Committees, the Company 
Secretary acts as secretary and provides 
support and sufficient resources. Where 
necessary, the Committee has direct access 
to independent professional advisers to 
assist the Committee in fulfilling its duties.

Introduction
 I am pleased to present the Nomination 
Committee (Committee) Report for the year 
ended 31 January 2020. 

Following my appointment as Committee  
Chair on 27 June 2018, the Committee has 
implemented an effective succession plan  
for the Board and Senior Management which  
is continuously reviewed against Board, 
Committee and Executive Committee positions 
to ensure that the Company has the right 
balance of skills, experience and diversity to 
support the Company’s strategy. Details of this 
can be found later in this Report on page 63. 

Board changes
After changes to our Board membership  
during 2018, with the addition of three new 
Non-Executive Directors, there have been no 
further Non-Executive appointments made to 
the Board this year. However, the Committee has 
overseen a number of changes to the Executive 
Directors and the principal Committees.

Following the resignation of Martin Clarke,  
Chief Financial Officer (CFO) on 29 April 2019 
(who remains on garden leave until 28 April 
2020), the Committee oversaw a formal, 
rigorous and transparent procedure for the 
appointment of a new CFO. The Committee 
reviewed each candidate against objective 
criteria and, within this context, considered 
diversity of gender, social and ethnic 
backgrounds, cognitive and personal  
strengths. Further details about the CFO  
search process can be found on page 63. 

We welcomed Kevin Dangerfield to the Board as 
CFO on 6 January 2020. Kevin brings a wealth of 
experience gained across a range of industries 
including technology and manufacturing. 

Committee changes
As part of the Committee’s obligations to 
consider length of service of the Board as  
a whole and assess whether Committee 
membership should be regularly refreshed,  
the Company announced a number of  
changes to the Board’s principal Committees.
Suzi Williams stepped down from the 
Remuneration Committee after three years  
as Chair on 15 November 2019 and the Board  
and Committee would like to thank Suzi for  
her significant contribution over that period.  
Suzi also joined the Board of the AA’s joint 
venture, AA Media Limited, on 29 March 2019. 
Mark Brooker joined the Remuneration 
Committee on 6 September 2019 and became 
Chair on 15 November 2019. Following Mark’s 
appointment to the Remuneration Committee, 
he stepped down as a member of the Risk 
Committee. Mark’s extensive remuneration 
committee experience made him the ideal 
candidate for the role of Committee Chair, 
having served on the Remuneration Committee 
for William Hill plc and Equiniti Group plc. 

In order to ensure that all Committees remained  
with even numbers of Non-Executive members, 
I transferred to become a member of the Risk 
Committee from the Remuneration Committee 
on 6 September 2019. However, following the 
change to the Remuneration Committee Chair,  
I subsequently moved back to the Remuneration 
Committee and ceased to be a member of the 
Risk Committee on 15 November 2019 to ensure 
Committee balance.

As stated last year, a key item for our agenda  
is deepening our succession plans at Board 
 level, so that we are resilient to future change. 
Therefore, as part of responsible long-term 
succession planning in line with the Code,  
the Board has engaged Korn Ferry to assist  
in that planning.

Committee structure and meetings 
The Committee comprises solely independent 
Non-Executive Directors: myself as Chair,  
John Leach and Suzi Williams. The Board  
is satisfied that the Committee has the  
appropriate expertise and skills to discharge 
its responsibilities.

 The Committee’s Terms of Reference can  
be found at theaaplc.com/ToR

During the year, the Committee met five times. 
Only the Committee members have the right to 
attend meetings; however, where appropriate, 
other individuals and external advisers are 
invited to attend all or part of the meetings. 

Responsibilities
  Evaluating the size, composition and performance 
of the Board and its principal Committees 

  Overseeing succession planning for the Board, 
Executive Committee and key members of the 
Senior Management Team, taking into account 
the skills, expertise and diversity that will be 
needed to lead the Company in the future 

  Overseeing the performance evaluation  
of the Board, its principal Committees and 
individual Directors 

  Ensuring the Company has adequate plans 
in place to avoid key person dependency 
and management stretch 



AA plc Annual Report and Accounts 2020 63

Financial Statem
ents

O
ur Perform

ance
O

ur B
usiness

G
overnance

Areas of focus during the year 
Responsible succession planning 
The Board is committed to supporting diversity 
and inclusion in its succession planning.  
We also update the Board skills matrix annually 
to monitor potential areas of development.  
A summary of the Board’s skills and experience 
can be found on page 57. The Committee does 
not yet have a written Board Diversity Policy; 
however, the Committee and Board ensure that 
our diversity targets and ambitions are kept front 
of mind and under review to remain in line with 
best practice. In accordance with the Code, we 
recommend that our Non-Executive Directors 
serve a maximum term of nine years. To ensure 
an orderly succession we currently have an 
ongoing relationship with the external search 
consultants, Korn Ferry.

Since the Company announced the departure  
of Martin Clarke as CFO, the Committee has 
overseen the external and internal search 
process for a successor. The process the 
Committee went through is illustrated below.

Directors’ tenure in the context of a nine-year limit

John Leach

Cathryn Riley 

Andrew Blowers 

Steve Barber 

Suzi Williams 

Mark Brooker 

26/06/2014

25/09/2014

01/10/2015

28/02/2018

11/06/2018

10/07/2018

01/10/2024

28/02/2027

11/06/2027

10/07/2027

26/06/2023 

25/09/2023

Clarified time commitment 
During the year, and following the implementation 
of changes to the Code, a new process has  
been implemented to ensure that additional 
appointments are considered before approval. 
Committee members oversaw a review of three 
of the Company’s Non-Executive Directors’ 
additional external appointment requests,  
prior to Board acceptance. The Chair, Senior 
Independent Director and Company Secretary 
reviewed the time commitments of each 
external appointment, while considering their 
current responsibilities in order to ensure that 
the individuals would have sufficient time to 
meet their Board responsibilities. The Board  
was supportive of the new appointments and 
encouraged the skills and experience that  
the external appointments would bring to the  
Boardroom. The Board subsequently approved 
the external appointments for Kevin Dangerfield, 
Steve Barber, Suzi Williams and Cathryn Riley.

In addition, Non-Executive Director appointment 
letters were updated in line with new  
Code requirements.

Talent pipeline 
The Committee supports the development 
of talent at all levels of the Company from the 
Board to the Graduate Recruitment Programme. 
In doing so, the Committee is hopeful that future 
leaders can be identified and developed from 
within the organisation and that a diverse  
talent pipeline can be created. The Committee 
recognises the importance of setting the tone 
and culture of the organisation from the top and 
continues to monitor the cultural factors that 
impact talent strategies.

Read more about employee  
engagement on P47

Board evaluation results for the  
year ended 2020 
The Board’s performance and effectiveness is 
reviewed annually. The Nomination Committee, 
supported by the Company Secretary, led an 
internal review of the Board and Committees 
in FY20. In accordance with the Code, the 
Board has previously undertaken an externally 
facilitated evaluation process once every  
three years. The last external evaluation 
was carried out in the 2018 financial year. 

This year’s internal evaluation covered Board 
composition, Board role and performance, 
Board operation, Directors’ performance, and 
the Committees. The results were analysed, 
anonymised and presented to the Board for 
discussion. Overall, the Board was assessed  
to be effective with the appropriate mix of  
skills, experience and diversity to support  
the Company’s strategy. The table on  
page 64 explains the actions we reported  
last year, progress made against those  
actions, and actions that came out of the  
2020 Board evaluation.

4. New CFO announced
The Committee discussed the merits of  
each candidate and unanimously agreed  
that Kevin Dangerfield was the best 
candidate due to his extensive knowledge  
of refinancing, listed experience and strong 
track record in execution. The Committee 
recommended his appointment to the Board 
and the Board approved his appointment as 
CFO effective 6 January 2020 and this was 
immediately announced the following day.

1. Candidate
Detailed job description drawn up, noting the 
unique requirements due to the complexity 
of the Group’s refinancing and structure of 
the Group. 

2. Process
The Committee ran a detailed and rigorous 
process which included a number of firms 
responding to specific requirements, 
including their experience in diversity. 
Following several external search firm 
presentations, the Committee selected and 
appointed Redgrave, the external executive 
search specialist in the area of Finance,  
to assist with the search. A diverse shortlist 
of candidates was drawn up, including 
internal and external candidates with a range 
of different backgrounds and experiences.  
A shortlist was agreed by the Committee and 
the candidates were invited to take part in an 
executive assessment encompassing online 
psychometrics, a behavioural interview and 
psychometric feedback.

3. Interviews
Following an initial round interview with our 
Chief People Officer and Chief Executive 
Officer, two candidates progressed to meet 
with the Executive Committee and key Board 
members. The candidates were assessed 
against both senior leadership competencies 
and Senior Managers and Certification 
Regime requirements.
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FY20 Board evaluation

Nomination Committee Report continued

2019 actions Progress made 2020 actions

Strategic focus
  Develop forward agendas 
to provide regular and 
sufficient time on deep-dive 
strategic issues 

  During the year, forward agendas were reviewed 
and approved by the Board to include additional 
regular deep-dive sessions on a variety of topics 
and to ensure that sufficient time is devoted to 
matters of strategic importance 

  Continue to keep the structure of the annual  
Board cycle under review to ensure that it  
remains effective and devotes sufficient 
time to strategic matters

 Succession planning, diversity and company culture
  Increase focus on 
succession planning  
to create a robust people 
strategy for future Board, 
Executive and key senior 
management appointments 

  The Group continues to devote time and effort  
to ensuring that we have a diverse pipeline of 
talent to support our future growth plans 

  A people strategy, encompassing all areas  
of the business, has been designed and is  
being executed 

  More information about our people strategy  
can be found on page 46 

  Enhance the Board’s skill set by recruiting Board 
members with diverse experience

  Continue to work with diverse short lists for senior 
hires to the greatest extent possible, given the 
specific skill sets that are required 

  Continue to keep company culture and employee 
engagement under review, arrange for 
Non-Executive Directors (NEDs) to continue to 
attend more employee events, and monitor the 
progress of the people strategy 

Risk management and internal controls
  Provide guidance to 
management teams  
to improve quality of 
management information 
and reporting of risk 
controls 

  The Group Risk function continues to transform 
this area and significant improvements have 
already been made to the risk control framework 

  More information about our risk management 
and internal controls can be found on pages 38 
and 70

  Further improvements to our risk management  
and internal controls will be made during the 
course of 2020

Board induction
  Enhance the induction 
programme to build in  
more operational visits  
and provide NEDs with a 
comprehensive overview  
of debt structure and 
pension schemes

  Though no new NEDs were appointed during the 
year, plans have been put in place to improve the 
induction process for any future appointments 

  When Executive Director, Kevin Dangerfield,  
was appointed in January 2020 he took part in a 
comprehensive programme of operational visits 
and was taken through a bespoke induction pack 

  Following Mark Brooker’s appointment as  
Remuneration Committee Chair, he received 
technical updates on key remuneration trends 
and attended introductory meetings with our  
large shareholders

  Continue to keep the Board induction process 
under review and up-to-date 

Board development
  Review the number of 
preparatory and teach-in 
sessions to aid Board 
development and 
understanding

  The Board took part in three training sessions 
during the year that were facilitated by third  
party providers covering corporate areas, 
directors’ duties and the Senior Managers  
and Certification Regime

  Continue to develop the Board’s skills and 
knowledge through training sessions 

  Keep the quantity and topics of training sessions 
under review

 Information flows and reporting
  Continue to develop Board 
procedures and the quality 
of information flowing to the 
Board to enhance effective 
decision making 

  Invite external guests to 
provide an alternative 
perspective to mitigate  
the risk of a future  
‘Board bubble’

  Progress has been made in improving our  
Board reporting to help support effective 
decision making 

  At the Board’s strategy day in July 2019, external 
guests from banking and consultancy firms 
provided updates to the Board in their areas  
of expertise 

  The Board asked various independent advisers 
to attend Board meetings to ensure that 
independent advice and thought is being 
considered

  Undertake further work to enhance Board 
reporting to promote high quality input and  
debate at Board meetings
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Review of the Chair’s performance
The Non-Executive Directors led by the Senior 
Independent Director, are responsible for 
reviewing the performance of the Chair annually. 
With support from the Company Secretary,  
the Senior Independent Director reviewed  
the Chair’s performance and effectiveness.  
All Directors provided input into the process  
and it was felt that the questions were answered 
openly and honestly, with additional explanatory 
comments where appropriate. 

The evaluation considered John Leach’s 
leadership to be highly effective. In particular,  
he was commended for his skill in facilitating 
discussion and encouraging robust debate,  
his personal integrity and his commitment to 
good governance. The outcome of the Chair’s 
evaluation was reported to the Board, who 
discussed the results and concluded that no 
specific follow-up actions were required.  
The Senior Independent Director met with  
the Chair to discuss the review comments  
and to provide this feedback.

Diversity and inclusion
Notwithstanding the Company not being invited 
to participate in this year’s Hampton Alexander 
Review because the Company falls outside  
the FTSE 350, the Committee continuously 
reviews the gender balance of those in  
senior management and their direct reports.  
The Committee is pleased to say that the 
Company continues to have over 38% of  
women on its Executive Committee and 
25% on its Board.

The Company recently refreshed its Diversity 
and Inclusion Policy. The Policy celebrates the 
diversity across the business and enables all 
colleagues to be their best. It aims to achieve  
this by three key objectives:

  A diverse workforce that is more representative 
of our current and future customers. One where 
we truly value and embrace diversity and 
inclusion as a foundation to a stronger business 

  An inclusive workforce where people can  
bring their whole self to work and can therefore 
unlock their true potential and perform at  
their best 

  Building better, stronger relationships with  
our diverse communities which allows us to 
understand their needs and promote the AA  
as an employer of choice

We have launched Diversity and Inclusion Allies, 
employees who are passionate about making  
a difference, to support the Policy objectives. 
The Policy is sponsored by all Executive 
Committee members, ensuring that diversity 
and inclusion is high on the agenda.

Read more about diversity and 
inclusion on P27, P44 and P52

Committee effectiveness 
The annual Board evaluation discussed earlier  
in this report on page 64 showed that the 
Committee continues to operate effectively and 
has made strides in improving the Company’s 
approach to succession planning. 

Looking forward 
  Continue to work on orderly succession planning; 
ensure that the Committee continues to monitor 
and take into account the targets set out in the 
Hampton Alexander and Parker Reviews 

  Support a diverse pipeline of talent

  Continue to monitor the composition of the 
principal Board Committees 

  Continue to review the Board skills and 
experience to identify any potential areas  
of development 

* For the purposes of this disclosure, contractors 
have been excluded.

Board

Executive Committee

Executive Committee Direct Reports

  Female 2 (25%) 

  Male 6 (75%) 

  Female 3 (38%)
 

  Male 5 (62%) 

  Female 21 (39%)* 
  Male 33 (61%)* 
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Risk Committee Report

Risk Committee membership  
and attendance
Current Committee 
members Date appointed

Cathryn Riley (Chair) 28 February 2018
Suzi Williams 1 October 2015
Steve Barber 27 June 2018

Former Committee 
members Date appointed 

Mark Brooker 10 July 2018
Andrew Blowers 6 September 2019

Date resigned

Mark Brooker 6 September 2019
Andrew Blowers 15 November 2019

Committee meeting 
attendance

Attended  
Not attended 

Cathryn Riley (Chair)    
Suzi Williams    
Steve Barber    
Mark Brooker   1

Andrew Blowers 1

1 Mark Brooker and Andrew Blowers attended all 
meetings that occurred during the time they served  
as Committee members.

Other attendees
Members of the Executive Committee and  
Senior Management Team are invited to 
join meetings as appropriate. During the 
year, this included the CEO, CFO, Chief Risk 
Officer, Chief Information Officer, Head  
of Internal Audit and Chair of the AAISL 
Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee 
(ARCC). 

As with all Board Committees, the Company 
Secretary acts as secretary and provides 
support and sufficient resources. Where 
necessary, the Committee has direct access 
to independent professional advisers to 
assist the Committee in fulfilling its duties.

Introduction
I am pleased to present the report of the Risk 
Committee (Committee) for the financial  
year ended 31 January 2020. 

Effective risk management remains a core part 
of AA governance and culture. Over the last  
year, the Committee has worked closely with  
the Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee of 
Automobile Association Insurance Services 
Limited (AAISL) on reviewing and validating  
the regulatory risks arising from the work of  
the FCA across the financial services industry.  
The Committee continues to assess the 
adequacy of resource within the risk function  
to ensure that risk management supports the 
AA’s strategy and transformation initiatives.  
The Committee plays a key oversight role  
for the Board and this report is presented to 
demonstrate our approach to risk control and 
accountability. It sets out the activities and 
initiatives that we have undertaken during  
the 2020 financial year and our plans for the 
forthcoming year.

Supporting the Committee is an internal 
management Executive Risk and Compliance 
Committee (ERCC), which meets frequently 
throughout the year. This is an executive body, 
made up of senior executives and functional 
experts. Its role is to implement the Risk 
Management Framework, highlight exceptions 
to our risk appetite, understand the root cause  
of control failures and oversee corrective 
actions. There is also the ARCC for the regulated 
insurance broking subsidiary, AAISL, and  
a Risk & Compliance Committee (RCC) for  
the in-house underwriter, AA Underwriting 
Insurance Company Limited (AAUICL). 

The Committee works closely with the ERCC, 
ARCC and RCC, and the Chief Risk Officer  
and invites executive members of the Group  
to attend or present, as appropriate.

Committee roles and responsibilities
The Committee has overall responsibility  
for overseeing the management of risks,  
the provision of sufficient risk management 
resources, and compliance with our Risk 
Management Framework. These responsibilities 
are delegated to the Executive Directors of the 
Board for the day-to-day management of risks 
and the process is monitored by the Committee 
(working alongside the Audit Committee),  
each member of which reports to the Board.

Full Terms of Reference for the Committee can 
be found at theaaplc.com/ToR

Risk Management Framework
In order to ensure effective risk management  
in the AA, our Framework requires: 

  An effective risk culture in place, with risk 
management embedded in the business

  The timely identification, reporting and 
management of risks, including emerging risks

  The regular review and updating of risk 
registers, including the assessment of risks  
and their respective controls

  Timely and accurate reporting of incidents  
and near misses

  The operation of management ‘snap checks’ 
(control effectiveness tests) to confirm the 
adequate operation of key controls

  The implementation and tracking to resolution 
of management actions for risks outside of 
tolerance or appetite, ineffective controls, 
incidents and issues

  The reporting of key risk indicators (KRIs)

  Engagement from all employees to effectively 
manage risk and operate the organisation’s 
control framework 

The operation of the above is monitored by  
the Committee. 

Group risk appetite
It is the responsibility of the Board to set and 
agree the Group risk appetite and this is regularly 
reviewed by the Committee. The appetite  
takes into account the level of risk and risk 
combinations that the Board is prepared to take 
to achieve the Company’s strategic objectives, 
together with the level of risk shock that the 
Group is able to withstand. 

A full review of risk appetite commenced during 
the year and is continuing during FY21.

Principal risks and uncertainties 
The Board has identified, and monitors on an 
ongoing basis, the principal risks to the AA, 
including those risks that would threaten its 
strategy, future performance, solvency or 
liquidity. Set out on pages 39 to 42 are  
the risks the Board considers to be of most 
significance to the Group in terms of preventing 
or restricting execution of its strategy, together 
with the mitigating activities that we have put in 
place to try to prevent such risks materialising.
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It is recognised that the Group is exposed 
to a number of risks, wider than those listed  
and we seek to ensure that they are managed 
accordingly. However, we have disclosed  
those of most materiality to the business at  
the present time, including those that have  
been the subject of debate at recent Board  
and Committee meetings.

Committee activity during the  
2020 financial year
The Committee receives regular reports on  
risk management which include:

  The status of the principal risks and the top 
risks identified by executive management, 
including horizon and emerging risks

  Material incidents and near misses

  Control effectiveness details

  Progress in completing actions to rectify 
control deficiencies

  The Group Risk Appetite Dashboard

  Minutes of the ERCC

  Updates from the chair of the AAISL ARCC 

During the year, in addition to the standard 
reports from the Chief Risk Officer, the 
Committee has received presentations  
from various areas of the business to enable  
it to review and consider specific risks.  
Subjects covered have included:

  Information/cyber security 

  Preparations for and the implementation  
of the new SMCR requirements 

  Complaint handling

  IT and business transformation

  Regulatory requirements, including  
pricing practices

  Fraud

  Vulnerable customers

  Environmental/climate

  Brexit

Committee effectiveness 
As part of the annual Board evaluation, the 
Committee’s effectiveness was assessed.  
The Committee continues to operate effectively. 
Further details can be found on page 64.

Actions undertaken during the  
2020 financial year
Initiatives to improve our Risk and Control 
Framework were noted in our Annual Report  
for the 2019 financial year and below are some  
of the actions undertaken since:

1.  Continuing to reduce the number and 
severity of risk incidents through oversight  
of the timely closure of risk incidents and 
actions arising to address root cause

2.  Ensuring risk appetite is clearly defined  
and owned at an executive level as part  
of the fulfilment of the FY20 Risk Plan,  
and ensuring emerging risks are  
properly escalated

3.  Assessing functionality of the current risk 
system to support analysis, closure and 
reporting of incidents raised from all areas  
of the business, streamline processes  
and reduce duplication

4.  Improving risk governance through the 
adoption of a risk acceptance process  
at the ERCC

5.  Increasing the profile, awareness  
and embedding of risk management  
through targeted communications and 
intranet refresh

6.  Strengthening the role of risk in project 
decision making

7.  Collaborating with first and third-line 
assurance functions to create a combined 
assurance plan

8.  Monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness 
of the Company’s Risk function

9.  Overseeing the appointment of a new  
Chief Risk Officer on 2 March 2020

Horizon risk
At the end of FY20, COVID-19 emerged as a 
horizon risk for the AA. Since then, the business 
has continued to perform in line with our 
expectations through February and March but 
as we entered April we started to see greater 
variance as a result of COVID-19. We have 
responded quickly with changes to our 
operations, both in Roadside and Insurance, 
and material cost reduction programmes to 
mitigate the significant uncertainty ahead. We 
will continue to monitor the situation closely.

 Cathryn Riley 
 Chair of the Risk Committee

Plan for FY21
The Committee’s plan for the 2021 
financial year includes:

1.  Continued work on refining risk 
appetite, key risk indicators and 
tolerances

2.  Aligning risk reporting and the 
assurance framework with the 
requirements of SMCR

3.  A review of the effectiveness  
of risk incident reporting and  
escalation processes

4.  A refresh of the Group policy suite  
and assessment of compliance  
with policies

5.  Continued consolidation of risk 
registers, risks and controls

6. Close monitoring of COVID-19 impacts
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Audit Committee Report

The work of the Committee 
has primarily focused on the 
Group’s going concern and 
viability statements, the 
significant financial reporting 
judgements, reviewing the 
financial results prior to their  
submission to the Board and  
internal financial controls.

 Steve Barber
 Chair of the Audit Committee

 

Audit Committee membership 
and attendance
Current Committee 
members Date appointed

Steve Barber (Chair) 11 June 2018
Cathryn Riley 27 June 2018
Mark Brooker 10 July 2018

Committee meeting 
attendance

Attended   
Not attended 

Steve Barber    
Cathryn Riley    
Mark Brooker    

Other attendees
The Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Chief 
Financial Officer (CFO), and the external 
auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
(PwC), are invited to attend meetings as 
appropriate. The Head of Internal Audit 
attends regularly, except where the 
performance of Internal Audit is discussed.

The Chair of the Audit, Risk and Compliance 
Committee (ARCC) of our regulated 
Insurance broker, AAISL, regularly attends 
to ensure consistency and facilitate good 
communication across the Group.

As with all Board Committees, the Company 
Secretary acts as secretary and provides 
support and sufficient resources. Where 
necessary, the Committee has direct access 
to independent professional advisers to 
assist the Committee in fulfilling its duties.

Introduction
I am pleased to present the report of the Audit 
Committee (Committee) for the financial  
year ended 31 January 2020.

I continue to be impressed by the professionalism 
and commitment of the finance team at the AA. 
In particular, the Committee would like to thank 
Mark Strickland who acted as interim CFO during  
the year. His determination, commitment and 
common sense approach have been invaluable. 
The Committee also welcomes Kevin Dangerfield 
as the new CFO and looks forward to working 
closely with him too.

As discussed later, the legacy of the Group’s 
private equity ownership remains, as evidenced 
by the Group’s high level of debt, negative net 
assets and focus on Trading EBITDA. Our debt 
instruments require the use of Trading EBITDA, 
rather than operating profit and so we will 
continue to monitor it as a KPI. However, going 
forwards, the focus is progressively moving 
towards operating profit and earnings per share.

The work of the Committee has primarily 
focused on the Group’s going concern and 
viability statements, the significant financial 
reporting judgements, reviewing the financial 
results prior to their submission to the Board  
and internal financial controls.

Committee roles and responsibilities
During the course of the year, the composition  
of the Committee has remained unchanged and 
comprises three members, myself, Mark Brooker  
and Cathryn Riley, all of whom are independent 
Non-Executive Directors (NEDs). Each of the 
members bring specific expertise as well as  
a wealth of experience. Mark has particular 
experience of the digital world and Cathryn is  
our insurance expert. I have served as a listed 
company audit committee Chair for over a 
decade and have recent and relevant financial 
experience. The consistency in membership this 
year has enabled us to build on the knowledge 
acquired about the business last year and we 
have utilised this knowledge to make focused 
decisions about financial reporting and internal 
financial control improvements.

Cathryn Riley and I sit on the Risk Committee, 
which she chairs, and Mark Brooker and  
I also sit on the Remuneration Committee,  
which he chairs. This facilitates efficient  
cross-communication and ensures that risk  
and audit issues are addressed effectively. 

The Committee meets regularly to fulfil the 
following core responsibilities:

  Reviewing and recommending the financial 
statements, any formal announcements 
relating to the Group’s financial performance 
and disclosures to the Board, including 
reviewing significant reporting judgements.

  Maintaining oversight of financing requirements, 
compliance with borrowing covenants and  
the ability of the Group to continue as a  
going concern.

  Monitoring the integrity and effectiveness  
of internal financial controls.

  Reviewing and approving the internal audit 
plan for the following financial year, ensuring  
that it is aligned with our key strategic priorities.

  Reviewing and managing the relationship with 
the external auditors, including their objectivity 
and independence.

The Committee ensures that regular updates are 
provided to the Board on how the Committee 
has discharged its responsibilities.

The full Terms of Reference for the Committee 
can be found at theaaplc.com/ToR

Committee activity during the  
2020 financial year
The Committee undertook the following 
principal activities during the year:

  Reviewed and made recommendations in 
relation to the statutory, preliminary final  
and interim financial results and disclosures.

  At each meeting, the Committee has reviewed 
the current status of the going concern and 
viability assumptions. This includes reviews  
of the future cash flows and prospects for  
the Group. This has been supplemented by 
additional meetings with senior members of 
management, our advisers and our external 
auditors to discuss the scenarios being 
modelled and the validity of assumptions used.

  Reviewed the Annual Report and Accounts  
to ensure that the narrative messages are 
consistent and accurately reflect the financial 
statements and that the information included  
in the Annual Report is fair, balanced  
and understandable.

  Reviewed the adequacy of distributable 
reserves and compliance with the Group’s 
borrowing powers.

  Approved key financial and accounting  
policies and practices.

  Reviewed the internal audit plan.

  Assessed the effectiveness and resourcing  
of the Internal Audit function and continued to 
keep under review the adequacy of internal 
financial controls.

  Reviewed and monitored the effectiveness  
and independence of the external auditors.

  Received reports from the Chair of the AAISL 
Culture and Conduct Committee.

 Significant judgements
The Committee has assessed whether 
suitable accounting policies have been 
adopted and whether management  
has made appropriate judgements  
and estimates.

Throughout the year, the finance team  
has worked closely with PwC to ensure 
that the Group provides the required level 
of disclosure regarding the significant 
judgements considered by the Committee 
in relation to the financial statements,  
as well as how these were addressed.

The main areas that have been considered by  
the Committee are set out below.

Going concern and viability
As explained in more detail in the Group’s 
viability statement on page 37 and the principal 
risks section on pages 39 to 42, the future 
viability of the Group is dependent on the Group 
being able to refinance its debts as they fall due 
in 2020 and 2022 at affordable interest rates 
and without excessive refinancing costs.
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The Group’s indebtedness at £2.7bn is 
disproportionate to its overall enterprise value  
of c.£3.0bn and the Group’s net liabilities of 
£1.6bn. Accordingly, this is of fundamental 
importance to stakeholders.

Going concern
The Committee has reviewed both the 
three-year plan projections as adopted by 
the Board and the latest revised plan which 
incorporates an assumed potential impact 
of COVID-19, which include the period of 
12 months from the date of this report.

In considering the 12 month going concern 
period, the Committee has focused on the 
following key assumptions:

1) The continued cash generation of the Group.

 The cash flows of the Group are reasonably 
predictable. A number of potential downside 
scenarios to the Group’s revised plan were 
considered. These related to the principal risks 
and included a further downside due to the 
impact of COVID-19, an estimate of the impact 
of the FCA’s review on the selling and pricing 
of motor and home insurance and the higher 
interest costs of refinancing. After considering 
these downside scenarios, the forecast cash 
flows remained at a satisfactory level.

2)  The structure of and restrictions relating to 
the Group’s borrowings through the WBS 
and, in particular:

 (a)  the availability of the forward starting 
committed Senior Term Facility, which  
was in place to repay the £200m A3 
notes scheduled for repayment in 
July 2020

   As part of the Group’s approach to 
proactive debt management, the Group 
drew its Senior Term Facility in mid 
April 2020 and is currently holding 
the proceeds from that drawdown 
in escrow to redeem the Class A3 
Notes on their maturity.  

 ( b)   the restrictions on upstreaming cash  
from the WBS to AA plc

   As noted in the Group’s viability 
statement, no cash may currently be 
upstreamed from the WBS to AA plc 
because certain ratios are not being met. 
However, in the going concern period,  
AA plc has sufficient liquidity to meet  
its anticipated cash requirements.

 (c ) compliance with covenants

   Although certain ratios are not currently 
being met or may not be met during the 
going concern review period, there are no 
restrictions (other than the upstreaming 
of cash) that result from this. Covenants 
are being met and have significant levels 
of headroom. 

After careful consideration, particularly of  
the matters noted above, the Committee has 
confirmed to the Board that the adoption of the 
going concern principle for the 12 months from 
the date of this report remains appropriate.

Viability statement
The Committee emphasises to stakeholders  
the uncertainty that exists relating to the 
refinancing options available and the Group’s 
ability to refinance its debts at a cost that 
would not damage the viability of the Group. 
See page 37.

Carrying amount of goodwill
Balance sheet goodwill and other intangibles 
amount to over £1.3bn as shown in note 11.

As explained in note 28, management has 
prepared discounted cash flow projections 
based on the latest Board-approved strategic 
plan and updated these for the potential impact 
of COVID-19 and these have been compared 
with the carrying value of goodwill.

The Committee has considered the basis of 
preparation of the discounted cash flows and is 
satisfied that these reflect the latest strategic 
plan of the Group and that the discount rate of 
8.9% is appropriate.

Based on these projections and considerations, 
there is significant headroom to support the 
carrying amount of the principal components  
of goodwill.

Carrying value of investments in subsidiaries
As explained in note 1.3( b) to the Company 
financial statements, the Group tests investment 
balances for impairment annually. The Company 
prepared a value-in-use calculation using cash 
flow projections from the Group’s three year 
plan, updated for the impact of COVID-19 and 
a pre-tax discount rate of 8.9%. This calculation 
gave significant headroom over the 
investment balance.

However, due to the significant disconnect 
between the Company’s market capitalisation of 
£295m as at 31 January 2020 and the carrying 
value of the investment of £826m (before any 
impairment), alternative value-in-use models 
were used and additional stress tests and 
downside scenarios performed, including the 
use of a five-year average cost of equity of 17.0%  
as a discount rate to reflect the specific industry 
and macroeconomic conditions and risks in 
existence at the year end.

Using this discount rate, along with the downside 
scenarios, the result was an impairment of 
£294m, which has been reflected in the  
carrying value of the Company’s investment  
in subsidiaries (see note 2 to the Company 
financial statements).

Classification and amount of items deemed  
to be non-underlying or adjusting
Large adjusting items have been a feature  
of prior year’s reported profits and a robust  
new policy has been put in place this year  
to restrict such items being excluded from 
underlying profits.

Adjusting operating items in the 2020 financial 
year amounted to £4m (net), of which £6m 
related to strategic review projects, £2m related 
to conduct and regulatory costs and £1m related 
to legal disputes, offset by a £2m gain on the 
disposal of 51% of AA Media Limited and £3m 
gain on the disposal of other non-current assets. 

The Committee received, reviewed and 
challenged presentations from management  
on the treatment of these non-underlying items, 
discussed them at length with local and Group 
management as well as with PwC and agreed 
the appropriateness of their classification as 
non-underlying with appropriate disclosure of 
each item in order to present a comparable  
and continuing basis of measurement of 
underlying earnings.

Carrying amount of IT systems
The Group has historically invested considerable 
amounts in new IT systems that have yet to 
come into full operation. 

As explained on page 23, we are continuing to 
build out CATHIE with over 70% of new policies 
sold through the system. It is a complex process 
to migrate policies and the Committee will 
carefully monitor progress towards this. 

As more of the systems come into operation as 
we pass through the transformation stage, 
depreciation will rise over the next couple of 
years before it normalises again in the 2023 
financial year. 

Pensions accounting
The Group’s defined benefit pension schemes 
and private medical plan represent a significant 
net liability on the Group’s balance sheet at 
£162m. As explained in note 27, the gross value 
of the assets in the funds are some £2.5bn with 
gross liabilities of some £2.7bn. Accordingly, 
minor variations in these gross amounts may 
have a disproportionate impact on the Group’s 
balance sheet.

The accounting deficit has reduced by £56m 
during the year as a result of the factors 
explained in note 27. 

The value of the scheme fluctuates as a result  
of changes in the underlying assumptions.  
The principal assumptions which drive these 
fluctuations are forecast corporate bond yield 
rates, the forecast inflation rate and mortality 
assumptions. As noted above, the deficit of 
£162m is on an accounting basis. On a solvency 
basis, the deficit could be very substantially 
larger. However, in February 2020, the actuarial 
triennial review was completed as at 31 March 
2019. This resulted in a significant reduction  
to the technical provisions deficit from £366m 
as at 31 March 2016 to £131m. The new recovery 
plan agreed with the trustees means that the 
technical deficit should be fully funded on 
current assumptions in July 2025. 

In addition, as explained in note 39, consultation 
on the closure of the CARE section of the UK 
defined benefit pension scheme commenced  
on 18 January 2020 through union and 
employee representatives and concluded on 
18 March 2020 with a decision to close the 
scheme. Future pension accrual will be on a 
defined contribution basis for all UK employees 
with transitional arrangements which will 
cost c.£11m over three years starting from 
1 April 2020.

No account has been taken in these financial 
statements of the additional costs of closing  
the scheme because, as at 31 January 2020,  
no formal decision had been made or obligation 
created. These transitional costs will be 
reflected in future years financial statements.

The Committee has reviewed the disclosures 
relating to the defined benefit pension scheme 
and is satisfied that they are appropriate.
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Revenue recognition
A large proportion of the Group’s revenues are 
derived from payments in advance which are 
then spread over the period of the contract. 
Accordingly, the calculation of such deferrals  
are reviewed in detail and the Committee is 
satisfied that the position is fairly stated.

Insurance underwriting provisions
The Committee sought assurances as to the 
level of claims provisioning in the Group’s 
underwriting business. The Committee has 
been provided with reports from third party 
actuaries in addition to management’s own 
assessment, to provide comfort as to the 
adequacy of the claims provisioning.

Impact of new accounting standards
The Group has implemented one new accounting 
standard that came into force during the year – 
IFRS 16.

As set out in note 37, no adjustment was made  
to prior years’ profits in respect of IFRS 16.

Note 1.3(w) also explains the impact of IFRS 16, 
which resulted in changes to the statement of 
financial position at 1 February 2019, including 
the new right-of-use assets and an increase 
of £26m in lease liabilities. 

Note 37 also sets out new standards that have 
been issued but are not yet effective. The Group 
did not identify any new accounting standards 
coming into effect in the year ended 31 January 
2021 with an expected material impact on the 
financial statements. 

External auditors
The Committee manages the relationship  
with the Group’s external auditor on behalf 
of the Board.

As advised in the 2018 Annual Report, the 
Committee undertook an audit tender process 
that resulted in the proposal to appoint PwC  
as the Group’s external auditor, which was 
approved at the 2018 AGM. Therefore, 2018 
was the first year of appointment of PwC, 
with the audit led by Stuart Newman. 

The Committee considers annually the scope, 
fee, performance and independence of the 
external auditors. The Committee believes the 
independence and objectivity of the external 
auditors and the effectiveness of the audit 
process are safeguarded and remain strong.  
We have received confirmation from PwC that 
they remained independent and objective within 
the context of applicable professional standards.

The Committee reviewed and discussed regular 
reports from the external auditors, including at 
the planning stage, in advance of the year end 
and at the completion of the audit. The Committee 
considered the performance of the auditors 
separately taking account of discussions  
with them, their reports, their performance in 
meetings and other interactions and after having 
also received feedback from management. 

Audit Committee Report continued

Audit and non audit fees

Non-audit fees
2020 
£000

2019 
£000

Audit related assurance 
services 79 86
Accounting advisory services – 6
Other advisory services 34 208
Total non-audit services 113 300
Audit fees 1,195 884
Total fees 1,308 1,184
Total non-audit services 
relevant to non-audit 
fee ratio¹ 104 273
Ratio of non-audit fees  
to audit fees 9% 31%

¹ For the purposes of calculating the non-audit 
fee to audit fee ratio, audit related assurance 
services required by legislation or regulation 
(namely the audit of the regulatory return and 
Gibraltar accountant reports) are removed 
from the non-audit fee total. 

Our policy on external auditor independence, 
which complies with EU and FRC requirements, 
is that all proposed non-audit services are subject 
to approval in advance by the Audit Committee. 
The policy prohibits the engagement of  
the external auditors for the majority of 
non-audit-related services. 

Internal financial controls and 
Internal Audit
The Committee works closely with the Risk 
Committee and has completed its review of the 
Group’s systems of internal financial controls 
and their effectiveness for the 2020 financial 
year and has done so in accordance with the 
requirements of the Code. It should be noted 
that the Group’s risk management systems (see 
page 38) are designed to manage rather than 
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business 
objectives and they can only provide reasonable 
and not absolute assurance against material 
misstatement or loss.

In the Committee’s opinion, there were no 
significant failings noted from this review and 
overall there has been an improvement in the 
overall control environment. Of particular note 
during the year, new balance sheet reconciliation 
software has been installed, an updated 
accounting manual has been developed and a 
new controls framework has been established 
which will facilitate more effective testing of 
internal controls going forwards. That said, 
further progress still needs to be made, 
particularly in respect of the IT controls 
environment and this continues to be addressed. 

The Committee receives copies of all internal 
audit plans and reports. In addition to the  
Head of Internal Audit attending all Committee 
meetings, the chair of the Committee regularly 
meets with the Head of Internal Audit.

During the year, the Group engaged a third  
party to review the performance of the Internal 
Audit function, the results of which were that 
the department is working well.

Committee effectiveness
As part of the internal Board evaluation  
carried out during the year, the Committee  
was considered to be working effectively.  
More details of the review can be found  
on page 63.

Fair, balanced and understandable
At the request of the Board, the Committee 
considered whether, in its opinion, the Annual 
Report and Accounts for the 2020 financial  
year is fair, balanced and understandable and 
whether it provides the information necessary 
for shareholders to assess the Group’s 
performance, business model and strategy.

As part of this process, the Committee discussed 
what information and insight it would need in 
order to satisfy shareholders that the financial 
information is fair, balanced and understandable.

Following its review, the Committee is of  
the opinion that this Annual Report and 
Accounts for the financial year to 31 January 
2020 is consistent with its understanding  
of the business and results, and presents a  
fair, balanced and understandable overview, 
providing the necessary information for 
shareholders to assess the Group’s performance, 
business model and strategy.

Plan for the financial year ending  
in January 2021
Looking ahead, the Committee will remain 
focused on the audit and assurance processes 
within the business, and maintain its oversight 
of financial and other regulatory requirements. 
The action plan for the 2021 financial year will 
focus on:

  Reviewing and making recommendations in 
relation to the statutory, preliminary final and 
interim financial results.

  Reviewing the cash generation and financing  
of the business.

  Reviewing the viability of the business. 

  Approval of the internal audit plan and 
assessing the effectiveness of the internal  
audit function.

  Reviewing the adequacy of internal financial 
and IT controls and streamlining the numerous 
assurance activities of the Group.

 
 Steve Barber 
 Chair of the Audit Committee
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

Remuneration membership  
and attendance
Current Committee 
members Date appointed

Mark Brooker (Chair) 6 September 20191

Steve Barber 27 June 2018
Andrew Blowers 15 November 20192

Former Committee 
members Date appointed

Suzi Williams 1 November 2015

Date resigned

Suzi Williams 15 November 2019

Committee meeting 
attendance

Attended   
Not attended 

Mark Brooker (Chair)  3

Steve Barber     
Andrew Blowers   3

Suzi Williams     3

1 Mark Brooker became Chair of the Remuneration 
Committee on 15 November 2019.

2 Andrew Blowers ceased to be a member of the 
Remuneration Committee on 6 September 2019  
and became a member of the Risk Committee  
on the same day. Following the change to the 
Remuneration Committee Chair on the 15 November 
2019, Andrew ceased to be a member of the Risk 
Committee and was re-appointed as a member of  
the Remuneration Committee.

3 Mark Brooker, Andrew Blowers and Suzi Williams 
attended all meetings that occurred during the time 
they served as Committee members.

A number of unscheduled meetings were held during  
the year at short notice to discuss specific matters.  
These meetings are not reflected in the table above. 

Other attendees
The CEO, Chief People Officer, Reward 
Director and Deloitte attended parts of 
Committee meetings by invitation in order 
to provide the Committee with additional 
context. As with all Board Committees, the 
Company Secretary acts as secretary and 
provides support and sufficient resources. 
Where necessary, the Committee has 
direct access to independent professional 
advisers to undertake their duties.

No individual was present when their 
own remuneration was being determined.

Introduction 
I am pleased to present my first Directors’ 
Remuneration Report as Chair of the 
Remuneration Committee (Committee), having 
taken over from Suzi Williams on 15 November 
2019. Suzi had chaired the Committee since 
August 2017 and I would like to take the 
opportunity on behalf of the Board to thank  
her for her stewardship during what has been  
an unprecedented and challenging time for  
the business.

This report sets out to cover the required 
regulatory information in the context of the 
Remuneration Policy approved at the 2018 
AGM, which received 76.23% votes in favour, 
and how our implementation of that policy  
fits with the ongoing strategic priorities of  
the Company and desired outcomes for our 
shareholders, and other key stakeholders, 
where appropriate.

The Committee continues to closely follow 
the ongoing regulatory focus on executive 
remuneration, fairness and corporate culture. 
Over the past twelve months, the Committee 
has reviewed the Remuneration Policy and 
its implementation, taking account of the 
UK Corporate Governance Code 2018 (the 
Code) and associated Guidance on Board 
Effectiveness, and the Companies 
(Miscellaneous Reporting) Regulations 2018. 
We are committed to ensuring that the interests 
of the wider workforce, shareholders and other 
key stakeholders are considered fairly, and in 
the context of expectations of the general public 
and welcome the greater degree of clarity and 
transparency that these changes bring. In light of 
this review we have updated implementation of 
the Remuneration Policy in order to align 
pension arrangements for new Executive 
Directors with the wider workforce. In addition, 
the Company is currently developing a policy in 
relation to post termination shareholding for 
Executive Directors and intends to introduce 
this into the Remuneration Policy as part of 
the policy review at the end of the year 
ending 31 January 2021.

Aligning remuneration  
to the AA strategy
The Company continues on the transformational 
journey it embarked on as part of its strategic 
reset announced in 2018 and, as a result, the 
Committee is committed to ensuring that there 
is strong alignment between the strategic goals 
of the business and the incentivisation of its 
Executive and leadership teams.

The Committee strongly believes that it is 
important to strike a balance between rewarding 
performance fairly and transparently, whilst 
balancing Executive outcomes with that of 
shareholder experience. As a result of the 
current COVID-19 crisis we have made 
adjustments to remuneration for Executives, 
Board members and the wider workforce which 
are set out on pages 76 and 77. In the past two 
years, the Company has adopted a more 
consistent and market-aligned approach to long-
term incentives for Executive Directors and 
other members of the Executive and leadership 
teams alike, through the Performance Share 
Plan (PSP) awards. Pay out levels for “on target” 
performance have also been reduced to a more 
normalised 50% of maximum. Over this period, 
the Company has consulted extensively with 
its largest shareholders on the most suitable 
metrics for both its Annual Bonus Plan and the 
PSP, resulting in short term incentives being 
measured against a combination of Trading 
EBITDA, net debt and strategic objectives and 
long-term incentives being more heavily 
weighted towards Trading EBITDA and Total 
Shareholder Return (TSR), with a net debt 
underpin. As the AA continues on its turnaround 
trajectory, the Committee believes that these 
measures closely align with and support the 
strategic aims of the Company, focusing on 
sustained growth and shareholder returns 
whilst keeping a strong focus on debt.

The AA is currently at a critical point in its 
turnaround. The full year results for FY20 
demonstrate growing momentum in the 
operational recovery. It is critical this operational 
momentum continues to allow the Company to 
re-finance certain tranches of debt on more 
attractive terms than the current market prices 
would imply. The Committee strongly believes 
it is vital to keep stability in the senior leadership 
team and the changes to the design of the 
PSP20 are intended to deliver this stability. 
However, given the uncertainty in the current 
operational and economic environment caused 
by the COVID-19 pandemic, the Committee has 
decided to delay granting the proposed awards 
until later in the year (further details below). 

Our focus on the Remuneration Committee is to create 
management incentives that will deliver the operational 
turnaround needed to provide long-term value creation 
for our shareholders.

 Mark Brooker
 Chair of the Remuneration Committee



72 AA plc Annual Report and Accounts 2020

GOVERNANCE REPORT

Directors’ Remuneration Report continued

Context of business performance
The Company has continued to achieve good 
operational performance across key strategic 
initiatives over the past 12 months, in spite of  
an increasingly challenging and competitive 
landscape. Focus on top line growth of both  
the Roadside and Insurance businesses,  
the stabilisation of B2C membership numbers in 
Roadside, significant policy growth in Insurance, 
the development of new products and services 
such as Smart Breakdown, as well as a 
continued emphasis on the reduction of costs 
and generation of free cash flow have resulted in 
us meeting our external guidance for the second 
consecutive year for both Trading EBITDA and 
capex for the year ended 31 January 2020.

The Committee recognises that circumstances 
continue to be challenging for our shareholders, 
particularly in these unprecedented times, and 
that we are still yet to see the operational 
progress reflected in a recovery in the share 
price. We believe that the publication of another 
consistent set of results coupled with our debt 
re-financing plans for the year ahead, will go 
some way to facilitate this recovery.

Our full year results, which reflect Trading 
EBITDA growth of c.3% on the prior year from 
£341m to £350m and a reduction in net debt 
from £2.7bn to £2.6bn, demonstrate our 
commitment to delivering on the plan we  
set ourselves at the start of the year. 

Rationale for Committee decisions
The Committee is responsible for all Executive 
remuneration matters, from the recruitment  
and retention of high calibre individuals,  
to the design of appropriate incentivisation 
mechanisms and the ongoing monitoring of 
performance against these, to ensure Executive 
outcomes are aligned with shareholder 
experience. Remuneration practices at the AA 
are designed to motivate the Executive and 
leadership team to achieve strategic objectives 
and to lead and incentivise all employees  
within the Company while delivering value  
for shareholders, members and other  
key stakeholders.

For the year ending 31 January 2020, Committee 
discussions took place against an uncertain 
political and economic backdrop. In determining 
performance outcomes for the Annual Bonus 
Plan, the Committee has taken into 
consideration the overall business performance 
as well as individual performance of Executive 
Directors and the bonus outcomes of the wider 
workforce. The Committee also considers 
risk and governance performance when 
determining outcomes.

COVID-19 Pandemic Impact
In addition to our usual considerations, this 
year the Committee discussed the impact of 
COVID-19 when determining both our decision 
on the pay-out for the annual bonus plan for 
FY20 and our approach to remuneration matters 
for the year ahead. In reaching its decision on the 
annual bonus for the year ended 31 January 
2020, the Committee was mindful of the Board’s 
decision to suspend the final dividend in respect 
of FY20, but resolved that as a result of the 
Bonus plan year having ended and performance 
having been measured and determined prior 
to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic being 
felt, that it was appropriate to continue to pay 
unadjusted bonuses for the period to Simon 
Breakwell as well as the wider workforce. 
However, aligned to wider efforts within the 

Board changes during FY20
Board resignations
Martin Clarke stepped down from the Board 
and his role as Chief Financial Officer (CFO) on 
29 April 2019. In line with the statement released 
by the Company on 29 April 2019, Martin ceased 
to be employed by the Company on 29 April 
2020. Details of his remuneration arrangements 
on leaving are set out on page 80.

Mark Strickland was appointed as Interim  
CFO from 29 April 2019 to 6 January 2020, 
when Kevin Dangerfield joined the Company. 
Mark was not appointed to the Board.

Board appointments
Kevin Dangerfield was appointed to the Board 
on 6 January 2020 in the role of CFO.

Shareholder engagement
The Committee was cognisant of shareholder 
experience throughout the process of setting 
performance targets for the PSP19 award,  
which was made in October 2019. Following a 
period of significant shareholder consultation, 
the structure of performance measures was 
adjusted to include a net debt underpin to the 
award, meaning that no vesting may occur in  
the event that a minimum net debt reduction 
target is not achieved.

Under the stewardship of my predecessor, the 
Committee conducted extensive consultation 
reaching the holders of approximately 80% of 
our share capital in the year ending 31 January 
2020. In particular, ongoing feedback was 
sought on the performance criteria for long-term 
incentive arrangements of our Executive 
Directors and Executive Committee. 

We have listened to our shareholders and 
following further reflection by the Board, the 
Committee made the following changes to  
our incentive framework for the year ending  
31 January 2020:

  The introduction of a net debt ‘gateway’ 
condition on the PSP was viewed by certain 
shareholders as a way to ensure that the team 
are simultaneously focused on growth and on  
the right kind of debt reduction during FY20.  
If net debt is greater than the required level, 
there will be no vesting under the EBITDA  
and TSR elements of the PSP, regardless 
of delivery against those measures. 

  Equal weighting of the Trading EBITDA and  
TSR elements of the PSP.

  A longer than usual measurement period  
in respect of the TSR baseline so that the  
share price decline would not advantage 
participants. This produced a baseline starting 
share price c.45% above the prevailing market 
price at the time of the award.

  CEO award reduced by 25% for the second 
year running.

In the ever-changing landscape of corporate 
governance, it is important that the voices of  
our key stakeholders are heard and, as the 
new Committee Chair, I took the opportunity 
to engage with our larger shareholders in early 
2020. I was encouraged by both the honesty 
and transparency that our shareholders 
displayed and their understanding of some of 
the unique challenges that the Committee faces 
in terms of positioning Executive remuneration. 
Feedback from those shareholder discussions 
has influenced our approach to Executive 
remuneration for 2020/21.

business to defer costs through the current 
crisis, the Committee has deferred payment of 
50% of the cash element of Simon Breakwell’s 
FY20 bonus for six months, this being 
£329,933.

Turning its attention to the year ahead, the 
Committee and the wider Board discussed 
the impact of COVID-19 at length. 

In order to continue to protect the Company’s 
cash position during this crisis the Board 
determined that action would need to be taken 
relating to ongoing remuneration matters. This 
has resulted in a range of short-term and 
longer-term actions being implemented which 
are set out below, in an attempt to mitigate the 
impact of the unprecedented circumstances in 
which we find ourselves:

Element Action Population Duration
Base Pay 15% Pay /Fee Reduction   Executive Directors

  Non Executive Directors

From 1 May for an initial 
period of three months

No Base Pay increase   All Employees FY21
Annual Bonus Additional deferral of 50% of 

FY20 cash bonus payment
  Simon Breakwell 6 months

Deferred decision 
on FY21 plan 

  Executive Directors and 
other eligible employees 

A review of the plan will 
take place at the 
beginning of H2 of FY21. 
The maximum bonus 
potential for Simon 
Breakwell and Kevin 
Dangerfield for FY21 will 
be reduced accordingly.

LTIP Delay of award date   Executive Directors and 
other members of the 
Senior Leadership Team

It is expected that awards 
will be delayed until the 
beginning of H2 of FY21

The Committee will continue to monitor the COVID-19 impact over the course of the year in its 
ongoing decision making but is cognisant of the need to strike a balance between prudence and 
motivating and retaining employees (including the Executive and Leadership team) during these 
exceptional times.
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Implementing the policy in 2020/21
Taking in to account the current COVID-19 
crisis, views of major shareholders and in 
consideration of the Code, the Committee 
has determined how it will implement the 
Remuneration Policy during the year 2020/21:

  There will be no salary increases for Executive 
Directors for 2020/21. 

  Executive Directors and Non Executive 
Directors will reduce their respective base 
pay or fees by 15% on a temporary basis from 
1 May 2020, for an initial period of three months 

  The Annual Bonus plan and its operation will be 
reviewed at the beginning of H2. The maximum 
bonus potential for Simon Breakwell and Kevin 
Dangerfield for FY21 will be reduced accordingly.

  As a newly appointed Director, the pension for 
Kevin Dangerfield was set at 6%, in line with 
other employees of the Company, as opposed 
to 11.7% for his predecessor.

  After two years of reduced PSP awards for 
Executives, the Committee believes that the 
operational progress demonstrated in the 
business prior to COVID-19 would normally 
warrant awards to be made to Executives in 
line with the approved Remuneration Policy. 
However, awards for 2020/21 will be delayed 
until later in the year due to the uncertainty 
in the current operational and economic 
environment caused by the COVID-19 
pandemic and the appropriate size of 
awards will be determined at that time.

  Performance conditions for this year’s PSP 
award will be adjusted to reduce the weighting 
of TSR (to prevent participants being in an 
advantageous position given the current share 
price) and introduce cumulative free cash flow 
generation as a formal target instead of the net 
debt underpin from last year as this better 
aligns with the strategic objectives of the 
Company for FY21. Further details of these 
changes can be found on page 79.

The Committee believes the above provides  
the necessary clarity and simplicity so  
as to promote effective engagement with 
shareholders and the workforce. 

Wider workforce pay arrangements
The Committee continues to consider Executive 
remuneration in the context of the reward 
framework and of fairness across the 
organisation. It regularly debates and discusses 
oversight of key people policy areas such as 
performance management, diversity and 
inclusion as well as gender pay reporting, 
the AA’s reward framework and most recently, 
the Company’s proposal to close the Career 
Average Revalued Earnings (CARE) section 
of the defined benefit pension scheme to 
future accrual.

In an attempt to continually improve the  
Board’s overall effectiveness, and looking at the 
Committee’s enhanced role and responsibility 
for overseeing remuneration and policies in 
respect of the Board, Executive Committee  
and wider workforce, the Committee is keen  
to foster meaningful and engaging dialogue  
with the wider workforce on pay practices 
throughout the Company. 

As well as monitoring and reviewing the 
effectiveness of the approved Remuneration 
Policy and its impact and compatibility with 
remuneration practices for the wider workforce, 
the Committee reviews the frameworks and 
budgets for key components of employee  
pay arrangements, together with the broader 
structure of Group bonus provisions in seeking  
to achieve appropriate alignment with  
Executive pay arrangements. 

The Committee regularly receives progress 
updates on a variety of employee engagement 
initiatives including our annual ‘Our Voice’ 
cultural index survey, which gives the wider 
workforce the opportunity to share their 
thoughts, feedback and suggestions to  
the Company.

The Committee also receives regular updates on 
progress in relation to the Company’s gender 
pay gap and initiatives in place to reduce this gap 
over time. Whilst the Committee is mindful of the 
widespread gender imbalance that exists more 
generally within the automotive sector, it has 
been particularly pleased to note that this year’s 
apprentice cohort for the Roadside Patrolforce 
comprises 40% women.

Due to the current COVID-19 crisis, there will be 
no annual pay awards for the wider workforce 
for the year ending 31 January 2021.

Committee changes
Over the course of the year ending 31 January 
2020 we have changed the membership of  
the Committee, with my appointment to the 
Committee on 6 September 2019, subsequently 
becoming Chair on 15 November 2019. I currently 
serve on two other PLC remuneration committees 
in different sectors – Equiniti Group plc and 
William Hill Plc, since 2018 and 2017 respectively.

On 15 November 2019, Suzi Williams stepped 
down from the Committee. 

Andrew Blowers stepped down from the 
Committee on 6 September 2019 and was 
appointed to the Risk Committee on the same 
date. Andrew subsequently stepped down from 
the Risk Committee and was re-appointed to the 
Remuneration Committee on 15 November 2019.

Annual General Meeting 2020
We hope you will support the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report at our Annual General 
Meeting on 19 June 2020 and we encourage you 
to submit, in advance, any questions you may 
have regarding the work of the Committee.

 
 Mark Brooker
 Chair of the Remuneration Committee

Key remuneration decisions and 
out-turns for 2019/20
  No salary increases were awarded 
to Executive Directors for 2019/20.

  The base pay of Kevin Dangerfield was 
set at £410,000, which reflects a 17% 
reduction from that of the former CFO.  
On joining, Kevin Dangerfield’s cash in 
lieu of pension allowance was also fixed 
at 6% in line with the wider workforce, 
where the outgoing CFO’s pension 
contribution was fixed at 11.7%.

  Annual bonus out-turns of 79% of 
maximum for Simon Breakwell. This 
reflects the achievement of Trading 
EBITDA of £350m, which is between 
target and stretch performance, net debt 
performance at maximum and strategic 
objectives at 90% of maximum. Deferral 
of an additional 50% of the cash element 
of Simon Breakwell’s FY20 bonus until 
October 2020.

  A reduced PSP award was granted to 
Simon Breakwell in October 2019, 
subject to TSR and EBITDA performance 
conditions, underpinned by a net  
debt target. Awards were reduced by 
c.25%, to 150% of salary (from a usual 
maximum award of 200% of salary),  
as a proportionate response to share 
price performance during the year.  
This award is subject to a two-year 
holding period after vesting.

  Since IPO, and in a time of challenging 
business performance, no long-term 
incentive schemes have paid out, 
demonstrating that the interests of 
Executive Directors and the wider 
Executive are aligned to those of our 
shareholders and poor performance 
is not rewarded.

  The Company began a 60-day period 
of consultation in line with its proposal 
to close the CARE section of its defined 
benefit pension scheme to future accrual. 
The consultation period has since closed 
on 18 March 2020, with the decision 
being taken to close the scheme to future 
accrual, move existing members into the 
defined contribution pension scheme 
and to offer transitional arrangements to 
affected employees at a cost in excess 
of £10m over a three-year period.
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FY20 remuneration at-a-glance

Trading EBITDA 

£350m
2019: £341m

S&P Rating

BBB-
2019: BBB-

Net debt

£2.6bn
2019: £2.7bn

Alignment of our policy with the 2018 Code

When determining compensation for Executive Directors, the Committee takes into account a wide range of factors including legal and regulatory 
requirements, associated guidance and views of shareholders and their representative bodies. The table below sets out how the Committee 
addresses each of the following principles as set out in the revised 2018 Code.

2018 Code provision Detail AA approach

Clarity Remuneration arrangements should 
be transparent and promote effective 
engagement with shareholders’ and 
stakeholders’ long-term interests

  Remuneration policy is structured to support both the financial and strategic 
objectives of the Company, whilst aligning with the interests of shareholder and 
stakeholder long term interests

  The Board is committed to reporting in a fair and transparent way to its 
stakeholders and shareholders. Information on how our stakeholders are engaged 
can be found on page 43 of the report

Simplicity Remuneration structures should 
avoid complexity and their rationale 
and operation should be easy  
to understand

As set out in our approved Remuneration Policy, packages are structured in a simple 
manner comprising of three elements:

  Fixed 

  Variable short-term

  Variable long-term

Risk Remuneration arrangements should 
ensure reputational and other risks 
from excessive rewards, and 
behavioural risks that can arise  
from target based incentive plans,  
are identified and managed

  Short term awards are not only capped in line with the approved Remuneration 
Policy, they also have both malus and clawback provisions in place as well as a  
level of deferment for the CEO, in order to drive the right behaviours to incentivise 
Executive Directors and deliver long-term value to shareholders

  Reports from the Chief Risk Officer are taken into account when determining the 
outcome of short-term awards

  The Committee has the discretion to override formulaic outcomes

Predictability The range of possible values of 
rewards to individual directors and 
any other limits or discretions should 
be identified and explained at the  
time of approving the policy

  The charts in the approved Remuneration policy on page 88 of the 2018 Annual 
Report set out the potential future reward opportunity for Executive Directors, 
split by the three elements described above.

 Proportionality The link between individual awards, 
the delivery of strategy and the 
long-term performance of the 
Company should be clear and 
outcomes should not reward  
poor performance

   The Committee assesses performance taking a balanced range of financial, 
non-financial and strategic measures into consideration

   There is a clear link between performance of the Company and payments made 
to the Executive Directors and senior leadership team

    Performance related elements of remuneration are linked to Company strategy, 
are relevant and stretching

    The Committee takes the pay and employment conditions of other employees  
of the Company into consideration when determining outcomes for  
Executive Directors

Alignment  
to culture

Incentive schemes should drive 
behaviours consistent with the 
Company purpose, values  
and strategy

In reviewing the alignment between the remuneration of our Executive Directors  
and Company culture, the Committee considers:

  Compliance with the Code of Conduct

  Performance measures for short-term and long-term incentives, to ensure that 
these do not drive behaviour which is counter to the culture of the Company

  Risk factors through updates from the Chief Risk Officer over the course of the year

  Sentiment of the wider workforce in the form of updates on the results of the 
Company’s ‘Our Voice’ survey and regular updates on matters discussed with  
both the recognised Union, the IDU and the Management Forum
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Annual report on remuneration
This section of the Directors’ Remuneration Report sets out a summary of how the Company’s Remuneration Policy was implemented in the year ended 
31 January 2020 and how it will be implemented for the year ending 31 January 2021.

Audited sections
The current regulations require the Company’s auditor to report to the members on the ‘auditable part’ of this report (marked*) and to state, in its 
opinion, that this part of the report has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006.

The Committee reviews the framework for remuneration arrangements for its Executive Directors and other members of the Executive Committee  
on an annual basis.

The Committee continues to believe that remuneration packages for Executive Directors should be focused on variable rewards with challenging 
objectives, which are in line with the business, culture and customer needs.

How our policy was implemented in FY20

Key component Feature Comments

How we implemented in FY20

Chief Executive  
Officer

Chief Financial
Officer (MC)1

Chief Financial
Officer (KD)2

Basic salary  
and core 
benefits

To attract, retain and 
motivate executives

No base salary increases were made to Executive 
Directors in the year. New CFO’s base salary was 
set at a level 17% below his predecessor.

Benefits include retirement benefits, car and 
private medical benefits. New CFO pension 
benefit set at 6%, aligned with the wider 
workforce, compared with 11.7% for his 
predecessor.

£786k £140k £32k

Annual bonus To incentivise the 
delivery of annual 
financial, strategic and 
operational objectives

Maximum bonus opportunity for the CEO  
is 150% base salary and for both the outgoing and 
incoming CFO is 120% base salary. Both Kevin 
Dangerfield and Martin Clarke were not eligible 
to participate in the Annual bonus plan in FY20.

£825k £0k £0k

Deferred 
element  
of bonus

To facilitate alignment 
with shareholders and 
aid in satisfying the 
minimum shareholding 
requirement

20% of the CEO’s FY20 bonus will be deferred 
into Shares.

50% of the total cash payment will be deferred 
and paid in October 2020.

£165k
Deferred  

(out of £825k)

N/A N/A

PSP To award for  
the delivery of 
performance against 
long-term strategic 
objectives and provide 
alignment with  
the interests of 
shareholders

Awards of up to 200% base pay may be made. 
Reduced award of 150% for the CEO for the  
2019 award.

Targets for the 2019 award:

No awards 
vesting

2,200,000 
nil priced 

options 
awarded

No awards 
vesting

No award 
made in 

FY20

N/A
 
 

No award 
made in 

FY20

Relative  
TSR

Trading  
EBITDA

Threshold Equal to FTSE 250 
Index

£380m

Target FTSE 250 Index + 
3.5% per annum

£390m

Maximum FTSE 250 Index + 
10% per annum

£400m

Note:  
The start price for the TSR calculation is 66.83p, a 45% premium 
to the share price at the time of grant.

In addition, a net debt underpin must be achieved before any 
vesting can take place as set out on page 78.

Shareholding 
requirements3

Executive Directors are 
required to build and 
retain a minimum 
shareholding in the 
Company, built up  
over time

200% of salary

14%  
of salary

N/A 0%  
of salary

1 Martin Clarke stepped down from the Board and his role as CFO on 29 April 2019.

2 Kevin Dangerfield was appointed to the role of CFO and to the Board on 6 January 2020.

3 No shares have been disposed of over the year by any Executive Directors. The year on year reduction in shareholding percentage is as a result of share price decline.
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Single figure of remuneration*
The table below provides a single figure of remuneration for each Executive Director for the year ended 31 January 2020. The information for 
Non Executive Directors is included in the table on page 81.

Director Year
Salary
£000

Taxable
benefits1

£000

Retirement 
benefits

£000

Annual
bonus2

£000

Long term
incentives3

£000

Total 
fixed4 

£000 

Total
variable5

£000 
Total

£000

Simon Breakwell6 2020 700 4 82 825 – 786 825 1,611
2019 700 29 84 673 – 813 673 1,486

Martin Clarke7 2020 120 6 14 – – 140 – 140
2019 480 25 56 425 – 561 425 986

Kevin Dangerfield8,9 2020 30 1 1 – – 32 – 32
2019 – – – – – – – –

1 The components of taxable benefits include private medical insurance, permanent health insurance, life assurance and car related benefits. 

2 Value of annual bonus payable in respect of the year and based on performance for the financial year. 20% of the Annual Bonus paid to Simon Breakwell in 2020 (£165k) was be deferred into shares. 
50% of the cash bonus due, being £329,933, will be deferred and paid in October 2020.

3 No long-term incentives vested in the year ended 31 January 2019. The entirety of the 2017 PSP award, which has elements based on performance in the period FY18 to FY20, is subject to TSR 
performance to 26 October 2020. Any amount vesting will be included in the single figure of remuneration in FY21.

4 Total fixed remuneration includes base pay, taxable benefits and retirement benefits.

5  Total variable remuneration includes annual bonus and long-term incentives.

6 Year-on-year change in retirement benefits figure is due to a backdated payment being made in April 2019 in relation to the prior year.

7 Martin Clarke stepped down from the Board and his role of CFO on 29 April 2019. Martin Clarke was not eligible to participate in the Annual Bonus plan for the year ending 31 January 2020. 

8 Kevin Dangerfield was appointed to the Board and to the role of CFO on 6 January 2020.

9 Kevin Dangerfield is not eligible to participate in the Annual Bonus plan for the year ending 31 January 2020.

Base salary*

Year ended 31 January 2020
There were no increases to base salary for either Executive Director in the 
year ended 31 January 2020. Average base salary increase for all other 
employees was 1.99%. 

Year ending 31 January 2021
As a result of the current COVID-19 crisis,there will be no increase to base 
salary for Executive Directors or other employees of the Company in the 
year ending 31 January 2021. 

Simon Breakwell and Kevin Dangerfield will both temporarily reduce their 
base pay by 15% for an initial three-month period from 1 May 2020. This 
arrangement will be reviewed by the Committee at the end of July 2020. 
Currently it is anticipated that base pay will be returned to normal levels 
from 1 August 2020. 

Retirement benefits*

Year ended 31 January 2020
Cash payments in lieu of retirement benefit, equivalent to 11.7% of salary, 
were paid to both Simon Breakwell and Martin Clarke. Figures reported  
for Martin Clarke are for the period that he served as a Director of  
the Company. 

On appointment, Kevin Dangerfield’s retirement benefit was set at 6%  
in line with other employees of the Company.

Year ending 31 January 2020
There are no anticipated changes to retirement benefits for Executive 
Directors in the year ending 31 January 2020.

Short term incentive: annual bonus*

Year ended 31 January 2020
For the year ended 31 January 2020, the annual bonus was based on a 
combination of financial measures and strategic objectives as set out in 
the table below.

In line with the approved Remuneration Policy, the CEO had an incentive 
opportunity in the range of 0% to 150% of base salary. The incentive range 
for the newly appointed CFO is in the range of 0% to 120% of base salary. 
Neither the outgoing nor incoming CFO participated in the annual bonus 
plan for the year ending 31 January 2020.

The Remuneration Committee carefully considered performance against 
the annual bonus plan targets for the year ended 31 January 2020.

Annual bonus plan measures and weightings for the year ended 31 January 2020 are set out below:

Financial performance Finance condition1 Strategic objectives1

Director Measure Weighting Measure Weighting Measures Weighting Total

Simon Breakwell
Maximum of 150%  
base salary

20% of any payout 
deferred in shares

Trading 
EBITDA

46.67% Net debt 33.33%   IT transformation and cybersecurity

  Stabilisation of Roadside business

  Accelerate Insurance business

  Development of Financial Service 
business 

  Strategic operational and financial 
leadership

20% 100%

1 The Finance condition and the Strategic objective measures were subject to a minimum trading EBITDA performance underpin of £349m.

Performance achievement for the year ended 31 January 2020
Financial performance
For the year ended 31 January 2020, the financial performance measure for Simon Breakwell was linked to Trading EBITDA and equated to up to 
46.67% of his total bonus potential. Performance against this measure is set out in the table below:

Performance measure
Performance  

achieved
Threshold 

(0%)1
Target 
(50%)2 Maximum

Outcome (% of 
maximum)

Trading EBITDA £350m Below £349m £349m £354m 58%

1  While in previous years the threshold has been set at 95% of target, for FY20, and in line with the approach taken in FY19, the Committee determined that a more stretching threshold should be set, 
such that were Trading EBITDA to be below the target level, the default position would be nil bonus. 

2  While in previous years the target was set at 60% of maximum, this was reduced to 50% of maximum for the year ended 31 January 2020.
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Finance condition
The efficient management of debt has continued to be a strategic focus for the Company and, as such, 33.33% of the total bonus award for Simon 
Breakwell was linked to net debt reduction. The strategic background to the measure and the performance achieved is set out below:

  Net Debt- over the past twelve months, the efficient management of net debt has continued to be a strong focus and significant steps have been taken 
to reduce the net debt leverage of the Company. As part of our commitment to proactively managing our debt this year, we successfully completed the 
buyback of £32m of A and B Notes and exchanged £325m of Senior Secured A5 Notes into new longer dated Senior Secured A8 notes. 

Performance against this measure is set out in the table below:

Performance measure
Performance  

achieved
Threshold 

(0%)
Target 
(50%)1 Maximum

Outcome 
(% of element)

Net debt £2.577bn  £2.662bn £2.642bn £2.622bn 100%

1  While in previous years the target was set at 60% of maximum, this was reduced to 50% of maximum for the year ended 31 January 2020.

Strategic objectives
The balance of the award (up to 20%) was based on a scorecard of strategic priorities identified by the Board. The strategic objectives related to IT 
transformation and cybersecurity, the stabilisation of the Roadside business, strategic planning for the Insurance business, the development of the 
Financial Services business and other strategic operational and financial leadership objectives. 

The Committee determined that Simon Breakwell delivered strong performance against his individual objectives. 

Key performance highlights from the strategic targets are summarised in the following table:

Performance measure Performance achieved Outcome

IT transformation and cyber security   Step change in data capability

  Digital delivery in the Roadside business

  Continued improvement in IT security

91%

Roadside stabilise operations, launch new 
products and services and arrest decline in 
membership

  Stabilisation of Roadside membership base

  Establishment of new Roadside organisation, with new key roles hired

  Successful launch of Smart Breakdown and Service, Maintenance and Repair

  Stable service and operation

100%

Insurance: grow and accelerate insurance  
and expand into Accident Management

 Continued acceleration of the Insurance business

 Successful separation of Universal Service Agreement from SAGA

100%

Financial Services   Successful restructure of financial services, Bank of Ireland JV and AA Cars 77%

Strategic operational & financial leadership   Clearly defined strategy for the AA

  Successful recruitment of new CFO

  Established an agreed approach for refinance

  Successful installation of SMCR regime across the business

75%

Total strategic objectives achievement 90%

Both the financial condition and the strategic objectives were subject to: 

  a minimum trading EBITDA performance underpin of £349m;

  ensuring compliance by regulated entities in the Group; and 

  the ability to apply discretion if the wider workforce receives a bonus 
lower than in the region of 50% of the maximum available.

Executive Director overall bonus outcomes
Based on the above, the formulaic outcome for Simon Breakwell was 79% 
as a percentage of maximum. The Committee carefully considered the 
bonus outcomes and recognised that this has been a challenging year of 
transformation, led strongly by the CEO. Notwithstanding the share price 
performance during the year and the shareholder experience, the 
Committee believes that there has been strong operational progress and 
as such, the bonus outcome reflects the year’s performance. In addition, 
this year, the Committee discussed the impact of COVID-19 on the 
business and the potential impact on the wider workforce when debating 
the pay-out for the annual bonus plan for FY20. In reaching its decision on 
the annual bonus for the year ended 31 January 2020, the Committee was 
mindful of the Board’s decision to suspend the final dividend in respect of 
FY20, but resolved that as a result of the Bonus plan year having ended 
and performance having been measured and determined prior to the 
impact of the COVID-19 pandemic being felt, that it was appropriate 
to continue to pay unadjusted bonuses for the period to both Simon 
Breakwell as well as the wider workforce. However, aligned to wider 
efforts within the business to defer costs through the current crisis, 
the Committee has deferred payment of 50% of the cash element 
of Simon Breakwell’s FY20 bonus for six months.

Simon Breakwell’s final bonus for the year ended 31 January 2020 was 
£824,833 of which 20% will be deferred into shares for three years. 50% 
of Simon Breakwell’s cash bonus, being £329,933 was paid in April 2020, 
with the balancing £329,933 being deferred, with payment being made 
in October 2020.

Neither Martin Clarke nor Kevin Dangerfield were eligible for a bonus 
payment for the year ending 31 January 2020.

Year ending 31 January 2021
The Committee and the wider Board discussed the impact of COVID-19 at 
length. As a result of these discussions, the Board determined that action 
would need to be taken relating to ongoing remuneration matters in order 
to align with the wider efforts within the business protect the Company’s 
cash position during the current crisis. This has resulted in a range of 
short-term and longer-term actions being implemented in an attempt to 
mitigate the impact of the unprecedented circumstances in which we 
find ourselves. As a result, the Committee has agreed to defer its 
decision on the plan for FY21 until the beginning of H2, until the 
longer-term impact of the COVID-19 pandemic is more clearly understood. 
The Committee will review this position at the beginning of H2 and the 
maximum bonus potential for Simon Breakwell and Kevin Dangerfield 
will be reduced accordingly.
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Share-based incentive plans*

The Committee strongly believes that long-term share awards incentivise 
and reward Executive Directors for the delivery of long-term business 
goals and makes annual awards under the PSP.

Year ended 31 January 2020
No PSP vested in the year ended 31 January 2020. While the Trading 
EBITDA and Net Leverage Ratio performance conditions relating to the 
2017 PSP award were measured to 31 January 2020, they are still subject 
to TSR performance to October 2020, and as such the final vesting of 
these awards cannot be determined at this time.

Measure Weighting Threshold1
Stretch

(60% vest)
Maximum 

(100% vest)
End of performance 

period Outcome
Estimated vesting 

(% of element)

Relative TSR 20% TSR equal to  
FTSE 250 Index

TSR outperform 
FTSE Index  

+5% p.a.

TSR outperform 
FTSE Index 

+10% p.a.

26 October 2020 To be 
determined 

To be 
determined

Trading EBITDA2 40% £350m £370m £390m 31 January 2020 350m 2%
Net Leverage Ratio2 40% 7.2x 6.9x 6.5x 31 January 2020 7.6x 0

1  For threshold performance, the level of vesting for each element is as follows: (i) Trading EBITDA – 10% of element; (ii) Net Leverage Ratio – 10% of element; and (iii) Relative TSR – 25% of element.

2  Subject to an additional adjustment based on TSR performance over the period 27 October 2017 to 26 October 2020. If TSR performance over the period is below the FTSE 250 Index, vesting 
outcomes will be scaled back by 10%. If TSR performance over the period is below the lower quartile of the FTSE 250, vesting outcomes will be scaled back by 50%.

Full details of performance against targets for the 2017 PSP award will be 
disclosed in next year’s Annual Report and Accounts, once the outcome of 
the Relative TSR performance condition and TSR adjustment is known. 

Due to our extended shareholder consultation process last year, the 2019 
PSP awards were made six months later than originally anticipated, in late 
October 2019.

These awards are subject to the performance conditions set out in the 
table below, as well as a net debt underpin, reflecting shareholder 
feedback and the Board’s focus on sustainable growth and responsible 
debt management. 

Having considered the impact of share price performance during the  
year, the Committee determined that Simon Breakwell should receive a 
reduced award under the PSP. An award equivalent to 150% of salary was 
made to Simon Breakwell, which was a reduction of c.25% compared with  
a normal maximum award of 200% of salary. In addition, the Committee 
determined that to reflect the recent shareholder experience, a longer  
than normal averaging period would be used to calculate the starting 
measurement for TSR, resulting in a higher TSR starting price of 66.83p, 
some 45% above the prevailing share price at the time of grant.

These awards will vest 3 years after grant in October 2022, subject to  
the extent the performance conditions are met. 

Awards for Executive Directors are subject to a two-year post-vesting 
holding period, as well as malus and clawback provisions.

Prior to measurement of the Relative TSR and Trading EBITDA 
performance conditions set out below, net debt shall be measured on  
31 January 2022 and:

(a)   if net debt is ≥ £2,450m, the 2019 PSP will not vest, regardless of the 
extent to which the Relative TSR and Trading EBITDA Performance 
Conditions set out below are achieved; 

(b)   if net debt is ≥ £2,354m and < £2,450m, the 2019 PSP may  
vest up to a maximum of 50%, regardless of the extent to which the 
Relative TSR and Trading EBITDA performance conditions set out 
below are achieved; 

( c)   if net debt is < £2,354m, the 2019 PSP may vest in full, subject to the 
extent to which the Relative TSR and Trading EBITDA performance 
conditions set out below are achieved.

There will be no proportional vesting if net debt falls between the specified 
hurdles above.

The performance conditions and metrics for the October 2019 PSP award 
were made available on the Company’s corporate website and are set  
out below:

Measure Weighting Minimum threshold (25% vesting) Target (50% vesting) Maximum (100% vesting)

Relative TSR1 50% Equal to Index Index + 3.5% per annum Index + 10% per annum
Trading EBITDA2 50% £380m £390m £400m

1  Relative TSR is measured in comparison to the FTSE 250. Relative TSR will be measured to 29 October 2022 and uses a starting price of 66.83p which is calculated by reference to the period from 
the start of the Company’s financial year to 18 October 2019.

2 Trading EBITDA will be measured from 1 February 2019 to 31 January 2022. 

In respect of the performance conditions, for performance between minimum threshold, target and full vesting, vesting will be determined on a 
straight-line basis.

The table below details all awards held by Executive Directors under the PSP at 31 January 2020.

Grant date
Number of 
 shares

Percentage vesting  
at threshold 

Performance  
period Vesting period Holding period

Simon 
Breakwell

27 October 20171 1,148,606 See note below2 FY18 to FY20 FY18 to FY20 50% of any vested shares will be released 
on the 4th anniversary of the grant date, 
with the balance released on the 5th 
anniversary of the grant date

7 November 20183 1,157,024 25% of maximum FY19 to FY21 FY19 to FY21 100% of any vested shares will be released 
on the 5th anniversary of the grant date

30 October 20194 2,200,000 25% of maximum FY20 to FY22 FY20 to FY22 100% of any vested shares will be released 
on the 5th anniversary of the grant date

Martin 
Clarke5

7 November 2018 793,388 25% of maximum FY19 to FY21 FY19 to FY21 100% of any vested shares will be released 
on the 5th anniversary of the grant date

1 The face value of the award, based on a 10-day average of 161.5 pence, is £1,855,000. This was equivalent to 247% of Simon Breakwell’s annual interim salary for FY18. Relative TSR, which will be 
measured from a starting price of 161.5p, is based on the 10-day average share price up to and excluding the grant date of 27 October 2017. 

2 Trading EBITDA – 10% of element; Net leverage ratio – 10% of element; and Relative TSR – 25% of element.

3 The face value of the award, based on a 10-day average of 103.2 pence, is £1,194,130. This was equivalent to 171% of Simon Breakwell’s annual salary for FY19. Relative TSR, which will be measured 
from a starting price of 117p, is based on the six-month average share price up to and excluding the grant date (7 May to 6 November 2018).

4 The face value of the award, based on a 10-day average of 47 pence, is £1,050,000. This was equivalent to 150% of Simon Breakwell’s annual salary for FY20. Relative TSR, which will be measured 
from a starting price of 66.83p, is based on the average share price from the beginning of the financial year on 1 February 2019 up to and including 18 October 2019).

5 Martin Clarke stepped down from the Board and his role as CFO on 29 April 2019. His PSP18 award was pro-rated.
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Year ending 31 January 2021
The Company intends to make awards to Executive Directors, Executive 
Committee members and other members of its senior leadership team 
during the year ending 31 January 2021. 

Through a period of shareholder consultation, the Company’s main 
shareholders have provided strong support for this proposal and the 
original intention had been to make awards in the first quarter of the 
financial year ending 31 January 2021 in order to better align the setting 
of performance targets with the beginning of the financial year. The 
Committee is however, acutely aware of both the operating and market 
challenges that the world currently finds itself in as a result of COVID-19 
and as a result, has decided to delay these awards. 

After two years of reduced PSP awards for Executives, the Committee 
believes that the operational progress demonstrated in the business prior to 
COVID-19 would normally warrant awards to be made to Executives in line 
with the approved Remuneration Policy. However, awards for 2020/21 
will be delayed until later in the year due to the uncertainty in the current 
operational and economic environment caused by the COVID-19 pandemic 
and the appropriate size of awards will be determined at that time.

Following consultation with shareholders, it is the Company’s intention 
that PSP awards made in the FY21 year will be subject to three metrics 
being, Trading EBITDA (50%), Relative TSR (25%) and Free Cash Flow 
(25%). It is proposed that the Net Debt underpin which was in place for 
the FY20 PSP awards is removed as a result of the introduction of a new 
three-year cumulative Free Cash Flow measure. 

The rationale for this proposed change is two-fold. First, it allows the 
Company to set a more stretching free cash flow target as, unlike the net 
debt underpin, it is not a single gating item to be achieved before any of the 
award can vest. Second, a free cash flow target allows the Board to 
consider all uses of cash that would create value for shareholders rather 
than solely debt reduction. 

The Board remains focused on the need to reduce debt leverage but is 
keen to avoid a position where incentives are structured such that they 
might reward the management team solely for debt reduction at the 
expense of other higher returning investment activity.

The Committee believes that the high degree of volatility in the Company’s 
share price, partly driven by the highly leveraged nature of the business, 
makes the setting of meaningful long-term TSR targets challenging. 
The Committee takes alignment of the shareholder experience and 
management incentivisation seriously and therefore proposes to continue 
to include a TSR measure in the PSP awards for FY21 to maintain the link 
with shareholder experience, but to reduce the weighting of such an 
award from 50% in line with awards made last year, to 25%. 

The table below shows the current proposed framework for targets for 
the 2020 PSP. The Committee will review the proposed framework 
and specific targets over the coming months, to ensure that they remain 
appropriate as a result of the current COVID-19 crisis. The targets will 
be disclosed once a decision has been reached in relation to the timing 
of these awards. 

Awards made to Executive Directors will be subject to a two-year 
post-vesting holding period, and malus and clawback provisions 
will apply.

It is proposed that measures and weightings will be as follows:

Weighting

Trading EBITDA1 50%
Relative TSR2 25%
Operating Free Cash Flow (net Capex and Interest)3 25% 

1 Trading EBITDA is defined as the profit after tax on a continuing basis as reported, adjusted 
for depreciation, amortisation, adjusting operating items, share-based payments, pension 
service charge adjustments, net finance costs and tax expense, reported for the year ending 
31 January 2023.

2 TSR is measured relative to the FTSE 250 over a three month average to the date of grant and 
over a three month average to the date of vesting.

3 Operating Free Cash Flow is defined as operating free cash flow after net Capex spend 
and interest, but before: adjusting operating items, acquisitions, disposals costs, JVs and 
associates, dividends, refinancing costs, debt issue fees and bond buy-backs (in each 
case as disclosed in the Company’s Annual Report and Accounts) for the years ending 
31 January 2021, 2022 and 2023.

All-employee share plans*

Employee Share Incentive Plan (ESIP)
The ESIP is an all-employee, HMRC approved scheme which enables 
eligible participants to purchase market priced shares by entering into a 
partnership share agreement and holding such shares in trust for up to 
five years.

Martin Clarke received the following shares in respect of the ESIP for the 
period ended 31 January 2020:

Partnership 
shares 

purchased

Matching 
shares

allocated

Dividend 
shares

allocated

Total number 
of shares 

paid into plan

Martin Clarke1 564 564 – 1,128

1 Martin Clarke stepped down from the Board and his role as CFO on 29 April 2020. The final 
shares purchased into the plan relating to the period for which Martin Clarke was a director, 
was 11 May 2019.

Additional information 
Shareholding requirements*
Executive Directors are required to build and retain a minimum 
shareholding in the Company equivalent to 200% base pay over a 
reasonable timeframe, typically within five years of appointment. 

The Committee views these holdings as a key means of aligning their 
interests with those of shareholders and is in the process of developing 
its new policy on post-employment shareholding for Executive Directors, 
which will be updated in the new Remuneration Policy for FY21. 

Further to the disclosure in last year’s report, 20% of Simon Breakwell’s 
FY19 annual bonus out-turn was invested in 96,444 of the Company’s 
shares on 7 May 2019. Kevin Dangerfield was appointed as CFO and to 
the Board on 6 January 2020 and as such, currently holds no shares in 
the Company. Both Simon and Kevin will continue to build up their 
shareholding over the coming years.

Directors’ share interests
The table below sets out the Directors’ (and any relevant connected persons’) share interests in the ordinary shares of the Company as at 31 January 2020. 

Holding requirement 
as a % of base pay Shares held outright

ESIP – awards subject  
to holding period3

PSP – awards subject to
 performance conditions4

Shareholding 
(% of salary)5

Simon Breakwell4 200% 424,5841 – 4,505,630 14%
Martin Clarke6 200% 1,092,5562 4,707 793,388 54%
Kevin Dangerfield7 200% – – – 0%

1 Includes 96,444 shares which were purchased on 7 May 2019 at a price of 74p as a result of 20% of Simon Breakwell’s Bonus for the year ending 31 January 2019, which will be deferred for 
three years.

2 Includes partnership shares and dividend shares under the all-employee ESIP, and 689 matching shares under the same scheme that had met the three-year holding period as at 31 January 2020 
in relation to Martin Clarke. Ordinary dividends were received on the shares held outright during the year.

3 Consists of matching shares under the ESIP that were yet to meet the three-year holding period as at 31 January 2020.

4 Includes PSP Awards granted in November 2018 for Martin Clarke and in the case of Simon Breakwell, awards granted in October 2017, November 2018 and November 2019 under the 2015 PSP.

5 Based on the closing share price on 31 January 2020 of 47.80p.

6 Martin Clarke stepped down from the Board and his role of CFO on 29 April 2019. 

7 Kevin Dangerfield was appointed to the role of CFO and to the Board on 6 January 2020.
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Service contracts 
The Executive Directors are employed under rolling service contracts  
that do not have fixed terms of appointment and are subject to a 12-month 
notice period. 

Payments to past Directors*
Martin Clarke was placed on garden leave effective from 1 May 2019. In 
line with the terms of his service agreement, he continued to receive his 
monthly salary and contractual benefits until his termination date with the 
Company on 29 April 2020. No bonus was payable to Martin Clarke in 
respect of the year ended 31 January 2020.

The Committee has exercised its discretion in respect of the PSP18 award 
made on 7 November 2018 and agreed to grant good leaver status to 
Martin Clarke when he left employment on 29 April 2020. Martin’s original 
PSP18 award of 793,388 options has been pro-rated to 198,347 options, 
reflecting the 9-month period of the award that he actively worked. This 
pro-rated award continues to remain subject to its original stretching 
performance conditions and will vest, subject to such conditions, on 
22 November 2021.

Payments for loss of office*
In the year ended 31 January 2020, there were no payments made to 
Executive Directors, past or present, in compensation for loss of office.

Advice and services provided to the Committee
Over the course of the year ended 31 January 2020, the Committee was 
advised on matters relating to executive remuneration by Deloitte LLP. 
During the year, Deloitte LLP also provided the Company with HR 
consulting services, IT consulting services and taxation advice.

Deloitte LLP is one of the founding members of the Remuneration 
Consultants’ Group and adheres to the Remuneration Consultants’ 
Group’s Code of Conduct. 

The Committee deems the advisers to be independent from the Company, 
and the advice it received during the year to be appropriate and objective. 

The fees paid for services are set out below:

Company Nature of services
2020 
£000

2019 
£000

Deloitte LLP Remuneration advisers 116 101

Percentage change in CEO remuneration
The table below illustrates the percentage change in salary, benefits and 
annual bonus for the year ended 31 January 2020 for the CEO as against 
all other employees.

% change in 
base salary

% change in
 benefits1

% change  
in annual 

bonus

CEO 0% -86% 23%
All employees2 2% 0% 7%

1 The decrease in CEO benefits is due to the removal of car benefit for the year ended  
31 January 2020.

2 Change in base salary for employees represents the average increase implemented as part of 
the Company’s annual pay review in May 2019. The change in annual bonus represents the 
average bonus paid to employees.

CEO pay ratio
The AA’s business encompasses a very broad spectrum of services from 
roadside assistance to insurance, as well as driving schools and a car sales 
platform. As a result, our workforce is diverse and covers a number of 
sectors and skillsets.

In line with new requirements published in June 2018 for companies with 
250 employees or more, the table below sets out the CEO’s ‘single figure’ 
total remuneration of £1,610,685 in relation to the median, 25th and 75th 
percentile total remuneration of their full-time equivalent UK employees. 
For the purposes of the ratios below, the CEO’s total remuneration reflects 
the total single figure and salary for the year ended 31 January 2020, 
as disclosed on page 76 of the report. The employee pay for the 25th 
percentile, Median and 75th percentile data was calculated at 
31 January 2020. 

Year Method
25%ile  

ratio
Median  

ratio
75%ile  

ratio

Ending 31 January 2020 A 73:1 53:1 42:1

25%ile Median 75%ile 

Salary £18,302 £26,882 £33,038
Total pay and benefits £21,944 £30,324 £38,201

The Company has calculated the CEO pay ratio, using the Option A 
calculation method of comparing the full-time equivalent total 
remuneration of all UK based employees for the relevant financial year. 
Due to the complexity of pay arrangements and diversity of sectors and 
skillsets of our workers, Option A is felt to provide a more accurate picture 
than either of the other two calculation mechanisms.

The Company considers the current median pay ratio to be well positioned 
in comparison with other FTSE 250 companies, but is cognisant that it is 
open to fluctuation depending on outcomes of both short-term and 
long-term incentives received by the CEO from time to time and is 
committed to keeping a watching brief on year-on-year comparisons.

Relative importance of spend on pay
The difference in actual expenditure between 2019 and 2020 on remuneration for all employees in comparison with Trading EBITDA and distributions 
to shareholders by way of dividends is set out in the graphs below:

Comparing pay to performance
The table below shows the total remuneration paid to the CEO and/or Executive Chairman (as relevant) since admission.

FY15 FY16 FY17 FY181 FY19 FY20
CEO single figure of remuneration Simon Breakwell – – – £765k £1,486k 1,611k

Bob Mackenzie £1,113k £1,557k £1,369k £469k – –
Annual bonus pay-out (% of maximum) Simon Breakwell – – – 69% 64% 79%

Bob Mackenzie 100% 79% 57% NIL – –
Long-term incentives vesting  
(% of maximum)

Simon Breakwell – – – n/a n/a n/a
Bob Mackenzie n/a n/a n/a NIL – –

1 The figures shown for each individual in FY18 reflect part-year figures. Simon Breakwell was appointed on an interim basis on 1 August 2017 and this became permanent on 27 October 2017. Bob 
Mackenzie was dismissed on 1 August 2017.

Total employee remuneration (£m)

2020

2019

316

311

2%

Trading EBITDA (£m)

2020

2019

350

341

3%

Distributions relating to the year (£m)

2020

2019

4

12

-67%
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Remuneration for Non-Executive Directors*
Remuneration for NEDs is set by the Board, taking account of the 
commitments and responsibilities of the roles and their participation in 
the various Committees of the Company. The appropriateness of fees  
is reviewed on an annual basis. Fees have not increased since IPO.

The fees for NEDs for the year ended 31 January 2020 are set out in  
the tables below. NEDs are not eligible to participate in annual bonus,  
LTIP and retirement benefit arrangements.

2020 2019

Name Fees 
Benefits 

£000
Total 

£000 Fees 
Benefits 

£000
Total 

£000

John Leach 275 – 275 275 – 275
Steve Barber 95 – 95 61 – 61
Andrew Blowers1 137 – 137 137 – 137
Mark Brooker2 83 – 83 45 – 45
Cathryn Riley 95 – 95 126 – 126
Suzi Williams3 102 – 102 95 – 95

1 Andrew Blowers stepped down from the Remuneration Committee on 6 September 2019  
and was appointed to the Risk Committee on the same date. He was re-appointed to the 
Remuneration Committee on 15 November 2019 and stepped down as a member of the  
Risk Committee on the same date. Andrew Blowers has been Senior Independent Director 
(SID) since 1 August 2017 and Chair of the Nomination Committee from 27 June 2018.  
He was appointed Chair of the Company’s subsidiary, AA Insurance Holdings Limited (AAIHL) 
on 18 June 2018 and receives a fee of £30,000 per annum, which is included in the fees  
figure above.

2 Mark Brooker was appointed to the Remuneration Committee on 6 September 2019 and  
as Chair of the Remuneration Committee on 15 November 2019.

3 Suzi Williams stepped down from the Remuneration Committee on 15 November 2019,  
of which she had been Chair since 1 August 2017. Suzi Williams was appointed as a 
non-executive director of the Company’s joint venture AA Media Limited on 29 March  
2019 and receives a fee of £10,000 per annum, which is included in the fees figure above.

Annual fees payable to the Non-Executive Chairman and NEDs are set out 
in the table below.

FY20 fee FY19 fee

Non-Executive Chairman £275,000 £275,000 
Senior Independent Director (SID) £12,500 £12,500
Basic fee for other NEDs £80,000 £80,000
Additional fee for chairing of Board Committee £15,000 £15,000

Non-Executive Directors will take a temporary 15% fee reduction for a 
period of three-months from 1 May 2020. This will be reviewed at the end 
of July 2020 and it is currently expected that fees will revert to normal 
levels from 1 August 2020.

Non-Executive Director shareholdings*
While there are no shareholding requirements for NEDs, this is 
encouraged within the Company. The table below details ordinary 
shareholdings of NEDs at 31 January 2020.

Ordinary shares of 0.1p

Name
31 January 

2020
31 January 

2019

John Leach 90,000 32,812
Steve Barber 200,000 100,000
Andrew Blowers 63,945 63,945
Mark Brooker 19,221 19,221
Cathryn Riley – –
Suzi Williams 15,021 15,021

There have otherwise been no changes to the interests reported between 
31 January 2020 and 6 May 2020.

Non-Executive Directors – agreements for service
NED appointments are subject to a letter of appointment and the 
Company’s Articles of Association (the Articles). They are expected to 
serve up to two three-year terms but may be invited by the Board to serve 
for an additional period. In accordance with the Articles and the Code,  
all Directors are subject to annual re-election at the Company’s Annual 
General Meeting. The relevant notice periods for each NED are set out in 
the table below; however, there are certain conditions under which the 
Company can terminate the agreement with immediate effect. NEDs 
receive no compensation payments for loss of office. 

In line with the Code requirements, the length and time commitments 
of appointments for NEDs will be reviewed on an annual basis.

The details of the NEDs’ current terms and dates of current service 
contracts are set out below:

Name Date of appointment
Term  

expires Notice period

John Leach 26 June 2014 25 June 2020 6 months
Steve Barber 11 June 2018 10 June 2024 1 month
Andrew Blowers 25 September 2014 24 September 2020 1 month
Mark Brooker 10 July 2018 9 July 2024 1 month
Cathryn Riley 28 February 2018 27 February 2024 1 month
Suzi Williams 1 October 2015 30 September 2021 1 month

The chart below illustrates AA Group’s TSR performance against the 
FTSE 250 (excluding investment trusts) since Admission. This provides 
a general market reference point.
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This Remuneration Report has been prepared in accordance with the 
Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2013 (the Regulations) issued under the 
Companies Act, and the Code.

Voting regarding the 2019 Directors’ Remuneration Report and the last 
approved Remuneration Policy were as follows:

Votes for
Votes  

against
Votes  

withheld Total votes

Remuneration 
Report (2019 
AGM)

418,372,935 56,401,723 11,82 474,774,658

88.12% 11.88%

Remuneration 
Policy (2018 AGM)

328,112,738 102,326,671 2,746 430,442,409
76.23% 23.77%

As noted in this Report, the Committee has undertaken extensive 
shareholder consultation and has made changes in response to 
shareholder views. Further information about this consultation can  
be found on page 72.

The Remuneration Report has been approved by the Board and signed  
on its behalf by:

 
 Mark Brooker
 Chair of the Remuneration Committee
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Remuneration policy

This section sets out a summary of the Company’s policy on remuneration for Executive Directors. The Remuneration Policy for the year 
ended 31 January 2020 was approved through a binding vote by shareholders at the 2018 AGM and took immediate effect following the AGM. 
That Policy will apply for a period of three years from this date. 

Remuneration policy summary
The policy summary table below is provided for ease of reference. Where appropriate, references to implementation have been updated. The full 
approved Policy can be found in the 2018 Annual Report, which is available on the Company website.

BASE SALARY

Purpose and link to strategy To attract, retain and motivate executives of the calibre required to deliver the Group’s strategy.

Operation When reviewing salary levels, the Committee takes into account a range of factors including:

  The individual’s skills, experience and performance

  The size and scope of the individual’s responsibilities

  Market rate for the role

  Pay and conditions elsewhere in the Group

Salary levels are typically reviewed annually by the Committee.

Maximum opportunity There is no overall maximum for salary opportunity or increases. Individual salaries are set based on the factors 
set out above. 

The Executive Director salaries as at 31 January 2020 are:

  Simon Breakwell: £700,000

  Kevin Dangerfield: £410,000

Performance metrics None.

BENEFITS

Purpose and link to strategy To provide competitive benefit arrangements appropriate for the role.

Operation A range of benefits may be provided to Executive Directors including, but not limited to, car related benefits, 
life cover and private medical insurance. 

From time to time the Committee may review the benefits provided for individual roles. Additional benefits may 
be provided where the Committee considers this appropriate (e.g. on relocation).

Executive Directors may also participate in any all-employee share plans (including the Company’s Employee 
Share Incentive Plan) operated by the Company from time to time on the same terms as other employees.

Maximum opportunity There is no overall maximum for benefits. 

Participation in any HMRC-approved all-employee share plan is limited to the maximum award levels permitted 
by the relevant legislation.

Performance metrics None.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Purpose and link to strategy To provide a competitive level of retirement benefits appropriate for the role.

Operation Executive Directors are eligible to participate in the AA UK pension scheme (or any other similar pension plan 
operated by the Group from time to time) or receive a cash allowance in lieu of participation.

For new hires, the nature and value of any retirement benefit provided will be, in the Committee’s opinion, 
reasonable in the context of market practice for comparable roles and take account of both the individual’s 
circumstances and the cost to the Company.

Maximum opportunity The maximum benefit is 25% of salary.

For the financial year commencing 1 February 2020 the personal pension or cash allowances for Simon 
Breakwell will be 11.7% of salary and 6% for Kevin Dangerfield.

Performance metrics None.
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ANNUAL BONUS

Purpose and link to strategy To incentivise the delivery of annual financial, strategic and operational objectives, which are selected to 
support our business strategy.

Operation Performance metrics and targets are set annually to ensure they remain aligned with financial and strategic goals. 
Bonus levels are determined by the Committee after the year-end, based on an assessment of performance.

In order to facilitate share ownership, the Remuneration Committee require a portion of any bonus earned to 
be deferred into shares over a period of three years (or such other period as the Committee may determine).

The Remuneration Committee will be mindful of an Executive’s shareholding when determining the level 
of deferral.

For FY21, it is expected that 20% of any bonus payment made to Simon Breakwell’s will be deferred into shares.

Maximum opportunity The maximum annual opportunity is 150% of salary.

For FY20, the maximum opportunity for Simon Breakwell was 150% of salary. No other Executive Directors 
participated in a bonus plan for this period.

In light of the current COVID-19 pandemic, the Committee will review the FY21 bonus position at the 
beginning of H2 and the maximum bonus potential for Simon Breakwell and Kevin Dangerfield will be 
reduced accordingly.

Performance metrics Performance targets will be determined by the Committee at the beginning of each performance period, and 
may comprise of a combination of financial, strategic, operational and individual targets appropriate for the role.

At least 50% of the award will be subject to financial measures.

The threshold pay-out for the minimum level of performance will be determined by the Committee taking into 
account the nature of the target. There will normally be scaled pay-outs for performance between the minimum 
and maximum thresholds.

Recovery provisions Malus and clawback provisions apply to all awards.

Scenarios in which these provisions may be applied include material misstatement of the Company’s financial 
statement, a material failure of risk management, the bonus outcome being determined on the basis of 
materially inaccurate information or serious misconduct by the participant.

2015 PERFORMANCE SHARE PLAN

Purpose and link to strategy To reward for the delivery of performance targets linked to long-term strategic objectives and to provide 
alignment with the interests of shareholders.

The Committee is, as planned, in the process of transitioning to an incentive structure which is more conventional 
for the UK listed environment. The Performance Share Plan (PSP) will provide the Committee with the facility to 
make annual long-term share awards subject to performance measures aligned to the success of the Company.

Operation The PSP was approved by shareholders at the 2015 AGM. 

Awards of conditional shares (or equivalent) will vest dependent on performance measured over a period of at 
least three years. Future awards will normally be subject to a two–year holding period following the end of the 
performance period.

The Committee will review the metrics, targets and weightings prior to grant to ensure they are aligned with the 
long-term strategic goals.

Dividends (or equivalents, including re-investment) may accrue in respect of any shares that vest.

Maximum opportunity The maximum face value of awards in respect of any financial year is 200% of salary. 

The level of pay-out for the threshold performance hurdle set would normally not exceed 25% of the maximum 
opportunity. Full vesting will require achievement of the stretch objectives set. There will normally be scaled 
vesting for performance between the threshold and maximum performance levels.

Performance condition The Committee will determine the performance metrics, weightings and targets to ensure they are aligned with 
the corporate strategy. 

The Committee will seek to engage appropriately with its major shareholders in relation to the performance 
conditions for initial awards and in respect of changes to criteria for subsequent awards to Executive Directors 
under this plan.

Recovery provisions Malus and clawback provisions apply to all awards.

Scenarios in which these provisions may be applied include material misstatement of the Company’s financial 
statement, a material failure of risk management, the vesting outcome being determined on the basis of 
materially inaccurate information or serious misconduct by the participant.
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SHAREHOLDING GUIDELINES

Purpose and link to strategy To aid alignment of Executive Directors with shareholders.

Operation Executive Directors are expected to build up a holding of 200% of salary. Executive Directors will be expected 
to build up this shareholding within a reasonable timeframe, typically within five years of appointment.

Remuneration in the wider workforce
The wider employee group participate in long-term, performance-based 
incentives. Throughout the Group, base salary and benefit levels are set 
taking into account prevailing market conditions. Differences between 
Executive Director Pay policy and other employee pay reflect the seniority 
of the individuals, and the nature of the responsibilities. The key difference 
in policy is that for Executive Directors a greater proportion of total 
remuneration is based on variable pay elements. The Committee has 
oversight of incentive plans operated throughout the Group. Below 
the Executive Directors, long-term incentives align with the long-term 
interests of the business and drive behaviours consistent with the 
values and strategy of the business.

When setting the policy for the remuneration of Executive Directors, 
the Committee has regard to the pay and employment conditions of 
employees within the Group. The Committee reviews salary increases 
and incentive outturns within the wider workforce, to provide context for 
decisions in respect of Executive Directors. The Committee uses both 
internal and external measures, including considering pay ratios and pay 
gaps. The Committee does not use comparison metrics or consult directly 
with employees when formulating policy for Executive Directors; however, 
in line with the New Code, the Committee will meet with employee 
representatives going forward, to discuss remuneration matters and 
the context in which recommendations are made and decisions 
are determined.

Consideration of shareholder views
The Committee considers the views of its shareholders and is pleased to 
work towards best practice. The Company regularly engages with major 
shareholders to ensure that their views are considered when making 
key decisions relating to executive remuneration.

Remuneration policy continued
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Directors’ report

Statutory requirements

Index to Directors’ report  
and other disclosures

The Directors’ report required under the Companies  
Act 2006 (the Act)

Components
  This Directors’ and corporate governance report (pages 55 to 87), 
which also fulfils the requirements of the corporate governance 
statement required under Disclosure & Transparency Rule 7.2.

 The remuneration report (pages 71 to 84)

  The environmental, social and governance report for the disclosure 
of our carbon emissions in the strategic report (pages 44 to 53)

  For other disclosures required by the Directors’ report, please see 
the index below

The management report required under Disclosure and 
Transparency Rule 4.1.5R

Components
  The strategic report (pages 1 to 53) (which includes the risks relating 
to our business)

 Shareholder information (page 140)

  Details of acquisitions and disposals made by the Group during the 
year in note 12 (page 111)

Annual General 
Meeting (AGM) P61 Financial instruments P126

Articles of Association P59 Future developments P16

Audit information P87 Human rights P86

Board of Directors P56 Internal control over 
financial reporting P70

Business model P5 Material shareholdings P86

Carbon emissions P52 People P46

Conflicts of interest P59 Political donations  
and expenditure P87

Directors’ indemnities 
and insurance P59 Related party 

transactions P131

Directors’ service 
contracts and letters of 
appointment 

P80 
– P81 Results P30

Directors’ share 
interests P79 Share capital P85

Disclosure required 
under Listing  
Rule 9.8.4

P87 Sustainability P50

Diversity P86 Shareholder 
information P140

Dividends P118 Viability statement P37

Events after the 
reporting period P134

Share capital 
All rights and obligations relating to the Company’s shares are set out in its 
Articles of Association (the Articles). The Company’s issued share capital, 
as at 31 January 2020, comprised one share class of ordinary shares, 
which are listed on the London Stock Exchange, and one class of deferred 
shares. The deferred shares were converted from Management Value 
Participation (MVP) shares on 27 June 2019; more information can be 
found on page 117. Details of the movements in the issued share capital 
can be found in note 25 of the financial statements.

The Company was authorised at the 2019 Annual General Meeting  
(AGM) to allot shares up to an aggregate nominal amount of £204,535. 
This authority is expected to expire at the conclusion of the Company’s 
general meeting on 19 June 2020. A renewal of this authority will be 
proposed at the 2020 AGM.

The issued and fully paid share capital of the Company as at 31 January 
2020 is as follows: 

Class of shares Nominal value Number Amount (£) % Issued

Ordinary £0.001 616,734,346 616,734.35 91%
Deferred shares £0.001 60,000,000 60,000 9%

Shareholder voting rights and restrictions on transfer  
of shares 
Each ordinary share carries the right to one vote at general meetings of  
the Company. There are no restrictions on the transfer of ordinary shares 
in the capital of the Company other than those that may be imposed by law 
from time to time. None of the ordinary shares carries any special voting 
rights with regard to control of the Company. Except in respect of holding 
periods that may be imposed on ordinary shares from awards under 
employee share schemes, the Group is not aware of any agreements 
between holders of securities that may result in restrictions on the  
transfer of securities or voting rights. 

Further information on the voting rights are set out in the Articles and 
in the explanatory notes that accompany the Notice of the 2020 AGM.  
These documents are available on the Company’s website theaaplc.com. 

Purchase of own shares 
At the AGM in 2019, the Company was granted the right to acquire up to 
61,361,240 of its own shares. No ordinary shares were purchased by the 
Company during the 2020 financial year (2019: nil) nor to the date of this 
Annual Report.

The existing authority granted to the Directors to make market purchases 
of ordinary shares is expected to expire at the end of the AGM to be held  
on 19 June 2020. Therefore, the Company will seek to renew shareholder 
authority at the AGM. 
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Substantial shareholders 
As at 31 January 2020, the following information has been disclosed to  
the company under the Disclosure and Transparency Rules (DTR 5) in 
respect of notifiable interest in the voting rights in the Company’s issued 
share capital: 

Name of shareholder 
Number of 

shares % Issued
Parvus Asset Management Europe Limited 152,617,183 24.89% 
Cleveland Square Limited 61,870,767 10.08% 
Albert Bridge Capital LLP 61,635,818 10.00% 
The Capital Group Companies 61,053,562 9.96%
Société Générale SA (SG SA) 25,569,180 4.16% 
St James Place plc 23,780,588 3.90%

Between 31 January 2020 and the last practicable date prior to the 
publication of the Annual Report, being 24 April 2020, the Company has  
been notified in accordance with DTR 5 of changes in the following interests:

Name of shareholder 
Number of 

shares % Issued
Albert Bridge Capital LLP 85,172,598 15.233% 
The Capital Group Companies 28,410,992 4.604%
Liontrust Investment Partners LLP 22,785,809 3.69%

It should be noted that the holdings noted above are likely to have changed 
since the Company was notified. In accordance with Disclosure and 
Transparency Rule 5.1.2, notification of any change is not required until  
the next notifiable threshold has been crossed. 

The Company has seen a significant increase in the number of non-traditional 
investors (including hedge funds, short sellers and activists), entering the 
share register through contracts for differences in order to target stocks 
that have been underperforming against market expectations. The AA 
register currently consists of 49.55% non-traditional investors, up from 1% 
at the time of the initial public offering. This has made the task of identifying 
beneficial ownerships challenging and has exacerbated volatility.

Significant agreements and change of control
The Company is not party to any significant agreements that would take 
effect, alter or terminate following a change of control of the Company. 
However, some of our business-to-business contracts include change of 
control provisions in limited circumstances and mandatory redemption 
provisions are included in the B note in the event of a change of control.

Employee Engagement
We remain committed to employee engagement throughout the business. 
Employees are kept updated on the Company’s strategy and progress 
through regular communication emails and updates on the Company’s 
intranet page. Further details of our workforce engagement and our 
people can be found on pages 46 and 60.

Diversity and Inclusion
We are passionate about our people, their diversity and for our business to 
be a truly inclusive one. Enabling everyone to be their best is incorporated 
throughout our diversity and inclusion (D&I) strategy and imbedded 
into every step of the employee journey. We are an equal opportunities 
employer, establishing best practice procedure, from recruitment and 
selection, through training and development, performance reviews  
and promotion to retirement. We promote an environment free from 
discrimination, harassment and victimisation, where everyone will receive 
equal treatment regardless of gender, colour, ethnic or national origin, 
disability, age, marital status, sexual orientation or religion.

 Employees with disabilities 
The AA is enormously proud of our policy that people with disabilities 
should have full and fair consideration for all vacancies. During the year, 
we continued to demonstrate our commitment to interviewing those 
people with disabilities who fulfil the minimum criteria and we 
endeavour to retain employees in the workforce if they become 
disabled during employment. 

Human rights
Our Human Rights Policy sets out the work and control we have in place 
to protect these rights. We recognise that our greatest potential risk is with 
our suppliers; therefore, the policy has a strong focus on them. We have 
taken steps to ensure our key, critical, strategic suppliers are aware of the 
policy and have signed up to the ethics which it requires of them.

Shares held by employee benefit trusts 
Data on the Group’s share plans can be found at note 36. 

Current schemes

Employee  
Share 
Incentive  
Plan (ESIP)

The ESIP allows qualifying employees to acquire 
shares on beneficial terms in accordance with 
Schedule 2 and/or Schedule 3 to the Income Tax 
(Earnings and Pensions) Act 2003. Awards under  
the ESIP are currently satisfied by the issue of new 
ordinary shares by the Company. 

Scheme participants make regular contributions to 
the ESIP directly from their salary up to a maximum 
of £150 per month (partnership shares) and under the 
rules of the scheme, the Company issues a matching 
share element on a 1:1 basis (matching shares). 

The take-up as at 31 January 2020 was 25% of 
eligible employees. 

Performance 
Share Plan 
(PSP) 

Pursuant to the Rules of the AA plc Performance 
Share Plan approved by shareholders on 9 June 2015, 
options over a total of approximately 26 million 
ordinary shares have been made to the Executive 
Directors and certain senior managers between 2017 
and 2019. The options were granted at nil cost and are 
subject to the satisfaction of long term performance 
conditions. Awards are usually exercisable from the 
third anniversary of the grant date, subject to any 
holding periods applicable to the Executive Directors 
and the Executive Committee. 

Lapsed schemes

Management 
Value 
Participation 
(MVP)

The Company issued convertible, redeemable  
A, B and C ordinary shares (MVP shares) to certain 
Executive Directors upon listing and subsequently. 
These shares were convertible into ordinary shares  
if they achieved certain performance conditions.  
The MVP failed to meet its performance conditions 
and lapsed on 27 June 2019. All MVP shares, 
including those granted in relation to the SMP 
(see below), converted into deferred shares on  
27 June 2019 and those deferred shares remain  
in the EBT.

Long Term  
Bonus Plan 
(LTBP)

In August 2015, conditional awards of market 
purchased ordinary shares held by Company’s 
Employee Benefits Trust (EBT) were made to certain 
senior managers. The awards were to vest and 
become unconditional upon the achievement of 
certain performance conditions. The LTBP failed 
to meet its performance conditions and lapsed on  
27 June 2019. The market-purchased ordinary shares 
held by the EBT remain available for the Company to 
use for other purposes.

Senior 
Management 
Plan (SMP)

In April 2016, certain of the MVP shares were 
awarded to the Senior Management Team below 
Board level. These shares were convertible into 
ordinary shares if they achieved certain performance 
conditions. The SMP failed to meet its performance 
conditions and lapsed on 27 June 2019.

Retention 
Scheme

On 19 December 2017, conditional awards of 
market-purchased ordinary shares held by the EBT 
were made to certain senior managers. The awards 
would vest and become unconditional upon the 
achievement of certain performance conditions.  
The Retention Scheme failed to meet its performance 
conditions and lapsed on 7 November 2019.  
The market-purchased ordinary shares held by the 
EBT remain available for the Company to use for  
other purposes.

Further details in respect of the lapsed share schemes referred to above 
are set out in note 36. Each ordinary share purchased and/or awarded 
under each scheme carries the right to one vote at general meetings  
of the Company. 



AA plc Annual Report and Accounts 2020 87

Financial Statem
ents

O
ur Perform

ance
O

ur B
usiness

G
overnance

Political donations 
No political donations were made during the year ended 31 January 2020 
(2019: £nil). The AA has a policy of not making donations to political 
organisations or independent election candidates or incurring political 
expenditure anywhere in the world as defined by relevant legislation. 

Suppliers’ payment policy 
It is the Company’s policy to develop and maintain key commercial 
relationships with its suppliers and to obtain mutually agreeable payment 
terms. For the half year period ended 31 January 2020, the average time 
taken to pay invoices was seven days. Further information can be obtained 
from the Government’s payment practice reporting portal. 

Disclosures required under Listing Rule 9.8.4 
In accordance with Listing Rule 9.8.4(12) and Listing Rule 9.8.4(13),  
we note that the Trustees of the AA plc 2015 Employee Benefit Trust  
(EBT) have waived their right to receive dividends on the ordinary shares 
comprised in the EBT, being 4,111,423 ordinary shares as at 31 January 
2020, under the terms of the Trust Deed. 

There are no further disclosures required to be made under Listing  
Rule 9.8.4. 

Going concern and viability statement 
The business activities, together with factors that are likely to affect our 
future performance and market position are set out in the Chief Executive 
Officer’s review on pages 18 to 24, the Market Context on pages 8 to 11, 
and the viability statement on page 37. Financial position, future forecasts 
and the borrowing facilities are described in the Chief Financial Officer’s 
financial review on pages 33 to 36, together with further detail given in 
the notes to the consolidated financial statements.

The Directors confirm that they have a reasonable expectation that the  
AA has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for  
the foreseeable future, and accordingly they have adopted the going 
concern basis in preparing the financial statements for the year ended  
31 January 2020. 

Auditor and disclosure of information
The auditor of the company is PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP. So far as 
each person serving as a director of the company is aware, at the date  
this Directors’ report was approved by the Board there is no relevant  
audit information (that is, information needed by the auditor in connection 
with preparing its report) of which the Company’s auditor is unaware.  
Each such Director confirms that he or she has taken all the steps that 
 he or she ought to have taken as a Director in order to make himself or 
herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the 
Company’s auditor is aware of that information.

The Directors’ report has been approved by the Board on 6 May 2020 
and signed on its behalf by: 

 
 Nadia Hoosen
 Chief Legal Officer and Company Secretary

 Directors’ responsibilities statement 
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the 
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulation.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for 
each financial year. Under that law the Directors have prepared the Group 
financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union and Company 
financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, 
comprising FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”, and applicable 
law). Under company law the Directors must not approve the financial 
statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view 
of the state of affairs of the Group and Company and of the profit or loss  
of the Group and Company for that period. In preparing the financial 
statements, the Directors are required to:

 Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently.

  State whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the European Union have 
been followed for the Group financial statements and United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101, have been followed for  
the Company financial statements, subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the financial statements.

  Make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and 
prudent.

  Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is 
inappropriate to presume that the Group and Company will continue  
in business.

The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the 
Group and Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records 
that are sufficient to show and explain the Group and Company’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the 
financial position of the Group and Company and enable them to ensure 
that the financial statements and the Directors’ Remuneration Report 
comply with the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the Group financial 
statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the 
Company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the 
preparation and dissemination of financial statements may differ from 
legislation in other jurisdictions.

Directors’ confirmations
The Directors consider that the Annual Report and Accounts, taken as a 
whole, is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information 
necessary for shareholders to assess the Group and Company’s position 
and performance, business model and strategy.

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are listed in the 
governance report confirm that, to the best of their knowledge:

  The Company financial statements, which have been prepared in 
accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 
‘Reduced Disclosure Framework’, and applicable law), give a true  
and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and loss of  
the Company

  The Group financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance 
with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, give a true and fair view of 
the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit of the Group

  The Strategic Report includes a fair review of the development and 
performance of the business and the position of the Group and Company, 
together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that  
it faces. 

The statement of Directors’ responsibilities was approved by the Board on 
6 May 2020 and signed on its behalf by: 

 
 Simon Breakwell
 Chief Executive Officer

 Kevin Dangerfield 
 Chief Financial Officer
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Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of AA plc

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion
In our opinion:

  AA plc’s Group financial statements and Company financial statements 
(the “financial statements”) give a true and fair view of the state of the 
Group’s and of the Company’s affairs as at 31 January 2020 and of the 
Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended;

  the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 
as adopted by the European Union;

  the Company financial statements have been properly prepared in 
accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 
“Reduced Disclosure Framework”, and applicable law); and

  the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the Group 
financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

We have audited the financial statements, included within the 
Annual Report and Accounts (“Annual Report”), which comprise: the 
Consolidated and Company Statements of Financial Position as at 
31 January 2020; the Consolidated Income Statement and Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated Statement of 

Cash Flows, and the Consolidated and Company Statements of Changes 
in Equity for the year then ended; and the notes to the financial statements, 
which include a description of the significant accounting policies.

Our opinion is consistent with our reporting to the Audit Committee.

Basis for opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on 
Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under 
ISAs (UK) are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements section of our report. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion.

Independence
We remained independent of the Group in accordance with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in 
the UK, which includes the FRC’s Ethical Standard, as applicable to listed 
public interest entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit 
services prohibited by the FRC’s Ethical Standard were not provided 
to the Group or the Company.

Other than those disclosed in note 33 to the financial statements, we have 
provided no non-audit services to the Group or the Company in the period 
from 1 February 2019 to 31 January 2020.

Our audit approach

Materiality

Audit scope

Key audit 
matters

Overview
Materiality
  Overall Group materiality: £8.75m 
(2019: £8.4m), based on 4% of 
Operating Profit (2019: based 
on 2.5% of Trading EBITDA).

  Overall Company materiality: 
£3.0m (2019: £4.0m), based 
on 1% of total assets but, for the 
purposes of the audit of the Group 
financial statements, we limited 
the Company materiality to £3.0m.

Audit scope
  We conducted audit testing over 
six components. 

  Four components were subject to 
an audit of their complete financial 
information. 

  Specific audit procedures were 
performed on certain balances 
and transactions in respect of a 
further two components. 

  We obtained coverage of 90% 
of revenue.

Key audit matters
The areas of focus were:

  Recognition of revenue in respect 
of the personal roadside business 
(Group)

  Valuation of post-retirement 
benefit obligations (Group)

  Valuation of insurance technical 
provisions (Group)

  Capitalisation of software 
development costs (Group)

  Goodwill impairment assessment 
(Group)

  Investment in subsidiaries 
impairment assessment 
(Company)

  Going concern and impairment 
considerations relating to 
COVID-19 (Group & Company)

The scope of our audit
As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed 
the risks of material misstatement in the financial statements. 

Capability of the audit in detecting irregularities, including fraud
Based on our understanding of the Group and industry, we identified that 
the principal risks of non-compliance with laws and regulations related 
to breaches of regulatory requirements and unethical and prohibited 
business practices, and we considered the extent to which non-
compliance might have a material effect on the financial statements. 
We also considered those laws and regulations that have a direct impact 
on the preparation of the financial statements such as the Companies 
Act 2006, the Listing Rules and UK tax legislation. We evaluated 
management’s incentives and opportunities for fraudulent manipulation 
of the financial statements (including the risk of override of controls) and 
determined that the principal risks were related to posting inappropriate 
journal entries to increase revenue or profit and management bias in 
accounting estimates. Audit procedures performed by the engagement 
team included:

  Discussion with management, internal audit, internal compliance, 
internal legal counsel and enquiries of the Group’s legal advisors, 
including consideration of known or suspected instances of 
non-compliance with laws and regulations, and fraud;

  Reviewing correspondence between the Group and the Financial 
Conduct Authority (“FCA”) in relation to compliance with laws and 
regulations, and considering the matters identified in light of our 
understanding of the sector;

  Challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in their 
significant accounting estimates and judgements, in particular in relation 
to the valuation of post-retirement benefit obligations and general 
insurance claims liabilities, and the investment in subsidiaries and 
goodwill impairment assessments performed; 

  Identifying and testing journal entries that increase revenue or profit, in 
particular journal entries posted with unusual account combinations or 
posted by members of senior management with a financial reporting 
oversight role;

  Incorporating elements of unpredictability into the audit procedures 
performed; and 

  Reviewing the disclosures in the Annual Report and financial statements 
against the specific legal requirements, for example within the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report and the Governance Report.

There are inherent limitations in the audit procedures described above and 
the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from the 
events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely 
we would become aware of it. Also, the risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not detecting one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for 
example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion.
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Key audit matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’ professional 
judgement, were of most significance in the audit of the financial 
statements of the current period and include the most significant 
assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) 
identified by the auditors, including those which had the greatest effect on: 

the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and 
directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters, and any 
comments we make on the results of our procedures thereon, were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. This is not a complete list of all 
risks identified by our audit. 

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Recognition of revenue in respect of the personal roadside business (Group)
Refer to page 70 in the Audit Committee report, Note 1.3(m) to the financial statements for the Directors’ disclosures of the related accounting 
policies, judgements and estimates, and Note 2.

The Group has recognised revenue of £486m and deferred 
revenue of £160m in respect of the personal roadside business. 
Where policies are paid annually, revenue is initially deferred and 
recognised over the duration of the policy. There is a risk that 
revenue is recognised in the incorrect period, because the 
Directors have previously identified issues with the underlying 
policy management systems and the way in which it calculates 
the accounting entries for recognising revenue. 

The Directors have implemented additional, manual procedures 
to ensure revenue is recognised appropriately. We have focused 
on whether revenue from these policies has been correctly 
recognised as there is a risk that errors are made in manual 
calculations or that there are further undetected errors in 
the policy management system calculations. 

We evaluated the relevant IT systems and related internal controls; however, we 
concluded that we would not rely on the controls over financial reporting and 
we have performed substantive procedures in this area. 

For a sample of personal roadside contracts, we performed detailed testing 
of revenue transactions including agreeing to the underlying contracts, 
recalculating the revenue and deferred revenue recognised based on 
transactional data and contractual terms, and agreement to cash receipt. 

We found no material misstatements from our testing.

Valuation of post-retirement benefit obligations (Group)
Refer to page 69 in the Audit Committee report, Note 1.3(l) to the financial statements for the Directors’ disclosures of the related accounting 
policies, judgements and estimates, and Note 27.

The Group operates three defined benefit pension schemes, the 
most significant of which is the AA UK Pension Scheme (AAUK), 
which combined have a total net defined benefit pension deficit 
of £162m, comprising gross assets of £2,519m and gross 
liabilities of £2,681m.

Valuation of the liabilities requires significant levels of 
judgement and technical expertise in determining the 
appropriate assumptions to measure it. Changes in key 
assumptions (including discount rate, mortality, inflation 
and pension increases) can have a material impact on the 
calculation of the liabilities either individually or in combination. 
The Directors use independent actuaries to prepare the year 
end valuation under International Accounting Standard 19, 
‘Employee benefits’ (“IAS 19”). 

Valuation of the scheme assets requires judgement, due to the 
nature of certain complex and illiquid assets held, for which there 
are no quoted prices available. Of the total asset value held, 66% 
do not have a quoted price available. Prices are obtained directly 
from the relevant investment managers who apply judgement 
in valuing those assets. 

We focused on the reasonableness of the assumptions used in 
the calculation of the AAUK defined benefit liability, the valuation 
of assets held by the AAUK scheme and the disclosure of 
post-retirement benefit scheme obligations.

We involved our specialists in our assessment of the reasonableness of actuarial 
assumptions and the overall pension liability calculations by comparing the 
key assumptions, including the discount rate and inflation rate, mortality and 
pension increases, to benchmark ranges, performing sensitivity analysis, 
checking whether methods have been consistently applied and assessing the 
impact of the assumptions in combination with one another. We agreed that 
the judgements taken by the Directors were reasonable. 

We obtained external confirmations to test the existence of pension assets and 
performed testing over the valuation of those assets at 31 January 2020. For 
quoted assets, we confirmed the valuation to market data at the year end date. 
For the complex and illiquid assets, we obtained a range of supporting evidence 
including audited fund financial statements, fund manager controls reports 
and bridging letters to assess whether the net asset value was appropriate.

We reviewed the disclosure of post-retirement scheme obligations against 
the requirements of IAS 19 and were satisfied with the nature and extent of 
the disclosures provided. 

We found no material misstatements from our testing.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of insurance technical provisions (Group)
Refer to page 70 in the Audit Committee report, Note 1.3(n) to the financial statements for the Directors’ disclosures of the related accounting 
policies, judgements and estimates and Note 24 to the financial statements.

The Group financial statements include liabilities for the 
estimated cost of settling general insurance claims. The 
insurance technical provisions contain both the outstanding 
claims provisions of £36m and the provisions for incurred but 
not reported claims of £7m. 

The Directors focused on this area due to the significance of 
these liabilities to the Group’s balance sheet and because of 
the inherent uncertainties present when estimating future 
claims development.

We focused, in particular, on: 

  The methodologies and assumptions used in estimating the 
outstanding claims provisions for general insurance products 
(mainly motor policies), in particular for those claims such as 
personal injury, which can take a long time to settle and where 
the amounts concerned can be large; and 

  Whether the Directors’ provision for incurred but not reported 
claims has been prepared appropriately, including whether any 
trends in the underlying claims experience have been 
appropriately reflected.

Our work to address the valuation of the insurance technical provisions was 
supported by our internal non-life actuarial specialists. 

We targeted the largest outstanding claims and evaluated the methodology 
and assumptions used by the Directors to estimate the most judgemental 
components of the claims. We obtained supporting documentation, such 
as medical reports, to support the most significant elements of the claims. 
We agreed that the judgements taken by the Directors were reasonable.

We have tested on a sample basis the underlying source data on which 
actuarial projections are based to supporting documentation. 

In order to assess the completeness of recorded claims, we performed a review 
of claims related complaints during the year to understand if there was any 
indication that claims were not being recorded onto the claims system. 

We have performed independent actuarial projections of the reserve 
requirements as at 31 December 2019, rolling forward our work to the year-end. 
These projections have been carried out at varying degrees of granularity, 
including claim type and policy type projections, and have subsequently been 
aggregated in order to produce our independent view. We compared this to the 
insurance technical provisions calculated by the Directors’ experts on a similar 
basis to consider their appropriateness. 

We considered the run-off of prior year liabilities, the sensitivity of the liabilities 
to alternative methods and assumptions and, where relevant, industry 
benchmarking. We also examined trends in ratios driven by internal or market 
level factors, including those between the initial case estimates and the final 
costs of settlement. 

We concluded that the year end insurance technical provisions are reasonable 
based on the independent projections performed and our assessment of the 
potential uncertainty present.

Capitalisation of software development costs (Group)
Refer to page 69 in the Audit Committee report, Note 1.3(e) to the financial statements for the Directors’ disclosures of the related accounting 
policies, judgements and estimates, and Note 11.

The Group spends material amounts on developing technology 
solutions, some in support of its core business products and 
services, and some for specific customer contracts. This 
expenditure is capitalised when the development projects meet 
the criteria of International Accounting Standard 38, ‘Intangible 
assets’ (“IAS 38”). In the period, £58m was capitalised in respect 
of computer software, and there was a balance of assets under 
construction of £29m at 31 January 2020. 

The Directors assess the appropriate capitalisation of assets and 
consider if any impairments are needed. An impairment charge 
of £1m was recorded in the year in relation to software no longer 
planned to be used. 

We focused on this area because expenditure may be capitalised 
inappropriately, for example when there is insufficient evidence 
of the above criteria, and the intangible assets recognised may 
be impaired. 

We assessed the Group’s compliance with IAS 38 and whether amounts had 
been appropriately capitalised or expensed, and also evaluated the Directors’ 
impairment assessment.

We obtained an understanding of the software under development through 
discussion with a number of the project teams. We checked a sample of the 
amounts capitalised to timesheet records (for internal costs) or other supporting 
documents. For a sample of projects we assessed the basis for capitalisation 
and confirmed the point at which assets were brought into use and amortisation 
commenced. We reviewed the useful economic lives of a sample of software 
development projects. Whilst there is some subjectivity over the timing of 
commencement of amortisation, we found no material exceptions and were 
satisfied that the useful economic lives are appropriate.

We considered indicators of potential impairment and, where an impairment 
was identified, tested the completeness of the identified costs to be 
written down.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Goodwill impairment assessment (Group)
Refer to page 69 in the Audit Committee report, Note 1.3(i) to the financial statements for the Directors’ disclosures of the related accounting 
policies, judgements and estimates, and Note 11.

The goodwill balance of £1,170m is subject to an annual 
impairment review. 

The Directors analyse discounted cash flows at the cash 
generating unit (CGU) level to calculate the value in use for each 
CGU. Cash flow forecasts are an area of particular focus given 
the judgements relating to future Trading EBITDA growth and 
discount rate assumptions. 

No impairment charge has been recorded by the Directors 
against the goodwill balance in the current financial year. The risk 
that we focused on in the audit is that the goodwill balance may 
have been impaired in value and this has not been recognised. 

We checked the cash flow forecasts used by the Directors in the assessment of 
goodwill impairment were consistent with the approved three year plans for all 
CGUs. We evaluated the historical accuracy of the cash flow forecasts for the 
period post-acquisition in respect of AA Cars and for three years in respect of the 
other CGUs, including a comparison of the current year actual results with the 
FY20 figures included in the prior year forecast. For certain key assumptions 
which underpinned the forecast performance we corroborated these against 
market data. We found that the forecasts have been completed on a basis 
consistent with prior years and were an appropriate basis upon which the 
Directors could base their conclusions.

For all CGUs, we tested the Directors’ assumptions in the forecasts for: 

  Long term growth rates, by comparing them to economic forecasts; and 

  The discount rate, by engaging our valuation experts to assess the cost 
of capital for the Company and comparable organisations.

We found the assumptions to be consistent and in line with our expectations 
based on industry benchmarks. 

In addition, management reflected an estimate of the impact of the current 
COVID-19 situation on the business in view of the risk that existed at the 
balance sheet date. Refer below for further evaluation of the basis for and 
reasonableness of these assumptions.

We obtained and understood the Directors’ sensitivity calculations over all their 
CGUs. We determined that the calculations were most sensitive to assumptions 
for growth rates and discount rates. For all CGUs, we calculated the degree to 
which these assumptions would need to move before an impairment was 
triggered. We discussed the likelihood of such a movement with the Directors 
and agreed with their conclusion that there was no reasonable possible change 
that would give rise to an impairment.

Investment in subsidiaries impairment assessment (Company)
Refer to page 69 in the Audit Committee report, and Notes 1.3(b), 2 and 8 to the Company financial statements.

The Company holds investments in subsidiaries of £532m 
after recording an impairment charge of £294m. 

The Directors focused on the carrying value of these investments 
in light of the Group’s market capitalisation being materially lower 
than the investment carrying value at the balance sheet date and 
having been so for a sustained period.

In light of the material difference to market capitalisation, in 
addition to the enterprise valuation performed for goodwill 
impairment (above), the Directors prepared a set of ‘dividend 
distribution’ forecasts to reflect the cash flows available for 
distribution to the Company from the Group’s subsidiaries. 
These incorporated interest and tax cash flows in addition to 
the enterprise value cash flows used in support of the goodwill 
impairment assessment, reflecting that the Group’s debt 
materially is held in those subsidiaries. These cash flows 
were then discounted at an equity discount rate.

Having challenged the Directors in relation to the material gap to market 
valuation, we evaluated the appropriateness of the ‘dividend distribution’ 
model prepared.

With the support of our valuation experts, we evaluated the Directors’ 
impairment assessment of the investment in subsidiaries’ carrying value by 
agreeing amounts to supporting documentation and checking calculations. 

This leveraged the Directors’ calculations for the Group goodwill impairment 
assessment referred to above as well as corporate finance support from an 
external advisor in relation to the equity discount rate. 

We evaluated the assumptions with regard to anticipated interest flows as debt 
is refinanced over the coming years and the basis for calculating tax cash flows. 
We found these to be reasonable and, in relation to interest flows, supported by 
external advice.

In addition, management reflected an estimate of the impact of the current 
COVID-19 situation on the business in view of the risk that existed at the balance 
sheet date. Refer below for further evaluation of the basis for and 
reasonableness of these assumptions.

Based on our testing, we did not identify any material misstatements. We also 
evaluated the related disclosures, including in relation to potential sensitivities, 
and were satisfied they were appropriate.
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Going concern and impairment considerations relating to COVID-19 (Group & Company)
Refer to pages 68 & 69 in the Audit Committee report, Note 1.2(a) to the Group financial statements, and Notes 2 and 8 to the Company 
financial statements.

The Group had £2,706m of external debt at 31 January 2020, with 
a range of maturities from July 2020 to July 2025, together with 
bank facilities (a £200m Senior Term Facility) available to support 
the July 2020 maturity. In the context of the scale of the Group’s 
debt we considered, in advance of the COVID-19 situation, 
evaluating the Group’s ability to meet debt maturities and its 
liabilities within a twelve month period from the financial 
statements approval date, and its plans for subsequent 
maturities, in so far as they relate to the Group’s going concern 
assessment, to be key audit matters.

Additionally, and in light of the COVID-19 situation, the Directors 
have considered the potential impacts on the Group and its 
financial statements that have been caused by the pandemic 
which had developed by January 2020 in China and subsequently 
spread to the UK. The Directors in particular focused on 
developing revised forecasts for the year to 31 January 2021 and 
for the two years to 31 January 2023, reflecting an assessment 
of the COVID-19 situation and its impact; the Directors also 
developed other stress test scenarios to assess the uncertainties 
in the current situation. The Directors have reassessed their going 
concern consideration and impairment assessments in light of 
these revised forecasts. 

We considered this to be a key audit matter having regard to the 
range of potential uncertainties, the assumptions required and 
the scale of the potential impacts on the Group.

We obtained the revised Group forecasts and discussed with management 
the key changes to assumptions that had been reflected and their impact 
on forecast performance. We performed certain recalculations to test 
the mathematical integrity of the changes modelled and evaluated the 
key assumptions.

We obtained operational information used by management for the period 
through to the end of April showing information such as new business and 
customer retention activity and challenged management as to whether this 
was consistent with the assumptions made in the forecasts in these areas. 
For a selection of this information we performed testing to corroborate the 
integrity of the underlying operational information. We focused in particular 
on the cash inflows and revenues of the Group.

We tested the availability of cash and funding facilities (and reflected in 
management’s cash flow forecasts), including considering covenant 
requirements. This included reading facility documents, testing covenant 
calculations and obtaining legal clarifications regarding the interpretation of 
certain clauses in the loan agreements. We confirmed the drawdown of the 
£200m Senior Term Facility in April 2020 to correspondence received from 
the Group’s bank and obtained supporting evidence in relation to the Group’s 
plans for subsequent maturities and evaluated their reasonableness.

We reviewed the stress testing performed over the latest forecasts to confirm 
the Directors had considered a set of severe but plausible downside scenarios 
(in particular including a reverse stress test, i.e. identifying the changes in 
assumptions which would be required to result in both the Group running out 
of cash and a covenant breach) in their assessment of the potential impact of 
COVID-19 on the Group.

In respect of going concern, we evaluated the appropriateness of management’s 
conclusions in light of the revised forecasts and associated stress tests. Our 
conclusions are described in the Going Concern section below.

In respect of impairment considerations (over the investment in subsidiaries in 
the parent Company, and over goodwill): we considered it appropriate to use 
updated forecasts to reflect a revised view of the impact of COVID-19 on the 
Group’s business; we checked the impairment calculations and ensured their 
outputs (resulting in a total impairment to investments of £294m in the 
Company) fell within a reasonable range, and were correctly recorded in 
the financial statements.

We evaluated other potential areas of impact on the financial statements with 
management and ensured the disclosures in the Annual Report in relation to 
COVID-19 adequately disclose the risk, key assumptions, sensitivities and the 
impact on the Group.
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How we tailored the audit scope
We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed 
enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial statements 
as a whole, taking into account the structure of the Group and the 
Company, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry 
in which they operate.

AA plc has two operating segments. Within these segments there are 
around 40 reporting units, of which the following are considered 
financially significant and were subject to an audit of their complete 
financial information due to their size: AA plc Company, Automobile 
Association Developments Limited, Automobile Association Insurance 
Services Limited and AA Bond Co Limited. In addition, two legal entities 
were in scope for specific audit procedures, being AA Corporation Limited 
and AA Underwriting Insurance Company Limited. These two 
components were selected based on the contribution of each to specific 
financial statement line items, including intangible assets, accrued 
expenses and insurance technical reserves. These, together with the 
procedures performed at the Group level, including auditing the 

consolidation and financial statement disclosures, taxation, pension 
scheme balances and asset impairment assessments, gave us the 
evidence we needed for our opinion on the financial statements 
as a whole.

The Company is principally a holding company and there are no branches 
or other locations to be considered when scoping the audit.

Materiality
The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiality. 
We set certain quantitative thresholds for materiality. These, together with 
qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit 
and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on the individual 
financial statement line items and disclosures and in evaluating the effect 
of misstatements, both individually and in aggregate on the financial 
statements as a whole. 

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the 
financial statements as a whole as follows:

Group financial statements Company financial statements
Overall materiality £8.75m (2019: £8.4m) £3.0m (2019: £4.0m)
How we determined it 4% of Operating Profit (2019: 2.5% of Trading 

EBITDA)
1% of total assets but, for the purposes of the 
audit of the Group financial statements, we 
limited the Company materiality to £3.0m

Rationale for benchmark applied Operating Profit is the primary statutory 
performance metric presented in the annual 
report. This is because the Group is highly 
geared and has a significant interest charge. 
Trading EBITDA was previously used as the 
benchmark for calculating materiality. We 
considered a statutory profit measure to be a 
more appropriate long-term benchmark

We believe that total assets is the appropriate 
measure as the Company is a non-profit oriented 
entity. In the current year, overall materiality has 
been reduced to £3.0m to ensure the Company 
did not have a higher materiality than the overall 
Group materiality allocation

For each component in the scope of our Group audit, we allocated a 
materiality that is less than our overall Group materiality. The range of 
materiality allocated across components was between £3.0m and £8.3m. 
Certain components were audited to a local statutory audit materiality that 
was also less than our overall Group materiality.

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them 
misstatements identified during our audit above £0.4m (Group audit) 
(2019: £0.4m) and £0.4m (Company audit) (2019: £0.4m) as well as 
misstatements below those amounts that, in our view, warranted 
reporting for qualitative reasons.

Going concern
In accordance with ISAs (UK) we report as follows:

Reporting obligation Outcome
We are required to report if we have anything material to add or draw 
attention to in respect of the Directors’ statement in the financial 
statements about whether the Directors considered it appropriate to 
adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing the financial 
statements and the Directors’ identification of any material uncertainties 
to the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern 
over a period of at least twelve months from the date of approval of the 
financial statements.

We have nothing material to add or to draw attention to.

However, because not all future events or conditions can be predicted, 
this statement is not a guarantee as to the Group’s and Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. 

We are required to report if the Directors’ statement relating to Going 
Concern in accordance with Listing Rule 9.8.6R(3) is materially 
inconsistent with our knowledge obtained in the audit.

We have nothing to report.

Reporting on other information 
The other information comprises all of the information in the Annual 
Report other than the financial statements and our auditors’ report 
thereon. The Directors are responsible for the other information. Our 
opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information 
and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except to 
the extent otherwise explicitly stated in this report, any form of 
assurance thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility 
is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the 
other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material 
misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conclude 
whether there is a material misstatement of the financial statements or a 
material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we 
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this 
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to 
report based on these responsibilities.

With respect to the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report, we also 
considered whether the disclosures required by the UK Companies Act 
2006 have been included. 

Based on the responsibilities described above and our work undertaken 
in the course of the audit, the Companies Act 2006 (CA06), ISAs (UK) and 
the Listing Rules of the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) require us also 
to report certain opinions and matters as described below (required by 
ISAs (UK) unless otherwise stated).

Strategic Report and Directors’ Report
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit, the 
information given in the Strategic Report and Directors’ Report for the year 
ended 31 January 2020 is consistent with the financial statements and has 
been prepared in accordance with applicable legal requirements. (CA06)

In light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and Company 
and their environment obtained in the course of the audit, we did not 
identify any material misstatements in the Strategic Report and 
Directors’ Report. (CA06)

Independent Auditors’ Report to the Members of AA plc continued
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The Directors’ assessment of the prospects of the Group and of the 
principal risks that would threaten the solvency or liquidity of the Group
We have nothing material to add or draw attention to regarding:

  The Directors’ confirmation on page 38 of the Annual Report that they 
have carried out a robust assessment of the principal risks facing the 
Group, including those that would threaten its business model, future 
performance, solvency or liquidity.

  The disclosures in the Annual Report that describe those risks and 
explain how they are being managed or mitigated.

  The Directors’ explanation on page 37 of the Annual Report as to how 
they have assessed the prospects of the Group, over what period they 
have done so and why they consider that period to be appropriate, and 
their statement as to whether they have a reasonable expectation that 
the Group will be able to continue in operation and meet its liabilities 
as they fall due over the period of their assessment, including any 
related disclosures drawing attention to any necessary 
qualifications or assumptions.

We have nothing to report having performed a review of the Directors’ 
statement that they have carried out a robust assessment of the principal 
risks facing the Group and statement in relation to the longer-term viability 
of the Group. Our review was substantially less in scope than an audit 
and only consisted of making inquiries and considering the Directors’ 
process supporting their statements; checking that the statements are in 
alignment with the relevant provisions of the UK Corporate Governance 
Code (the “Code”); and considering whether the statements are 
consistent with the knowledge and understanding of the Group and 
Company and their environment obtained in the course of the audit. 
(Listing Rules)

Other Code Provisions
We have nothing to report in respect of our responsibility to report when: 

  The statement given by the Directors, on page 87, that they consider the 
Annual Report taken as a whole to be fair, balanced and understandable, 
and provides the information necessary for the members to assess the 
Group’s and Company’s position and performance, business model and 
strategy is materially inconsistent with our knowledge of the Group and 
Company obtained in the course of performing our audit.

  The section of the Annual Report on pages 68 to 70 describing the work 
of the Audit Committee does not appropriately address matters 
communicated by us to the Audit Committee.

  The Directors’ statement relating to the Company’s compliance with the 
Code does not properly disclose a departure from a relevant provision 
of the Code specified, under the Listing Rules, for review by the auditors.

Directors’ Remuneration
In our opinion, the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be 
audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies 
Act 2006. (CA06)

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit
Responsibilities of the Directors for the financial statements
As explained more fully in the Directors’ responsibilities statement set 
out on page 87, the Directors are responsible for the preparation of the 
financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and 
for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. The Directors are 
also responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary 
to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Directors are responsible for 
assessing the Group’s and the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either 
intend to liquidate the Group or the Company or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes 
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not 
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will 
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial 
statements is located on the FRC’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/
auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report
This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the 
Company’s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of 
the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving 
these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or 
to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it 
may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Other required reporting
Companies Act 2006 exception reporting
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our 
opinion:

  we have not received all the information and explanations we require for 
our audit; or

  adequate accounting records have not been kept by the Company, or 
returns adequate for our audit have not been received from branches 
not visited by us; or

  certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are 
not made; or

  the Company financial statements and the part of the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement with the 
accounting records and returns. 

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility. 

Appointment
Following the recommendation of the audit committee, we were 
appointed by the members on 7 June 2018 to audit the financial 
statements for the year ended 31 January 2019 and subsequent financial 
periods. The period of total uninterrupted engagement is 2 years, covering 
the years ended 31 January 2019 to 31 January 2020.

 Stuart Newman
(Senior Statutory Auditor) 
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors 
London

6 May 2020
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Consolidated Income Statement
For the year ended 31 January

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 January

Note
2020  

£m
2019  

£m

Revenue 2 995 979
Cost of sales (393) (399)
Gross profit 602 580
Administrative and marketing expenses (346) (361)
Other income 18 1 –
Operating profit 4 257 219
Finance costs 6 (155) (167)
Finance income 7 5 1
Profit before tax 107 53
Tax expense 9 (20) (11)
Profit for the year 87 42

Earnings per share from profit for the year Note
2020  

pence
2019  

pence

Basic from total operations 10 14.1 6.9
Diluted from total operations 10 13.7 6.9

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated income statement.

Note
2020  

£m
2019  

£m

Profit for the year 87 42
Other comprehensive expense on items that may be reclassified to the income statement  
in subsequent years
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges (2) (6)
Tax effect 9 – 1

(2) (5)
Other comprehensive income on items that will not be reclassified to the income  
statement in subsequent years
Remeasurement gains on defined benefit schemes 27 39 30
Tax effect 9 (7) (5)

32 25
Total other comprehensive income 30 20
Total comprehensive income for the year 117 62

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 January

Note
2020  

£m
2019  

£m

Non-current assets
Goodwill and other intangible assets 11 1,354 1,331
Property, plant and equipment 13 52 123
Right-of-use assets 14 69 –
Investments in joint ventures and associates 15 5 5
Financial assets at amortised cost 29 4 –
Deferred tax assets 9 9 22

1,493 1,481
Current assets
Inventories 16 4 4
Trade and other receivables 17 257 223
Cash and cash equivalents 18 149 116

410 343
Assets classified as held for sale 38 12 6
Total assets 1,915 1,830

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 19 (495) (462)
Current tax payable (8) (3)
Borrowings and loans 20 (200) –
Lease liabilities 31 (23) (49)
Provisions 23 (5) (3)

(731) (517)
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings and loans 20 (2,506) (2,724)
Derivative financial instruments 22 (2) –
Lease liabilities 31 (43) (12)
Defined benefit pension scheme liabilities 27 (162) (218)
Provisions 23 (6) (4)
Deferred consideration 19 – (10)
Insurance technical provisions 24 (43) (30)

(2,762) (2,998)
Liabilities classified as held for sale 38 (3) (5)
Total liabilities (3,496) (3,520)
Net liabilities (1,581) (1,690)
Equity 
Share capital 25 1 1
Share premium 26 410 408
Own shares 26 (33) (31)
Cash flow hedge reserve 26 (2) –
Retained earnings 26 (1,957) (2,068)
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent (1,581) (1,690)

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 6 May 2020 and signed on its behalf by 

 
 Simon Breakwell
 Chief Executive Officer

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated statement of financial position. 

 Kevin Dangerfield
 Chief Financial Officer
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 January

Share  
capital  

£m

Share 
premium  

£m

Own  
shares  

£m

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve 
£m

Retained 
earnings  

£m
Total  

£m

At 1 February 2018 1 406 (29) 5 (2,138) (1,755)
Profit for the year – – – – 42 42
Other comprehensive income – – – (5) 25 20
Total comprehensive income – – – (5) 67 62
Dividends – – – – (12) (12)
Issue of share capital – 2 – – – 2
Purchase of own shares – – (2) – – (2)
IFRS 9 conversion – – – – 13 13
IFRS 9 conversion deferred tax impact – – – – (2) (2)
Share-based payments (see note 36) – – – – 4 4
At 31 January 2019 1 408 (31) – (2,068) (1,690)
Profit for the year – – – – 87 87
Other comprehensive income – – – (2) 32 30
Total comprehensive income – – – (2) 119 117
Dividends – – – – (12) (12)
Issue of share capital – 2 – – – 2
Purchase of own shares – – (2) – – (2)
Share-based payments (see note 36) – – – – 4 4
At 31 January 2020 1 410 (33) (2) (1,957) (1,581)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated statement of changes in equity. 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 January

Note
2020  

£m
2019  

£m

Profit before tax 107 53
Amortisation, depreciation and impairment 11,13,14 89 78
Net finance costs 6,7 150 166
Difference between pension charge and cash contributions (22) 2
Other adjustments to profit before tax (11) 3
Working capital and provisions:
Increase in trade and other receivables (34) (23)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 30 (3)
Increase/(decrease) in provisions 19 (3)
Total working capital and provisions adjustments 15 (29)
Net cash flows from operating activities before tax 328 273
Tax paid (11) (15)
Net cash flows from operating activities 317 258
Investing activities
Capital expenditure (69) (82)
Payment for acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired (8) (13)
Proceeds from sale of joint venture – 2
Dividends from joint ventures and associates – 1
Interest received 1 1
Net cash flows used in investing activities (76) (91)
Financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings 15 565
Issue costs on borrowings – (10)
Debt repayment premium and penalties – (17)
Settlement of interest rate hedges – (7)
Repayment of borrowings (43) (565)
Refinancing transactions (28) (34)
Interest paid on borrowings (129) (129)
Lease capital repayments net of proceeds from sale of fixed assets (25) (22)
Payment of lease interest (4) (4)
Dividends paid (12) (12)
Net cash flows used in financing activities (198) (201)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 43 (34)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 February 116 150
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 January 18 159 116

The cash flows from operating activities are stated net of cash outflows relating to adjusting operating items of £9m (2019: £23m). This relates to 
strategic initiatives of £6m (2019: £16m), conduct and regulatory costs of £2m (2019: £2m), net cash outflows from property lease provisions of £1m 
(2019: £2m), costs of reimbursing customers who bought duplicate breakdown cover of £nil (2019: £1m), legal dispute costs of £nil (2019: £1m) and 
corporate transaction costs of £nil (2019: £1m).

Other adjustments to profit before tax outflow of £11m (2019: inflow of £3m) include other income £1m (2019: £nil), share-based payment charge of £4m 
(2019: £5m), profit on sale of fixed assets of £5m (2019 profit: £1m) and credit on remeasurement of contingent consideration of £9m (2019 credit: £1m).

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated statement of cash flows.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1 Basis of preparation and accounting policies
1.1 General information
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 January 
2020 comprise the financial statements of AA plc (‘the Company’) and 
its subsidiaries (together referred to as ‘the Group’). AA plc is a public 
limited company, which is listed on the London Stock Exchange and is 
incorporated and domiciled in the UK. 

These statements and the prior year comparatives have been presented 
to the nearest £million. 

1.2 Basis of preparation
The Group has prepared these statements under International  
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European  
Union, IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRS IC) interpretations and 
those parts of the Companies Act 2006 applicable to companies 
reporting under IFRS. 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the 
historic cost convention as modified by the measurement of derivatives 
and liabilities for contingent consideration in business combinations at 
fair value.

a) Going concern 
The Group’s operations are highly cash generative with a large 
proportion of its revenues coming from recurring transactions. The 
significant customer loyalty demonstrated by high renewal rates and 
lengthy customer tenure underpins this and, in addition to the cash 
balances at the reporting date, the Group has agreed undrawn credit 
facilities. The majority of the Group’s borrowings are long term in nature, 
with the Class A3 notes due in July 2020 covered by the available Senior 
Term Facility (which has been drawn post year end, please see note 39) 
and no other borrowings due within 12 months from the date of signing 
of these financial statements. For the Group’s longer-term viability, it 
remains a key assumption of the Directors that the Group continues 
to have ready access to both public debt and equity markets to enable 
these borrowings to be refinanced in due course. The Directors have 
reviewed projected cash flows, which have been updated for the 
potential impact of COVID-19, for a period of one year from the date 
of signing these financial statements and have concluded that the 
Group has sufficient funds to continue trading for this period and the 
foreseeable future. Therefore, the financial statements have been 
prepared using the going concern basis. 

b) Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial 
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company  
(its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the Company has rights to 
variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability  
to influence those returns through its power over the entity.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are 
included in the consolidated income statement from the effective date  
of acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate. 
Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of 
subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies into line with those used by 
the Group. All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses 
are eliminated on consolidation. 

1.3 Accounting policies
The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, 
been applied consistently to all periods presented in these group 
financial statements.

a) Interests in joint ventures and associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group is in a position to  
exercise significant influence, but not control or joint control, through 
participating in the financial and operating policy decisions of the entity. 
Joint ventures are joint arrangements whereby the parties that have joint 
control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of the arrangement. 

The results, assets and liabilities of joint ventures and associates are 
incorporated in these financial statements using the equity method of 
accounting. Investments in joint ventures and associates are carried  
in the Group statement of financial position at cost, including direct 
acquisition costs, as adjusted by post-acquisition changes in the  
Group’s share of the net assets less any impairment losses. 

b) Foreign currencies
These financial statements are presented in pounds sterling, which is 
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the  
Group operates. 

Transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of each 
consolidated undertaking are recorded at rates of exchange prevailing 
on the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the respective 
functional currency at rates of exchange ruling at the statement of 
financial position date. Gains and losses arising on the translation 
of assets and liabilities are taken to the income statement.

c) Business combinations and goodwill
All business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. 

Costs related to the acquisition, other than those associated with the  
issue of debt or equity securities, are expensed as incurred.

Goodwill arising on consolidation represents the excess of the consideration 
paid over the Group’s interest in the fair value of the identified assets and 
liabilities of a subsidiary at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is recognised 
as an asset at cost less accumulated impairment losses. 

Any contingent consideration payable is recognised at fair value at  
the acquisition date, and subsequent changes to the fair value of the 
contingent consideration are taken to the income statement. 

d) Intangible assets
Intangible assets other than goodwill which are acquired separately  
are stated at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business 
combination is their fair value as at the date of acquisition.

Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at cost less 
any accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Intangible assets  
with finite lives are amortised over their estimated useful economic lives.  
The only intangible assets with finite lives held by the Group are 
customer relationships, software and development costs.

e) Software and development costs
Software development expenditures on an individual project are 
recognised as an intangible asset when the Group can demonstrate:

  The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it  
will be available for use or sale

  Its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset

  How the asset will generate future economic benefits

  The availability of resources to complete the asset

  The ability to measure reliably the expenditure during development

Following initial recognition of the development expenditure as  
an asset, the cost model is applied. The asset is carried at cost less any 
accumulated amortisation and impairment losses. Amortisation of the 
asset begins when development is complete and the asset is available 
for use. It is amortised over its useful life of three to five years. 

f) Property, plant and equipment
Land and buildings held for use in the production of goods and the 
provision of services or for administrative purposes are stated in the 
statement of financial position at cost or fair value for assets acquired in  
a business combination less any subsequent accumulated depreciation 
and impairment losses. If relevant conditions are met, borrowing costs 
are capitalised. 

Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment losses. Such costs include costs directly 
attributable to making the asset capable of operating as intended.  
The cost of property, plant and equipment less their expected residual 
value is depreciated by equal instalments over their useful economic 
lives. These lives are as follows:

Buildings 50 years
Related fittings 3 – 20 years
Leasehold properties over the period of the lease
Plant, vehicles and other equipment 3 – 10 years
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1  Basis of preparation and accounting policies 
continued

1.3  Accounting policies continued
g) Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  
Costs include all costs incurred in bringing each product to its present 
location and condition. Net realisable value is based on estimated  
selling price less any further costs expected to be incurred to 
completion and disposal.

h) Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s 
statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. They are classified according to 
the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into. The Group 
recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECLs) on relevant 
financial assets.

Trade receivables
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods or 
services performed in the ordinary course of business. They are 
generally due for settlement within 30 days and are therefore all 
classified as current. Trade receivables are recognised at fair value  
and are subsequently held at amortised cost. The Group applies the 
IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring ECLs which uses a lifetime 
expected loss allowance for all trade receivables.

Trade payables 
Trade payables are not interest bearing and are recognised at fair  
value and are subsequently held at amortised cost.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits 
with an original maturity less than three months. 

Debt instruments
Debt is initially recognised in the statement of financial position at fair 
value less transaction costs incurred directly in connection with the issue 
of the instrument. Debt issue fees in respect of the instrument, including 
premiums and discounts on issue, are capitalised at inception and 
charged to the income statement over the term of the instrument using 
the effective interest method. Remaining issue costs on debt are written 
off to the income statement when the debt is extinguished.

An exchange with an existing lender of debt instruments with substantially 
different terms, or a substantial modification of the terms of an existing 
financial liability or a part of it, is accounted for as an extinguishment  
of the original financial liability and the recognition of a new financial 
liability. If an exchange of debt instruments or modification of terms is 
accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are 
recognised as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. If the 
exchange or modification is not accounted for as an extinguishment,  
any costs or fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of the liability  
and are amortised over the remaining term of the modified liability.

Equity instruments (share capital issued by the Group)
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in 
the assets of the Group after deducting all its liabilities. Equity instruments 
are recognised at the fair value of proceeds received less direct 
issue costs. 

Derivative financial instruments
The Group’s capital structure exposes it to the financial risk of changes  
in interest rates and fuel prices. The Group uses interest rate and fuel 
swap contracts to hedge these exposures. 

Derivative financial instruments are recorded in the statement of 
financial position at fair value. The fair value of derivative financial 
instruments is determined by reference to market values for similar 
financial instruments. The gain or loss on remeasurement to fair value  
is recognised immediately in the income statement unless they qualify 
for hedge accounting as described below. 

Cash flow hedges
Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of  
the variability in cash flows of a recognised asset or liability, or a highly 
probable forecast transaction, the effective part of any gain or loss on  
the derivative financial instrument is recognised directly in the cash  
flow hedge reserve. Any ineffective portion of the hedge is recognised 
immediately in the income statement.

In the same period or periods during which the hedged expected  
future cash flows affects profit or loss, the associated cumulative gain  
or loss on the hedged forecast transaction is removed from equity and 
recognised in the income statement.

When the hedging instrument is sold, expires, is terminated or 
exercised, or the entity revokes designation of the hedge relationship 
but the hedged forecast transaction is still expected to occur, the 
cumulative gain or loss at that point remains in equity and is recognised 
in accordance with the above policy when the transaction occurs. If the 
hedged transaction is no longer expected to take place, the cumulative 
unrealised gain or loss recognised in equity is recognised in the income 
statement immediately.

i) Impairment of assets
The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than 
inventories, are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether 
there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists,  
then the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. In addition,  
goodwill and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested  
for impairment annually.

For the purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested 
individually are grouped together into the smallest group of assets  
that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are largely 
independent of the cash inflows of other assets or groups of assets  
(the cash generating units or ‘CGUs’). The goodwill acquired in a 
business combination is allocated to CGUs so that the level at which 
impairment is tested reflects the lowest level at which goodwill is 
monitored for internal reporting purposes. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash generating unit is the  
greater of its value in use and its fair value less costs to sell. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to  
the asset.

An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount of an asset or its 
CGU exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are 
recognised in the income statement. Impairment losses recognised in 
respect of CGUs are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any 
allocated goodwill and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other 
assets on a pro rata basis.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of 
other assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in 
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment 
loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does 
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

j) Leases
As explained in note 1.3(w) below, on adoption of the new leases 
accounting standard IFRS 16 the Group has changed its accounting 
policy for leases where the Group is the lessee. The new policy and 
the impact of the change is described in note 1.3(w).

Until 31 January 2019, leases of property, plant and equipment where the 
Group, as lessee, had substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
were classified as finance leases. Finance leases were capitalised at the 
lease’s inception at the fair value of the leased property or, if lower, the 
present value of the minimum lease payments. The corresponding rental 
obligations, net of finance charges, were included in other short-term 
and long-term liabilities. Each lease payment was allocated between the 
liability and finance cost. The finance cost was charged to the income 
statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic  
rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. 
The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases was 
depreciated over the asset’s useful life, or over the shorter of the asset’s 
useful life and the lease term if there was no reasonable certainty that the 
Group would obtain ownership at the end of the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

1.  Basis of preparation and accounting policies 
continued

1.3  Accounting policies continued 
j) Leases continued
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of 
ownership were not transferred to the Group as lessee were classified  
as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any 
incentives received from the lessor) were charged to profit or loss on a 
straight-line basis over the period of the lease.

k) Provisions and contingent liabilities
A provision is required when the Group has a present legal or 
constructive obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that 
settlement will be required of an amount that can be reliably estimated.

Provisions are discounted where the impact is material. Material 
contingent liabilities are disclosed unless the transfer of economic 
benefits is remote. Contingent assets are only disclosed if an inflow  
of economic benefits is probable.

Provisions for restructuring costs are recognised when the Group has a 
detailed formal plan for the restructuring that has been communicated  
to affected parties. 

For property leases, where a decision has been made prior to the year 
end to permanently vacate the property, provision is made for future rent 
and similar costs net of any rental income expected to be received up to 
the estimated date of final disposal. 

l) Retirement benefit obligation
The Group’s position in respect of defined benefit pension plans is 
calculated by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees 
have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods; 
that benefit is discounted to determine its present value, and the fair 
value of any plan assets (at bid price) is deducted. The Group determines 
the net interest on the net defined benefit liability for the period by 
applying the discount rate used to measure the defined benefit 
obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the net defined  
benefit liability.

The discount rate is the yield at the reporting date on bonds that have a 
credit rating of at least AA, with maturity dates approximating the terms 
of the Group’s obligations, and that are denominated in the currency in 
which the benefits are expected to be paid.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit plans comprise actuarial 
gains and losses and the return on plan assets (excluding interest).  
The Group recognises them immediately in other comprehensive 
income and all other expenses related to defined benefit plans in 
administrative and marketing expenses in the income statement.

When the benefits of a plan are changed, or when a plan is curtailed,  
the portion of the changed benefit related to past service by employees, 
or the gain or loss on curtailment, is recognised immediately in the 
income statement when the plan amendment or curtailment occurs.

The calculation of the defined benefit obligations is performed by a 
qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method. When the 
calculation results in a benefit to the Group, the recognised asset is 
limited to the present value of benefits available in the form of any future 
refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions and takes  
into account the adverse effect of any minimum funding requirements.

For defined contribution schemes, the amounts recognised in the 
income statement are the contributions payable in the year.

m) Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration receivable 
less any discounts and excluding value added tax and other sales  
related taxes.

Roadside membership subscriptions and premiums receivable on 
underwritten insurance products are apportioned on a time basis 
over the period where the Group is liable for risk cover as the relevant 
performance obligations are settled over time. The unrecognised 
element of subscriptions and premiums receivable, relating to future 
periods, is held within liabilities as deferred income and provision for 
unearned premium. 

Commission income from insurers external to the Group is recognised  
at the commencement of the period of risk on a point in time basis. 
Commission income for policies underwritten by the Group is deferred 
and recognised over the period of risk.

Where customers choose to pay by instalments, the Group charges 
interest based on the principal outstanding and disclosed interest rate 
and recognises this income over the course of the loan. 

For all other revenue, this income is recognised on a point in time basis at 
the point of delivery of goods or on the provision of service, or over time 
where the service is provided over more than 1 day. This includes work 
which has not yet been fully invoiced, provided that it is considered to be 
fully recoverable.

n) Insurance contracts
An insurance contract is a contract under which insurance risk is 
transferred to the issuer of the contract by another party. In the roadside 
segment, the Group accepts insurance risk from its customers under 
roadside recovery service contracts by agreeing to provide services 
whose frequency and cost is uncertain. Claims and expenses arising  
from these contracts are recognised in profit or loss as incurred, broker 
acquisition costs are deferred. The Group also has insurance risk within 
the insurance underwriting segment on insurance products underwritten 
by the Group. 

At the statement of financial position date, a liability adequacy test is 
performed to ensure the adequacy of the insurance contract liabilities. 
In performing these tests, current estimates of future cash outflows arising 
under insurance contracts are considered and compared with the carrying 
amount of deferred income, provision for unearned premiums and other 
insurance contract liabilities. Any deficiency is immediately recognised 
in the income statement and an additional liability is established. 

The estimation of the ultimate liability from claims made under insurance 
contracts for breakdown recovery is not considered to be one of the 
Group’s most critical accounting estimates. This is because there is a very 
short period of time between the receipt of a claim, e.g. a breakdown, and 
the settling of that claim. Consequently, there are no significant provisions 
for unsettled claims costs in respect of the roadside assistance services.

The provision for outstanding claims relating to products with insurance 
risk within the insurance underwriting segment is set on an individual 
claim basis and is based on the ultimate cost of all claims notified but not 
settled, less amounts already paid by the reporting date, together with a 
provision for related claims handling costs. The provision also includes 
the estimated cost of claims incurred but not reported (‘IBNR’) at the 
statement of financial position date, which is set using statistical 
methods. Both outstanding claims and IBNR are not discounted for  
the time value of money. 

The amount of any anticipated reinsurance, salvage or subrogation 
recoveries is separately identified and reported within trade and other 
receivables and insurance contract liabilities respectively. Differences 
between the provisions at the reporting date and settlements and 
provisions in the following year are recognised in the income 
statement as they arise. 

Reinsurance
The Group undertakes a programme of reinsurance in respect of the 
policies which it underwrites. Outward reinsurance premiums are 
accounted for in the same accounting period as the related inward 
insurance premiums and are included as a deduction from earned 
premium, and therefore as a reduction in revenue. The amount of  
any anticipated reinsurance recoveries is treated as a reduction in  
claims costs.

The Group has also entered into coinsurance arrangements in respect  
of certain policies that it underwrites. Premiums and claims in respect  
of coinsured policies are shown net of the coinsurer’s share.

o) Insurance aggregator fees
Insurance aggregator fees are the costs related to the acquisition of 
customers from insurance comparison websites. These costs are 
expensed to the income statement in full at the commencement 
of the insurance policy. 
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1.  Basis of preparation and accounting policies 
continued

1.3 Accounting policies continued 
p) Adjusting operating items and adjusted earnings per share
Adjusting operating items are events or transactions that fall within  
the operating activities of the Group and which by virtue of their size  
or incidence have been disclosed in order to improve a reader’s 
understanding of the financial statements. 

In addition, occasionally there are events or transactions that fall below 
operating profit that are one-off in nature and items within operating 
profit that relate to transactions that do not form part of the ongoing 
segment performance and which by virtue of their size or incidence  
have been separately disclosed in the financial statements. 

Adjusted earnings per share is a non-IFRS performance measure which 
adjusts profit after tax for items that are either discontinued operations, 
one-off in nature or relate to transactions that do not form part of the 
ongoing performance of the Group. 

q) Finance income and costs
Finance costs comprise interest payable, finance charges on lease 
liabilities recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method, 
amortisation of debt issue fees, unwinding of the discount on provisions 
(including the net defined benefit obligations) and unwinding of the 
discount on contingent consideration payable.

Finance income comprises interest receivable on funds invested.

r) Taxation
Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. 

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable 
income or loss for the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively 
enacted at the statement of financial position date, and any adjustment 
to tax payable in respect of prior years.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and 
the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary 
differences are not provided for: the initial recognition of goodwill;  
the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that affect neither accounting 
nor taxable profit other than in a business combination; and differences 
relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably 
not reverse in the foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax 
provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement  
of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted  
or substantively enacted at the statement of financial position date.

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable 
that future taxable profits will be available against which the temporary 
difference can be utilised. The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is 
reviewed at each statement of financial position date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be 
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

s) Segmental analysis
The Group reports its operations using the segments that are reported 
for management purposes. Segments are based on business operations 
because this is where Group risk and return is focused.

t) Share-based payments
The Group operates a number of equity-settled and cash-settled  
share-based payment compensation plans for employees. 

Share-based payment arrangements in which the Group receives  
goods or services as consideration for its own equity instruments are 
accounted for as equity-settled share-based payment transactions, 
regardless of how the equity instruments are obtained by the Group.

The grant date fair value of equity-settled share-based payment 
awards granted to employees is recognised as an employee cost, with 
a corresponding increase in equity, over the period that the employees 
become unconditionally entitled to the awards. The fair value of the 
options granted is measured using an option valuation model, taking into 
account the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted. 

The amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the actual 
number of awards for which the related service and non-market vesting 
conditions are expected to be met, such that the amount ultimately 
recognised as an expense is based on the number of awards that do 

meet the related service and non-market performance conditions at  
the vesting date. For share-based payment awards with non-vesting 
conditions, the grant date fair value of the share-based payment is 
measured to reflect such conditions and there is no true up for 
differences between expected and actual outcomes.

Share-based payment transactions in which the Group receives goods 
or services by incurring a liability to transfer cash or other assets that is 
based on the price of the Group’s equity instruments are accounted for 
as cash-settled share-based payments. The fair value of the amount 
payable to employees is recognised as an expense, with a corresponding 
increase in liabilities, over the period in which the employees become 
unconditionally entitled to payment. The liability is remeasured at each 
statement of financial position date and at settlement date. Any changes 
in the fair value of the liability are recognised as an employee cost in the 
income statement.

u) Discontinued operations and disposals
A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business,  
the operations and cash flows of which can be clearly distinguished  
from the rest of the Group, and which:

  Represents a separate major line of business or geographical area  
of operations;

  Is part of a single coordinated plan to dispose of a separate major 
line of business or geographical area of operations; or

  Is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to re-sale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs on disposal or when 
the operation meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale, if earlier.

When an operation is classified as a discontinued operation,  
the comparative statement of comprehensive income is represented  
as if the operation had been discontinued from the start of the 
comparative year.

v) Critical accounting estimates and judgements
Estimates are evaluated continually and are based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events 
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The Group 
makes estimates and assumptions about the future. The resulting 
accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related  
actual results. 

Management have exercised judgement in applying the Group’s 
accounting policies and in making critical estimates. The underlying 
assumptions on which these judgements are based are reviewed on an 
ongoing basis and include the selection of assumptions in relation to  
the retirement benefit obligation and assumptions for future growth 
of cash flows to support the value in use calculations for the goodwill 
impairment review.

The principal estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year are discussed below:

Retirement benefit obligation
The Group’s retirement benefit obligation, which is actuarially assessed 
each period, is based on key assumptions including return on plan assets, 
discount rates, mortality rates, inflation, future salary and pension costs. 
These assumptions may be different to the actual outcome. 

The following are other principal estimates and assumptions made by 
the Group, but which management believe do not have a significant risk 
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year:

Goodwill 
The Group tests goodwill for impairment annually. The recoverable 
amounts of cash generating units have been determined based  
on value in use calculations which require the use of estimates  
(see note 28). Management has prepared discounted cash flows  
based on the latest strategic plan. 

Intangibles
The Group has significant software development programmes and there 
is judgement in relation to which programmes and costs to capitalise 
under IAS 38. Additionally, there is an estimate in respect of the future 
usage period of software on which the Group bases the useful economic 
life of related assets.
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1.  Basis of preparation and accounting policies 
continued

1.3 Accounting policies continued 

Insurance technical provisions
The Group’s insurance technical provisions are an estimate of the 
expected ultimate cost of claims as at the statement of financial position 
date and the cost of claims incurred but not yet reported to the Group. 
The estimation of these claims is based on historical experience 
projected forward using actuarial projection methodologies which 
incorporate various assumptions. It can take a significant period of time 
before the ultimate cost of claims can be established with certainty,  
and the final outcome may be better or worse than that provided.

Share-based payments
The Group has issued a number of share-based payment awards to 
employees which are measured at fair value. Calculating the share-based  
payment charge for the year involves estimating the number of awards 
expected to vest, which in turn involves estimating the number of expected 
leavers over the vesting period and the extent to which non-market-
based performance conditions will be met. Determining the fair value  
of an award with a market-based performance condition also involves 
factoring in the impact of the expected volatility of the share price.

Contingent consideration (see note 19)
The Group calculates contingent consideration based on the probability-
weighted payout approach. This approach involves estimating future 
cash flow scenarios and using management judgement to assess the 
likelihood of each scenario.

Leases

As described further in note 1.3(w), on adoption of IFRS 16 the Group 
recognised lease liabilities in relation to leases which had previously 
been classified as ‘operating leases’ under the principles of IAS 17 
Leases. These liabilities were measured at the present value of the 
remaining lease payments, discounted using the Group’s incremental 
borrowing rate as of 1 February 2019. Management’s approach to 
determining the Group’s incremental borrowing rate for a right-of-use 
asset involves using data provided by the Group’s external advisors on 
the rate of interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a 
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain 
an asset of a similar value to the relevant right-of use asset.

Except for the incremental borrowing rate, the principal estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying value amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial period are consistent with those disclosed in the financial 
statements for the year ended 31 January 2019. 

w) Changes in significant accounting policies
IFRS 16 ‘Leases’
On 1 February 2019, the Group adopted IFRS 16 ‘Leases’, which replaced 
IAS 17 ‘Leases’. The Group has not restated comparative information for 
prior periods as permitted under the specific transition provisions in the 
standard. The reclassifications and the adjustments arising from the  
new leasing rules are therefore recognised in the opening statement 
of financial position on 1 February 2019.

On adoption of IFRS 16, the Group recognised lease liabilities in relation 
to leases which had previously been classified as operating leases under 
the principles of IAS 17. These liabilities were measured at the present 
value of the remaining lease payments, discounted using the lessee’s 
incremental borrowing rate as of 1 February 2019. 

For leases previously classified as finance leases the Group recognised 
the carrying amount of the lease asset and lease liability immediately 
before transition as the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset and  
the lease liability at the date of initial application. The measurement 
principles of IFRS 16 are only applied after that date. This has not resulted 
in any remeasurement adjustments to lease liabilities or the related 
right-of-use assets in respect of leases previously classified as finance 
leases under IAS 17.

Practical expedients applied
In applying IFRS 16 for the first time, the Group has used the following 
practical expedients permitted by the standard:

  applying a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably 
similar characteristics 

  relying on previous assessments on whether leases are onerous as  
an alternative to performing an impairment review

  accounting for operating leases with a remaining lease term of less  
than 12 months as at 1 February 2019 as short-term leases 

  excluding initial direct costs for the measurement of the right-of-use 
asset at the date of initial application, and 

  using hindsight in determining the lease term where the contract 
contains options to extend or terminate the lease.

The Group has also elected not to reassess whether a contract 
previously accounted for as a finance lease is or contains a lease at the 
date of initial application. Instead, for contracts entered into before  
the transition date, the Group relied on its assessment made applying  
IAS 17 and Interpretation 4 ‘Determining whether an Arrangement 
contains a Lease’. 

Measurement of lease liabilities
£m

Operating lease commitments disclosed at 31 January 2019 
 (not recognised in statement of financial position) 40
(Less): short-term and low-value leases not recognised  
as a liability –

40
(Less): discount using the lessee’s incremental borrowing 
 rate at the date of initial application (14)
Discounted lease liabilities not recognised as at 31 January 2019 26
Add: finance lease liabilities recognised as at 31 January 2019 61
Lease liability recognised at 1 February 2019 87
Comprising:
Current lease liabilities 52
Non-current lease liabilities 35

87

Measurement of right-of-use assets
The associated right-of-use assets for property leases were measured 
on a retrospective basis as if the new rules had always been applied. 
Other right-of-use assets were measured at the amount equal to the 
lease liability, adjusted by the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease 
payments relating to that lease recognised in the statement of financial 
position as at 31 January 2019.

Subsequently the right-of-use assets will be depreciated over their 
remaining lease terms.

Adjustments recognised in the statement of financial position  
on 1 February 2019
The change in accounting policy affected the following items in the 
statement of financial position on 1 February 2019:

  Property, plant and equipment – decrease of £66m

  Right-of-use assets – increase of £89m

  Lease incentive accrual – decrease of £2m

  Onerous lease provision – decrease of £1m

  Lease liabilities – increase of £26m

The net impact on retained earnings on 1 February 2019 was £nil.

Impact on segment disclosures and earnings per share
Trading EBITDA for the 2020 financial year increased as a result of the 
change in accounting policy. The following segments were affected by 
the change in policy:

2020 
£m

Roadside 3
Insurance –
Total IFRS 16 impact on Trading EBITDA 3

In addition to the segmental impact, depreciation has increased by £3m 
and finance costs by £1m as a result of IFRS 16. Earnings per share was 
0.2p lower for the 2020 financial year as a result of the adoption of IFRS 16.
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2 Segmental information and revenue disaggregation
The Group has two key segments – Roadside and Insurance. Head Office costs have been allocated to these two key segments as these costs 
principally directly support the operations of these segments. Head office costs are predominately allocated on a percentage of revenue basis. 

The two reportable operating segments are as follows:

  Roadside: This segment is the largest part of the AA business. The AA provides a nationwide service, sending patrols out to members stranded at 
the side of the road, repairing their vehicles where possible and getting them back on their way quickly and safely. In addition, this segment includes 
the AA and BSM driving schools and DriveTech which provides driver training and educative programmes.

  Insurance: This segment includes the insurance brokerage activities of the AA, primarily in arranging motor and home insurance for customers and 
its intermediary financial services business. This segment also includes the insurance underwriting and reinsurance activities of the AA. 

2020  
£m

2019  
£m

Revenue
Roadside 841 841
Insurance 154 138
Revenue 995 979

Trading EBITDA
Roadside 290 283
Insurance 60 58
Trading EBITDA 350 341
Share-based payments (see note 36) (5) (5)
Contingent consideration remeasurement gain (see note 19) 9 1
Pension service charge adjustment (see note 3) (4) (5)
Amortisation and depreciation (see notes 11, 13, 14) (89) (73)
Operating profit before adjusting operating items 261 259
Adjusting operating items (see note 5) (4) (40)
Operating profit 257 219
Net finance costs (see note 6 and 7) (150) (166)
Profit before tax 107 53

All segments operate principally in the UK. Revenue by destination is not materially different from revenue by origin.

Segment performance is primarily evaluated using the Group’s key performance measures of Revenue and Trading EBITDA as well as operating profit 
before adjusting operating items. 

Adjusting operating items, net finance costs and tax expense are not allocated to individual segments as they are managed on a group basis.

Segmental information is not presented for items in the statement of financial position as management does not view this information on a  
segmental basis. 

Roadside Insurance

Operating profit before adjusting operating items
2020  

£m
2019  

£m
2020  

£m
2019  

£m

Trading EBITDA 290 283 60 58
Share-based payments (2) (4) (3) (1)
Pension service charge adjustment (4) (5) – –
Contingent consideration remeasurement gain 9 1 – –
Amortisation and depreciation (79) (66) (10) (7)
Operating profit before adjusting operating items 214 209 47 50
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2 Segmental information and revenue disaggregation continued
Disaggregation of revenue: 

2020  
£m

2019  
£m

Roadside:
Consumer (B2C) 
  Insured contracts 486 482
  Pay for use contracts1 47 48

Business Services (B2B)
  Insured contracts 33 36
  Pay for use contracts1 171 178

Roadside other
  DriveTech 42 42
  Driving Schools 20 21
  Other 42 34

Total Roadside 841 841
Insurance:
  Brokering activities 126 119
  Insurance underwriting 28 19

Total Insurance 154 138
Revenue 995 979

1  Pay for use contracts relate to contracts that take into account the number of breakdowns.

Roadside B2C and B2B mostly consists of revenue from roadside membership subscriptions. The majority of brokering activities revenue relates to 
commission income from insurers external to the Group, whereas insurance underwriting largely consists of premiums receivable on underwritten 
insurance products. 

For further detail on the Group’s revenue streams see the ‘Our Performance’ section of the annual report on pages 30 to 32, and the ‘Risk Management’ 
section of the annual report on pages 38 to 42 for the different risks associated with each.

3 Adjusted performance measures
These financial statements report results and performance both on a statutory and non-GAAP (non-statutory) basis. The Group’s adjusted 
performance measures are non-GAAP (non-statutory) financial measures and are included in these financial statements as they are key financial 
measures used by management to evaluate performance of business segments. The measures enable investors to more easily and consistently track 
the underlying operational performance of the Group and its business segments. Some of the measures are also required under our debt documents 
for debt covenant calculations. 

Trading EBITDA is profit after tax on a continuing basis as reported, adjusted for depreciation, amortisation, adjusting operating items, share-based 
payments, pension service charge adjustments, net finance costs, contingent consideration remeasurement movements and tax expense. 

The pension service charge adjustment relates to the difference between the cash contributions to the pension scheme for ongoing contributions  
and the calculated annual service costs.

Reconciliation of Trading EBITDA to operating profit
Trading EBITDA is calculated as operating profit before adjustments as shown in the table below:

For the year ended 31 January

Note
2020  

£m
2019  

£m

Trading EBITDA 2 350 341
Share-based payments 36 (5) (5)
Contingent consideration remeasurement gain 19 9 1
Pension service charge adjustment (4) (5)
Amortisation and depreciation 11,13,14 (89) (73)
Adjusting operating items 5 (4) (40)
Operating profit 4 257 219

Trading EBITDA excludes discontinued operations and the effects of significant items of income and expenditure which may have an impact on the 
quality of earnings, such as restructuring costs, legal expenses and impairments when the impairment is the result of an isolated, non-recurring event. 
It also excludes the effects of share-based payments, contingent consideration remeasurement gains or losses, defined benefit pension service 
charge adjustments, amortisation, depreciation and unrealised gains or losses on financial instruments. 

These specific adjustments are made between the GAAP measure of operating profit and the non-GAAP measure of Trading EBITDA because Trading 
EBITDA is a performance measure required and clearly defined under the terms of our debt documents and is used for calculating our debt covenants. 
Given the significance of the Group debt, Trading EBITDA is a key measure for our bondholders and therefore management. In addition, the Group 
shows Trading EBITDA to enable investors and management to more easily and consistently track the underlying operational performance of the 
Group and its business segments.



O
ur B

usiness
G

overnance
Financial Statem

ents
O

ur Perform
ance

AA plc Annual Report and Accounts 2020 107

3 Adjusted performance measures continued
Adjusted earnings per share
Adjusted earnings per share adjusts profit after tax for items that are either discontinued operations, one-off in nature or relate to transactions that do 
not form part of the ongoing performance of the Group. 

Adjusted profit before tax is included as a non-GAAP measure as it is used by management to evaluate performance and by investors to more easily 
and consistently track the underlying performance of the Group. Adjusted earnings per share is calculated as adjusted profit after tax divided by the 
weighted average number of shares.

2020 2019 

Profit after tax as reported (£m) 87 42
Adjusted for:
Adjusting operating items (see note 5) (£m) 4 40
Share-based payments (see note 36) (£m) 5 5
Contingent consideration remeasurement gain (see note 19) (£m) (9) (1)
Pension service charge adjustment (£m) 4 5
Adjusting finance costs (see note 6) (£m) – 13
Adjusting finance income (see note 7) (£m) (4) –
Tax expense (see note 9) (£m) 20 11
Adjusted profit before tax (£m) 107 115
Tax at the effective rate of 18.7% (2019: 20.8%) (£m) (20) (24)
Adjusted profit after tax (£m) 87 91
Weighted average number of shares outstanding (millions) 615 612
Adjusted basic earnings per share (pence) 14.1 14.9
Weighted average number of diluted ordinary shares (see note 10) (millions) 634 612
Adjusted diluted earnings per share (pence) 13.7 14.9

4  Operating profit
Operating profit is stated after charging:

2020  
£m

2019  
£m

Amortisation of owned intangible assets (see note 11) 46 33
Impairment of software (see note 11) – 5
Depreciation of owned tangible fixed assets (see note 13) 14 15
Depreciation of leased tangible fixed assets (see note 13) – 25
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (see note 14) 29 –
Operating lease rentals payable – land and buildings – 4

5 Adjusting operating items 
2020  

£m
2019  

£m

Pension past service cost (see note 27) – 22
Impairment of intangible fixed assets (see note 11) – 5
Other adjusting operating items 4 13
Total adjusting operating items 4 40

In the current year, other adjusting operating items comprised £6m related to strategic review projects, £2m related to conduct and regulatory costs 
(see note 23) and £1m related to legal disputes offset by a £2m gain on the disposal of 51% of AA Media Limited and £3m gain on the disposal of other 
non-current assets.

In the prior year, other adjusting operating items comprised £7m related to strategic review projects, £2m related to conduct and regulatory costs,  
£1m related to legal disputes, £1m related to corporate transactions, £2m related to customer compensation, £1m of additional onerous property 
costs and £1m gain on the disposal of non-current assets.

In the prior year the Group recognised a one-off pension past service cost of £22m as a result of Guaranteed Minimum Pension (GMP) equalisation 
(see note 27) and an impairment charge against software assets of £5m (see note 11). 

Costs from the prior year refinancing in July 2018 were directly attributable to the issue and repayment of loan notes and have therefore been included 
either in finance costs or in borrowings as debt issue fees (see notes 6 and 21). 
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6 Finance costs 
2020  

£m
2019  

£m

Interest on external borrowings 129 127
Finance charges payable on lease liabilities 5 4
Total ongoing cash finance costs 134 131
Ongoing amortisation of debt issue fees 14 15
Fair value movement on interest rate swaps 1 –
Contingent consideration movements 1 2
Net finance expense on defined benefit pension schemes 5 6
Total ongoing non-cash finance costs 21 23
Debt repayment penalties – 15
Transfer from cash flow hedge reserve for extinguishment of cash flow hedge – (8)
Debt issue fees immediately written off following repayment of borrowings (see note 21) – 6
Adjusting finance costs – 13
Total finance costs 155 167

During the prior year, the Group repaid £300m of Class A3 notes. As a result, the Group incurred an early repayment penalty of £15m.

During the prior year, £6m of amortised debt issue fees were immediately written off following the refinancing. 

During the prior year, the Group also repaid £250m of the Senior Term Facility and transferred the £8m gain in fair value of the cash flow hedges 
related to the repayment to the income statement. 

7 Finance income
2020  

£m
2019  

£m

Interest receivable from financial assets held for cash management purposes 1 1
Total ongoing cash finance income 1 1
Net gain on settlement of debt (see note 21) 4 –
Adjusting finance income 4 –
Total finance income 5 1

8 Employee costs
2020  

£m
2019  

£m

Wages and salaries 254 249
Social security costs 26 27
Other pension costs 31 30
Share-based payments expense (see note 36) 5 5

316 311

In the prior year the pension past service cost of £22m was excluded from retirement benefit costs above (see note 27).

The average monthly number of persons employed under contracts of service during the year was:
2020 2019

Operational 6,313 6,214
Management and administration 1,223 1,273

7,536 7,487



O
ur B

usiness
G

overnance
Financial Statem

ents
O

ur Perform
ance

AA plc Annual Report and Accounts 2020 109

9 Tax
The major components of the income tax expense are:

2020  
£m

2019  
£m

Consolidated income statement 
Current income tax
Current income tax charge 16 7
Adjustments in respect of prior years – 1

16 8
Deferred tax
Origination and reversal of temporary differences 4 5
Adjustments in respect of prior years – (2)

4 3
Tax expense in the income statement 20 11

2020  
£m

2019  
£m

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Tax on the effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges – (1)
Tax on remeasurements of defined benefit pension liability 7 5
Income tax charged directly to other comprehensive income 7 4

2020  
£m

2019  
£m

Consolidated statement of changes in equity
Tax on implementation of IFRS 9 – 2
Deferred tax recognised directly in equity – 2

Reconciliation of tax expense to profit before tax multiplied by UK’s corporation tax rate
2020  

£m
2019 

£m

Profit before tax 107 53

Tax at rate of 19% (2019: 19%) 20 10
Adjustments relating to prior years – (1)
Expenses not deductible/(chargeable) for tax purposes:
  Share-based payments – 1
  Amounts relating to acquisitions and disposals (1) –
  Other non-deductible expenses/non-taxed income 1 1

Income tax expense reported in the consolidated income statement at effective rate of 18.7% (2019: 20.8%) 20 11

Deferred tax by type of temporary difference
Consolidated statement of  

financial position
Consolidated  

income statement
2020 

£m
2019  

£m
2020  

£m
2019  

£m

Accelerated depreciation for tax purposes 7 9 – (1)
Revaluations of land and buildings to fair value (1) (1) – –
Rollover relief (2) (2) – –
Pension (6) 3 2 (2)
Revaluation of cashflow hedges – – – 3
Short-term temporary differences 5 4 (1) –
Losses available for offsetting against future taxable income 6 9 3 3
Deferred tax expense 4 3
Net deferred tax assets 9 22
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9 Tax continued
Reconciliation of net deferred tax assets

2020  
£m

2019  
£m

At 1 February 22 31
Tax expense recognised in the income statement (4) (3)
Tax expense recognised in other comprehensive income (7) (4)
Deferred tax liability on acquisition of subsidiary (see note 12) (2) –
Deferred tax recognised directly in equity – (2)
At 31 January 9 22

The Group offsets tax assets and liabilities if and only if it has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the 
deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority.

The UK corporation tax rate was expected to reduce from 19% to 17% on 1 April 2020. These rates had been substantively enacted at the statement 
of financial position date and have therefore been included in the deferred tax calculations. The March 2020 budget announced that the reduction in 
tax rate would be cancelled and the 19% rate retained after 1 April 2020. The effect of cancelling the tax rate reduction would increase the value of the 
deferred tax asset by £1m.

Deferred tax has been recognised at an overall rate of 17.0% at 31 January 2020 (2019: 17.2%). The rate has been adjusted to reflect the expected 
reversal profile of the Group’s temporary differences. 

The Group has carried forward tax losses which arose in the UK of £36m (deferred tax equivalent £6m) (2019: £52m tax losses, deferred tax 
equivalent £9m) that are available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. A deferred tax 
asset has been recognised in respect of these losses. A further £1m (2019: £1m) deferred tax asset relating to other tax losses has not been recognised 
due to the uncertainty of the availability of suitable future profits to enable recovery.

The new corporate interest restriction legislation was introduced with effect from 1 April 2017. As the majority of the Group activity is taxed within the 
UK, these restrictions have not had a significant impact on the deductibility of the Group’s interest or the Group’s tax charge.

10 Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share amounts are calculated by dividing net profit for the year attributable to ordinary shareholders by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the year. 

2020 2019

Basic earnings per share:
Profit after tax from total operations (£m) 87 42
Weighted average number of shares outstanding (millions) 615 612
Basic earnings per share from total operations (pence) 14.1 6.9

For diluted earnings per share, the weighted average number of ordinary shares is adjusted to assume conversion of all potential dilutive ordinary shares. 

Under the Group’s Employee Share Incentive Plan, shares are purchased monthly at market value and therefore any dilution is immediately accounted 
for in the earnings per share. In addition, matching shares are issued monthly and placed into the Employee Benefit Trust therefore any dilution is 
immediately accounted for in the earnings per share and the issue of matching shares has no further dilutive effect. As at 31 January 2020, there are  
no outstanding shares to be issued under these schemes that are potentially dilutive.

The Group had another class of potentially dilutive ordinary shares relating to the Management Value Participation (‘MVP’) shares. As the vesting 
conditions for all classes of MVP shares were not met following the final testing date of 27 June 2019, the shares were not dilutive. At 31 January 2019, 
based on the average market value of ordinary shares for the period, it was considered that the MVP shares were unlikely to vest and so were not dilutive 
in the prior year. The MVP shares lapsed on 27 June 2019 and were converted into deferred shares.

As at 31 January 2020, the Performance Share Plan (‘PSP’) 2019 and Insurance Long Term Bonus Plan (‘Insurance LTBP’) share schemes (see note 36) 
are considered to be potentially dilutive and are included in the diluted earnings per share below. There are no further classes of share that we believe 
will have a material dilutive impact as at 31 January 2020.

2020 2019

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue (millions) 615 612
Potentially dilutive shares (millions) 19 –
Weighted average number of diluted ordinary shares (millions) 634 612
Diluted earnings per share from total operations (pence) 13.7 6.9

Adjusted earnings per share adjusts profit after tax for items that are either one-off in nature or relate to transactions that do not form part of the 
ongoing performance of the Group (see note 3). 
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11 Goodwill and other intangible assets

Goodwill  
£m

Customer 
relationships

£m
Software  

£m
Total  

£m

Cost 
At 1 February 2018 1,197 – 254 1,451
Additions – – 69 69
Disposals – – (66) (66)
At 31 January 2019 1,197 – 257 1,454
Additions – 11 58 69
Disposals – – (14) (14)
At 31 January 2020 1,197 11 301 1,509

Accumulated amortisation and impairment
At 1 February 2018 27 – 124 151
Amortisation – – 33 33
Impairment – – 5 5
Disposals – – (66) (66)
At 31 January 2019 27 – 96 123
Amortisation – 1 45 46
Disposals – – (14) (14)
At 31 January 2020 27 1 127 155

Net book value 
At 31 January 2020 1,170 10 174 1,354
At 31 January 2019 1,170 – 161 1,331

Within software, £29m (2019: £58m) relates to assets under construction which are not amortised.

Software additions comprise £12m (2019: £11m) in relation to internally developed assets and £46m (2019: £58m) in relation to separately acquired assets. 

During the prior year, there was an impairment charge against software assets of £5m. This related to the impairment of certain software assets as it 
was determined that those particular assets would no longer be used.

Amortisation costs are included within administrative and marketing expenses in the income statement.

An annual impairment review has been performed over the goodwill balance, see note 28 for details. 

12 Business combinations
Acquisitions during the year ended 31 January 2020 
On 1 February 2019, the Group completed the purchase of the entire share capital of Prestige Motor Care Holdings Limited and its three wholly owned 
subsidiaries Prestige Fleet Servicing Limited, Prestige Car Servicing Limited and Prestige Motor Care Limited for cash consideration of £11m.

On acquisition, assets and liabilities acquired included £3m cash and £2m trade and other payables. Goodwill of £10m was initially recognised but 
was subsequently reallocated within the permitted measurement period, comprising additions of £11m to customer relationships, £1m to software and 
£2m to deferred tax liabilities. At the point of acquisition, the combined fair value of net assets acquired was therefore £11m, which resulted in £nil 
goodwill being recognised. The net outflow of cash to acquire these subsidiaries was £8m.

Prestige Motor Care Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries generated a combined revenue of £18m for the year ended 31 January 2020.

Acquisitions during the year ended 31 January 2019 
There were no acquisitions during the year ended 31 January 2019.

Disposals during the year ended 31 January 2020
On 29 March 2019, the Group completed the sale of 51% of the share capital of AA Media Limited. See note 5 and note 29 for further details.

Disposals during the year ended 31 January 2019
There were no disposals during the year ended 31 January 2019.
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13 Property, plant and equipment
Freehold  

land & buildings  
£m

Long leasehold 
land & buildings  

£m
Vehicles  

£m

Plant &  
equipment  

£m
Total  

£m

Cost 
At 1 February 2018 24 7 104 104 239
Additions – 5 34 7 46
Disposals – – (25) (25) (50)
At 31 January 2019 24 12 113 86 235
Adjustment for change in accounting policy (see note 1.3(w)) – – (111) (8) (119)
At 1 February 2019 restated 24 12 2 78 116
Additions – – 2 7 9
Reclassification – (5) – 5 –
Disposals – – – (10) (10)
At 31 January 2020 24 7 4 80 115

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 February 2018 8 4 36 64 112
Charge for the year – – 26 14 40
Disposals – – (15) (25) (40)
At 31 January 2019 8 4 47 53 112
Adjustment for change in accounting policy (see note 1.3(w)) – – (45) (8) (53)
At 1 February 2019 restated 8 4 2 45 59
Charge for the year 1 – 2 11 14
Disposals – – – (10) (10)
At 31 January 2020 9 4 4 46 63

Net book value 
At 31 January 2020 15 3 – 34 52
At 31 January 2019 16 8 66 33 123

Within plant and equipment £3m (2019: £4m) and within buildings on long leasehold land £nil (2019: £5m) relates to assets under construction which 
are not depreciated.

14 Right-of-use assets
This note provides information for leases where the Group is a lessee. Under IFRS 16, right-of-use assets are recognised in the statement of financial 
position in respect of leased assets. The Group has therefore recognised right-of-use assets in the statement of financial position from the Group’s 
date of transition to IFRS 16, being 1 February 2019.

Property
£m

Vehicles
£m

Plant & 
equipment

£m
Total  

£m

Cost
At 1 February 2019 – – – –
Adjustment for change in accounting policy (see note 1.3(w)) 23 111 8 142
At 1 February 2019 restated 23 111 8 142
Additions 4 33 – 37
Disposals – (71) – (71)
At 31 January 2020 27 73 8 108

Accumulated depreciation and impairment
At 1 February 2019 – – – –
Adjustment for change in accounting policy (see note 1.3(w)) – 45 8 53
At 1 February 2019 restated – 45 8 53
Charge for the year 3 26 – 29
Disposals – (43) – (43)
At 31 January 2020 3 28 8 39

Net book value 
At 31 January 2020 24 45 – 69
At 31 January 2019 – – – –
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15 Investments in joint ventures and associates
2020 2019

Joint 
ventures  

£m
Associates  

£m
Total  

£m 

Joint 
ventures  

£m
Associates  

£m
Total  

£m 

At 1 February 1 4 5 4 4 8
Disposals – – – (2) – (2)
Dividend received – – – (1) – (1)
At 31 January 1 4 5 1 4 5

The joint ventures of the Group which are indirectly held are detailed below. Except where otherwise stated, the share capital of each joint venture 
consists of only ordinary shares.

Company Country of registration Nature of business

AA Law Limited (49% interest held)1 England Insurance services 
Intelematics Europe Limited (32% interest held)2 England Roadside services
AA Media Limited (49% interest held)3 England Roadside services

1  The Group exercises joint control over AA Law Limited through its equal representation on the Board. AA Law Limited has A and B ordinary shares.

2  The Group exercises joint control over Intelematics Europe Limited through its joint influence over key decision-making. Intelematics Europe Limited has A and B ordinary shares.

3 The Group exercises joint control over AA Media Limited through its equal representation on the Board. AA Media Limited has A ordinary shares.

The associates of the Group are listed below. Except where otherwise stated, the share capital of each associate consists of only ordinary shares.

Company Country of registration Nature of business

ARC Europe SA (20% interest held) Belgium Roadside services

During the 2019 financial year, the Group disposed of its investment in TVS Auto Assist (India) Limited.

16 Inventories
2020  

£m
2019  

£m

Finished goods 4 4
4 4

17 Trade and other receivables
2020  

£m
2019  

£m

Current
Trade receivables 143 142
Deferred consideration – 3
Prepayments 24 18
Contract assets 16 17
Reinsurers’ share of insurance liabilities (see note 24) 67 39
Other receivables 7 4

257 223

Trade receivables include £90m (2019: £80m) relating to amounts due from insurance broking customers.

Reinsurers’ share of insurance liability comprises £35m (2019: £17m) in relation to the provision for unearned premiums and £32m (2019: £22m) 
in relation to claims outstanding. 

18 Cash and cash equivalents
2020  

£m
2019  

£m

Ring-fenced cash at bank and in hand – available 62 12
Ring-fenced cash at bank and in hand – restricted 40 8
Non ring-fenced cash at bank and in hand – available 27 68
Non ring-fenced cash at bank and in hand – restricted 30 28
Cash and cash equivalents as presented in consolidated statement of cash flows 159 116
Less: presented as assets held for sale (see note 38) (10) –
Cash and cash equivalents as presented in consolidated statement of financial position 149 116

Ring-fenced cash and cash equivalents relate to cash held within the WBS by AA Intermediate Co Limited and its subsidiaries. Dividends can only be 
paid to AA plc when certain debt to Trading EBITDA and cash flow criteria are met. 

Restricted cash is cash which is subject to contractual or regulatory restrictions. The Group has restricted cash balances both inside and outside of 
the WBS ring-fence. Restricted cash consists of £38m (2019: £36m) held by and on behalf of the Group’s insurance businesses which are subject to 
contractual or regulatory restrictions, which generated £1m (2019: £nil) of other income, and £32m (2019: £nil) held in a separate bank account due  
to a requirement under the terms of the Group’s debt documents. The requirement is to deposit a calculated amount of ‘excess cash’ at the year end 
when within an ‘accumulation period’ (the 12 months before which any borrowings become due). This applies to the Class A3 notes which are due on 
31 July 2020 (see note 20). On 23 April 2020, the Group announced that it had drawn down in full its £200m Senior Term Facility ahead of the planned 
refinancing of the remaining £200m Class A3 Notes (see note 39). Therefore, if not required, the excess cash will be returned to available cash on 
31 July 2020. 
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19 Trade and other payables 
2020  

£m
2019  

£m

Current 
Trade payables 112 88
Other taxes and social security costs 29 12
Accruals 59 61
Deferred income 219 233
Deferred consideration 1 2
Provision for unearned premiums in Insurance Underwriting (see note 24) 46 26
Other payables 29 40

495 462
Non-current
Deferred consideration – 10

Trade payables include £72m (2019: £63m) relating to amounts due to underwriters in respect of insurance broking activities.

Deferred income primarily relates to roadside subscriptions deferred on a time apportionment basis. Of the revenue recognised in the year, £217m 
(2019: £221m) was included within deferred income at the beginning of the year.

Current and non-current deferred consideration relates to the acquisition of Used Car Sites Limited (AA Cars). During the current year, £2m deferred 
consideration was paid and the remaining value of the deferred consideration was settled at £1m resulting in a £9m contingent consideration 
remeasurement gain being recognised in operating profit (see note 3).

Included in deferred income is £12m (2019: £15m) which will be released over a period more than 12 months from the statement of financial position date.

20 Borrowings and loans
2020  

£m
2019  

£m

Current
Borrowings (see note 21) 200 –

Non-current
Borrowings (see note 21) 2,506 2,724

2,706 2,724

The current borrowing of £200m relates to the Class A3 notes for which the expected maturity date is 31 July 2020. This repayment of borrowings  
can be fully funded by a committed forward starting Senior Term Facility of £200m, which was undrawn at 31 January 2020 and has a maturity date  
of 31 July 2023.

21 Borrowings 

Expected maturity date Interest rate
Principal  

£m
Issue costs 

£m

Amortised 
issue costs 

£m

Total at 
31 January 

2020
£m

Total at  
31 January 

2019  
£m

Class A2 notes 31 July 2025 6.27% 500 (1) 1 500 500
Class A3 notes 31 July 2020 4.25% 200 (1) 1 200 200
Class A5 notes 31 January 2022 2.88% 697 (47) 27 677 670
Class A6 notes 31 July 2023 2.75% 250 (4) 2 248 247
Class A7 notes 31 July 2024 4.88% 550 (8) 2 544 543

Class B2 notes 31 July 2022 5.50% 570 (16) 12 566 564
4.52% 2,767 (77) 45 2,735 2,724

Class B2 notes Repurchased (5.50%) (29) 1 (1) (29) –
4.51% 2,738 (76) 44 2,706 2,724

At 31 January 2020, all borrowings have fixed interest rates. The weighted average interest rate for all borrowings of 4.51% has been calculated using 
the interest rate and principal values on 31 January 2020.

On 8 February 2019, the Group drew down £15m of its working capital facility. This was repaid on 22 March 2019.

During the period 28 February 2019 to 1 March 2019, the Group completed the purchase of £23m of Class B2 notes in AA Bond Co Limited for cash 
consideration of £20m, resulting in a £3m gain on settlement of debt accounted for in finance income (see note 7). On 23 December 2019, the Group 
completed the purchase of a further £6m of Class B2 notes in AA Bond Co Limited for cash consideration of £5m, resulting in a further £1m gain on 
settlement of debt (see note 7). The Group have recognised this as a reduction in borrowings. This has been presented in a separate line in the above 
summary table as the asset is held by the Group outside of the WBS, but is linked to the Class B2 notes shown above which are held by the Group 
within the WBS. The current restrictions of the WBS prevent the Class B2 notes from being purchased by an entity within the WBS and cancelled 
through settlement.

On 23 December 2019, the Group completed the purchase of £3m of Class A5 notes in AA Bond Co Limited for cash consideration of £3m. These notes 
were purchased within the WBS by AA Bond Co Limited and were therefore subsequently cancelled.

On 5 February 2020, the Group issued £325m of Class A8 notes at an interest rate of 5.50% in exchange for £325m of Class A5 notes. This refinancing 
transaction is an event after the reporting period and will be accounted for in the 2021 financial year. See note 39 for further detail.
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21 Borrowings continued 
In order to show the Group net borrowings, the notes and the issue costs have been offset. Issue costs are shown net of any premium on the issue  
of borrowings. Interest rate swaps are recognised in the statement of financial position at fair value at the year end.

All of the Class A notes are secured by first ranking security in respect of the undertakings and assets of AA Intermediate Co Limited and its subsidiaries. 
The Class A facility security over the AA Intermediate Co Limited group’s assets ranks ahead of the Class B2 notes. The Class B2 notes have first ranking 
security over the assets of the immediate parent undertaking of the AA Intermediate Co Limited group, AA Mid Co Limited. AA Mid Co Limited can only 
pay a dividend when certain Net Debt to Trading EBITDA and cash flow criteria are met. 

Any voluntary repayment of the Class B2 notes would be made at a fixed premium until 31 July 2020 after which there would be no premium to pay  
on redemption. Any voluntary early repayments of the Class A notes would incur a make-whole payment of all interest due to expected maturity  
date, except the Class A5, Class A6 and Class A7 notes which can be settled without penalty within three months, two months and three months 
respectively of the expected maturity date.

All of the Group loan notes are listed on the Irish Stock Exchange. 

 In order to comply with the requirements of the Class A notes, the Group is required to maintain the Class A free cash flow to debt service ratio in 
excess of 1.35x. The actual Class A free cash flow to debt service ratio as at 31 January 2020 was 3.4x (2019: 2.6x). The Class B2 notes require the 
Group to maintain the Class B2 free cash flow to debt service ratio in excess of 1.0x. The actual Class B2 free cash flow to debt service ratio as at  
31 January 2020 was 2.5x (2019: 1.9x).

The Class A notes only permit the release of cash providing the Senior Leverage ratio after payment is less than 5.5x and providing there is sufficient 
excess cash flow to cover the payment. The actual Senior Leverage ratio as at 31 January 2020 was 6.2x (2019: 6.5x). The Class B2 notes restrictions 
only permit the release of cash providing the Fixed Charge Coverage ratio after payment is more than 2:1 and providing that the aggregate payments 
do not exceed 50% of the accumulated consolidated net income. The actual Fixed Charge Coverage ratio as at 31 January 2020 was 2.6x (2019: 2.6x). 

The Class A and Class B2 notes therefore place restrictions on the Group’s ability to upstream cash from the key trading companies to pay external 
dividends and finance activities unconstrained by the restrictions embedded in the debts.

On 5 February 2020, S&P Global Ratings reaffirmed the credit rating of the Group’s Class A notes at BBB- and the Class B2 notes at B+. On 23 April 
2020, as part of the Senior Term Facility drawdown process (see note 39), the Group announced that S&P confirmed the credit rating on the Class A 
Notes at BBB-.

In addition to the Senior Term Facility, the Group has significant further liquidity available from £225m banking facilities, of which £221m remains 
undrawn at the year end.

22 Derivative financial instruments 
2020  

£m
2019  

£m

Liabilities
Forward fuel contracts (2) –

(2) –

The forward fuel contracts liability is shown on a net basis as the liability is settled on a net basis. On a gross basis, the asset is £nil (2019: £nil) and the 
liability is £2m (2019: £nil). 

23 Provisions

Property  
leases  

£m
Restructuring  

£m

Duplicate 
breakdown  

cover  
£m

Other  
£m

Total  
£m

At 1 February 2018 6 10 1 – 17
Utilised during the year (2) (9) (1) – (12)
Released during the year – (1) – – (1)
Charge for the year 1 – – 2 3
At 31 January 2019 5 – – 2 7
Reclassification – – – 6 6
Utilised during the year (1) – – – (1)
Released during the year (1) – – – (1)
At 31 January 2020 3 – – 8 11

Current – – – 5 5
Non-current 3 – – 3 6
At 31 January 2020 3 – – 8 11
Current 1 – – 2 3
Non-current 4 – – – 4
At 31 January 2019 5 – – 2 7

The property leases provision primarily relates to dilapidations. These sums are mainly expected to be paid out over the next 10 years; however, it will 
take 35 years to fully pay out all amounts provided for. The provision has been calculated on a pre-tax discounted basis.

Other provisions include £2m (2019: £2m) relating to anticipated compensation costs for poorly handled complaints. During the 2019 financial  
year, the Group identified that some historic customer complaints were not dealt with in line with industry standards, thereby entitling affected 
customers to compensation. This compensation is expected to be paid out during the next year. In addition, the Group incurred £2m of incremental 
cost in relation to this process which has been presented as part of adjusting operating items (see note 5). 

The remaining balance of £6m (2019: nil) relates to a reclassification of self-funded insurance liabilities from accruals to provisions, where the Group 
provides for the cost of certain claims made against it, for example motor vehicle accident damage and employer liability claims. 
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23 Provisions continued
Litigation – update on Mr Mackenzie’s claim
As reported in the prior year financial statements, the former Executive Chairman, Bob Mackenzie, who was dismissed for gross misconduct on  
1 August 2017, had on 6 March 2018 issued a claim for substantial damages against AA plc, its subsidiary (Automobile Association Developments 
Limited) (together, ‘the Companies’) and personally against a number of their directors (existing and former) and the former Company Secretary.

In November 2018, Mr Mackenzie’s claim against all the directors and the former Company Secretary was dismissed in full and he was ordered to pay 
their costs to be assessed by the Court if not agreed. The majority of Mr Mackenzie’s claim arises from his exclusion from a share option scheme which, 
in any event, lapsed for all participants without any payment in June 2019. However, Mr Mackenzie has now issued an amended claim which includes a 
new claim for personal injury allegedly suffered as a result of stress arising from his role as CEO and Chairman. The Companies have filed a full defence 
in relation to Mr Mackenzie’s amended claim. Additionally, the Companies continue to maintain their counterclaim for the reimbursement of previous 
bonuses paid to Mr Mackenzie. The Board assumes for the purpose of these financial statements that Mr Mackenzie will proceed with the claim 
against the Companies but maintains that it is not necessary for the Group to make a financial provision as it expects the defence will prevail.

24 Insurance Underwriting 
Reconciliation to segmental result

2020  
£m

 2019  
£m

Gross earned premium 70 33
Earned premium ceded to reinsurers (48) (17)
Net earned premium 22 16
Deferral of broker commission (3) (1)
Other income 9 4
Insurance Underwriting revenue (see note 2) 28 19

2020  
£m

2019  
£m

Gross claims incurred (63) (30)
Less reinsurance recoveries 36 12
Net claims paid (27) (18)
Ceding commission 10 7
Administrative costs (6) (6)
Deferral of broker acquisition costs 4 4
Insurance Underwriting costs (19) (13)

Reconciliation of movements in the provision for unearned premiums
2020  

£m
2019  

£m

Gross unearned premiums at 1 February 26 14
Less: reinsurers’ share of unearned premiums (17) (5)
Net unearned premiums at 1 February 9 9

Gross premiums written 90 45
Less: outward reinsurance premium ceded (66) (29)
Net premiums written 24 16

Gross premiums earned (70) (33)
Less: earned premium ceded to reinsurers 48 17
Net premiums earned (22) (16)

Gross unearned premiums at 31 January (see note 19) 46 26
Less: reinsurers’ share of unearned premiums (see note 17) (35) (17)
Net unearned premiums at 31 January 11 9



O
ur B

usiness
G

overnance
Financial Statem

ents
O

ur Perform
ance

AA plc Annual Report and Accounts 2020 117

24 Insurance Underwriting continued 
Reconciliation of movements in claims outstanding

2020  
£m

2019  
£m

Gross claims outstanding at 1 February 30 24
Less: reinsurers’ share of claims outstanding (22) (19)
Net claims outstanding at 1 February 8 5

Gross claims incurred 63 30
Less: reinsurance recoveries (36) (12)
Net claims incurred 27 18

Gross claims paid (48) (24)
Less: received from reinsurers 25 9
Net claims paid (23) (15)

Gross claims outstanding transferred to liabilities held for sale (see note 38) (2) –
Reinsurers’ share of claims outstanding transferred to assets held for sale (see note 38) 1 –
Net claims presented as held for sale (1) –

Gross claims outstanding at 31 January (see below) 43 30
Less: reinsurers’ share of claims outstanding (see note 17) (32) (22)
Net claims outstanding at 31 January 11 8

Insurance technical provisions
2020  

£m
2019  

£m

Outstanding claims provisions 36 23
Other technical provisions – provisions for incurred but not reported (IBNR) claims 7 7

43 30

Provision is made for the estimated cost of claims incurred but not settled at the statement of financial position date, including the cost of claims 
incurred but not yet reported. The estimated cost of claims includes expenses to be incurred in settling claims. 

The purpose of the outstanding claims provision is to ensure adequate reserves are in place for claims where the incident has already occurred. It is 
calculated by aggregating the case reserves for all the claims that have already been reported to us, which are estimated by using the most up to date 
information available concerning each case. 

The purpose of the IBNR reserve is to reflect the additional claims cost from claims incurred but not reported before the statement of financial position 
date. Standard actuarial claims projection techniques are used to estimate outstanding claims. Such methods extrapolate the development of paid 
and incurred claims, recoveries from third parties, average cost per claim and ultimate claim numbers for each accident year, based upon the 
observed development of earlier years and expected loss ratios. 

The Group’s results are not materially susceptible to changes within the assumptions used within the insurance technical provisions due to the 
reinsurance arrangements in place.

25 Share capital
2020  

£m
2019  

£m

Allotted, called up and fully paid
616,734,346 (2019: 613,221,434) ordinary shares of £0.001 each 1 1

1 1

The voting rights of the holders of all ordinary shares are the same and all ordinary shares rank pari passu on a winding up. 

All movement in the number of shares relates to the issue of matching shares in relation to the Employee Share Incentive Plans (see note 36). 

Other share types issued were as follows: 
2020  
£000

2019  
£000

Allotted, called up and fully paid
Nil (2019: 20,000,000) MVP A shares of £0.001 each – 20
Nil (2019: 20,000,000) MVP B shares of £0.001 each – 20
Nil (2019: 20,000,000) MVP C shares of £0.001 each – 20
60,000,000 (2019: nil) deferred shares of £0.001 each 60 –

60 60

The deferred shares have no voting rights and the MVP shares had no voting rights. There were 8 million shares in each of the following MVP share 
classes: A1, B1 and C1. There were 12 million shares in each of the following MVP share classes: A2, B2 and C2. In total, there were 60 million MVP 
shares. Following the lapse of the MVP share scheme and pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, all of the MVP shares converted 
to deferred shares in the capital of the Company immediately following their failure to vest and those deferred shares are held in trust (see note 36). 
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26 Reserves

Share 
premium  

£m

Own  
shares  

£m

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve  
£m

Retained 
earnings  

£m 
Total  

£m

At 1 February 2018 406 (29) 5 (2,138) (1,756)
Retained profit for the year – – – 42 42
Dividends paid – – – (12) (12)
Purchase of own shares by the Employee Benefit Trust – (2) – – (2)
Issue of shares 2 – – – 2
IFRS 9 conversion – – – 13 13
IFRS 9 conversion deferred tax impact – – – (2) (2)
Share-based payments (note 36) – – – 4 4
Other comprehensive income:
Remeasurement gains on defined benefit schemes (note 27) – – – 30 30
Tax effect of remeasurement gains on defined benefit schemes (note 9) – – – (5) (5)
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges – – (6) – (6)
Tax effect of effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges (note 9) – – 1 – 1
At 31 January 2019 408 (31) – (2,068) (1,691)
Retained profit for the year – – – 87 87
Dividends paid – – – (12) (12)
Purchase of own shares by the Employee Benefit Trust – (2) – – (2)
Issue of shares 2 – – – 2
Share-based payments (note 36) – – – 4 4
Other comprehensive income:
Remeasurement gains on defined benefit schemes (note 27) – – – 39 39
Tax effect of remeasurement gains on defined benefit schemes (note 9) – – – (7) (7)
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges – – (2) – (2)
At 31 January 2020 410 (33) (2) (1,957) (1,582)

Cash flow hedge reserve
The cash flow hedge reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging instruments related 
to hedged transactions that have not yet occurred.

Dividends
In the year ended 31 January 2020, total dividends of 2.0p (2019: 2.0p) per qualifying ordinary share were paid. Dividends are paid from the 
Company’s unconsolidated distributable reserves. As at 31 January 2020, the Company had distributable reserves of £220m (2019: £522m).  
In March 2020 the Directors resolved to suspend the final dividend thereby leaving total dividend payments of £4m in respect of the 2020 
financial year (2019: £12m).

27 Pensions 
The Group operates two funded defined benefit pension schemes: the AA UK Pension Scheme (AAUK) and the AA Ireland Pension Scheme (AAI).  
The assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the Group in independently administered funds. The AAUK scheme has a closed final 
salary and a Career Average Revalued Earnings (CARE) section which was closed from 1 April 2020 following consultation with affected employees. 
All future pensions build-up from 1 April 2020 in the UK is now on a defined contribution basis. See note 39 for more details. The CARE section 
provided for benefits to accrue on an average salary basis. During the 2017 financial year and following the sale of the Irish business by the Group,  
AA Corporation Limited, a UK subsidiary of the Group, became the sponsor of the AAI scheme. The Group also operates an unfunded post-retirement 
Private Medical Plan (AAPMP), which is treated as a defined benefit scheme and is not open to new entrants.

The AAUK scheme is governed by a corporate trustee whose board is currently composed of member-nominated and Company-nominated directors. 
The AAI scheme is governed by a corporate trustee whose board is currently composed of Company-nominated directors of which some are also 
members of the scheme. For both pension schemes the Company-nominated directors include an independent director whom the trustee board 
directors have nominated as Chairman. The trustee of each scheme is responsible for paying members’ benefits and for investing scheme assets, 
which are legally separate from the Group.

The AAUK and AAI schemes are subject to full actuarial valuations every three years using assumptions agreed between the trustee of each scheme 
and the Group. The purpose of this valuation is to design a funding plan to ensure that the pension scheme has sufficient assets available to meet the 
future payment of benefits to scheme members.

The valuation of liabilities for funding purposes differs from the valuation for accounting purposes, mainly due to the different assumptions used and 
changes in market conditions between different valuation dates. For funding valuation purposes, the assumptions used to value the liabilities are 
agreed between the trustee and the Group with the discount rate, for example, being based on a bond yield plus a margin based on the assumed rate 
of return on scheme assets. For accounting valuation purposes, the assumptions used to value the liabilities are determined in accordance with IAS 19, 
with the discount rate, for example, being based on high-quality (AA rated) corporate bonds.

The valuations have been based on a full assessment of the liabilities of the schemes which have been updated where appropriate to 31 January 2020 
by independent qualified actuaries.
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27  Pensions continued
The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position are as follows:

As at 31 January 2020
AAUK  

£m
AAI  
£m

AAPMP  
£m

Total  
£m

Present value of the defined benefit obligation in respect of pension plans (2,576) (61) (44) (2,681)
Fair value of plan assets 2,472 47 – 2,519
Deficit (104) (14) (44) (162)

As at 31 January 2019
AAUK  

£m
AAI  
£m

AAPMP  
£m

Total  
£m

Present value of the defined benefit obligation in respect of pension plans (2,409) (50) (45) (2,504)
Fair value of plan assets 2,242 44 – 2,286
Deficit (167) (6) (45) (218)

The decrease in the deficit is primarily due to the performance of plan assets being above expectations, experience arising from the 2019 valuation  
for AAUK, changes in the demographic assumptions (reflecting the latest outlook for mortality rates and inclusion of the latest experience around 
retirement behaviour), and Group contributions paid into the schemes. This was partially offset by the changes in financial assumptions over the 
period (in particular a decrease in the discount rates). 

In November 2013, the Group implemented an asset-backed funding scheme which remains in place. The asset-backed funding scheme provides  
a long-term deficit reduction plan where the Group makes an annual deficit reduction contribution of £14m increasing annually with inflation,  
until October 2038 or until the AAUK scheme funding deficit is removed if earlier, secured on the Group’s brands.

The last completed triennial valuation at the reporting date for the AAUK scheme was as at 31 March 2016 and was completed in June 2017, where the 
Group agreed a funding deficit of £366m with the pension trustees. The Group committed to paying an additional £8m per annum from July 2017 to 
March 2019, £11m per annum from April 2019 to March 2021, uplifted in line with RPI from 1 April 2020 and £13m per annum from April 2021 to June 
2026, uplifted in line with RPI from 1 April 2022 annually. 

An updated triennial valuation for the AAUK scheme as at 31 March 2019 was underway at the reporting date and was completed in February 2020. 
The funding deficit has reduced and this has resulted in an agreement to reduce the additional deficit reduction payments. See note 39.

Using an inflation assumption of 2.8% and a discount rate assumption of 1.6%, the present value of the future deficit reduction contributions has  
been calculated. Based on these assumptions, the Group expects the present value of deficit reduction contributions to exceed the IAS 19 deficit. 
The Group notes that, in the event that a surplus emerges, it would have an unconditional right to a refund of the surplus assuming the gradual 
settlement of AAUK scheme liabilities over time until all members have left the scheme. 

The last triennial valuation for the AAI scheme was as at 31 December 2016, the result of which was an increase in the going concern deficit with the 
contribution level remaining the same. The Group made deficit reduction contributions of £1m in the year ended 31 January 2020 and will continue 
to make annual deficit reduction contributions, increasing with inflation, until December 2023 or until an alternative agreement is signed with the AAI 
scheme Trustee. The next triennial valuation of the AAI scheme will take place as at 31 December 2019 and is currently ongoing. The results from the 
review are expected to be received in late 2020.

In total, the Group is currently committed to pay £4m in ongoing employer contributions until the closure of the AAUK scheme CARE section and 
£25m in deficit reduction employer contributions to its defined benefit plans (AAUK and AAI) in the year ending 31 January 2021. 

The Group recognised a charge in the income statement of £8m in respect of defined contribution pension scheme costs in the year (2019: £6m).  
This is expected to increase in the year ending 31 January 2021 due to pension accrual being fully on a defined contribution basis from 1 April 2020.
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27  Pensions continued
Total Group schemes

Assets  
£m

Liabilities  
£m

Income  
statement  

£m

Other 
comprehensive 

income  
£m

Balance at 1 February 2018 2,346 (2,586) – –
Current service cost – (25) (25) –
Past service cost – (22) (22) –
Interest on defined benefit scheme assets/(liabilities) 59 (65) (6) –
Amounts recognised in the income statement 59 (112) (53) –
Effect of changes in financial assumptions – 99 – 99
Effect of changes in demographic assumptions – 15 – 15
Effect of experience adjustment – (15) – (15)
Return on plan assets excluding interest income (69) – – (69)
Amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income (69) 99 – 30
Contribution from scheme participants 1 (1) – –
Benefits paid from scheme assets (96) 96 – –
Ongoing employer contributions 21 – – –
Deficit reduction employer contributions 24 – – –
Movements through cash (50) 95 – –
Balance at 31 January 2019 2,286 (2,504) – –
Current service cost – (23) (23) –
Interest on defined benefit scheme assets/(liabilities) 59 (64) (5) –
Amounts recognised in the income statement 59 (87) (28) –
Effect of changes in financial assumptions – (452) – (452)
Effect of changes in demographic assumptions – 227 – 227
Effect of experience adjustment – 52 – 52
Return on plan assets excluding interest income 212 – – 212
Amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income 212 (173) – 39
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain (2) 2 – –
Contribution from scheme participants 1 (1) – –
Benefits paid from scheme assets (82) 82 – –
Ongoing employer contributions 19 – – –
Deficit reduction employer contributions 26 – – –
Movements through cash (36) 81 – –
Balance at 31 January 2020 2,519 (2,681) – –
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27  Pensions continued
AAUK scheme

Assets  
£m

Liabilities  
£m

Income  
statement  

£m

Other 
comprehensive 

income  
£m

Balance at 1 February 2018 2,303 (2,491) – –
Current service cost – (25) (25) –
Past service cost – (22) (22) –
Interest on defined benefit scheme assets/(liabilities) 58 (63) (5) –
Amounts recognised in the income statement 58 (110) (52) –
Effect of changes in financial assumptions – 100 – 100
Effect of changes in demographic assumptions – 15 – 15
Effect of experience adjustment – (15) – (15)
Return on plan assets excluding interest income (69) – – (69)
Amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income (69) 100 – 31
Contribution from scheme participants 1 (1) – –
Benefits paid from scheme assets (93) 93 – –
Ongoing employer contributions 20 – – –
Deficit reduction employer contributions 22 – – –
Movements through cash (50) 92 – –
Balance at 31 January 2019 2,242 (2,409) – –
Current service cost – (23) (23) –
Interest on defined benefit scheme assets/(liabilities) 58 (62) (4) –
Amounts recognised in the income statement 58 (85) (27) –
Effect of changes in financial assumptions – (434) – (434)
Effect of changes in demographic assumptions – 222 – 222
Effect of experience adjustment – 52 – 52
Return on plan assets excluding interest income 207 – – 207
Amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income 207 (160) – 47
Contribution from scheme participants 1 (1) – –
Benefits paid from scheme assets (79) 79 – –
Ongoing employer contributions 18 – – –
Deficit reduction employer contributions 25 – – –
Movements through cash (35) 78 – –
Balance at 31 January 2020 2,472 (2,576) – –



122 AA plc Annual Report and Accounts 2020

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

27  Pensions continued
AAI scheme

Assets  
£m

Liabilities  
£m

Income  
statement  

£m

Other 
comprehensive 

income  
£m

Balance at 1 February 2018 43 (50) – –
Current service cost – – – –
Past service cost – – – –
Interest on defined benefit scheme assets/(liabilities) 1 (1) – –
Amounts recognised in the income statement 1 (1) – –
Effect of changes in financial assumptions – (1) – (1)
Effect of changes in demographic assumptions – – – –
Effect of experience adjustment – – – –
Return on plan assets excluding interest income – – – –
Amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income – (1) – (1)
Contribution from scheme participants – – – –
Benefits paid from scheme assets (2) 2 – –
Ongoing employer contributions – – – –
Deficit reduction employer contributions 2 – – –
Movements through cash – 2 – –
Balance at 31 January 2019 44 (50) – –
Current service cost – – – –
Interest on defined benefit scheme assets/(liabilities) 1 (1) – –
Amounts recognised in the income statement 1 (1) – –
Effect of changes in financial assumptions – (14) – (14)
Effect of changes in demographic assumptions – – – –
Effect of experience adjustment – – – –
Return on plan assets excluding interest income 5 – – 5
Amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income 5 (14) – (9)
Foreign exchange (loss)/gain (2) 2 – –
Contribution from scheme participants – – – –
Benefits paid from scheme assets (2) 2 – –
Ongoing employer contributions – – – –
Deficit reduction employer contributions 1 – – –
Movements through cash (1) 2 – –
Balance at 31 January 2020 47 (61) – –
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27  Pensions continued
AA PMP scheme

Assets  
£m

Liabilities  
£m

Income  
statement  

£m

Other 
comprehensive 

income  
£m

Balance at 1 February 2018 – (45) – –
Current service cost – – – –
Past service cost – – – –
Interest on defined benefit scheme assets/(liabilities) – (1) (1) –
Amounts recognised in the income statement – (1) (1) –
Effect of changes in financial assumptions – – – –
Effect of changes in demographic assumptions – – – –
Effect of experience adjustment – – – –
Return on plan assets excluding interest income – – – –
Amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income – – – –
Contribution from scheme participants – – – –
Benefits paid from scheme assets (1) 1 – –
Ongoing employer contributions 1 – – –
Deficit reduction employer contributions – – – –
Movements through cash – 1 – –
Balance at 31 January 2019 – (45) – –
Current service cost – – – –
Interest on defined benefit scheme assets/(liabilities) – (1) (1) –
Amounts recognised in the income statement – (1) (1) –
Effect of changes in financial assumptions – (4) – (4)
Effect of changes in demographic assumptions – 5 – 5
Effect of experience adjustment – – – –
Return on plan assets excluding interest income – – – –
Amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income – 1 – 1
Contribution from scheme participants – – – –
Benefits paid from scheme assets (1) 1 – –
Ongoing employer contributions 1 – – –
Deficit reduction employer contributions – – – –
Movements through cash – 1 – –
Balance at 31 January 2020 – (44) – –

Fair value of plan assets
The tables below show the AAUK and AAI scheme assets split between those that have a quoted market price and those that are unquoted.

The fair value of the AAUK scheme assets and the return on those assets were as follows:

2020 2019
Assets with  

a quoted  
market price  

£m

Assets without  
a quoted  

market price  
£m

Assets with  
a quoted  

market price  
£m

Assets without  
a quoted  

market price  
£m

Equities – 244 156 324
Bonds/gilts 474 571 514 205
Property 32 255 87 189
Hedge funds 1 300 21 394
Private equity – 44 17 14
Cash/net current assets 15 9 15 2
Annuity policies – 527 – 304
Total AAUK scheme assets 522 1,950 810 1,432
Actual return on AAUK plan assets 265 (11)
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27  Pensions continued
Approximately £19m of unquoted assets allocated to private equity and £9m of unquoted assets allocated to property have been measured at 
amortised cost rather than fair value.

All assets of the AAUK scheme are held in unquoted pooled investment vehicles which invest in mixtures of quoted and unquoted funds. The above 
table displays the quoted and unquoted splits of the underlying investments.

The fair value of the AAI scheme assets and the return on those assets were as follows:

2020 2019
Assets with  

a quoted  
market price  

£m

Assets without  
a quoted  

market price  
£m

Assets with  
a quoted  

market price  
£m

Assets without  
a quoted  

market price  
£m

Equities 11 – 10 –
Bonds/gilts 22 – 18 –
Property – 5 – 5
Hedge funds 9 – 11 –
Total AA Ireland scheme assets 42 5 39 5
Actual return on AA Ireland plan assets 6 1

Investment strategy
The AAUK scheme Trustee determines its investment strategy after taking advice from a professional investment adviser. The AAUK scheme’s 
investment strategy has been set following an asset/liability review which considered a wide range of investment opportunities available to the 
scheme and how they might perform in combination. Other factors were also taken into account such as the strength of the employer covenant,  
the long-term nature of the liabilities and the funding plan agreed with the employer.

The AAUK scheme Trustee aims to achieve the scheme’s investment objectives through investing in a diversified portfolio of growth assets which, 
over the long term, are expected to grow in value by more than low risk assets like cash and gilts. This is done within a broad liability driven investing 
framework that also uses such cash and gilts in a capital efficient way. In combination this efficiently captures the trustee risk tolerances and return 
objectives relative to the scheme’s liabilities. A number of investment managers are appointed to promote diversification by assets, organisation and 
investment style.

To diversify sources of return and risk, the AAUK scheme invests in many asset classes and strategies, including equities, bonds and property funds 
which primarily rely on the upward direction of the underlying markets for returns, and also hedge funds which also invest in asset classes like equities, 
bonds and currencies, but in such a way that relies more on the skill of the investment manager to add returns while hedging against downward  
market moves. 

The AA UK scheme Trustee’s investment advisers carry out detailed ongoing due diligence on funds in all asset classes from both operational  
and investment capability standpoints, and any funds which are not expected to achieve their investment performance targets are replaced  
where possible. 

Pension plan assumptions
The principal actuarial assumptions were as follows:

AAUK AAI AAPMP 
2020  

%
2019  

%
2020  

%
2019  

%
2020  

%
2019  

%

Pensioner discount rate 1.6 2.5 0.3 1.3 1.6 2.5
Non-pensioner discount rate 1.8 2.7 0.8 2.1 1.6 2.5
Pensioner RPI 2.9 3.2 – – 2.9 3.2
Non-pensioner RPI 2.8 3.1 – – 2.9 3.2
Pensioner CPI 2.0 2.1 1.2 1.3 2.0 2.1
Non-pensioner CPI 2.0 2.0 1.2 1.3 2.0 2.1
Rate of increase of pensions in payment  
(final salary sections) – pensioner 2.8 3.1 – – – –
Rate of increase of pensions in payment  
(final salary sections) – non-pensioner 2.8 3.0 – – – –
Rate of increase of pensions in payment 
(CARE section) – pensioner 1.7 1.7 – – – –
Rate of increase of pensions in payment 
(CARE section) – non-pensioner 1.7 1.6 – – – –
Pension increase for deferred benefits 2.0 2.0 1.2 1.3 – –
Medical premium inflation rate – – – – 6.9 7.2

Mortality assumptions are set using standard tables based on scheme-specific experience where available and an allowance for future improvements. 
For 2020, the assumptions used were in line with the SAPS (S3) series mortality tables with scheme-specific adjustments (2019 – SAPS (S2) series) 
with future improvements in line with the CMI_2018 model with a 1.25% long-term rate of improvement (2019 – CMI_2017 model with a 1.25%  
long-term rate of improvement). The AAI scheme mortality assumptions are set using standard tables with scheme-specific adjustments. 

The AA schemes’ overall assumptions are that an active male retiring in normal health currently aged 60 will live on average for a further 25 years 
(2019: 27 years) and an active female retiring in normal health currently aged 60 will live on average for a further 28 years (2019: 29 years).  
The reduction in life expectancies are as a result of incorporating scheme-specific analysis of member mortality rates into the annual 
reporting valuations.
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27 Pensions continued
Sensitivity analysis
Reasonably possible changes at the reporting date to one of the relevant actuarial assumptions, holding other assumptions constant, would have 
affected the defined benefit liability by the amounts shown below:

For the year ended 31 January 2020
AAUK £m AAI £m AAPMP £m

Increase of 0.25% in discount rate 128 3 2
Increase of 0.25% in RPI/CPI (115) (1) –
Increase of 1% in medical claims inflation – – (8)
Increase of one year of life expectancy (101) (2) –

An equivalent decrease in the assumptions at 31 January 2020 would have had a broadly equal but opposite effect on the amounts shown above, on 
the basis that all other variables remain constant.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation at 31 January 2020 is around 20 years.

Pension scheme risks
The AAUK and AAI schemes have exposure to a number of risks because of the investments they make in following their investment strategy. 
Investment objectives and risk limits are implemented through the investment management agreements in place with the schemes’ investment 
managers and monitored by the trustees of each scheme through regular reviews of the investment portfolios. In addition, under guidance from  
their investment advisers, the trustees of each scheme monitor estimates of key risks on an ongoing basis such as those shown below. A number 
of measures are taken to mitigate these risks where possible.

Credit risk – This is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to discharge an obligation.  
This risk mainly relates to the schemes’ bonds and is mitigated by carrying out due diligence and investing only in bond funds which are well diversified 
in terms of credit instrument, region, credit rating and issuer of the underlying bond assets. To reduce risk further, the underlying bond assets within a 
fund are ring-fenced, and the scheme diversifies across a number of bond funds. 

Currency risk – The scheme is subject to currency risk because some of the scheme’s investments are in overseas markets. The trustee hedges some 
of this currency risk by investing in investment funds which hold currency derivatives to protect against adverse fluctuations in the relative value of 
its portfolio positions as a result of changes in currency exchange rates.

Market price risk – This is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial asset such as equities will fluctuate because of changes in 
market prices (other than those arising from interest rate, inflation or currency risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the 
individual financial instrument or its issuer, or factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market. The scheme manages this 
exposure to overall price movements by constructing a diverse portfolio of investments across various markets and investment managers.

Financial derivatives risk – The scheme does not directly hold any financial derivatives but instead invests in investment funds which hold the 
derivatives required to hedge the scheme’s interest rate, inflation and currency risks. The scheme also permits some of the investment managers  
to use derivative instruments if these are being used to contribute to a reduction of risks or facilitate efficient portfolio management of their funds.  
The main risks associated with financial derivatives include: losses may exceed the initial margin; counterparty risk where the other party defaults  
on the contract; and liquidity risk where it may be difficult to close out a contract prior to expiry. These risks are managed by monitoring of investment 
managers to ensure that they use reasonable levels of market exposure relative to initial margin and positions are fully collateralised on a daily basis 
with secure cash or gilts collateral. 

The AAUK scheme aims to hedge the majority of both the interest rate risk and inflation risk (of the liabilities on the scheme-specific funding measure) 
as part of a policy to reduce financial risks. As at 31 December 2019, the scheme had hedged around 85-90% of interest rate and inflation risk (of the 
liabilities on the scheme-specific funding measure). Hedging levels fluctuate over time and are monitored closely by the scheme trustees and any 
changes required would be made as, and when, prevailing pricing is regarded as reasonable value in the circumstances, or if any other reasons 
drive a policy change on risk appetite. 

Bulk annuity policy purchase
During the year, the trustee of the AAUK scheme purchased a bulk annuity policy which insures all the benefits payable under the scheme in respect of 
1,790 pensioner and dependant members. The trustee has invested in such a policy as the scheme will see all financial and demographic risks exactly 
matched for the covered members. This policy secures the benefits of a further proportion of scheme members following the purchase of a bulk 
annuity policy in August 2018 which insured all the benefits payable under the scheme in respect of 2,510 pensioner and dependant members.

The annuity policy has been purchased in the name of the trustee and therefore remains an asset of the AAUK scheme. Under IAS 19, this policy is 
considered to be a qualifying insurance policy which exactly matches the amount and timing of certain benefits payable under the scheme. The fair 
value of the insurance policy is therefore deemed to be the present value of the related defined benefit obligations.

At 9 September 2019, the date of the risk transfer to the insurer, the defined benefit obligation for the covered population was c.£25m less than the 
estimated premium of c.£250m paid for the policy. This difference between premium paid and fair value of the insurance policy is recognised in the 
statement of financial position at the 31 January 2020 year end through other comprehensive income as an asset loss. It should be noted that this is 
separate to the measure of the funding deficit (used to set cash contributions to the scheme) which was reduced as a result of this policy given the 
prudent nature of the funding measure.

There will be a final adjustment premium paid once a data cleanse has taken place to take account of differences between the data used for quotation 
purposes and the finalised data, which will be concluded within 24 months of the risk transfer date. Any further premiums, or refunds where relevant, 
will be recognised through other comprehensive income.

The two recent bulk annuity purchases have also hedged the associated longevity risks on c.20% of the scheme’s IAS 19 liabilities. 

While risks remain, the hedging strategy noted above, including the bulk annuity purchases, represents significant progress in controlling the Group’s 
exposure to future increases in the deficit.
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28 Impairment of intangible assets
Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been allocated to cash-generating units (‘CGUs’) on initial recognition and for subsequent 
impairment testing. CGUs represent the smallest group of assets that independently generate cash flow and whose cash flow is largely independent 
of the cash flows generated by other assets.

The carrying value of goodwill by CGU is as follows:
2020  

£m
2019  

£m

Roadside Assistance 874 874
Insurance Services 240 240
AA Cars (see note 19) 25 25
DriveTech 31 31

1,170 1,170

The Group has performed impairment testing at 31 January 2020 and 31 January 2019. The impairment test compares the recoverable amount of the 
CGU with its carrying value.

The recoverable amount of each CGU has been determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow projections from the Group’s three-year 
plan up to 31 January 2023, updated to reflect the estimated financial impact of COVID-19, and a 2% growth expectation in the subsequent year. 
For the purposes of the impairment test, terminal values have been calculated using a 2% growth assumption (2019: 2%). Cash flows have been 
discounted at a pre-tax rate reflecting the time value of money and the risk specific to these cash flows. This has been determined as a pre-tax rate 
of 8.9% (2019: 9.9%).

The cash flow projections are forecast using historical trends overlaid with business-led assumptions such as contract wins, sales volumes and 
prices, together with operational KPIs such as number of personal members, number of business customers, insurance policies in force, renewal 
rates and average repair times. These allow the business to forecast profits, working capital and capital expenditure requirements.

The value in use calculation used is most sensitive to the assumptions used for growth and the discount rate. Accordingly, stress testing has been 
performed on these key assumptions as part of the impairment test to further inform the consideration of whether any impairment is evident.

Goodwill was not impaired for any of the above CGUs in either the current or prior financial year.

29 Financial assets and financial liabilities
The carrying amounts of all financial assets and financial liabilities by class are as follows:

Financial assets 
2020  

£m
2019  

£m

Financial assets at amortised cost
Loans to related parties 4 –
Cash and cash equivalents (see note 18) 149 116
Trade receivables (see note 17) 143 142
Deferred consideration (see note 17) – 3
Reinsurers’ share of insurance liabilities (see note 17) 67 39
Contract assets and other receivables (see note 17) 23 21
Total financial assets 386 321

On 29 March 2019, the Group completed the sale of 51% of the share capital of AA Media Limited. The Group retained 49% of the share capital, 
subsequently accounting for its investment as an investment in a joint venture. Also on 29 March 2019, AA Media Limited issued £4m of 5% fixed rate 
loan notes to the Group, redeemable at par on 29 March 2024. The Group has recognised this receivable from a related party as a financial asset at 
amortised cost.

Financial liabilities 
2020  

£m
2019  

£m

Financial liabilities at fair value through other comprehensive income
Derivative financial instruments (see note 22) 2 –

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Trade payables (see note 19) 112 88
Other payables and accruals 88 74
Borrowings (see note 20) 2,706 2,724
Deferred consideration (see note 19) 1 12
Lease liabilities (see note 31) 66 61
Insurance technical provisions (see note 24) 43 30
Total financial liabilities 3,018 2,989
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29 Financial assets and financial liabilities continued
Fair values
Financial instruments held at fair value are valued using quoted market prices or other valuation techniques. 

Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow models, and comparison to similar instruments for which market observable 
prices exist. Assumptions and market observable inputs used in valuation techniques include interest rates. 

The objective of using valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value that reflects the price of the financial instrument at each year end at which the 
asset or liability would have been exchanged by market participants acting at arm’s length. 

Observable inputs are those that have been seen either from counterparties or from market pricing sources and are publicly available. The use of these 
depends upon the liquidity of the relevant market. When measuring the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses observable inputs as much as 
possible. Fair values are categorised into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation as follows:

Level 1 – Quoted market prices in an actively traded market for identical assets or liabilities. These are the most reliable. 

Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the assets or liabilities. These include valuation models used to 
calculate the present value of expected future cash flows and may be employed either when no active market exists or when there are quoted prices 
available for similar instruments in active markets. The models incorporate various inputs including interest rate curves and forward rate curves of the 
underlying instrument. 

Level 3 – Inputs for assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data.

If the inputs used to measure the fair values of an asset or a liability might be categorised in different levels of the fair value hierarchy, then the fair value 
measurement is categorised in its entirety in the same level as the lowest input that is significant to the entire measurements. 

The fair values are periodically reviewed by the Group Treasury function. The following tables provide the quantitative fair value hierarchy of the 
Group’s fuel swaps and loan notes.

The carrying values of all other financial assets and liabilities (including the Senior Term Facility) are approximate to their fair values:

At 31 January 2020:

Carrying  
value  

£m

Fair value measurement using
Quoted prices  

in active  
markets 
(Level 1)  

£m

Significant 
observable 

inputs 
(Level 2)  

£m

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
(Level 3)  

£m
Financial liabilities measured at fair value
Fuel swaps (note 22) 2 2 – –
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed
Loan notes (note 21) 2,706 2,746 – –

At 31 January 2019:

Carrying  
value  

£m

Fair value measurement using
Quoted prices  

in active  
markets 
(Level 1)  

£m

Significant 
observable  

inputs 
(Level 2)  

£m

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
(Level 3)  

£m

Financial liabilities measured at fair value
Deferred consideration (due in more than one year) (note 19) 10 – 10 –
Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed
Loan notes (note 21) 2,724 2,577 – –

There have been no transfers between the levels and no non-recurring fair value measurements of assets and liabilities during the two years to 31 
January 2020. 
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30 Financial risk management objectives and policies
The Group’s principal financial liabilities comprise borrowings as well as trade and other payables. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is 
to finance the Group’s operations. The Group’s principal financial assets include deposits with financial institutions, money market funds and trade 
receivables. 

The Group is exposed to market risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and insurance risk. The Group’s senior management oversees the management of these 
risks, supported by the Group Treasury function. The Group Treasury function ensures that the Group’s financial risks are governed by appropriate 
policies and procedures and that financial risks are identified, measured and managed in accordance with the Group’s policies and risk objectives.  
All derivative activities are for risk management purposes and are carried out by the Group Treasury function. It is the Group’s policy not to trade in 
derivatives for speculative purposes.

The Board of Directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks, which are summarised below

Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in prices set by the market.  
The key market risk that the Group is exposed to is interest rate risk. The Group has policies and limits approved by the Board for managing the interest 
rate risk exposure. The Group’s policy is to fully hedge all of its exposure to variable interest rates. The Group therefore takes out interest rate swaps 
to the value of its variable rate instruments. 

The interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments is as follows:
2020  

£m
2019  

£m

Fixed rate instruments
Financial assets 4 –
Financial liabilities (2,772) (2,786)
Net exposure to fixed rate instruments (2,768) (2,786)

Net exposure to variable rate instruments – –

Sensitivity of fixed-rate instruments 
The Group does not account for any fixed-rate financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and does not use derivative 
instruments in fair value hedges. Consequently, having regard to fixed rate instruments, a change in market interest rates at the reporting date would 
not affect profit or loss. 

Sensitivity of variable rate instruments
An increase of 50 basis points in interest rates at 31 January 2020 would have increased equity by £nil (2019: £nil) and would have had no impact on 
profit or cash because the Senior Term Facility was repaid during the prior year. 

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer contract, leading to a financial loss.  
The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its financial assets, outstanding derivatives and trade and other receivables. The Group assesses its 
counterparty exposure in relation to the investment of surplus cash and undrawn credit facilities. The Group primarily uses published credit ratings 
to assess counterparty strength and therefore to define the credit limit for each counterparty, in accordance with approved treasury policies.

The credit risk for the Group is limited as payment from customers is generally required before services are provided. 

Credit risk in relation to deposits and derivative counterparties is managed by the Group Treasury function in accordance with the Group’s policy. 
Investments of surplus funds are made only with approved counterparties and within credit limits assigned to each counterparty. The limits are 
set to mitigate financial loss through any potential counterparty failure. 

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk for the components of the statement of financial position at each reporting date is the carrying amount 
except for derivative financial instruments. The Group’s maximum exposure for financial derivative instruments is noted under liquidity risk. 

The ageing analysis of trade receivables is as follows:

Total  
£m

Neither past  
due nor  

impaired  
£m

Past due but not impaired

< 30 days  
£m

30-60 days  
£m

60+ days  
£m

2020 143 129 9 2 3
2019 142 138 3 – 1

The movements in the provision for the collective impairment of receivables are as follows:
2020  

£m
2019  

£m

At 1 February 2 3
Charge for the year 1 2
Utilised (1) (3)
At 31 January 2 2
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30 Financial risk management objectives and policies continued
Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group either does not have available sufficient financial resources to enable it to meet its obligations as they fall due, or 
can secure them only at excessive cost. The Group’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to evaluate current and expected liquidity requirements to 
ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves of cash and headroom on its working capital facilities. 

The table below analyses the maturity of the Group’s financial liabilities on a contractual undiscounted cash flow basis and includes any associated debt 
service costs. The analysis of non-derivative financial liabilities is based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. 

At 31 January 2020:
Less than  

1 year  
£m

1–2 years  
£m

2–5 years  
£m

Over  
5 years  

£m
Total  

£m
Loans and borrowings 322 813 1,529 516 3,180
Lease liabilities 25 15 16 26 82
Other payables and accruals 88 – – – 88
Insurance liabilities 30 7 5 1 43
Deferred consideration 1 – – – 1
Trade payables 112 – – – 112

578 835 1,550 543 3,506

At 31 January 2019:
Less than  

1 year  
£m

1–2 years  
£m

2–5 years  
£m

Over  
5 years  

£m
Total  

£m
Loans and borrowings 125 343 2,216 1,110 3,794
Obligation under finance leases 51 10 3 – 64
Other payables and accruals 74 – – – 74
Insurance liabilities 22 4 3 1 30
Deferred consideration 2 4 6 – 12
Trade payables 88 – – – 88

362 361 2,228 1,111 4,062

Insurance risk
The Group is exposed to insurance risk through its underwriting activities. The Company manages these risks through its underwriting strategy, 
reinsurance arrangements and proactive claims handling. For further detail regarding insurance risk please refer to page 40 of the annual report.

Capital management
As noted in the Financial Review on pages 33 to 36, the Group considers its capital to be a combination of Net Debt and equity. 

2020  
£m

2019  
£m

Total Net Debt 2,645 2,715
Equity (valued at close on 31 January) 295 512
Total capital 2,940 3,227

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are:

  to safeguard the entity’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for  
other stakeholders; 

  to put service, innovation and data at the heart of the AA; 

  to deliver targeted and strategic investment in our people, our products, our systems and operations; 

  to reduce Group borrowings and associated interest costs; and

  to provide an adequate return to shareholders.

The relative priorities of these objectives are discussed on pages 20 and 35. 
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30 Financial risk management objectives and policies continued
The Group monitors capital using Net Debt to Trading EBITDA ratios. The key ratios are Senior Secured Debt to Trading EBITDA, and Net Debt to 
Trading EBITDA as calculated below: 

2020  
£m

2019  
£m

Class A notes 2,197 2,200
Less: AA Intermediate Co Limited group cash and cash equivalents (102) (20)
Net Senior Secured Debt1 2,095 2,180
Class B2 notes 570 570
Lease obligations for covenant reporting10 39 61
Net Whole Business Securitisation (WBS) Debt2 2,704 2,811
IFRS 16 lease adjustment for WBS lease obligations11 24 –
AA plc group lease obligations12 3 –
Class B2 notes repurchased by AA plc (29) –
Less: AA plc group cash and cash equivalents3 (57) (96)
Total Net Debt 2,645 2,715

AA plc Trading EBITDA 350 341
AA Intermediate Trading EBITDA4 340 337

Covenant
Net Debt ratio5 7.6x 8.0x
Class B2 leverage ratio6 8.0x 8.3x
Senior leverage ratio7 6.2x 6.5x
Interest cover13 2.6x 2.6x
Class A Free Cash Flow: Debt Service8 >1.35x 3.4x 2.6x
Class B Free Cash Flow: Debt Service9 >1.00x 2.5x 1.9x

1  Principal amounts of the Senior Term Facility and Class A notes less AA Intermediate Co Limited group cash and cash equivalents.

2  Net WBS Debt represents the borrowings and cash balances within the WBS structure headed by AA Intermediate Co Limited. This includes the principal amounts of the Senior Term Facility,  
Class A notes, Class B2 notes and lease obligations for covenant reporting less AA Intermediate Co Limited group cash and cash equivalents.

3  Total cash and cash equivalents for the Group excluding the value reported as the AA Intermediate Co Limited group cash and cash equivalents.

4  AA Intermediate Co Limited group Trading EBITDA including discontinued operations as required by the debt documents based on frozen GAAP.

5  Ratio of Total Net Debt to AA plc Trading EBITDA.

6  Ratio of Net WBS Debt2 to AA Intermediate Co Limited group Trading EBITDA.

7  Ratio of Net Senior Secured Debt1 to AA Intermediate Co Limited group Trading EBITDA.

8  Ratio of free cash flow to proforma debt service relating to the Senior Term Facility and Class A notes. 

9  Ratio of free cash flow to proforma debt service.

10 The lease obligations for covenant reporting value is presented based on frozen GAAP pre-IFRS 16, as required by the debt documents. The figure above is therefore different to the lease liabilities 
value shown in the statement of financial position. 

11   Difference between lease obligations for covenant reporting based on frozen GAAP and the lease liabilities value shown in the statement of financial position having adopted IFRS 16 from  
1 February 2019.

12 Total lease obligations for the Group excluding the value reported as the AA Intermediate Co Limited group lease obligations.

13 AA plc Trading EBITDA divided by total ongoing cash finance costs (see note 6).

The Senior Term Facility, Class A notes and Class B2 notes have interest cover covenants attached to them. The Group was in compliance with all 
covenants throughout the period and as at 31 January 2020.

The Group includes regulated companies which are required to hold sufficient capital to meet acceptable solvency levels based on the relevant 
regulators’ requirements. In addition, the Group is required to hold on deposit a calculated amount of ‘excess cash’ under the terms of its debt 
documents when within an accumulation period (see note 18).

Further details on our policies and processes for managing capital as well as the thresholds set for the covenants above are set out in the Financial 
Review on pages 33 to 36.
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31 Commitments and contingencies
Lease commitments
The Group has lease contracts for property, plant, equipment and vehicles. Future minimum lease payments under lease contracts together with the 
present value of the net minimum lease payments are as follows:

2020 2019
Present value  

of payments  
£m

Minimum 
payments  

£m

Present value  
of payments  

£m

Minimum 
payments  

£m

Within one year 23 25 49 51
Between one and five years 27 31 12 13
After five years 16 26 – –
Total minimum lease payments 66 82 61 64
Less amounts representing finance charge – (16) – (3)
Present value of minimum lease payments 66 66 61 61
Add: discounted lease liability for leases classified as operating  
leases in the prior year 26 26
Lease liability recognised at 1 February 2019 (see note 1.3(w)) 87 87

Where a property is no longer used by the Group for operational purposes, tenants are sought to reduce the Group’s exposure to lease payments. 
Where the future minimum lease payments are in excess of any expected rental income due, the corresponding right-of-use asset is impaired by  
this excess.
Upon adoption of IFRS 16, the Group’s accounting treatment of leases changed from 1 February 2019 (see note 1.3(w)).

Capital commitments
Amounts contracted for but not provided in the financial statements amounted to £10m (2019: £15m).

32 Subsidiary undertakings
The subsidiary undertakings of the Company, all of which are wholly owned except where stated, are listed in note 8 of the Company financial statements. 

33 Auditors’ remuneration
2020  

£m
2019  

£m

Amounts receivable by the Company’s auditors and their associates in respect of:
Audit of financial statements of subsidiaries of the Company 1 1

The fee for the audit of these financial statements was £0.6m (2019: £0.2m). 
In addition, fees for non-audit services provided by the Company’s auditors were £0.1m (2019: £0.2m), relating to audit-related assurance services and 
other advisory services. 

34 Related party transactions
The following tables provide the total value of transactions that have been entered into with associates and joint ventures during each financial year: 

Transactions with associates:

Associate Nature of transaction
2020  

£m
2019  

£m

ARC Europe SA Registration and call handling fees 5 4

At 31 January 2020, the Group had an outstanding balance payable to ARC Europe SA of £1m (2019: £1m) comprising trade payables in respect of the 
above transactions.

Transactions with joint ventures:

Joint venture Nature of transaction
2020  

£m
2019  

£m

AA Media Limited Services supplied to AA Media Limited 1 –
Intelematics Europe Limited Goods supplied by Intelematics Europe Limited 1 5

At 31 January 2020, the Group had an outstanding balance receivable from AA Media Limited of £4m comprising fixed rate loan notes (see note 29).  
At 31 January 2019, AA Media Limited was a consolidated subsidiary of the Group.

At 31 January 2020, the Group had an outstanding balance payable to Intelematics Europe Limited of £nil (2019: £nil) in respect of the above transactions.

35 Compensation of key management personnel of the Group
Key management personnel are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of 
the Group. 
Key management personnel consist of the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and the Executive Committee. With effect from 1 February 
2019 Non-Executive Directors are not included in the definition of key management personnel.
The amounts recognised as an expense during the financial year in respect of key management personnel are as follows:

2020  
£m

2019*
£m

Short-term employee benefits 4 5
Share-based payments (see note 36) 1 1
Total compensation paid to key management personnel 5 6

* This number has been restated to remove the Non-Executive Directors as per the new definition.
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36 Share-based payments
2020  

£m
2019  

£m

Equity-settled share-based payments:
Share-based payments – Employee Share Incentive Plan 2 3
Share-based payments – Performance Share Plan 1 1
Share-based payments – Insurance LTBP 1 –
Total equity-settled share-based payments 4 4
Cash-settled share-based payments:
Share-based payments – Longacre LTBP 1 1
Total share-based payments expense 5 5

Employee Share Incentive Plans
The Group has an all-Employee Share Incentive Plan (ESIP). Under the ESIP, employees are able to buy Partnership shares by making weekly or 
monthly payments into the ESIP. In addition, for every Partnership share an employee purchases the Company will match this on a 1:1 basis  
(Matching shares). 

The ESIP share-based payments are equity-settled. ESIP Matching shares are issued on the 11th day of each month with a vesting period of 36 months 
from the date they were issued. 

The following table illustrates the weighted fair value at award date and vesting period for each of the ESIPs awarded:

Share type Award date Vesting date 

No. of shares 
outstanding

20201

Weighted  
fair value  
per share  

£

FY18 ESIP Matching shares See above See above 1,263,596 1.50
FY19 ESIP Matching shares See above See above 2,308,558 0.86
FY20 ESIP Matching shares See above See above 3,767,030 0.55
Total 7,339,184

1 The number of shares shown above is the estimated number.

Performance Share Plan (PSP)
During the 2018, 2019 and 2020 financial years, awards were granted under the PSP scheme to the CEO and other members of Senior Management, 
with vesting conditions linked to the performance of the Group and its share price. 

A proportion of the PSP Awards are subject to a comparative total shareholder return (TSR) performance condition. This includes 100% of the PSP 
2017 Award (due to the presence of a TSR underpin), 50% of the PSP 2018 Award and 50% of the PSP 2019 Award. The fair values of awards were 
calculated using a Monte Carlo simulation model to take into account the expectation at the grant date that the performance conditions will be met. 
The expected volatility has been calculated using historical daily data commensurate with the expected term of each award as at each grant date.

The following table illustrates the fair value and vesting period of the PSP schemes:

Award date Vesting date

2020  
No. of shares 
outstanding

2019  
No. of shares 
outstanding

2020  
Weighted fair 

value  
per share  

£

2019  
Weighted fair 

value  
per share  

£

2017 CEO Award 27 October 2017 27 October 2020 1,148,606 1,148,606 0.97 0.97
2017 Award 11 December 2017 27 October 2020 2,286,597 4,019,107 0.75 0.75
2018 CEO/CFO 7 November 2018 22 November 2021 1,950,412 1,950,412 0.86 0.86
2018 Award 7 November 2018 22 May 2021 4,387,044 5,946,613 0.86 0.86
2019 CEO 30 October 2019 29 October 2022 2,200,000 – 0.27 –
2019 Award 30 October 2019 29 October 2022 9,958,794 – 0.31 –
Total 21,931,453 13,064,738

Insurance Long Term Bonus Plan (Insurance LTBP)
During the 2019 financial year awards were granted under the Insurance LTBP to certain key members of senior management of the Group’s Insurance 
businesses. These awards vest to specified threshold pound sterling values. The vesting conditions for each threshold are linked to the performance 
of the Group’s Insurance businesses. The award date for this scheme was 23 January 2019.

Awards under this scheme are accounted for as equity-settled share-based payments with vesting periods from 23 January 2019 to 31 July 2020, 
2021, 2022 and 2023.

The total expected value of shares to be awarded under this scheme is £2m as at 31 January 2020. The vesting charge for the current year is £1m 
(2019: £nil).
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36 Share-based payments continued
Longacre Long Term Bonus Plan (Longacre LTBP)
On 14 November 2016, a long-term incentive scheme was put in place for certain directors of Longacre Claims Limited (LCL), a subsidiary of the Group. 
These directors were also shareholders of the B shares in LCL. As part of this agreement, at any point after 31 January 2021, LCL’s parent company  
AA Insurance Holdings Limited (AAIHL) could exercise a call option to purchase the B shares from the directors, or the directors could exercise a put 
option to sell the B shares to AAIHL. The consideration to be paid for the B shares was valued in accordance with an agreed methodology stated  
in a shareholder agreement. This methodology included performance criteria which assessed the relative performance of LCL in comparison to 
the average performance of a number of peer companies. In addition, the calculation was adjusted by a ratchet based on the performance of  
AA Underwriting Insurance Company Limited (AAUICL), a fellow subsidiary company, relative to planned performance. 

The options over the B shares were granted on 14 November 2016 and as at 31 January 2019, all options were still outstanding. In the prior year 
consolidated Group financial statements these options were accounted for as a cash-settled share-based payment with a vesting period from  
1 February 2016 to 31 January 2021. The vesting period covered the period over which the performance criteria were being measured rather than 
from the grant date. The total range in value of the B shares per the shareholder agreement, was between £nil and £6m. 

On 24 January 2020, the Group signed an agreement to purchase the B shares from the directors for £2m. As the cumulative vesting charge and accrued 
liability to 31 January 2019 was £1m, the remaining £1m of the full vesting charge was accounted for during the current financial year. The £2m liability 
in the Group’s 31 January 2020 statement of financial position reflects the Group’s outstanding liability to pay the LCL directors for the B shares in cash.

Shares held in trust
As at 31 January 2020, the following shares were held in trust:

Ordinary  
shares

Deferred  
shares

Intertrust – Employee Benefit Trust (EBT) 4,111,423 60,000,000
Equiniti – ESIP 20,242,633 –
Total shares held in trust 24,354,056 60,000,000

Lapsed share schemes
The following share schemes lapsed during the year as the vesting conditions for all classes of these awards were not met following their final  
testing dates:

  Management Value Participation shares (MVP shares)

  Long Term Bonus Plan (LTBP)

  Retention Award

The deferred shares above relate to the lapsed MVP share scheme, see note 25.

37 Accounting standards, amendments and interpretations
New accounting standards, amendments and interpretations adopted in the year

IFRS 16 Leases
On 1 February 2019, the Group adopted IFRS 16 ‘Leases’, which replaced IAS 17 ‘Leases’. See note 1.3(w) for the impact on the financial statements.  
The Group has not restated comparative information for prior periods. 

Aside from IFRS 16, the Group did not identify any new accounting standards coming into effect in the current year with a material impact on the 
financial statements.

New accounting standards, amendments and interpretations not yet adopted

A number of new standards, amendments and interpretations have been issued and will be effective for annual reports beginning after 1 February 
2020 but have not been applied by the Group in these financial statements. These are set out below (effective dates are EU effective dates). 

  Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards (effective 1 January 2020).

  Definition of Material (Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8) (effective 1 January 2020).

  Interest Rate Benchmark Reform (Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 and IFRS 7) (effective 1 January 2020).

  IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (effective date to be confirmed).

  Definition of a Business (Amendments to IFRS 3) (effective date to be confirmed).

The Group did not identify any new accounting standards coming into effect in the financial year ending 31 January 2021 with an expected material 
impact on the financial statements.

38 Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale
At the year end, AA Underwriting Limited, Automobile Association Underwriting Services Limited and AA Reinsurance Company Limited were held for 
sale. Each of these subsidiary undertakings relate to insurance businesses already in run-off. 

The assets classified as held for sale were:
2020  

£m
2019  

£m

Inventories – 2
Trade receivables – 4
Reinsurers’ share of insurance liabilities 1 –
Other receivables 1 –
Cash and cash equivalents 10 –

12 6
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38 Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale continued

The liabilities classified as held for sale were:
2020  

£m
2019  

£m

Other taxes and social security costs – 1
Accruals 1 4
Insurance technical provisions – gross claims outstanding 2 –

3 5

At the prior year end, AA Media Limited was held for sale (see note 12).

39 Events after the reporting period
Exchange of £325m Class A5 notes for £325m Class A8 notes
On 5 February 2020, the Group issued £325m of Class A8 notes at an interest rate of 5.50% in exchange for £325m of Class A5 notes. This refinancing 
transaction is an event after the reporting period and will be accounted for in the 2021 financial year. £3m of new issue premium associated with the 
issue of the Class A8 notes will be capitalised. In line with accounting for a substantial modification of a debt instrument under IFRS 9, costs of £20m 
associated with the issue of the Class A8 notes and the cancellation of the Class A5 notes will be written off, consisting of £6m of exchange premium, 
£5m of transaction fees and £9m of unamortised issue costs associated with the Class A5 notes.

Summary of borrowings as at 5 February 2020:

Expected
maturity date

Interest  
rate

Principal
£m

Issue  
costs

£m

Amortised 
issue  
costs

£m

Total as at  
5 February

2020
£m

Class A2 notes 31 July 2025 6.27% 500 (1) 1 500
Class A3 notes 31 July 2020 4.25% 200 (1) 1 200
Class A5 notes 31 January 2022 2.88% 372 (25) 14 361
Class A6 notes 31 July 2023 2.75% 250 (4) 2 248
Class A7 notes 31 July 2024 4.88% 550 (8) 2 544
Class A8 notes 31 July 2027 5.50% 325 (3) – 322
Class B2 notes 31 July 2022 5.50% 570 (16) 12 566

4.82% 2,767 (58) 32 2,741
Class B2 notes Repurchased (5.50%) (29) 1 (1) (29)

4.82% 2,738 (57) 31 2,712

Renewal of contract with Bank of Ireland
On 31 March 2020 the Group signed an agreement to extend its Financial Services Distribution Agreement with Bank of Ireland UK by three years. 
As part of the Agreement, the partnership now includes AA branded car finance products to sit alongside the savings and loans products.

Drawing of Senior Term Facility

On 23 April 2020, consistent with the Group’s proactive approach to debt management, the Group announced that it had drawn down in full its 
£200m Senior Term Facility early to de-risk ahead of the planned refinancing of the remaining £200m Class A3 Notes which are due on 31 July 2020. 
As part of this process, S&P Global Ratings confirmed the credit rating of the Class A Notes at BBB-. 

AAUK pension scheme
In February 2020, the actuarial triennial review for the AAUK pension scheme was completed as at 31 March 2019. This resulted in a significant 
reduction to the technical provisions deficit of 64% from £366m as at 31 March 2016 to £131m. Under the previous 2016 valuation, the recovery plan 
extended through to 2038 in respect of the Asset-Backed Funding element and to 2026 in respect of the Additional Funding element. A new recovery 
plan has now been put in place and agreed with the trustee which assumes that the scheme’s technical deficit will be fully repaid in July 2025, which is 
1 year earlier than previously planned in terms of the Additional Funding element and 13 years earlier in terms of the Asset-Backed Funding element. To 
do this, the Group has committed to paying an additional (above the Asset-Backed Funding scheme payments) £10m per annum from April 2020 to 
March 2021, £11m per annum from April 2021 to March 2022 and £12m per annum from April 2022 to July 2025. From 1 February 2020, the trustee 
will also meet its own costs of running the scheme. As a result, annual cash costs for the Group are expected to reduce by around £6m.

Consultation on the closure of the CARE section of the AAUK pension scheme commenced on 18 January 2020 through employee representatives 
and concluded on 18 March 2020. The Group had proposed that, from 1 April 2020, all future pension accrual would be on a defined contribution 
basis. Following a review of the feedback received during consultation, the Group has confirmed that the proposals will be implemented on a modified 
basis and future pension accrual will be on a defined contribution basis for all UK employees with transitional arrangements which will cost c.£11m 
over three years starting from 1 April 2020.

The agreed transitional arrangements provide a valuable enhanced Group pension contribution over a three year period commencing 1 April 2020 
available to all members who make a contribution of at least 4% of pensionable salary per year. Further enhancements to the Group pension 
contribution are also available during the transitional period to members willing to make higher contributions. 

On an ongoing basis, the regular (non-transitional) pension accrual costs for the affected members are expected to be c.£4m per year lower than 
the current costs in the AAUK pension scheme as a result of the closure. 

In addition, without scheme closure the Group would have incurred increased pension accrual cash costs in relation to the CARE section of a further c.£5m 
per annum from 1 April 2020 (under the triennial valuation agreement). Closure also curtails the ongoing build-up of defined benefit risk for the Group.

Following agreement of the 31 March 2019 triennial valuation in February 2020, as well as conclusion of the consultation on closure of the AAUK 
scheme to future accrual, the Group has a much clearer visibility over pension costs for at least the next three years (where finalisation of the 31 March 
2022 triennial valuation would reasonably be expected). The ongoing volatility from accrual costs has been removed but future volatility of deficit 
costs does remain. The immediate impact of COVID-19 on the global financial markets means higher fluctuation of the funding level in the AAUK 
scheme, albeit partially mitigated by the de-risked investment strategy and high levels of hedging. Should these conditions persist at the time of 
the 2022 triennial valuation then there is a risk that the contributions required from the Group could increase.
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Company Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 January

Notes
2020  

£m
2019  

£m

Non-current assets
Investments in subsidiaries 2 531 822
Financial assets at amortised cost 3 26 –

557 822
Current assets
Trade and other receivables 4 14 11
Cash and cash equivalents 5 26 68

40 79
Assets classified as held for sale 2 1 –
Total assets 598 901

Current liabilities 
Trade and other payables 6 – (1)
Total liabilities – (1)

Net assets 598 900

Equity
Called up share capital 7 1 1
Share premium 410 408
Own shares (33) (31)
Retained earnings 220 522
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 598 900

The loss for the financial year of the Company is £294m (2019: loss of £1m). 

As at 31 January 2020, the Company had distributable reserves of £220m (2019: £522m).

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on 6 May 2020 and signed on its behalf by 

 
 Simon Breakwell
 Chief Executive Officer

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this Company statement of financial position.

Share  
capital  

£m

Share  
premium  

£m

Own  
shares  

£m

Retained  
earnings  

£m
Total  

£m

At 1 February 2018 1 406 (29) 531 909
Loss for the year – – – (1) (1)
Dividends – – – (12) (12)
Issue of share capital – 2 – – 2
Purchase of own shares – – (2) – (2)
Share-based payments – – – 4 4
At 31 January 2019 1 408 (31) 522 900
Loss for the year – – – (294) (294)
Dividends – – – (12) (12)
Issue of share capital – 2 – – 2
Purchase of own shares – – (2) – (2)
Share-based payments – – – 4 4
At 31 January 2020 1 410 (33) 220 598

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this Company statement of changes in equity. 

Company Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 January

 Kevin Dangerfield
 Chief Financial Officer
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1  Authorisation of financial statements and  
Company accounting policies

1.1 Presentation of financial statements 
AA plc (the ‘Company’) is a public limited company incorporated 
and domiciled in the UK. The Company’s ordinary shares are traded 
on the London Stock Exchange. The address of the Company’s 
registered office is Fanum House, Basing View, Basingstoke, 
Hampshire, RG21 4EA.

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with Financial 
Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework (FRS 101) and 
the Companies Act 2006. The financial statements are prepared 
under the historical cost convention and on a going concern basis. 

No income statement is presented by the Company as permitted by 
Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006.

The accounting policies which follow set out those policies which apply 
in preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31 January 2020. 
The financial statements are prepared in sterling and are rounded to the 
nearest million pounds (£m).

1.2 Basis of preparation
The Company has taken advantage of the following disclosure 
exemptions under FRS 101:

  IAS 1 paragraph 10(d) (statement of cash flows)

  IAS 1 paragraph 16 (statement of compliance with all IFRS)

  IAS 1 paragraph 38A (requirement for minimum of two primary 
statements, including cash flow statements)

  IAS 1 paragraph 111 (cash flow statement information) 

  IAS 1 paragraphs 134-136 (capital management disclosures)

  Paragraphs 45(b) and 46 to 52 of IFRS 2, ‘Share-based payment’

  IAS 7: ‘Statement of cash flows’

  IAS 8 paragraphs 30 and 31

  The requirements in IAS 24, ‘Related party disclosures’ to disclose 
related party transactions entered into between two or more members 
of a group

  IFRS 7: ‘Financial Instruments: Disclosures’

The Company did not identify any new accounting standards coming 
into effect in the financial year ending 31 January 2021 with an expected 
material impact on the financial statements.

1.3 Accounting policies
The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise  
stated, been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 
financial statements.

a)  Foreign currencies 
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate ruling at 
the date of the transaction or at the contracted rate if the transaction is 
covered by a forward foreign currency contract. Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the  
rate of exchange ruling at the statement of financial position date or  
if appropriate at the forward contract rate. All differences are taken  
to the income statement. 

b)  Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures
Investments in subsidiaries are held at cost less impairment. 

The carrying amounts of the Company’s assets are reviewed for 
impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that  
the carrying amount of the fixed asset may not be recoverable. If any  
such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.  
An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an 
asset or its income-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount. 
Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement unless 
they arise on a previously revalued fixed asset.

The recoverable amount of fixed assets is the greater of their fair value less 
costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the expected future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the rate of return expected on  
an investment of equal risk. For an asset that does not generate largely 
independent income streams, the recoverable amount is determined  
for the income-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

c) Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Company’s 
statement of financial position when the Company becomes a party  
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. They are classified 
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered 
into. The Company recognises loss allowances for expected credit 
losses (ECLs) on relevant financial assets.

d) Critical accounting estimates and judgements 
Estimates are evaluated continually and are based on historical 
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events 
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The Group 
makes estimates and assumptions about the future. The resulting 
accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual 
results. The following are principal estimates and assumptions made by 
the Company, but which management believe do not have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities within the next financial year.

Management has exercised judgement in applying the Group’s 
accounting policies and in making critical estimates. The underlying 
assumptions on which these judgements are based are reviewed on 
an ongoing basis and include the assumptions for future growth of 
cash flows to support the value in use calculations for the investment 
impairment review.

Investments
The Group tests the investment balances for impairment annually. 
The recoverable amounts of the investments have been determined  
based on value in use calculations which require the use of estimates. 
Management has prepared discounted cash flow forecasts based on 
 the latest strategic plan.
Management has performed sensitivity analysis as part of its impairment 
assessment on the Company’s investments in subsidiaries (see note 2  
for details). 

 2 Investments in subsidiaries 
2020  

£m
2019  

£m 

At 1 February 822 818
Charge for the share incentive schemes 4 4
Impairment (294) –
At 31 January 532 822
Less: presented as assets held for sale (1) –
Investments in subsidiaries as presented in 
company statement of financial position 531 822

In the year ended 31 January 2020, there was a decrease in investments 
in subsidiaries of £290m (2019: increase of £4m). This was the result of 
an impairment of £294m in the year, which is described in more detail 
below (2019: £nil). This was partially offset by a £4m increase (2019: 
£4m) relating to the fair value of equity-settled share-based payments 
granted (see note 36 of the Group financial statements). 

The Company has performed impairment testing at 31 January 2020 to 
compare the recoverable amount of the investments in subsidiaries to 
their carrying value.

The impairment test was principally performed on the directly held 
subsidiary which is supported by cash flow projections of the underlying 
AA Mid Co Limited group. The recoverable amount of the investment 
was determined based on a value in use calculation using cash flow 
projections from the Group’s three-year plan. For the year ended  
31 January 2020, the Company used the three-year plan covering the 
three years up to 31 January 2023 and a 2.0% expectation of growth in 
the subsequent year. The three-year plan was adjusted to reflect 
estimates of certain downside risks in existence at the date of approval 
of the financial statements that were not reflected when the plan was 
approved, including the potential financial impact of COVID-19. This 
primarily relates to the forecast trading impacts in the year to 31 January 
2021 and the consequential effects on subsequent years. For the 
purposes of the impairment test, terminal values have been calculated 
using a 2.0% (2019: 2.0%) inflationary growth assumption in perpetuity 
based on the IMF’s UK long-term growth rate. 
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2 Investments in subsidiaries continued 
Using an enterprise value model which deducts net debt as at 31 January 
2020, cash flows were discounted at a pre-tax rate reflecting the time 
value of money and the risk specific to these cash flows. This was 
determined as a pre-tax rate of 8.9% (2019: 9.9%). The use of this value 
in use calculation and the determination of its inputs were consistent 
with the impairment test performed in the prior year. The result of this 
impairment test was that there was a significant amount of headroom 
and therefore no indicators of impairment in the value of investments 
in subsidiaries were identified (2019: no indicators of impairment).

However, at 31 January 2020, the Company’s market capitalisation  
was £295m, reflecting a significant disconnect from the carrying value 
of its investments in subsidiaries. As a result, the Company prepared 
alternative value in use models using forecast dividend cash flows  
from its investments to examine alternative valuation approaches to 
reflect the current market conditions (a ‘dividend distribution’ model). 
These assess the cash flows available to the parent company from its 
investment in the subsidiaries. In these dividend distribution models,  
the cash flow projections of the underlying investments include  
cash outflows relating to financing costs (i.e. interest) and taxation,  
a departure from the traditional value in use model described in IAS 36 
which was used in prior years. The model also reflects an assessment  
of future refinancing and interest costs that the Group expects to arise  
as its existing debt is refinanced over the next 5 years.

IAS 36 considers that the appropriate discount rate for a value in use 
calculation should reflect the current market assessments of the time 
value of money and suggests taking into account weighted average cost 
of capital, incremental borrowing rate and other market borrowing rates 
in making such an estimate. Using the post-tax discount rate calculated 
on this basis (8.0%) in this dividend distribution model, there was a 
significant amount of headroom and therefore no indicators of 
impairment in the value of the investments.

Having reviewed these models and their results, the Company determined 
that the use of a 5-year average cost of equity of 17.0% as a discount  
rate would best reflect an investor’s assessment of the return required 
given the specific industry and macroeconomic conditions and risks in 
existence at the year end and up to the date of approval of the financial 
statements. Applying this 17.0% discount rate to the dividend distribution 
model indicated an impairment of £294m. This impairment has been 
reflected in the carrying value of the Company’s investments in 
subsidiaries as at 31 January 2020.

There is significant judgement over which assumptions are most 
appropriate to apply in these circumstances and as to whether a 
dividend distribution model or a traditional enterprise value less debt 
value in use model is the most appropriate. The use of the dividend 
distribution model and its inputs were specific to conditions in existence 
at the Company’s year end and up to the date of approval of the financial 
statements and may no longer be appropriate in subsequent years 
should these conditions no longer exist. The Group’s cash flows have 
been improving year on year and the Group continues to forecast  
long-term cash flow growth beyond the short-term industry and 
macroeconomic conditions and risks. For these reasons the 
Company considers that the use of a 2.0% long-term growth 
rate assumption remains appropriate. 

Sensitivity
The impairment recorded is inevitably sensitive to changes in key 
assumptions. In particular:

  A decrease of 1% in trading cash flows over the 3-year plan period 
would increase the impairment by approximately £25m

  An increase in the discount rate assumption of 1% would increase  
the impairment by approximately £37m

  An increase in average debt coupon rates of 0.1% would increase  
the impairment by approximately £18m

  A decrease in the long-term growth rate assumption of 1% would 
increase the impairment by approximately £27m

Investment in subsidiary classified as held for sale
At the year end, AA Reinsurance Company Limited, a direct subsidiary 
undertaking of the Company, was held for sale. This subsidiary 
undertaking relates to an insurance business already in run-off 
(see also note 39 of the Group financial statements).

3 Financial assets at amortised cost 
2020  

£m
2019  

£m 

Non-current
Listed corporate debt 26 –

26 –

During the period 28 February 2019 to 1 March 2019, the Company 
completed the purchase of £23m of Class B2 notes in AA Bond Co 
Limited for cash consideration of £20m. On 23 December 2019, the 
Company completed the purchase of a further £6m of Class B2 notes in 
AA Bond Co Limited for cash consideration of £5m. The Class B2 notes 
have an expected maturity date of 31 July 2022 and pay interest at a fixed 
rate of 5.5%. The Company has recognised this listed corporate debt as a 
financial asset at amortised cost.

4  Trade and other receivables
2020  

£m
2019  

£m 

Amounts receivable from subsidiary undertakings 13 11
Other receivables 1 –

14 11

Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings are unsecured, have no 
repayment terms and bear no interest. 

5 Cash and cash equivalents
2020  

£m
2019  

£m 

Cash at bank and in hand 26 68
26 68

6 Trade and other payables
2020 

£m
2019  

£m 

Accruals – 1
– 1

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings are unsecured, have no 
repayment terms and bear no interest.

7 Called up share capital
2020  

£m
2019  

£m 

Allotted, called up and fully paid
616,734,346 (2019: 613,221,434) ordinary  
shares of £0.001 each 1 1

1 1

The voting rights of the holders of all ordinary shares are the same and all 
ordinary shares rank pari passu on a winding up. The Company has no 
authorised ordinary share capital. 

The movement in the number of shares in the current year is in relation to 
the matching shares for the Employee Share Incentive Plans (see Group 
financial statements – note 36 for further information on these shares). 

In the prior year, the Company had 60 million MVP shares in issue  
(see Group financial statements – note 36 for further information on 
these shares). During the current year, following the lapse of the MVP 
share scheme and pursuant to the Articles of Association of the 
Company, all of the MVP shares converted to deferred shares in the 
capital of the Company immediately following their failure to vest and 
those deferred shares are held in trust. The deferred shares have no 
voting rights and the MVP shares had no voting rights.
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Notes to the Company Financial Statements continued

8 Subsidiary undertakings
All subsidiaries are wholly owned (except where stated) and incorporated and registered where stated below. 

All subsidiaries are consolidated in the Group financial statements.

The principal subsidiary undertakings of the Company at 31 January 2020 are:

Name
Country of Incorporation/ 
Registered Office Key Class of shares held

AA Acquisition Co Limited United Kingdom/A Ordinary
AA Bond Co Limited1 Jersey/B Ordinary
AA Corporation Limited United Kingdom A Ordinary
AA Financial Services Limited United Kingdom/A Ordinary
AA Intermediate Co Limited United Kingdom/A Ordinary
AA Mid Co Limited2 United Kingdom/A Ordinary
AA Senior Co Limited United Kingdom/A Ordinary
AA Technical Solutions Limited United Kingdom/A Ordinary
A A The Driving School Agency Limited United Kingdom/A Ordinary
AA Underwriting Insurance Company Limited Gibraltar/D Ordinary
Automobile Association Developments Limited United Kingdom/A Ordinary
Automobile Association Insurance Services Limited United Kingdom/A Ordinary
Drivetech (UK) Limited United Kingdom/A Ordinary
Prestige Fleet Servicing Limited7 United Kingdom/A Ordinary
Used Car Sites Limited United Kingdom/A Ordinary
Longacre Claims Limited (77% interest held) United Kingdom/A Ordinary and B Shares

The other subsidiary undertakings of the Company at 31 January 2020 are: 

Name
Country of Incorporation/ 
Registered Office Key Class of shares held

A.A. Pensions Trustees Limited United Kingdom/A Ordinary
AA Brand Management Limited United Kingdom/A Ordinary
AA Garage Services Limited United Kingdom/A Ordinary
AA Insurance Holdings Limited2 United Kingdom/A Ordinary
AA Ireland Pension Trustees DAC Ireland/E Ordinary
AA New Co Limited3 United Kingdom/A Ordinary
AA Pension Funding GP Limited United Kingdom/F Ordinary
AA Pension Funding LP8 United Kingdom/F Membership Interest
AA Underwriting Limited United Kingdom/A Ordinary
Automobile Association Holdings Limited United Kingdom/A Ordinary and Deferred 

redeemable non-voting 
special dividend

Automobile Association Insurance Services Holdings Limited United Kingdom/A Ordinary
Automobile Association Services Limited United Kingdom/A Limited by guarantee
Automobile Association Underwriting Services Limited United Kingdom/A Ordinary
Accident Assistance Services Limited5 United Kingdom/A Ordinary
Breakdown Hero Limited6 United Kingdom/G Ordinary
Drakefield Holdings Limited United Kingdom/A A and B Ordinary Shares
Intelligent Data Systems (UK) Limited United Kingdom /A Ordinary
Personal Insurance Mortgages and Savings Limited United Kingdom/A Ordinary
Automobile Association Protection and Investment Planning Limited4 United Kingdom/A Ordinary
Prestige Car Servicing Limited7 United Kingdom/A Ordinary
AA Reinsurance Company Limited1, 2, 9 Guernsey/C Ordinary
Prestige Motor Care Holdings Limited7 United Kingdom/A Ordinary
The Automobile Association Limited1 Jersey/B Ordinary

1  This Company also has a UK branch establishment. 

2  Directly owned by AA plc; all other subsidiaries are indirectly held.

3  AA New Co Limited was incorporated on 23 October 2019.

4  Automobile Association Protection and Investment Planning Limited was dissolved on 3 March 2020.

5  Breakdown Assistance Services Limited changed its name to Accident Assistance Services Limited on 30 August 2019.

6  Breakdown Hero Limited was dissolved on 7 April 2020.

7  The AA acquired the Prestige Group on 1 February 2019.

8  This partnership is fully consolidated into the Group financial statements and the Group has taken advantage of the exemption (as confirmed by regulation 7 of the Partnerships (Accounts) 
Regulations 2008) not to prepare or file separate financial statements for this entity.

9  AA Reinsurance Company Limited has a 31 December year end.
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8 Subsidiary undertakings continued
Registered Office Key

Key
Fanum House, Basing View, Basingstoke, Hampshire,  
RG21 4EA, England A
22 Greenville Street, St Helier, Jersey, JE4 8PX B
Heritage Hall, PO Box 225. Le Marchant Street, St Peter Port,  
GY1 4JH, Guernsey C
First Floor, Grand Ocean Plaza, Ocean Village, Gibraltar D
6th Floor, South Bank House, Barrow Street, Dublin 4, Ireland E
50 Lothian Road, Festival Square, Edinburgh, EH3 9WJ, Scotland F
90 Long Acre, London, WC2E 9RA, England G

9 Auditor’s remuneration
The fee for the audit of these financial statements was £0.6m (2019: £0.2m). 

10  Employee costs
The Company had no employees or employee costs in the current or prior 
year. However, the Company has incurred costs in respect of the NEDs of 
£1m (2019: £1m). 
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Shareholder Information

  know when dividends are paid and consider having your dividend paid 
directly into your bank account. This will reduce the risk of the cheque 
being intercepted or lost in the post. If you change your bank account, 
inform the registrar of the details of your new account. You can do  
this by post or online using our share portal at www.shareview.co.uk. 
Respond to any letters the registrar sends you about this 

  If you receive a letter from the registrar regarding a change of address 
or a dividend instruction, but have not recently moved or requested a 
change to how you receive your dividends, please contact the registrar 
immediately using the details on the previous page as you may have 
been a victim of identity theft 

  If you are buying or selling shares, only deal with registered brokers

Share Fraud Warning 
Remember: if it sounds too good to be true, it probably is. 

You should be very wary of any unsolicited advice, offers to buy shares 
at a discount or offers of free company reports. 

In recent years, many companies have become aware that their shareholders  
have received unsolicited telephone calls or correspondence concerning 
investment matters. These are typically from overseas-based “brokers” 
working in “boiler rooms” who target UK shareholders, offering to sell 
them what often turn out to be worthless or high-risk shares in US or UK 
investments. These brokers can be very persistent, extremely persuasive 
and use sophisticated means to approach and convince investors.  
The Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) has found that even experienced 
investors have been caught out by share fraud. It also discovered that 
victims of boiler rooms lose an average of £20,000 to these scams, with 
as much as £200 million being lost in the UK each year. 

If you receive any unsolicited investment advice, you should follow  
the steps below: 

  avoid getting into a conversation, note the name of the person and  
firm contacting you and then end the call 

  before getting involved, check that the firm is properly authorised  
by the FCA via its register at www.fca.org.uk/register, or call  
0800 111 6768 

  search the list of unauthorised firms to avoid: www.fca.org.uk/scams 

  think about getting independent financial and professional advice 
before you hand over any money. Details of any share dealing facilities 
that the Company endorses will be included in Company mailings 

Protecting your investment 
We strongly advise you to deal only with financial services firms that are 
authorised by the FCA. Keep in mind that authorised firms are unlikely to 
contact you out of the blue with an offer to buy or sell shares. If you deal 
with an unauthorised firm, you would not be eligible to receive payment 
under the Financial Services Compensation Scheme. 

For more information, visit the FCA website: www.fca.org.uk/scams.

Reporting a scam 
If you suspect you have been approached about an investment  
scam, contact the FCA using the share fraud reporting form:  
www.fca.org.uk/scams. Reporting unauthorised organisations who  
are targeting, or have targeted, UK investors, means the FCA can 
maintain an up-to-date list and appropriate action can be considered. 

If you have already paid money to share fraudsters you should contact 
Action Fraud, the UK’s national reporting centre for fraud and internet 
crime, on 0300 123 2040 or online at www.actionfraud.police.uk.  
The service is run by the City of London Police working alongside the 
National Fraud Intelligence Bureau.

Shareholder queries and information
Financial information about the Company, including the Annual Report, 
regulatory announcements and corporate governance information is 
available on our website: theaaplc.com.

Alternatively, please contact us at investorrelations@theaa.com.

AA plc
Company number: 5149111

Registered office
Fanum House, Basing View, Basingstoke 
Hampshire RG21 4EA

Enquiries
Shareholders who wish to contact AA plc on any matter relating to  
their shareholding are invited to contact the company’s registrars,  
Equiniti, using the details below.

Equiniti Limited, Aspect House, Spencer Road, Lancing,  
West Sussex BN99 6DA

0333 207 6538 (from outside the UK: +44 121 415 0999).  
Lines are open 8.30am to 5.30pm, Monday to Friday  
(excluding bank holidays in England and Wales) 

You can also access and maintain your AA plc shareholding online 
through our share portal at shareview.co.uk

Online Communications
Shareholders can choose to receive all Company communications 
electronically. This environmentally friendly way of receiving information 
has a number of advantages, including quicker delivery of documents  
and the ability to access reports and results online wherever you are. 

To register, please visit the share portal at shareview.co.uk. You can  
also use the portal to:

1.  Receive the latest updates from the AA direct to your email

2. Update your address and bank details online

3. Vote in advance of general meetings 

Keep your personal details up to date 
Please remember to tell our registrar, Equiniti, if you move or need to 
update your bank or building society details.

If you hold 2,500 shares or fewer, you can update details quickly and 
easily over the telephone using the Equiniti contact details above.  
If you hold more than 2,500 shares, you will need to write to Equiniti.

Professional Advisers
Corporate brokers
Liberum Capital, Ropemaker Place, Level 12, 25 Ropemaker Street, 
London EC2Y 9LY

Citi, 33 Canada Square, Canary Wharf, London E14 5LB

Peel Hunt, Moor House, 120 London Wall, London EC2Y 5ET

Solicitors
Freshfields Bruckhaus Deringer LLP, 65 Fleet Street, London, EC4Y 1HS

Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, 1 Embankment Place,  
London WC2N 6RH

Financial public relations
FTI Consulting 
200 Aldersgate St, Barbican, London EC1A 4HD

Identity theft 
Identity theft is on the increase. Criminals may steal your personal 
information, putting your AA plc shareholding at risk. 

Tips for protecting your shares: 

  Ensure all your certificates are kept in a safe place or hold your shares 
electronically in CREST via a nominee

  Keep all correspondence from the registrar that shows your 
shareholder investor code in a safe place, or destroy your 
correspondence by shredding it 

  If you change address, inform the registrar in writing or via our share 
portal at www.shareview.co.uk
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Word Definition

AAIHL AA Insurance Holdings Limited

AAISL Automobile Association Insurance Services Limited

AAUICL AA Underwriting Insurance Company Limited

AGM Annual General Meeting

ARCC Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee (of AAISL)

AVAs Added Value Account Holders

AVs autonomous vehicles

B2B business to business

B2C business to consumer

CAGR compound annual growth rate

CATHIE our online database to manage road and insurance policies

Car parc Car parc refers to the number of cars and other vehicles in a 
region or market. It is typically used to gauge the capacity 
within a market or region for aftersales.

CEO Chief Executive Officer

CFO Chief Financial Officer

CMA Competition and Markets Authority

COR combined operating ratio

EBITDA earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation

EPS earnings per share

ERCC Executive Risk and Compliance Committee

EVs electric vehicles

FCA Financial Conduct Authority

FCF free cash flow

FY financial year

GAAP generally accepted accounting principles

GHG greenhouse gases

GFSC Gibraltar Financial Services Commission

IAS International Accounting Standards

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

IHP Insurer Hosted Pricing

Mintel Mintel is a global provider of market research

MVP Management Value Participation

NEDs Non-Executive Directors

OEM original equipment manufacturers

PCWs price comparison websites

PRA Prudential Regulation Authority

S&P Standard & Poors

SID Senior Independent Director

SMCR Senior Managers and Certification Regime 

SMR service, maintenance and repair

SUVs sports utility vehicles

TSR total shareholder return

Glossary of terms used in this report
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